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TRANSLATION

- In the Court’ of R L. Yorke Esgr, I C. 8 Additionad
S’esswns Judge Meerut. .

In tlze case of Kzng Emperor versus P Spratt and others.

« Examination of Arjun Atmaram Alwe,aged about 35 years

“before Mr. R. L. Yo.rke.Addmonal Sessions Judge, Mgerut, on

the 12 August 1931,

My name is 'Ar]un,’ my father’s -name Atmaram, I am 2
Vaishyaby caste and I am by,birth a peasant and by circumstances .

-a worker {weaver). My home is at Vas'argaum, Savantwadi State,

Pohce Station Kasal, District Ratnagm and L reside in Bombay.

PN Q On the 16th March 1931 _your gtatement. in the Lower-
Court P no. 2604 was read Is it correct?.. - :
Al Yes, ) '

\

- Q ‘Have you anythmg to say regardmg P1353. ‘1348 (41 '

* and 50}, 1344, 1373 (14), 1375 and P, W. 244, 245, 273, ‘278, ‘276

showmv your connechon mth the Wozlers apd Peasants’ Party of .’

‘Bombay? *- “f ST 'i . ‘ - Cow .

¢ » ‘ . ‘
A, 'Before explaining the documents »pre.Sented against

me I think that the charges brought agsinst me cannot be properly

explained unless I systematically relate how I was drawn into this

' movement. Therefore I shall ﬂrst descnbe the circumstances in
“which I was gituated and then' explam (th survey) ‘the charces

brought af¥¥hst me, fAmong the avuience which has been attempt-,
ed to be bro&ght on behalf p the_ Prosccutlon to prevg, the charge
wf making -conspiracy for’ subver;mg the, Government of His
Majesty the King Emperor, there is a point t'hat T was spreading
discontent among the Bombay mill workers, was organising them,
was teaching them the principles of revolution (and) was graduallx -
leading them to the path of revolution. The substance 3f a part °

) ot the Charge is that without secing whether the workeghad got
“ Yust: gnevances or not I incited the workers merely with the “policy .

of revolutxon, declared a strike and pro!onged it and in doing sa:
I conspxred to overthrow capitalism- and the Government. ‘I have.

"to glvg,éhe followmg reply’ réghrding-this. "It is that it is-totally

wrong to use the language in my case that I carhe from somewhere .
.outside and adopted the policy of mcmng the workers and that Idid -

" nat, try to see or feel the necessity of ,seeing whethet the workers
; had any grievances or complamts or ,not. Beca.use-. I am. myself

a mill*wonker as also @ peasant, Jherefore every‘movement in' the,-
mxll axea had its dxact eftect on my lﬁe. I am ma. posxtxon to realize

» (‘r\
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more instantaneously ahd directly than others whether the owners
did ordid not cut the wages of us workers, whether theydid or did
_not increase the hours of work, whether workers were harassed or
not, whether their wages were withheld or not, whether the workers
werebeaten by the owners or not, whether they were forcibly
madeto work or not. Tp bring about a  strike would
have had its effect on my own wages, and to prolox;g it would have
involved directly for me the suHferings of . starvation. The evidence
or the charge of my having got jahagirs or purses from anywhere
for bringing about a strike or prolonging it, has not even been
brought by the Prosecution.  Therefore, unnecessarily prolonging
the strike without any grievance would have meant that I
followed the course of starving myself merely for the sake of fun.
What reply is there for such a ridiculous charge? Iam originally
a peasant of Savantwadi. 1t is true that I am a landholder but the
land is only a span in length. If money is borrowed from theé
money-lender for agricultural purpose it is not possible to get out
of his interest of two rupees for one rupee during the whole of
one’s life. The prodiuce would not even suffice for food. The
Goverament revenue is to be paid out of it. T became a worker *
after coming to Bombay in a group of thousands of such peasants®
who, being unable to make their living, under such circumstances
tun to the cities leaving their villages, I was 8 years old when
1 became a worker and I used to get Rs 3. 8ag as wages. Out of
. those wages I hadevery month to pay annas eight to the officers
by way of bribe. On account of wmy ‘circumstances I could not
from y childhood get the opportunity of going to school or
- college, But I hav e completely passed in the study of oppression,
having studied oppression in the oppressive college of;rich. In the
beginning I had to pay money fo the.officers in the mills to get
employment and I could barely earn enough for dry biead for one
time, When I began to work as a worker I have been directly
subjected to the experiment of how the Bombay mill-owner perse-
cutes the workers, Liquor had to be given to the officers in the
mills'in'order to keep up the employment that had been secured.
Similarly subscriptions in  the name of a religious performanc;
or in the name of entertaining the officials were forcibly taken from
the workers and out of this money collected,the jobbers,headjobbers
(direct) upto the Manager used to get plenty of gratifications, , 3nd
liquor and the amouat that was left’ went to the pockets of the res-
pectable ‘master’. The posts of most of the managers in the Bombay
raills were in the hands of the Parsees and the Europeans and
they used to get money through the Indian ‘masters’. Therefore
besides taking money from the workers these mill officers did not
hesitate even to ajtack the honour of women workers, A beauhful
womau in  the women's recfmg or the wmgmg department was -
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sure to fal “prey to those opptessivé officials * within two to four
months or’she was sure to lose her employment and to be reduced
starvation. It was difficult to be acquainted with the children in
the daylight once even in a month. The workers had to get up at
4 O’clock in the morning arid to make preparations in the dark to
go to the mills. You will see in Government reporis 3 description
of the over-crowding in the mill area. There were ﬂxe hundred
to thousand men packed up in one and the same chawl. The owner
of sach chawls set up one or two-taps of water and every worker
had to keep 3, watch from 2 O’clock at night to get the water he
could out of Lhose taps. Similarly there were three or four latrines
in that very chawl. 1f onegot the latrive to answer the call of
nature he could not get water and if one got water he could not get
the latrine. Under such circumstances going through the affair
some how every worker started towards the mills at the fixed timeg
The mill' started at five in the morning was closed at nine at
night. The whole body used to get contracted like a dead body
after having worked for sixteen hours. Therefore the worker some
how returned to his house “with difficuity and eating what bread
he could get, fell senseless on his bed. The children remained
*sleeping at the time of his leaving the house in the morning and
*they had gone to sleep befors he came. The children could not even
recoguize their father -es théy were not able to sée his face when-
‘they were awake. ‘I who was driven away from: my village .on
sccount of the land revenue of tha Grovernment; the clutohes of - the
moneylenders debt, the debt due to famine, the dexterity of the
rich to buy the produce af & chea.per rate when the crop was good
and the scarcity of land, became a " worker in place of a pessant.
The owner of the land which I cultivated on §nt paid Rgy 7/- as
1and revenue but he used to take from me Rs 58/- as the rent of
_that land. Even the whole grain that was produced could not be
enough to pay these Rs 58 to him. But jf all that grain had beea
given to him as rent what would tha.ﬁ cultivator eat? It therefore
- bécomes necessary to come to & city lite Bombsy and become a
worker in ordeér to raise money to pay that rent. (I) sold my
sturdy physical power to the mill owner for wages. I worked the
‘whole day and turned out a heap of goods worth . hundreds of
rupees but what was the return I got forit. The return was only
the lashes of the whip of the oppressive officers (and) the forced
contributions for their indulgence in liquor. The yarn. could not
work well because cheap dirty cotton was used. The yarn therefore
got knotted and the cloth was spoiled. As a result.of that, -the
whole wages were at times confiscated By way of fine. There was
no leave for rest ‘dunnc all the twelve months, There was mo
arrangement . for gebhing medicine if one fell sick. There was
no. leigure to see one's wife and chxldren if ill at home. And
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if one remaiﬁgd home under such circumstances he d:i not only
fail to get work again but he did not even get wagéd for the

work already done. If a machine was damaged while a worker |
was doing his work it was made good out of the wages

-of that worker and he was also driven away from work.
If ever a complaint was made to the officials for any reasom,
the compla"n?was sure to receive booted kicks from them and if
permission was not asked {of them he was accused of doing work
without receiving permission from them .and was tarned out from
service. If a" workman remained home for some important work
for one day, his wages for two days were confiscated for his
absence. If a workman was ever late by five minutes than the
appointed time for going in the mills his wages for half the day
were confiscated. - And if there was a demand for the owner's

« goods, the very owner took additional work for two hours from the
workers and did not give them anything in return for that addi-
tional work, And if a worker asked for some return for that work
the worker who asked for it was sure to be driven away.

Cut in the workers' wages on account of the stupidity of
the officials,

If there was a2 new officer and if he had not the proper*
knowledge of his work and if he committed a mistake, the workers
were obliged to suffer for it. These officers in the mills used to
be some relatives of the owners. They did ‘not become officials
as a result of their knowledge of the work. Therefore the workers
used to be crushed on account of the mischievousness of the
inexperienced and oiressive officials. These mill-officials com-
pelled éathe workergbring from the market, out of their own wages,
lubricating oil, shuttles (Lit Pikas) for the looms, leather and
-other sundry articles if they got damaged. If a worker fell sick
and died, his wages for the days he worked were not given to his
wife and children, If the brother or the mother or the father of
a workman died and leave was asked for one day to perform the
obsequies it was not granted, It was necessary to keep the dead
body rotting till the worker was free from his work. If a worker
fell sick while doing his work he was not only not granted leave
but he was not keptin service if he came back to work after
recovery after a fortnight. Moreover the wages for the days for
which he worked before falling sick were not also paid.fo him.

DECEIVING THE WORKERS BY FALSE RATES.

If there was one rate on. the ticket of a worker there was
another rate in the account books of the owners. For example
if there was the rate of six pies per pound on the ticket of a worker
the rate written in the account books of the owners was four and
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2 half pies. If calculations were made there was a loss of Rs. 5
to 6 during a month.

Disgraceful tfreatment of the women workers and their
karassment.

If a woman was pregnant and if she asked for leave because
the time of her delivery had come near, leave was not granted ‘to
her and she was not kept in service if she returned to work after
one or two mounths after her delivery. But these oppressive
officials of the mills used to disgrace her by asking guestiong like
why she remained pregnant and who made her pregnant etc. This
dishonour of women before (the worker’s) eyes had to be silently
seen and if the hand or the foot of a worker was caught ina
machine or a belt and if it got cut off he became maimed for life and
had to suffer starvation in the absence of compensation. Tam
a worker who ‘have worked under 'such circumstances. Thesé¢
were the hardships of us workers on one side while on the other
I bave seen ‘ore and the same owner having fwo mills in place of
one and ten in place of two, but even two pies in place of one
sere not made-in my wages or the wages of us workers. 'If under
such circumstances there appears to be anger towards ownerism
and hate towards the capltahsts. in'my words and thoughts. whose
fault is'it?  'What wonder is there ? How we workets \can fesl
Yove for the capitalists under such circumstances ? ‘And how can
we praise them ? .

By what remedy this misfortune can be avevied and this oppression
of the officials on-us workers will disappear ?

- This thought stood day and night before the eyes of us
workers. And that time, that is in the year 1924 we had to go
.on strike to get reduced the hours of work which were 51xteeu,
and that strike continued for 8to 10 days and the hours of work
.caime down from .sixteen two twelve, Bat the hours of work were
not brought to twelve.in all the mills, Several mills warked for
fourteen hours. I, therefore, realized jin -the year x914 that tlie

condition of us workers is somewhat improved by going on strike,
S0 also a strike took place in the Currimbhoy Ihrahim Mill ‘when
I was working there inthe year x914. The men weat on strike
because the owners effected a cat.in the rates of wages. At that
time there were no leaders of us, the wprking class. ,And there
were also .no .unions of’he workars. Mr, Baptista used to come
-among workers, gave us some advice and held meetings of us
workers, - When the meeting of the men in the Currimbhoy group
was 'held ‘Mr. Baptista said to 4s * the strike cannot come:to an
end if you sit outside, Therefore select ten to twelve workers from
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among you and I will come there to your owner.”” I was one of
the ten or twelve, This our deputation of twelve persons went to
see the owners with the grievances of the workers. We reached
the owner's bungalow at 11 (A.M.) but his watchman,a Pathan, did
. not allow us to go in. Thereafter somehow making him under-
stand matters and telling that we had come to see the owner, the
secretary of the owner came to see us and on listening to what we
said, allowed us to sit in the garden. We who had gone there at
11 A. M. were sitting up to 5 P. M. We remained waiting with the
idea jn our mind that the owner will talk with us now or a little
later. But' Mr. Baptista who suggested us the device did not even
come and the owner also did net meet us. But by 5-30 or 5-45
(P.M.) two sergeants and a Police party came there and began
to threaten us Then we explained to them that we had been
there to see the owner. But without minding what we were
telling them they atonce ordered us to go out and the experiment
of lathi was made on us. Seven from among us ran away and
the Police arrested the five persons, took them to the Police
station, gave two to three slaps on my face and began to abuse me
by asking me whether we were not the ®sons of Bajirao*® etc. and
warned us ** Beware if you come at any time from’
$Used in bad sense {54,y to the owner’s bouse. The owner is not
in connection with . .
officious persons, ,  ready to talk with worthless men like you,
Therefore we pardon you for once and release
you. Do not now tryto come to the owner’s house again in this
manner.”  After giving this warning we were released at about ¢
o’clock at night. This was the first disposal of the deputation of us
workers. We workers were beaten on all sides in this manner and
at that time there was no one to champion the cause of the worker.
Cries like those when a man dies were heard on all sides after
going home, Some one cried because the owner turned him out
from work while another cried because he stopped his payment.
Under these pitiable circumstances there was no way whatsoever
for the workers to get out, Alter that some men came forward in
1915 who said that a Union of the workers should be started. Mr.
Baptista was also among them. He used to go from house to
house and asked us workers why we did not start a union to stop
the oppression of the owners. But at that time we did not know wbat
a union meant. Then it was explained to us what a union was and
what was meant by a union. We thought that there was some truth in
what they said and a beginning was made to start a union. * That
Union was started in Kumbbar ea Chawféurrey Road and an office .
under the title “Kamgar Sangha” was opened. Every member was
required to pay one rupee every year. And we were told that there
would be no oppression on us so long as the receipt of the Union
was with us, And that we should come to their Union with the ¢
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receipt when the owner might turn them out from work or when he
might withhold their wages. Then they would remove all our
difficulties. The saying “ Pay a rupee and get comforts and con-
veniences” was currentat that time. The workers thinking that if
the owners® oppression would cease by paying one rupee why
should a rupee not be paid (and) every one paid one rupee each
to the Union. Even those who had not got it paid it to the Union
by borrowing it from the grocer or the Marwari (moneylender)
at the interest of one anna, There was a great commotion among
the workers that time that their grievances would disappear by pay-
ing one rupee. This campaign of paying 4 rupee continued for
fifteen to twenty days. For, during that campaign 1 was going
about in the workers’ lecality with a board advising “Pay a rupee
and get comforts and conveniences”. Then, I am of opinion that
twenty five to thirty thousand men became members as a result of
these our efforts. But when the owners knew this thing they began
to dismiss every person who had become a member of that Union.
The office was closed when the dismissed men came to the office.
Only the board of the office was on the outside. There was no
‘person in the office. No one knew where the organizers of the
“Union resided. The result- was that the workers lost both the
‘rupee and their employment. From that time the workers could
not place confidence in such oytside leaders. If any leader came
among them and began to tell them anything, the workers beat him
and tgrned him out. Such was the state of things that time, Then
camegperiod of the War, that is in the year 1916 the Bombay Police
started the campaign of recruiting men for the War. The workers
were advised at the Mill-gates and in the workers® chawls to go to
War. 1 thought to myself that time, that service in the army was
better than the service of the oppressive owner causing starvations
Moreover an- opportunity would be had for showing valour andeem
benefiting oneself for life, With this thoaght in my mind and with
my mind overflowing with love for the Mabap Government, [
became a sepoy from a worker and I advised the worker brothers
“working near about me to bécome sepoys and goto the War.
" Following that advice of mine weone hundred and thirty persons
.enlisted ourselves at one and the same time. Now itis better not
to describe my War experience that is what became the plight of
the sepoys that time, what hardships they had to undergo and how
many persons were killed, But one feels tremor as soon as the
scene of that time stands today before one’s eyes. The War was
over. The work of the Mabap Government was over and all my
sweet dreams disappeared. This means that the additional army
raised for the War was disbanded, (and) I was also included among
those disbanded and I agaln began to work, becoming a worker
from a sepoy, The working cldss got scorched in the tumult of
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War. - Lakhs of European workers and peasants were killed on the
battle:field, so0 also Indian workers and peasants were killed in the
same proportion, but our, mill-owners alone became richer out of the
devilish fire of the War, The prices of Indian goods increased on
account of the stoppage of foreign goods at the time of the War.
The mill industry specially prospered extraordinarily. The owners
earned as many as thousand rupees on a capital of hundred rupees
during war time. The pre-war situation in which the English
capitalists had the upper hand of the Indian capitalists in the textile
trade changed and the Bombay mill-owners became powerful
masters of the cloth market. But what profit did we workers earn
Ain-this matter ? Prices of articles increased everywhere as a result
of the War, A famine.took place in the meanwhile, the house rents
also went up, that is where the workers paid five or six rupeesas
roomarent they were required to paythe increased rent of ten ta
twelve rupees for the same room. So ‘also the rates of grain went
up. Sundry articles and cloth became douhly dear. There was no
department that time in the Bombay Presidency recordmg this
lncreape in the cost of living. The Bombay Government ope,ned
in 1921 a department doing such work, - It appears from the statis«
tics of that Department that, where in 1914 an expenditure of Rs100.
was required, in 1919 it rose up to Rs. 175/ (and) in 1920 tp
Rsx&s/- were required, This means.that the cost of 11\;mg qlmoqt
doubled itself. Did the wages of the workers ,g0 on increasing whﬂp
the prices contmued to increase in this manner ? No, The workerg
,had to snffer the starvation .due ;to the increaging cost Oﬂivmg.
They had :to remain ha.lf-sta.rved They incurred debts h%,t thg
Jprices continued fo go up. At last being helpless the woxkers had
tio resort to the weapon of a strike. Bubt were ghe wages p,dequa.te
.ior the increasing gost. of llvmg even after the str}ke ? ;No. that
vas not so. For, even. befoxe the year 1914, the werkers’ yages had
‘been inadequate for the mcreased cost of living. Kven supposing
that the wages before 1914 and the cost of llvmg ‘were on the sama
level a,nd taking into account the increase in the cost of living an
inadequate increase in wages was granted fo fhe workers after the
strike, In this manner if the cost of living went up to 175 lin 1919
the revised wages of the worke‘rs reaghed only up to 135. When'a
strike was declared again the cost of living | had gone. up to 183 and
the owners increased the wages of the workers to 155 But l;wo rupees
in place of one were required for housepold expenses on account of
the increase of market rates, That time an increase of twelye annag
per rupee was granted. That too was got by the workers in 1921
‘after making a strike. You will understand from this aocount how
the owners compelled the workers to go on strike even in such &
prosperous time of theirs” These strikes of the workers are not ak
all meant to averthrow the Gowt. of H. M. But the workers arq
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obligad to resort to this weapon of a strike out of helplessness only
because they may be able to gebt a few more rupees snd be abls to
live a8 human beings. What are we to do during such a time and
how are we to fill our belly? Ihose who know economie
statistios, poinb out that if the difference between the increased cost
of living since 1914 and the low wages of the workers i taken into
account, every worker must have balanced hig expenses by incurring
debt. Otherwise the Bombay mill-workers might have been requir-
ed to incur debts to the exfent of ten erores of rupees to balance
the workers' wages with the increasing market rates. Asa matter
of fact how can the workers have the ability of raising such a lean ?
Some men incurred debts while some remained half-starved. You
will come to know from the Labour Report and from the Report
of the Tariff Board that during this very time, that is during the
War time, apart from the loot going on by way of reserve fund ,secret
deposits etc the owners made a profit of fifty-two crores of rapees.
While our struggle against starvation was going on in this manner,
the drum of political agitation was being beaten in the country.
The Congress started a great agitation demanding rights for India
to copduct her own administration. At that time we workers and
peasants understood the meaning of this demand for Swaraj to be
only this that our indebtedness would disappear, the oppression of
the money-lenders would stop, we would get lands at cheaper rates,
our wages would increase and the oppression of the owner on the
workers, the kicks and blows with which they helabour us would
stop by lagislation and that as a result of it the persecution of us
workers would come to an end, These and other thoughts came in
the minds of us workers and a good many workers from among us
and I myselt enlisted ourselves as volunteers in this mevement.
When I began liquor shop picketing the experience I got at that
time is as follows. Those rich persons who supported this move-
ment were themselves earning money out of the profits of the liquor
traffic and were themselves respectable drunkards. Similarly
while putting on Swadeshi khaddar they carried on the bussiness
of foreign cloth, -but cried out im meetings that people should
not buy foreign cloth, declared some pieceofcloth with us poor
workers as foreign and campelled us to burn it. Those very
patriots did not prohibit the uge of foreign cloth for their wives - and
children. When this sort of patriotism became absolutely clear to
me and ta us workers, | and the workers working with me bade
good bye to the Swaraj movement. But the Indian capitalists (Lit.
owners) and leaders posing themselves as nationalists blame
the workers for taking liquor. The owners want to show that the
workers are given adequate wages but that they drink liquor
and squander all of them. Similarly the patriots also make against
us workers the same charge. But no one considersWhat wages the
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workers get and how they can afford to drink liquor. Liquor does -
not mean water from the rivers. Willa worker earning at the most
eighteen to twenty rupees a month think of solving the problem of
the livelihood of himself, his wife and his children or drink liquor ?
Besides this he has to spend out of those wages for room rent,
clothing and medical help, how can he drink liquor ? How can the
worker over-worked on account of the oppression of the owner.
and passing the days of his life in a half-starved condition drink this
mine of vices? Only therich can do it. And even supposing that the
worker drinks liquors, this childish movement cannot stop liquor
drinking merely by saying that liquor should rot be taken. It must
be seen why he jumps into this mine of vices and what are the
causes for it. But our patriots or the Congress calling itself
National have never even cared to look at the condition of us poor
workers and peasants. Bat we workers are straightway charged
with being drunkards. If these patriots would see the condition of
- the place where the worker lives they can easily understand why the
workers takes to drink, The latrines are not cleaned for fortnights
together, the gutters are not cleaned, ten to twelve persons live in
one room, there are epidemics, on all sides there are cries of jmen
having died and the groanings of men on the death-bed,there is bad
smell everywhere, the workers are indebted to the Bania, the
Marwadi (and) the Pathan because they do not get wages sufficient
to fill the belly and have no money for medicine, and the creditor is
standing at the door of the worker to recover his debts, women and
children have ro clothes on their body, they are in a naked condition,
there is no food in the house. The worker jumps into this filth
being unable to bear this condition before his eyes and being tired
of his circumstances. And he is unable to find a way out of those
circumstances and there is no champion of his to show him the way.
So he behaves thoughtlessly and reduces his family life to dust.
But who causes this ? These oppressive owners (are the cause of
it). Liquor cannot therefore be stopped by oral learned advice.
The worker must get clean quarters, be required to work for a
smaller number of hours, be given wages adequate for the livelihood
of his wife and children. Then his habit of taking liquor, opium,
cocaine etc. will stop.  These patriots and the Congress calling
itself national have so far made 'no efforts at all to improve the
economic condition of the worker. No change in the condition of the
workers can be brought about merely by asking them orally not to
drink liquor and to use Swadeshi (articles). (To be continued).

8d/- R. L. Yorke

sd/-K.S. A.
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Alwe (Contd).
PICKETING FOREIGN CLOTH SHOPS

Atfter being free from the tumult of War, the foreign capita-
lists began to throw their goods on India at cheap rates and onlong
term credits. At that time as soon as the profits began to be reduced
the eyes of these Indian capitalists addicted to excessive profiteering
for seven years turned towards the agitation for Swaraj and the
boycott of foreign goods became strong cn their behalf and before
our own eyes heaps of goods accumulated in every mill began to be
cleared off at great speed and night shifts also were started. But
the wages of us workers were in no way increased. And in every
mill men had to go on strikes on a small scale to get their wages
increased. We workers therefore became of opinion that boycott
cannot be of any profit to us workers, it was only the dodge ot the
mill-owners and the Indian rich men. The agitation in 1921-22 got
strength because of the conjunction of the three factors, of ‘the
worker and the peasant class being enraged on account of the
universal high .prices caused by famine and the War and because of
the Indian capitalist being enraged because of the omslaught of
European capitalists on India. But the eyes of us urban workers
alone began to open as stated above. We peasants were advised
not to pay land revenue only to the Govt, but we peasants cultivat:

ing *Khoti lands on rent were strangled by those
*A particulat  Khots in the country itself and though the money-
tenure prevalent . g . .
in Konkap, ~ lenders got themselves acclaimed in the meetings
S and received garlands and bonquets these
Khots of the country were not ready even to remit
a pie out of our interest. The Khots started grem#®agitation
for the reduction of the land revenue and in some provinces
the Govt. granted remission in land revenue but these land-
lords instead of reducing the rent taken from us began day by
day to increase its. burden. It therefore became evident to me
what Swaraj was and what would be the condition of us workers
and peasants when it would come into the hands of such richmen,
Though I myself and nearly all the working class became ready t6
bid good-bye to this movement for Swaraj still the oppression of
. rich men and the owners on us and the thoughts of being free from
their grievous persecution had not disappeared from our minds.

INSTANCES OF OPPRESSION BY OWNERS.

I wish to cite here one or two instances of how these owners
.oppress us workers and bow (oppression) was inflicted on me. In
1921 I was Working in the Pearl Mill. My brqther was also work-
ing there. All of a sudden he fell sick while &prking. I commu.
nicated the news of his sickness to the officers. But the mill-
officials did not allow him to go out of the mill. And he remained
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lying fn that mill in the same condition. He had got 108 feverand
he had to remain in the mill in this cendition till the mill was
closed. I took him home in the evening after the mill was closed
and he expired within an hour or two. You will come to. know
from this instance how these mill-officials placed difficulties in the
way of providing for the conveniencg of the sick or giving medicines
to them. But when he died, the owners did not pay the wages for
the days for which he had worked even though I demanded them.
I was 'working in the Wadia mill in 1922 and my sister was also
working in the same mill. She also died one night as a result of
the attack of an epidemic. I had to stay at home in the morning
to perform her obsequies. I was turned out on the plea that I did
not go to the mil] to ask for leave in the morning, and my wages
also were not paid.

In 1923 1 was working in the Garden mill. There I foll
sick and so I could'not attend work. I went to work after five or
six days when I became all right. Butl was neither given work
nor the wages for the days for which I had worked. , Such was
at that time the condition of us workers, It will amount
to a bulky volume if I go on citing such instances of the eppression
of the owners. I have, therefore, concizely shown by way of am
instance the manner in which the workers are oppressed by the.
owners,

” The year 1993 commenced. That year the owners raised the
outery thap they had begun to imour loss and $hey stopped the
bonus that was given to the workera, Bonug means ona month’s
wages for vhe twelve monthe’ work. The owners grumble af . the
time of increaging the wages of ms workers even when jhey are
making profits. They however require no time when the wages of
the workers are to bg cut down., All the owners prepare nofices im
ane night and guddenly attack the workers withou§ giving time fo
think saying “ Your wages have been cuf, you may stay if you want
to aontinue on reduced wages, if nof yos may go away.’’ DBonug
was given to such workers alone as might have attended their work
throughout in the mill of ane qwner for twelva months of the year,
without remaining at home. ,Thus we were plainly told in the
twelfth month when the time came to pay the boams, after taking
work from the workers for eleven months, that bonus would not be
paid to us. On hearing this the working class which was already
involved in debt and high prices, became irritated and went on
strike. The particular diffarence betwoon the strikes thaf
had taken place up-till-now that is those of 1919, 20,21, and tha
two subsequent shrike/s, was that the strikes from 1914 to 1921 took
place during the days of excessive profitesring on the part of
the owners. So the workers could get at least some increasa .
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in their wages inorder that the owners may not lose their increasing
profit,, the strikes had not to be fought out to the bitter end
and during these strikes there were no permanent special Unions or
" organizations for conducting them. Therefore men used to wander
at will in all directions in an unorganized and uncontrolled manner.
And every man was ready to act according to his desire. On all
sides, looting, incendiarism, stone-throwing and beating was the
programme during those strikes. And Badmashes and thieves

carried out their objects taking advantage of this strike of the
workers. Therefore the Bombay Govt. was required to call for
the military as soon as such strikes of the workers took place and
in the strike of 1923 also similar steps were adopted, and the strike
began to assume a terrible form. I was as that time working in
the Crown mill. There was danger even in going out, there were
riots, mutual fighting and iooting on every side and firing was
resorted to everywhere. Onseeing this candition I thought to
myself what the reason for which we declared the strike was and
the form it began to assume and that if this condition continued in
the same manner we workers would suffer terribly and that therefore
someway must belfound out of this condition and the chaos that pre-
vailed)must be stopped and I thought in my mind that (I should place
before the people and the Govt)the reason why oukstrike took place
and its cause and should ask for redress, I communicated these
my thoughts to my worker brothers. Oi their approval of those
ideas, we contributed oné anns each and pablished leaflets giving
detailed information about the strike. The worker brothers were
requested in that handbilli “Our strike was declared because the
owners stopped our bonus and lawful! means must be adpoted to
get it back. And therefore worker brothers should immediately
give up the thoughtless path of beating et¢. resorted to by them:
We workers are neither rebels nor havé we declared the strike to
raise a rebellion but we' have gone on strike because the owners
stopped our bonus. My worker brothérs should therefore listen
to my request and attend the meeting near Rama’s temple at Naig
aum, And on gathering there, there will be a consideration about
our strike.”” As a resultof my request about fifty to sixty thousand
persons assembled there. I placed the first resolution at that time
before the men that if they-wanted their bonus they mustat once
.stop the disorder going on everywhere in the city of Bombay. It
was their first duty that day to establish peacé, The question' of
their bonus woild not be considered at all as long as peace was not
established. I tried to establish peice by getting such resolutions
passed in that meeting and. by distributing bandbills everywhere.
And peace was established as a result of my request. While I was
carrying on this programme of mine, Sir George Lloyd, the Gover-
nor of Bombay called me to see him. That time a deputation of
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eighteen persons consisting of myself, Messrs. Bhatavdekar,
Mayekar, Kusgaonkar, Parulekar and other workers. went there to
see him, When we saw him (he) asked me who Mr. Alwe was
and I gave him information that I was a worker. Taking in hand
the handbills issued by me asking the workers lo establish peace
(he) asked me whether I had distributed them among the workers.
I then gave a connected account and he said that he was thankful
to me for the trouble taken by me to keep peace and for my efforts
to place forward the real side of the workers, After this thanks-
giving was over I was asked why ! did not establish Unions of
workers, I then placed before him all the difficulties, (describing)
how the owners hampered us in establishing unions and how mem-
bership of 2 union involved loss of employment. Then H. E. the
Governor told me that my fears were out of place, that if the owners
dismissed us from work as soon as a Union was started we should
forthwith communicate with His Excellency’s Secretariat, that the
workers must necessarily have a union and that a union of workers
made it very easy to carry on negotiations with the owners throngh
the Unions, in matters like a strike and made it possible for Govt.
to understand clearly what both the sides had to say. His
Excellency asked usto establish a union that very day without
having any misgivings in mind and said that he approved of our
workers’ union, :

On the next day in December 1923, was born the Girni
Kamagar Mahamandal. This was the very first union(lit. institution)
among the workers of Bombay. Owing to our previous experience
up till then, we had no confidence especially in outside leaders,
therefore, the Girni Kamagar Mahamandal was a union purely
conducted by the working class and I was elected the President of
that Union. The next day -after the election I received a letter
from H.E. the Governor. I went to see him and when we began
to talk about the strike the question was asked me: ¢ I suggest
you one plan. That plan is that the strike must be ended soon by
some compromise. That is my desire. Do you approve of these
my thoughts 2 When asked thus I replied that we must have our
bonus and that I was thankful that His Excellency was trying to
secure it for us. Aftersome talk thereafter,a suggestion was brought
forward that the quarrel between the owners and the workers should
be entrusted to a committee and that the decision of the Committee
would be binding on both the parties. At that time I somewhat
liked this suggestion and I accepted it as President of the workers®
Girni Kamagar Mahamandal, Then this Bonus affair was sent to
a Committee of a High Court Judge, along with the municipal
commissioner and a4 merchant. The committee was appointed
solely in order to see whether the bonus being given to the workers
was proper and whether the owners were then making a profit, and
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the representatives of both the owners and the workers were to
place their respective sides before that committee. Then on behalf
of the workers I placed before the committee some typical statistics
as to how low were the wages being thea received by the workers
and how the owners were making profit. I submtited to the committee
a brief account of how the wages then being paid to the workers
were inadequate for their maintenance, how they had to incur debt,
and how the worker class owing to indebtedness falls a victim to ‘
the Marwadi and the Pathan (money-lenders). And the inquiry
committee also saw after being shown by me, how inadequate were
the wages received then by the workers, owing to the high cost of
living in Bombay then. But the owners produced before the
committee for giving evidence some witnesses, which they had won
over to their side, making them to appear as workers. These gave
evidence quite contrary (to the truth) and their evidence was con-
sidered as true by the committee. Similarly on behalf of the
workers, Messrs. Bole, Talcherkar and others (of) workers; institu’
tions like the * Hitwardhak ' (Samaj) put together something and
placed it before the committee and these sensible and humanitarian
persons represented as false the side of the workers placed by me
before the committee, got it proclaimed through the English
newspapers that they were the real leaders of the workers that I
knew nothing about the workers’ condition and such other things.
The committee also accepted as true their side, regarding them as
sensible outsiders. The owners placed befors the committee accounts
showing loss to themselves in the matter of their failing to get
. profits. At that time Mr. Findlay Shirras gave evidence on behalf
of the Labour Office of the Govt. He hinted a bit concealingly that
the accounts of the owners were not reliable, that is, they were false.
But his evidencs also was not accepted by the committee and in the
end it stopped the bonus of us workers, Mill-owner Wadia raised a
storm against Mry Shirras in the Bombay Council because he had
unmistakably expressed an opinion adverse to the owners. Since
then Mr, Shirras learned a good lesson, so much so that hencefor-
ward he began unmistakably and whole heartedly to work against
the workers. The owners were sure that the workers would go on
strike after they were deprived of the bonus, and they were deter-
mined not to recede even if the men went on strike. That is why
the strike of 1923 got prolonged for many days.

The strike of 1919, in which 35 per cent was secured as high

cost allowance, the strike of 1920, in which 55 per cent was secured

- as high cost allowance and the 1921 strike in which 75 per cent
was secured a8 high cost allowance, lasted for ten, eighteen, and
twenty days (respectively). But the strike of 1923 lasted for one
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month and a balf. And the strike question went before this commi-
ttee and the bonus was stopped. The owners did not insist during
the 1923 strike as they did in that of 1928, that the strike must be
called off before an inquiry took place. Because in the absence of
organisation there was no champion of the workers to place forward.
their side. Then as I have already said, an institution by name the
Girni Kamgar Mahamandal eame into existence and the complaints
of the workers began to be placed before the owners through that
Mandal. But, as many complaints were not listened to a8 ought to
have been. Several owners used to dismiss workers if they
became members of the Mandal. In' this way the oppression
against the workers, instead of ceasing, went on increasing. Because
organization is to be made for opposing oppression and if that is
made, the worker is dismissed from work., In such difficulties the
year 1924 passed off somehow. In 1925 the owners again attacked
our wages. The reason was that the Govt. did not agree to the
demand being 1nade for several years by the owners that the Govt.
should repeal the duty of 3% per cent imposed by it on the mill
products of India. The anger against the Govt. was vented ( by
them) on us workers. And a cut of 11} per cent was effected in the
wages of the workers. As the ownershad not the strength to fight
against the power of the Govt., they kicked at the bellies of the
poor, and began an outery that they were suffering great loss. And
notices were posted oh every mill door that the wages of all
the workers would be cut down by 11} per cent and it was also written
in that notice that so long as the Govt. did not repeal the 3% per
cent duty, on the owners, they would not restore the cut in the
wages of the workers. In such circumstances the strike began in
September 1925. At thattime it was not necessary for any institu~
tion or leader to tell the workersto go on strike, because, the
owners had placed clear notices on mill doors that a cut of 11} per
cent would be effected in the wages of the workeg So it was not
at all necessary to explain the thing to the worker, (similarly) it
was not that it affected particular workers and did not affect others,
or there were no complications in it. That was not the state of
things in the strike of 1928, the state of things. in that strike was
quite different. Now the reasons are different why it was necessary
in the year 1928 tb ask the workers to ga on strike, as we shall see
later on, But when the strike: of 1925 took place I went to the
mill-owners’ Association in order to have a talk about the strike, on
behalf of the G, K. Maha Mandal. But there was absolutely no
use of that my going. Therefore it being decided op behalf of the
Maha Mandal that the strike must be fought out till the cut of 11}
per cent was restored, the G. K. Maha Mandal took the leadership
of the strike. I have already said that the G. K. Maha Mandal
was a Union purely of workers, which means that all the strings of
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that strike lay in the hands of the Maha Mandal. Thén Mr.
{N. M.) Joshi approached our Maha Manda! on behalf of the Social
Service League and introduced the talk that a committee should be
appointed to conduct the strike. I know Mr. Joshi since that time.
Till then Mr., Joshi had never come in the workers’ movement. I
know Mr: Jhabwala since 1920. He used to come among us
workers and tell (ns) the importance of the power of organization,
Thereafter Messrs. Bole, Talcherkar, Asavale, Jinwala, all joined
(us), and a Joint Strike Committee got formed to conduct the strike
of 1925. Mr. Joshi was taken on the committee as representative
of the Social Service League. Similarly, Mr. Jhabwala was taken
on the committée as secretary of the G. I, P, Union. Messrs.
Asavale and Bakhale were chosen for this committee as advisers of
Mr. Joshi. Mr. Jinwala was selected as representative of the B. B.
& C. I. Union. Mr. Bole was taken as representalive of the
Kamagar Hitwardhak Samaj. Thereafter all the sirings of the
strike were moved by this Joint Strike Committee. But while
forming this committee the majority of the members were repre-
sentatives of the Maha Mandal, and they were all workers. Then
H. E. the Governor called {us) in order to have a talk about the
strike. At that timé I was appointed on behalf of the G. K.
Maha Mandal and along with me there -were Messrs. Joshi,
Bakhale, Jhabwala, Mayekar and Asavale, But nothing satisfac-
tory came outeven from that idterview, and this strike became
obstinate. Rs. 25000 were received as help for that strike from
British workers., Similarly the Bombay municipality had laid
down a scheme of providing work to the strikers to the extent of
one lakh of rupees as help to the strike, When the workers
thus got help on all sides the owners thought that the strike would
not break and so the millowners made an outcry with the Govt.
of India (lit. Delhi Govt.,) that this indigenous industry
would now be ruined. They wailed that if Govt: wanted
their industry to survive it should grant them reduction of duty
otherwise they could not afford to restore the cut in the workers’
wages. In the end after the owners got an assurance from the
Govt, that it would repeal the 3} per cent of duty they began to
talk with our Joint Strike Committee about a compromise and
began to say that they wauld restore the cut of £1} percent in our
wages. Of course, our strike that had taken place because of the
11} per cent cut was called off after 3% months in all, after a talk
with the owners that it would be called off if our wages were going
to be restored. Though this strike in the year 1925 became
successful, all that bappened was that cut of 17% per cent was
abolished. ‘I'he mill-owners, however, found out analtogether new

way of.cutting the wages of the workers. This being a clandestine

way, it took much time for the workers to realise it and the strike
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of 1928 took place merely because of that clandestine attack.,
Now before telling what happened next, I must tell here what was
the state of my ideas (lit. thought) (from time to time), And the
necessity for telling this is that, it has been alleged with respect
to me that I have taken my ideas from the Communists, similarly
that I was taught the principles of the Communist Inter-National
andthat by joining the Communists or by bringing
My Ideas, them among the workers (1) made a conspiracy
Not Communist. to subvert the Raj. The real beginning of this
charge is taken back to the Russian Revolution
and to the establishment of the Communist [nternational and the
Prosecution has also produced evidence to that effect. But it has
been nowhere mentioned what 1 was since my birth to my arrest
and what was the'line of my work, The charge of conspiracy has
been foisted upon me by bringing together some sort of similarity
in thought, some (rare) identity of words and some occasional
meetings betwecn persons that took place for a particular purpose.
Now I do not know what is communism and what is called by
that name, Similarly I have no information what this Communist
International is, similarly I have no idea who Lenin was. Simi-
larly till this case was started I had no idea of what is meant by
(saying) that a revolution took place in Russia, and I do not know
yet. But, it appears to me desirable to show here how my ideas
(lit. thoughts) went on developing independently from 1923 till my
arrest, Because this development of my ideas (lit. thought) did
not take place because of any one’s incitement or teaching but
because of the experience I actually got and the sufferings that I
had to bear. As I was a peasant (I knew) the difficulties of my
family with respect to agriculture, the exploitation by money-
lenders, the loot of us (tenants) by the Khot, the prices of our
grain being cut down by the rich Marwadis in the Bazar, all these
schemes (were known to me). The Government helped the rich
directly or indirectly, so that we peasants had no friend, all were
our enemies, the khots, the money-lenders, the marwadis all
persecuted and plundered (lit. eat) us, Such was the impression
formed by me and by us peasants. Similarly after coming to the
city and becoming a worker, I experienced the whole situation—
the attack on our wages by the mill-owrers and their officials, work
till the bones broke, kicking with boots by the officials, the whole
wages (laken) as fine on some minor excuse, cruel beating, our
housing conditions like those of beasts, work ten times that of a
prisoner taken forcibly (from us), such sufferings of us workers,
while the owners were making excessive profit. I (then) began
to think—I saw that the owner in the city too battens by spoiling
us workers, Hearing it being taught that we should fight for the
protection of ma bap sarkar and because the King was in danger
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I went to war, but what happened there was that the Government
for whose protection we fought that same Government, instead
of providing us for life, threw me again into the jaws (lit. stomach)
of hunger (and) unemployment and I found myself again in the
oppressive clutches of the capitalist. Then I began to see the
Government partiality (li€. attraction) towards the rich and theit
indifference towards us poor. (to be continued).

Sd/- K.S. A. Sd/- R. L. YORKE,

13-8-31.
Alwe [continued].

_For, when the owners cut the wages of us workers or in-
crease the hours of work, we have to declare a strike to oppose
that oppression. The Police run to the help of the owners during
those strike days and belabour the workers in order to break their
strike, forcibly arrest the workers and cause them to work on.
wages reduced by the owners. [They] entered the workers’
chawls and, made lathi charges on them, came to mestings and
created confusion, began to kill the workers by firing on them,
_ they arrested the workers and began to hold threats of imprison-
ment, began to drive lorries on the workers while they were
peacefully going home, began to beat volunteers while they were
peacefully picketing at the mill gates, began to dishonour women
volunteers : on seeing these things everywhere hateful abuses
automatically came out from my mouth as a result of anger in
‘my speeches during the strike. I also abused the administration
being sick of the circumstances of that time and being unable
to bear the persecution to- which we workers were subjected
at that time. Those speeches of mine were not intended to
spread among .the people disaffection towards the Govern-
ment, but love about the Government began to disappear from
my mind and that of us workers because the Government did
-pot at all intervene during the strike situation and began freely to
beat the workers .without even making the attempt of mediation
and without seeing whether the complaint of the workers was
proper or not or whether the owners persecuted the workers or
not. The experience I gathered on going to the War was as
follows:— The poor workers and peasants stand to gain nothing
in these wars that are fought and the lives of these workers
and peasants are sacrificed for the profit of the rich. And
these very rich men bring about such terrible wars and sacrifice
crores of workers and peasants on the battlefield for their (own)profit.
It is tberefore that the worker and the peasant is against such wars,
'So also the workers at least are ot generally ready to declare a
strike and to adopt the path of starvation, But these rich men force

3
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the workers to adopt that path. Then being helpless and tired of
their circumhstances the workers go on strike. Batin truth the worker
is against adopting such methods. as that of going on strike.
Then these patriots under the name of politics and the pretence
of patriotism raise waves and stotms for their profit. And rob the
profit for themselves making a puppel of the workers and the
peasants for that purpose and thréwing them into the jaws of the
Government. I clearly got this experience in the agitation of
1921-22 and in the agitation of the 1925 strike for the repeal of the
3} per cent excise duty. This was the pitiable state of society’
and when it was asked how the hardships of the workers ¢an be
removed, people used to say: “Form unions (and) organise. There
are big unions of the workers in England and those unions have
got large funds, the unions are usefal when those workers fight
with the owners and they succeed as a result of it” These and
other things were told to us workers. And the mill-owners also said
that if there were a proper union of the workers they would keep
themselves in touch with it. On hearing these things we workers inau-
gurated the Girni Kamgar Mahamandal in 1923. But not a single
mill-owner waé ready either to confer with the workers’ tnion or to
send 2 reply to letters from the workers. But & worker was
‘however turned out from work if ha became a ‘member of tha
Mahamendal. The wotk of the Mahamandal was some how
carried on under these circumstanses. Now I think I should
relate here in short how difference of opinion ‘arose between myself
and outside sensible. and respectable leaders like Messis, Joshi
and Ginwala. For, in ‘the Lower Court the Magistrate has
accused me of keeping aloof from respectable leaders like Messrs.
Joshi and Jinwala. Ag this charge has been brought agaidst me,
1 am obliged to say something in that conpection. I ‘myself and
Messrs. Joshi, Jinwala,Bakhle,Jhabwala,Asavle, Bols, and Mayekar
unitedly fought the general strike of 1925 wagasinst the cut of
11} per cent. But as soon as the stiike was ‘over, Mr. Joshi
suggested thab a union should be started by all of them and his
suggestion was approved by all of us. Buat Mr. Joshi’s suggestion
was to dissolve ‘the Girmi Kamgar Mahamandal that ‘was
conducted by mill-workers and to establish a new wmnion altogether.
That time I opposed Mr. Joshi’s suggestion thag:— *Mr, Joshi’s
suggestion that there should be'only one union ‘of all the workers
is excellent. But the union that 'has beén condacted by the
workers since 1923 should be kept intact and all should unitedly
work on its behalf. New election should be made if desired, buf
T am quite opposed to Mr. Joshi’s sugéesbion of dissolving & union
that has been going on for two years and of establishing a new
one.”” At that time this question was discussed in the Joint.
Strike-Committee of 1925, Mr. Joshi’s resolution for dissolving the
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Mahamandal and inaugurating a new union was thrown ou$ and
it was resolved by all to carry on unitedly and vigerously the work
of organising the workers under the suspices of (lit. sitting in) the
Mahamandal. Then Mr. Joshi moved that the rule of the Girni
Kamgar Mahamandal that there should be no outside leader in
it, should be cancelled, as that rule was destructive to outside men
like himself. I had also opposed that resolution that time thus:i—
“We workers have, been compelled to frame such a rule on
account of the experiences about outsiders got by us. If educated
outsiders want o show the way of the uplift of us workers they
should show it by coming to the institutions of us workers as
advisers. But they should not become masters of the institutions
of us workers. For, when they become the office-bearers of the
institution of us werkers and when the question of us workers is
placed before the owners, such educated outsiders do not exactly
know the real condition of the working class, what their grievances
are and how pressing they are today. On account of this, pressing
questions of the working class remain aside and the outsiders
open talks with the owners regarding some other questions and we
workers incur great less as a result of it These outsiders do not
intentionally put the workers o loss butgcomes about on account
of their ignorance of the real condition of the workers. The real
question is not solved by their talking something by mere
conjecture. When we knew this and received actual experience,
we, men of the working class thought over the matter and resolved
that the leadership of the workers’ union must be in the hands of
the workers and that educated outsiders may help the working
class as advisers if they please, Control should not be placed in
the hands of outsiders. The workers’ unions and the work that
is done on their behalf constitute the question of the welfare of
the werking class and the improvement of their eeonomie condition.
Therefore the working class knows better than educated outsiders
*what improvement$ onght to be effected in its economic condition.
This is not a great political question so that big shastris and
“pandiis are required to solve it. We were compelled to pass such
s resolution with the only object in mind that the eondition of us
workers might some how improve. But the question that stood
before Mr. Joshi was merely that of honour and not that of the
welfare or the economie condition of the workers. And while
placing his side before the committee he said that the suthority
of these unions of the workers should be in their (of the educated
outsiders) hands. ‘When we saw this autocratic obstinacy of
Mr. Joshi it became evident thamMr. Joshi had in truth only been
enticed by the posts of authority in the Worker’s Unions and that
instead of doing any real work he wanted only to parade the
Jeadership of the Worker’s Unions. And a discussion took place -
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about that question, that is about the posts of authority in the
Workers' Unions and Mr, Joshi’s suggestion  that educated
oui:siders should be the officials in the Worker's Uniocns, was also
thrown out. At that time Messrs, Joshi,Bakhale,Asavle and Jinwala
walked out of the meeting and inaugurated an independent union.
This was the Textile Labour Union and it was started in the
month of ]anuary 1926. Thus there came to be two Unions of
us mill-workers. Therefore if there was any difference of apinion
between Mr, Joshiand myself it was for this reason only that
while Mr. Joshi wanted to parade himself in the name of fthe
workers, at Geneva and in the Legislative Assembly, as the
oﬁce bearer of Trade Unions and the representa.blve of workers, I
tlgought that actual workers ought to go there as the representatives
of workers. This was the only difference of opinion between us
two. Still whenever & question like that of a strike oropped up,
Mr Josh1 and myself used fo work with thorough unanimity.
sucb work was done even in the strike of 1928 by forming &
]omh Strike Committee, Now I shalk describe afterwards how the
Joint-Strike Committee of ‘}‘928 was formed

Now I want to go Back and tell something about the Tariff
Board of 1926 After the strike of 1925 for the restoration of
the cut of 115 per cent was won, the owners were wamng for an
opportunity to take revenge on the workers, revenge for their
havmo' won the strike. At that time that is in 1926 the mill=
owners represented to the Govt. that the condition of their
mdustry was not satxsiactory and that the Govt. should appomt
a Board to see how bad was the condition of their industry and
should see what ruinous condition it had reached. The Govt.
listened to this wail of the mill-owners and the Tariff Board was
appointed to see the condition of their industry. While this Board
was surveying the condition of the textile industry of the owners
they placed their side before it and did not especially forget tor
point out to the Board how they were required to pay high wages,—
to the workers. Therefore (they urged ) “Some cut must be effect-
ed inthe worker's wages and the Board should recommend that
such a cut should be eﬁected then we would see how the worker
can live inthis world. Because the worker is very insolent, he
does motallow us to cut down his wages and as soon as wages
are cut down he goes on strike and maintains the strike not for .
a few days but for three to four months continuously and compels
us to accept defeat. The workersgare able to maintain these strikes.
because we pay them more money We must therefore cut down
their wages. And if you would allow the workers to indulge in
their domineering behaviour in this manner they will not fail to
sit even on the head of the Govt, after some time (Lit, tomorrowh'”
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Such perverted facts were at thaf time being placed before the
Tariff Board o behdlf of the owners. ( They sdid: )*As the work '
that is being done by the workers at present is quite inadequate
for those workers, it will be necessary for us to effect changes
in theit work also. It is possible to get done the work evea if
we appoint one person where two are working today, For it will
be feasible if we také from one the work of two persons and
( thereby ) out industry will also derige some help. Therefore
if you recommend some cut inthe wages of the workers, then we
will see. When this is done we witl not have much to eomplain
dgainst the daty and the tax imposed by the Govt. Aad if the
question’ atdll remains, we aad the Govt. shall see to it. Bit
you (Thé Tariff Board) must recommeénd retrenchment in the case
of the wiges and thé work of the workers, Then we are going
to give effect to a new scheme which is called the Standardization
stheme sad which is in operatiof today in Lancashire and Japan.
The workets will not only not §ay anything when we introduce
that schéme in India bat they will #ot also get an 6pportinity
to grumblé against it. And this schémé i§ highly excellétit, for;
s arestlt of it the workérs will get amplé work and we shall
also gain our object.” This idea in the feftile brain of the owners
was alsoappreciated by the Boatd and the Tariff Board remarked
in its Report that changes miight be effécted in the work of the
workers by way of protection to the industry of the owners and
the report of the Tariff Board was -at last published by the end
of 1926. This récominendation of thé Tariff Board and that rotten
idea in thé heids of the owners proved hafmfil to the working
class aiid the stiiké of 1928 had to be declared to remove it:
Before procdeding furthet ( I shall refer to the following )= When
the Tariff Board was sittinig; I seat & létter to it on behalf of our
Girhi Katigsr Makamandal. I refetied iri m¥ letter to the grievances
of thé Working cldss and the oppression and the force practised
on us by the owners and expressed the hope that the Board would
pay its attention to the condition of the workers and allow them
also to place theif side before it. A§ 560n as this letter was sent
to the Boafd it calléd u$ to pldce theé sidé of us workets before it.
Al that time I represented the side of the workers on behalf of the
Girfii Kaingar Mahamandal and showed how sevére was the oppres-
gion of thé bwher$ on us workers, AS$ a pdrf of that oppiession I
pointed out how heavily the owners fined the worker elass and to
what a tértible condition the workers were reduced on account of
those oppressive fines and also that the fines were not insignificant
but so heavy that our wagés earned after two months’ work were
not even sufficient to cover the fines imposed by the owners.
1 told the Board: “‘If you can do something in regard to these
heavy fines you please do so.” That time the Committee asked me:
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“What is the extent of those fines to which you refer?” I explained to
the Board that time-nay I actually placed before the Board offenders
of the owners who had been fined by the owners thus:- Workers
who earned 20 to 25 rupees were fined 30 to 35 rupees. Thatis
they were forced to take cloth worth that amount. At that time
the owners gave wages to the workers after making them work
for two months. Having thus worked for two months under such
circumstances, the wages for both the months were confiscated
by wayof fine and on the pay the worker used to get in place of
his wages a paper signed by the manager or the Weaving Master
stating that he had been fined so many rupees. At this time the worker.
received a death-blow on getting the slip of fine in his hand and
wandered about in the open street-crying and bawling like a lunatic.
At home his wife and children remained waiting for their time of
death on account of starvation and they permanently bade goodbye
to thisoppressive world. The merchants and the Marwaris whose
debt he had incurred for two months, sat in front of his door saying:
“Give us money, otherwise we shall kill you.” Not only that but
they actually beat the workers. Ibrought this state offhings to
the notice of the Tariff Board with proof. From that time, either
as aresult of the recommendations of the Tariff Board or due to
some other cause the terrible oppression of fines on us ceased. It
cannot be said that fines ceased altogether but this terrible system
of fines however came to an end. Whenever such committees are
appointed we always congratulate them if they settle questions of
the welfare of us workers. After stating this much I now refer to
the new oppression by the owners. That is how the owners paid
Ro atteation to the other recommendations made by the Tariff
Board and introduced the system of two sides and three looms
with the only idea of reducing the wages of the workers. Ninety
to hundred years must have at least elapsed since the mill-industry
was started in Bombay. But an oppressive system of this sort had
never been introduced,

{(RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE TARIFF BOARD
tAND THE MACHINATIONS OF THE OWNERS

Taking advantage of the recommendation of the Tariff
Board of the year 1926, Mr. Sassoon, a mill-owner of Bombay, .
introduced in July 1927 the system of thiee looms and two sides
in two of his mills, Apollo and Manchester. As the workers in
both the Mills could not at that time cope with the double work
according to the (new) system, they at once went on strike,
Then the Girni Kamagar Mahamandal took up the strike of both
the Mills and communicated to the owners after thoroughly
studying the new system that they should stop this their new
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system as it was impossible to carry it on in
the iBombay mills. But a satisfactory reply was neither
received from the owners nor were theyready to make a compromise
in regard to the workers’ strike” Under these circumstances the
strike of those two mills continued for nearly one and three
quarters of a month and in the end the owners opened negotiations
with the Mandal. At that time I, on behalf of the workers,
brought to the notice of the owners: “You are seeking to intro-
duce this new scheme in India and wheaintroducing it you point
to the examples of Lancashire and Japan (but) at the sametime
where is there the mechanical knowledge which Lancashire and
Japan have got? If you want to introduce that scheme,. you
should first effect improvement in your machines (Mechanical
art) and then start this your experiment. For I at least am not
opposed to the introduction of new machinery for improvement of
work. But how can the experiment of this new scheme be
successful if you begin it on this old and worthless machinery ?
Similarly you should begin to use superior cotton as is used in
Lancashire and Japan. You should first effect these improve-
meats and then introduce this scheme.” Being actually a worker,
not an ordinary one but one who had made thorough study of the
mechanism of the mills for twenty to twenty-two years and one
who had also seen improved machinery, I pointed out to the owners
their mistakes and showed them how their experiment was
impracticable, not by mere words but by actaally doing the work
in their presence. And they saw how it became impossible to
work (according to the new scheme). And thereafter the owners
also realized their foolishness. And when the owner said that he
would stop the system, the men broke the strike and went to
work, One or two months after the men had gone on work, that
is in January 1928, the same owner, that is, Sassoon, reintroduced
the system which was once stopped, in his nine or ten mills. And
the men in the nine or ten mills that isall the 22000 men in the
Sassoon Mills, went on strike. The Mahamandal again took that
strike also in its hands and started correspondence with the owners,
But the owner did not even send reply to the. letters sent (by the
Mahamandal), On trying the experiment of correspondence for
fifteen to twenty days and on seeing that the owner paid no attention
to it the question arose what should be done next. Just at this
time the owner posted notices on the mill-doors that there was
no demand for his goods and a large quantity of them was lying
unsold in the mills and therefore he was going to close his mills
and that if any worker desired to work he should work according
to his new system so that he would start his mills. Notices of
this sort were posted on the doors of every mill over the Managers’
signature. At that time the question. stood before us workers
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whatto eat if wesat at home and how to cope with the werk
according tothis new system if we went to work. The strike continued
for two to two and a half months under such circumstances. Just
as the strike began to get prolonged a difficult question came
forward in the same proportion before the Mahamandal. The
difficult problem before the Mahamandal was whether all the
mills in Bombay should be called out on strike in order to stop
this oppressive system, For a hot discussion took place in the
Executive Committee of the Mahamandal whether one lakh and
twenty-five thousand men should be called on strike in order to
stop the oppression on twenty to twenty-two thousand workers and
to help them in their struggle. After that discussion it was settled
that one lakh and twenty-five thousand persons in other mills should
not be called out on strike for the sake of twenty to twenty two
thousand men in the Sassoon (mills); but that the strike of those
men alone who had gone onstrike should be carried on with great
determination till that owner stopped that oppressive system and
that the remaining one lakh men should give monetary help to the
strikers. Deciding thus, the Mahamandal conducted the strike
of the Sassoon (Mills) and another resolution was passed by the
Mandal that Mr., Alwe should discontinue his work in the mill
and take up the work of the strike in his hands.. According to
that resolution, I left my work and took in hand this work of the
strike and conducted the strike for two to two and a half months.
I used to tell the men in other mills that they should only help
the strike but should net declare a general strike. And I circulated
among the workers those opinions of mine by issuing handbiils.
X advised the men that the worker in whose wages and work no change
had been made should not participate in the strike, but those whose
wages had been cut down by the owners or whose owners had
introduced this new scheme should alone go on strike if they
liked, in order to put a stop to that scheme or to get their wages
(restored), but those in whose wages nc change had been made or
those to whom that oppressive scheme had not been made applicable
should not resort to a strike, But our very shrewd owners took
advantage of that goodness of mine and began to cut down the
wages of the workers in the different mills. The men in those mills
in which the workers’ wages were cut down, went on strike. But
T advised the strikers not to go to the doors of other mills and create
coufusion and not to compel them (men in other mills)to join the
strike. I worked in order that one worker might not join another
in the matter of the strike and that act of mine was not intendsd to
cause harm to the workers but owing to my being “a worker and
as Thad experience of previous strikes the thoughts stood day and
night before my eyes: *‘If we workers go today on strike how
long can we maintain it before these obstinate owners, and what
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will we gain if after declaring a strike we do not maintain it till our
demands are granted, and if after proclaiming a strike we workers
are defeated, these oppressive owners will again practise more op-
pression on us and what will be the condition of us workers when
ten times the present oppression shall be practised on us.” I was
therefore against a general strike. Vide D 430 (20), D 439 (30),
D 439 (32), D 439 (33), D 439 {35), D 439 (36). D 439 (37), D 715
(1-13). But my eyes opened when the oppression of the workers
by the owuers reached its climax and whenthe question arose of
the wages of about sixty thousand workers being cat down by the
owners. I tried my best to settle the question by compromise or
discussion without declaring a general strike, but those eiforts of
mine proved altogether ineffective. I made efforts day and night
to the utmost of my power for three months, to avoid a general
strike. You will know this from the handbills against a general
strike issued by me. From this account you will see how in
spite of this state of things the owners caused the strike. And the
workers on their part raised a row against me and began to accuse
me saying:—“You cause hatm to us workers, that is, you advise us
pot to declare a general strikeand ydu work on behalf of thelowners,”
At that time,however, all the workers became convinced that the
ownpers would not grant their demands by compromise and discussion
and that there was no other alternative for all the workers except
to unite and declare a general strike of the mills in Bombay.

( Incomplete )
Sd, K. S. A, Sd/-R. L. Yorke
24- 8. 31, ‘

Alwe (continued)

‘We had to adopt this final remedy that time because no other
alternative was left to meet the condition of the workers, I made
correspondence on behalf of the Mandal with the Mill-owners’
Association before calling this mill-strike. But I received no reply
to it. Then I gave ome month’s notice to the Mill-owners’
Association, on behalf of the mill-workers. - It was like this: “‘If
you will not consider about the question of the cut in the wages
of us workers and about this new Standardization Scheme and do
not stop it, we all the mill-workers shall have to declare a general
mill-strike f0 keep owvr wages intact and to get this new oﬂpressive
Schems stopped. And if you have to suggest anything in this
matter or o open conversations with the Mandal you should send
a reply regarding this question within one month from (the date) of
this notice.”” Thereafter the Girni Kamgar Mahamandal received
from the owners’ ‘Association a letter full of arrogance and pride.
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The secretary of the Mill-owners’ Association wrote init: “We do
not desire to consider the three questions viz. that of the new
Scheme introduced by us, the men that we have reduced and the
rates given to the workers which you say bave been cut down by
ns.”  After the reply to this notice was received by us from the
owners, that letter of the owners was discussed before the executive
committee of the AMahamandal and it was nnanimously resolved
that there was no other alternative but the declaration of a general
strike. Vide D 420 page 12. These strikes declared by us workers
were not at all declared to break up the Emperor’s Raj and these
strikes were not also political. Such strikes are declared in the last
resort after all other remedies of the workers have been tried to
preserve their wages intact, What other means is there, with the
help of which we can change our circumstances ? Though this
strike of April 1928 was called by the Girni Kamgar Mabamandal,
still other institutions of the mill-workers also had joined it.  Both
Mr. N.M. Joshi’s Textile Labour Ugion and Mr. Jhabwala’s Mill
‘Workers' Union bad been participating and working in the strike.
Then a Joint-Strike Committee was formed of those three institutions,
that is, the Girnoi Kamgar Mahamandal, the Textile Labour Union
and the Mill-Workers’ Union to conduct the strike. Aund thirty
persons were elected on that Strike Committee. Out of these thirty,
twenty were workers and 10 non-worker outsiders, Messrs. Joshi,
Jinwala, Asavle, Sayad Munavar and Parulekar were the five non-
worker representatives on behalf of the Textile Labour Union,
similarly Mr. Jhabwala, Nimbkar, Dange, Bradley and Mirajkar
were the five non-worker representatives on behalf of the Mill-
workers’ Union and the Girni Kamgar Mahamandal. The work of
the strike was conducted by the committee of these thirty persons.
But after this Strike Commiitee had been formed, the owners intro-
duced a new device that they would confer in the matter of the
strike only with a registered Union. The Girni Kamgar Mahaman-
dal was not a registered Uuion at that time. The Textile Labour
Union was & registered Ubion. But Mr. Joshi thought that it
would be of no wuse for the representatives of his Union to confer
with the owners as there was no backing of the workers bebind his
Textile Labour Union and he asked us why we did not get our
Girni Kamgar Union registered. Thereafter, there was discussion
in the Executive Committee of the Maha Mandal about such things
as whether it was necessary to register the Maha Mandal imme-
diately, and it was decided to register the Mandal as early as
necessary (thinking) why the Maha Mandal also should not be
registered if the owners be prepared to confer with a Registered
Union alone and if the strike was likely to end early by confering
with the owners in the matter of the strike. And I applied to the
Labour Office that the mandal should be registered and went thera
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myself. But what (did I find) there ? The owners had taken in hand
Mayekar who had been driven from the Secretaryship of the
Mahamandal and he was asked (by them) to get the mandal
registered- It was then necessary for Mr. Mayekar to secure the
signatures of seven workers in order to register the Union,but it was
difficuls for him toget even those. For,up till now, from the year 1923
o the year 1928, Mr. Mayekar had cansed all confusion in the affairs
of the G. K. Mahamandal. He dad misappropriated the money of the
Union to such an extent that it had become very dangerous to keep
s man like him in{’ﬁotkers’ union. Besides this, as Mayekar was
the Secretary of the union, he did not place before the owners in
the way he ought to have done, the ecorrespondence of the
Mandal or the complaints of the workers, but coming to an under-
standing with the owners through the hope of (getting) money, he
had totally rnined the institution of the workers for his own selfish
ends. Similarly three schools, thas is night schools for the workers
and day schools for the workers’ children, were condueted on behalf
of the G. K. Mahamandal. The Mandal used to pay the teachers of
these schools. But as Mayekar was the Secretary (of the Maha-~
Mandal) he began to pocket the pay of the teachers. Similarly a
dispensary had been opened on behalf of the Mahamandal to pro-
vide medicine to the workers in case of illness. And Mayekar took
money from the Mandal for the medicines but did not pay the
samoe to the doctor. Under sach circumstances because Mayekar
had everywhere created confusion in the affairs of the Mandal and
after all the acts of his came to light with proof the Executive
Committes of the Mandal placed before the men the all-round
dishonest management of Mayekar and unanimously tarned him
out of the Mandal. Vide D 420 page 11. Ido not wish to take
more time of the Court by giving more instances of the
management of Mayekar, who was a person like this. My only
object in referring to Mayekar is that I have been charged in the
Lower Court of quarrelling with Mayekar and bringing about a
strike by making a common cause with other men and the Court
had shown Mayekar to bea good gentleman. I have, therefore,
given one or two instances about the goodness of Mayekar. The
object of whatever work I had been doing up-till-now was that the
economic condition of us workers may improve. And I have been
making efforts ap-till-now for its improvement. If the workers and
the owners become of one mind, neither “trade” nor “Union”
will be required in the world and if they begin to take care about
the comforts of one another neither strike nor organisation will be
required. But how is that to happen? The owner is day and night
thinking about one thing only. That thought is that the servant
mast e low paid. When doing his (owner’s) work the servant
might do whatever he likes for his belly bat should serve him on
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low wages. The owner does not even think that the worker is 2
human being. The owner never looks to these circumstances of
that servant that he should get wages sufficient for his livelihood or
that he requires a house to live in or that he requires a house to live
in or that he requires medical help if he falls ill. (The owner thinks)
that the worker may live where he likes and may starve if he cannot
maintain himse)f on low wages (and) may die if he falls ill, but that
he should do the owner’s work day and night on low wages. (The
owner thinks) that it is not his business to see what the condition
of the worker is. The owner is only thinking how he can derive
more profit in his business, how his one crore of rupees shall
amount to two crores. Itis with these thoughts in mind that the
owner acts. The workers and the owners have because of this
become the enemies of one another today all over the world.
Now several wise men say that if the worker begins to behave
affectionately with the owner, the owner will also behave affec~
tionately with him. But things are quite the reverse of what these
wise men say. For the servant honestly does the work of his
master, he makes efforts day and night in order that his master’s .
business may not suffer loss, he works strenuously, he quietly bears
the oppression of his master even if the master gives him kicks and
blows, he himself bears any amount of hardships to please his master,
going without food or ignoring his own happiness and convenience
he strives for as much profit as his master can get and in the end he
spends all his life for the sake of his master. But what benefit
does that servant get from that owner even after doing this? He is
driven from his work and reduced to starvation owing to some
minor cause. Then, where these things are going on today how
can they feel affection for one another ? How can respect be
created in their minds about one another ? He must be at least a
fool who advises that they should behave affectionately when the
position is that one has to die and the other kills him. The servant
is ready to behave affectionately with the owner nightand day.
But does the owner want the affection of the servant ? He does not
want the worker’s affection but bis blood. Where such is the
gtate of things today this question of affection does not at all arise.
And if the owner had desired to behave affectionately with the
worker he would necessarily have paid attention to the condition
of the worker, like thisi— *‘Are the wages that we pay to this -
worker adequate for his maintenance or is the place where he lives,
fit for human habitation? Besides, is it proper fiom the human
point of view to make him work for the hours for which we muke
him work ? Or if his health is affected and he {alls ill because of
our making him work excessively, have we made arrangements
for his illness ? Similarly if while working on a machine, lfy dies
by an accident or his hand or foot is cut off, ought not heor his
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wife and children to get maintenance? Or, taking Into
consideration that he is a human being, is it not
necessary to grant him leave on account of his moneta, difficulty or
for some funotion?* How oan the workers feel affection for the
owner who does nob even treat them as human beings in ordinary
matters? Such oppression is being practised to day by the rich on
the workers, bat they (these oppressions) simply become them today
in this Raj. Because even though the rich behave thoughtlessly
today, they have got honour in this world. Even if they tell lies,
there is no one to charge them with having told lies. Even if they
act unjustly, there are today people at their back who say that
they bave acted only with justice. The whole of law is on their
side. Where such is tha condition, it is not possible’ to get justice
in such a Raj of the rich, however straightforward and just the side
of the servant or the labourer. be. Because if more money—'‘more,”
that is adequate for maintenance—is demanded while doing the
work of the owner, he is sure to be regarded as a criminal. If he
leaves the service of the owner, because of failure to get adequate
food, in spite of working for twelve to fourteen hours, or because of
inability to bear the oppression of the owners, he is sure to be
charged with having gone on strike and an. attempt is made to
entangle him in such a case of conspiracy. Such is the ocondition
today of us workersin ‘the world. I have already said that the
work I had been doing up-till-now was being done only with the
object of bringing about a change in the condition of us workers.
My connection with this workers' movement is not new. I have
been participating in the Bombay mill-workera’ movement for the
1ast ton years. That is I am connected with the workers’ movement:
fromits infancy. I can tell from my own experience that the
condition of us workers ten years back wag much worse than (our)
present condition. Workers had silently to. put up with inbhuman
things like beating, bribery, unnecessary fines ete. And these
wicked things were going on in the Bombay mills in broad daylight.
This just Govt. never came forward to protect. us from=them. At
that time we workers learnt the art of protecting ourselves on the:
strongth of union by starting Unions, Iican say from my own
experience that thess inhuman practices have ceased on aceount of
the strength of the workers organization during the last ten years.
Ten years 2go these mill-owners were treating us exactly like cattla.
But s slight change has taken place in our. condition today on the
strength of our organization. And the change is that we are
today being treated as slaves. The owners adopt the tricks of
increasing the hours of onr work, outting down our wages, foisting
the work of two men on one ete. in order to fill the bag of their
profit. The humanity of us workers is completely trampled under”
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foot (Lit. dashed down a precipice) under the grand name of re-
trenchment (or) standardization, and fighting against this is merely
fighting for L existence. And we the working class who are
ignorant and uneducated are able to carry on this struggle merely
on the strength of organization, that is of the Trade Union move-

.ment. I was working in a movement of this nature which was
going on for mere rights of humanity. This movement is considered
constitutional and lawful in all reformed -nations. I do not,
therefors, at all understand why in this our country alone workers
working in a Jawful movement should be gagged by being charged
of conspiring against the Emperor,

I have to tell here briefly .what I mean by saying so long
that the economic econdition of us workers should improve. Every
worker should have to work for less hours, he should get wages
adequate to enable him to exist ip this world as a human being, .
oppressions like fines must cease, provision for medicine must be
made if he falls ill while working, house rent for the workers
should be fized in proportion to their wages, the system of receiving
bribes must cease full pay leave for one month must be granted, &
worker must not he dismissed from work unless a very serious
offence has been committed by him, so also his wages for the days
he has worked must on no account be forfeited, beating of workers
must cease, they should not be abused, they must get old age pension
if a man is to be dismissed from work he must be given one month’s
wages in advance, women workers ought not to be ill-treated,
they must get full pay leave for delivery, similarly women with
children must get the concession of going out of the mill to- suckle
their children, the owner of the millin which a worker works must
give him cloth at cheap rates, similarly over-time allowange must
be paid if work for extra hours is taken from the workers, workers
must get posts of officers according to their qualifications in those
mills in which they are working, Europeans or Parsees from outside
should not be appointed to posts of authority, a worker must get
compensation if his hand or foot gets cut in a machine by accident,
the owners must make arrangements for the education of the
workers, the owners must recognize the workers’ Unions, the
Satanic system that the owners entertain at present in their head
that the workers are their slaves, that they should take the wages
which the owners would pay them, that they should work for as
many bours a8 the owners would ask them and that the workers
should go away from work when they would diswiss them, is totally
destructive to the rights of humanity and must cease. The idea
that the workers are their slaves, which exists in the heads of the
owners must disappear. I bhad been doing Trade Union work
wp till now in a constitutional manner in order to remove thig )
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oppressive system and to get back the rights of the workers.

Now I think I should go back a little and deseribe how the
Mahamandal came to an end and how the G. K. Union was born. I
have already eaid that when I went to the Labour Office to register
the (Maha) Mandal, I was told by Mr. Jennings, the Director of the
Labour Department, and by Mr. Meherban that Mayekar bhad
registered & Union entitled (the G. K. Maha) “Mandal”. At tha$
time I said to Mr. Meherban: *‘I am surprised how you gave him
the registration certificate of the Mandal when Mayekar had been
dismissed from secretaryehip by the members (Lit Men) and when
the notice of his dismissal had been given to your Labour Office.”
Vide P. 1463, (A resolation) was passed by the Executive Commi-
ttee of the G. K. Mahamandal that the G. K. Ma.ha.manda.l should
take logal steps, that is, shonld file a suit in & law court, against the
Director of the Labour Oﬂice for surrepmxoualy granting the
certificate a.boub the Mahamandal as eonducted from 1923 to 1928
to Ma.yekar even though the Labour Office knew that Mayekar had
been turned out from the Mandal. And by way of ipstituting &
case, a notice through a, pleader was also served on the Director of
the Labour Office. The resolution regardlng it will be found in D.
420 page 16, When this took place and when the owners on, the
- other hand were not ready to confer with & non—registered Union,
the Mahamandal was confronted with the question what to do. next
under such cltcumstances and it was decided to establish a Union
ander some new name. Then a discussion took place in the Execu-
tive Committes of the Mahamandal ahout the name to be given
to it andj?v!as resolved that the Union should be registered under the
name Bombay Girni Kamgar Union. Vide D 420 page 16. And
that Union was registered in April 1928. D 43lis the registration
certificate. As Mayekar who was driven away from the Mabhaman-
dal had stolen away some papers of the Mahamandal, he represen-
ted himself to be the representative of the Mandal and used to go
$o the owners and the Governor on behalf of the Mandal to bring
about a compromise in the mafter of the strike. At that time when
he, the Governor, had come to Bombay, in order to.have a talk
in the mastter of the etrike, I had informed binx that Mayekax
was neither the repteseuta.hve of workers nor also an office~s
bearer of the @. K, Mahamandal., And Iam tendering tha reply
sent by bim, D T16.

Now I' leave here the question of the Mahamandal and turn
to the G- K. Union. But before that I shall tell afterwards when I
became acquainted with my co-worker friends, from what time I
began to cooperate with them and in what matter that cooperation
of mine existed. But I am tendering a proof regarding the time
when I met them, I became acquainted with them that is Nimbkar,
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Bradley ete., on 6-4-1928, Vide D 717, Now I think I should say
here how I became acquainted with these. I was acquainted with
Mr. Joglekar from the year 1926. For, he was the secretary of the
Bombay Provincial Congress Committee in the year 1926 and I was
& member of the B.P. Uongress Committes. Evidently I knew
him as a Swarajist as such. The Bombay Provineial Congress.
Committee had appointed a Labour Committee in the year 1926
and Mr. Joglekar was & member of that Labour Committes. There-
fore he used to come among us workers and delievered lectures.
regarding the importance of the workers' organization. Iknow Mr.
Joglekar from that time. And several times we came together in:
the worker’s movement. Theun I began to. know Mr. Nimbkar in
the year 1927 because he was that year the secretary of the Bombay
Provincial Congress Committee and I was also a member of the:
Provincial Congress Committee. I only knew him as the secretary
of the Bombay Provincial Congress Committee. Then I again
knew him as the secretary of the Municipal (workers’) Union. But
up $0 that time however that is up to April 1928, he and I had
never worked together except in the Congress. Then I saw Mr.
Mirajkar in April 1928, till that time I did wot know him. I became
acquainted with him sas the secretary of the Dock-Workers’ Union.
Then 1 also becams scquainted with Mr. Bradley in April 1928 in ‘
this manner:—Mzr. Joglekar brought Mr Bradley with himself while-
a meeting of us workers was going on and I became acquainted with
him in that meeting. And while introducing Mr. Bradley fo me,
Mr. Joglekar told me that he wasa British Trade Union leader,
Then I became acquainted with Mr. Dange also in April\,]:928 and
that acquaintance was as the seoretary of the Tramwaymen’s Union.
Now I became acquainted with Mr. Ghate also in April 1928, and
that was as the vice president of the Municipal {Workers’)Union,
I know Mr. Jhabwala from 1920-21. After these acquaintances
were formed, these men nsed to come (to us) everyday during the
strike of the mill-workers, OQur acquaintance therefore ripened.
And the election of the newly registered Girni Kamgar Union took
place in May 1928. The workers elected me as President at the
time of the election of the ¢. K. Union. Similarly Mr. Dange was
elected as the Greneral Secretary of the G.K. Union,Mr. Jhabwala was.
elected Vice-President. Mr. Nimbkar, Bradley and Tamhankar, in
all four (including Jhabwala ) were elected Vice-Presidents and
Messrs. B. T. Alwe and Ghate were elected as treasurers., Messra,
Satam and “ Tavde were both elected secretaries. Thereafter the
election of the Executive Committes took place. The G. K. Union
was started under such circumstances and the work of the strike
was conducted through it. .

The strike of 1928 lasted for about 55 months and in the end,
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after negotiations through the joint-strike-committeey this big
strike ended on the condition of maintaining the same. rates, the
same wages, the same number of men a8 there were in March 1927.
The workers carried on this strike of 1928 so peasefully that it was
worth commendation all over the world. You can find an instance
in D 417 of how in order to break the workers’ strike the Police
used to resort to firing on the workers on behalf of the owners.
«Though the Police and the owners made so many attacks on the
workers still strenuous attempts were made o preserve peacefulness.
1 am greatly surprised at the terrible bogey raised out of this strike
and the political form given fo it. Our workers’ strike was not af
all a political strike and though it is called & ‘general’ atrike it
was not ‘general’ in the sense of being a strike of all the workers in
Bombay. It was the strike of the Bombay mill-workers alone. This
strike was not at all intended to put the British Govt. in difficulty
or to subvert its power. I do not at all understand why, inspite of
this, the strike is given such a terrible political form. Supposing
that that strike was of a political character, a political demand
ought to have as a mgtter of fact, been brought forward when the
compromise took place. Whereas this demand does not come for-
ward or whereas the strike has not the least connection with
political questions how then is the strike and the subversion of the
Emperor’s Raj to be reconciled ?

{To be continued).
Sd. K. S. A. 8d. R. L. Yorke.
25.8.31.

Alwe (continued)

If I begin to tell the history of the six months' strike of
April 1928, there will be an altogether new strike history in the
world, therefore I will tell about the strike briefly, in a sentence
ortwo. This strike was brought about by the millrowners.
Those mill-owners knew that the new standardization scheme they
intended to introduce was not practicable and that it was not also
rossible for the workers to work according to that scheme. Even
in spite of knowing this, the owners had deliberately brought
about the strike. And the mill-owners alone know what their
object was in bringing about this strike. - But what I have to tell
bere is only this. What was the condition of the workers during
this six months’ strike brought about by the owners, how many
persons died erying for food-several poisoned themselves, while
several hanged themselves. There was none to give (anything) or
to help during the strike time, If the worker was to go to work, it was
not possible for him to cope with the work. In such circumstances
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the "workers left their wives and children and ran away wherever
they liked,while several shutting in their wives and children in
their rooms and being unable to bear the sight of their starvation,
locked the doors from the outside and went away in any direction
they liked, But no worker thought of going to work on the new
scheme introduced by the owners, is order to save his life which
was theatened (lit. going). You yourself will see what this
means, [ at least have to say only this much that it is easy for
you to understand the nature of this scheme introduced by the ownersy
(seeing) that the worker class prefers death to working according to
the new scheme of the owners. So, you will easily understand who
brought abont the strike and who prolonged it. Nowthe Prosecu-
tion has charged me in the lower court with having brought about
the strike. My reply to this (charge) is only this, Had even
thousands of Alwes like me come there, the strike would not bave
been prolonged for so many days by their advice {to prolong it) and
however truthful my advice had been, the workers would not have
accepted it, while starving without food and they would have gone
to work breaking the strike. But the condition as regards the
strike was not as alleged by the Prosecution, but the fact was that
the strike lasted for six months and the men broke up the strike
and went to work as soon as the owners said that they would stop
the scheme. - If anybody be guilty of bringing about the strike and
prolonging it, it is the millwowners. But those very mill-owners
are today enjoying the air on Malabar Hill and are enjoying luxury.
And a worker like me is for these two and a half years suffering
in jail (for) the sin of those owners and (my) wife and children are
dying at home without food, Such is the justice of truth in this
world at present.

When the workers began to die of hunger in this strike
wemade efforts to get help from the people. I submit a handbill
D 718 to show the same,

Now I shall leave the account of the strike here and briefly
state the reasons why educated outsiders had to betaken in the
workers’ Union. I have alrerdy said that it was a rule of our
former Mahamandal that these outsiders sheuld not bg taken in
the Unions of us workers. But I give the reasons why educated
outsiders had to be taken by changing that rule. First reason:—
As there was no one among us workers who could read and write
English, difficulty was felt-in carrying on the work of the Union.
Second reason:~=The correspondence and the conversation with
the owners had to be carried on in English, replies had to be
given to false accounts in English newspapers and it was quite
recessary to place before the public what was the real condition of

the wor kers, what the owners said and what the workers demanded,
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And all these things were required to be done in English. Third
reason:—The new standardization scheme prepared by the owners
was in English. What the scheme was had to be explained to
the workers in their own language and it was necessary to explain
it and this work was not likely to be done by employing some
English knowing clerk., Because trade unionists only, who knew
what the workers’ Trade Union movement is, were required. And
when the above difficulties were felt, the rule was changed and
outsider Trade Unionists had to be taken in as advisers. And my
cooperation with them was based on the information that these
persons were Trade Unionists. The number of such outsiders
was only five or six on the managing committee of us workers.
And these outsider representatives were taken as advisers. Now
I shall state afterwards whatever I have to say about these
outsiders.

RED FLAG

Now it is necessary for me to explain a little regarding the
Bombay G. K. Union and that red flag of it. For, as I was the
President of that Union I think it necessary to give explanation
about the flag. Another reason also is that the prosecution has
on the support of that red flag brought curicds accusations agai-
st the workers’ Union, similarly on seeing the red flag of the
Union the people opposed to the workers’ movement have made
false statements about it and have attacked it. On seeing the ‘red
flag of the Union some said that it was a Union of Communists
while some said that it was a Union based on the principles of
Moscow because its flag was red. Some one calls it a militant
Union while others go on calling it what they like. And the
people began to blame the workers’ Unjon as they pleased as
they went on speculating on seeing the red flag of the Union. But
none knows the real facts why thered flag had to be adopted for
that Union, and as speculations about the red flag came into
currency after I was arrested, it became impossible for me to give
an explanation regarding it. And as no one knows the real account
of why the red flag had to be chosen ( for that Union ) and why it
was adopted, great calamities have today fallen on that G.K. Union
and it is today on the point of death. Similarly en the support of
the red flag of the Unjon the Communists have totally monopolized
the workers’ movement. The Bombay G. K. Union is being today
torn to pieces just like the corpse of a dead animal. Someone drags
it towards the Third Iaternational while someone else drags it °
towards the Second International. Someone calls it a Union
founded on Lenin’s principles while someone else says that it is
based on the principles of Karl Marx. Someone says that the
principles of that Union are such, while someone else say that they are
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not Jike that but as said by him. Someone calls it a militant
Union while someone else says that it is not militant but aggressive.
In this manner, taking the support of that red flag, the Bombay G.
K. Union has been totally shattered to pieces today on account
of the trouble of the red flag. And on account of that red flag the
work of the organization of workers and the work regarding their
economic condition and the oppression of the owners on the
workers has remained aside, and that Union and similarly the
mill-workers have today been confronted by a great calamity and
the work of the organization of workers has been ruined. And it
can be clear if the condition of the mill-workers today and the
history of the G. K. Union is seen. Now the only thing I have to
say here is that when the Bombay G.K. Union was born, it had not
got that red flag. It was born as the Bombay G. K. Union
in May 1928. And it was five months after that, that is,
in October that the Union was marked with a red flag.
Vide P 958, a resolution of the Managing Committee dated
16-10-28. Now why was it npecessary to adopt this mark
of the red flag? The workers won the big 6 months strike of
1928. Then in that strike the workers had come to. know what
was meant by workers’ organization, how much that organization
was necessary for them and ( how ) they could on the strength
of unity turn back the attacks of the owners on them; and the
menbegan to become the members of the Union in large numbers.
At that time there were the following four unions among us mill-
workers:— { 1 ) The Textile Labour Union of Mr, N. M. Joshi, (3}
The Mill Workers’ Union of Mr. Jhabwala, (3) The Bombay Girni
Kamagar Union of Mr. Alwe, and(4)The Girni Kamagar Mahaman-
dal of Mr. Mayekar. Really speaking, if there was anyreal Union
of the workers it was the Bombay G.K. Union which was conducted
by the workers, There were eighty persons on the Managing
Committee of that Bombay G.K. Union, all of whom were workers
and there were five or six outsiders on the committee as advisers,
But the whole management of the Union was in the hands of the
workers alone;and was conducted according to their opinion in this
manner. If there be any complaint in any mill, it was dealt with
through the mill-committee of that mill. There were in this manner
seventy five mill Committees for seventy-five mills and "these mill.
Committses had 5ent one representative each on the Managing
Comnmittee (of the Union). Thus this Managing Committee was formed
of eighty persons. Now the mill committee of each mill contained
ten to twelve representatives. Now the total of the representatives
on those mill committees and of the Executive Committee of the
Union comes to 750 and all of them were mill-workers. This
information will show you how ridiculous is the dirty charge made
against the Union by the Prosecution, that the Union was am
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institution conducted under the control of the Workers' and the
Peasants’ Party, and that it was dominated by the W. &. P. Party.
Now out of these 750 representatives of the G. K. Union, not one
was a member of the Workers® and Peasants’ Party and none was
a Communist. Now leaving aside this question I turn to the red
flag. I have already said that when there came to be these four
Unions among the mill-workers, necessity (Lit. difficulty) was felt
that our Union should have some work in order that the members
of the Union should know which was the institution conducted by
us workers, and the reason why this necessity was felt was that
as there were four unions among the mill~workers, the managers of
other Unions began to act fraudulently towards the members of
the G. K. Union in this manner. They begaa to take for their
(anion) frandulently from the men the subscriptions for the G. K.
Union saying “This Union here is yours.” At that time great
agitation arose among the mill workers. The offices of Mr. Joshi’s
Union were opened wherever there were the offices of the Bombay
G. K. Union. The names of both the Unions were the same in
Marathi. Now the word Bombay preceded the name of our Union
while it followed that of Mr. Joshi’'s Union, But as this diffe-
rence could not be properly grasped by the workers, the men began
to be misled and as several workers could not read and write,
they became perplexed. After that, this complaint of the members
was placed before the Managing Committee of the Bombay G. K.
Union and a discussion took place in the Managing Committee
of the G. K. Union about having a distinctive mark { Lit for
being recognized ) for the Union which couid be recognized even
by those who could not read and write,because men of other unions
misled the men and deceitfully received money intended for our
Uaion, and it was resolved to adopt some distinctive mark for the
Union, and after a discussion as to what that mark should be, it
was decided to adopt the red flag as the mark for the G. K. Union,
and that the red flag should be hoisted on the outside of every
office that is (every ) branch of the Union and that it should be
made known to the people that the office with the red flag should be
known as the Union conducted by us workers. The discussion that
took place in the Managing Committee at the time of adopting that
mark of the red flag was as follows:-, This red colour does not fade
as a result of the sun’s heat or of any other cause. [t always remains
uniformly bright. It was selected only on account of this and the
mark of the red flag was made. The red flag was neither hoisted
as the sign of Moscow or the mark of the Third International,
At least no discussion of that kind took placethere in the Managing
Committee. It was a mark for mere recognition. Such is the
true story of this red flag. From that time that is from October
1928 the men began to gecognize (the G. K. Union) as the
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Red Flag Union and it began to be known by that name, Such was
this Union of the workers and I was elected as President of that
Union by the men because I was alsoa workman. And the mem-
bership of that Union was 80,000. - None of those workers was a
Communist and we did not know whether the outsiders taken in
our .workers’ Union were Communists or not. Now some men
think that that Union could do so much work because there were
four or five Communists init. My reply to it is this that all
of us were atthat time convinced from the information we had
about the advisers that they were Trade Unionists. Now if their
present acts had been [oreseen ( Lit. seen) and if the workers
or myself had been aware of them before my arrest, it is doubtful
whether they could have become the office~bearers of that workers’
Union. I gt least think that if their present system of work is
taken into consideration, what of the workers’ Union, it would
have been difficult for them even to remain in that Union even
for one day. Another thing I hear is that in the opinion of some
men those who were taken as advisers were Communists and that
the membership of this Union increased so much on account of them
alone. My only reply to this is that if someone says so he will be
mistaken, and if any importance is to be given to what he says
the number which wou!d have fallen to the share of the Commu-
nists would have been_that left after erasing the first figure from the
. membership of 80,000. And if any one wants to see the truth of
what I say he will see it in today’s Bombay G. K. Union. Now
you can verify from P. 791 (and) P 792 (1) what I have said about
there being 75 workers on the Mahaging Committee of the Union.
For further information about the members of the Managing
Committee vide D 440 (pages %, 9, 10, 11, 20, 21, 22, 29,31 and 32).
From this information of mine ( it will be seen that ) the leader-
ship of the G. K. Union was entirely in the hands of the workers,

I have already said why these men had to be taken into the
Union, Another reason also why they were elected on the G. K.
Union was that we believed to be true the fellow-feeling which they
exhibited towards the workers when ] became acquainted with them
in the strike of 1928 and their representation at that time that they
were pure Trade Unionists and they were $herefore elected unopposed
at the time of the election of the G.K. Union. Therefore I also
naturally thought that these were good gentlemen, highly educated
and clever, and we did pot at all think that the things they told us
would differ from their actions. And I cooperated with them because
we had at first received information that they were at that time
Trade Unior workers and because from the fellow-feeling towards
the workers of which they made a show, I was inclined to think
that they were good gentlemen and great patriots and that we poor
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men would benefit by associating with them. At the time of
the strike these men placed before the public the condition of us
workers, théyulxpressed solicifgde in their (of the workers) own
language, and described their economic difficulties. They also said:
“How bad are the houses of the workers, how high is the rent
and how the locality is full of sicknes® And see (if) the Bombay
Manicipality is doing anything for you ? For, today there are all
rich men in the Bombay Municipality and the Municipality isin
their hands. And the cause of that being so is that you elect rich
men when the Municipal election takes place, this is your mistake.
Therefore hereafter you must elect workers and those also like Alwe
(to the Municipality) to effect a change in your condition. And so
long as men like Alwe are not sent to the Municipality or the
{Legislative) Council or the Legislative Assembly, the condition of
you workers will not be changed in the least. We peither want to.
. become your leaders nor to get Ministerships {Lit. bonourableships)
porto get ourselves elected to the Legislative Assembly, the
{Legislative) Counecil, or the Municipality in your name. Wae tell
this ta you only with the intention that your condition may improve
{Lit. be removed). It is also our work to show you theway and we are
" doing that work. Our only strong desire is that the sorrows of you-
poor people should disappear.”” Telling such things these people
showed such a fellow-feeling that we workers and myself also
thought that they were entirely selfless, benevolent, patriotic persons
and, as it were, gods come down in human form for the uplift of the -
world. But I had not to remain in perplexity for many days after
seeing what they said and what they did. Because at the time of
the Municipal election, I came to understand how mueh trath there
was in what they said and what ‘they did. It was like this. _ Seven
or eight months before the Municipal election, that is at the time of
the strike, these very [gentlemen used to say that Alwe must be
elected as the representative of the workers. Because, at shat time
no one among us mill-workers had any achievements to his credit
excepting Mr. Alwe. Therefore their only game was: why not make
our position strong if it can be made by taking Mr. Alwe’s name.
And that game was in the end brought tolight in this manner.
‘When the actual time for the Municipal election came, these
benevolent, gelfless persons, who used to say that Alwe alone must
stand (for election), stood (for election) as workers’ leaders through
every ward. And showing the people what a tremendous work they
had done during the strike told them to elect them. And Alwe
was elected as Municipal Councillors only within the minute book of
the Workers' and Peasants’ Party. My only object in telling this is
‘that when I saw this difference in what they said and in'what they
did, I thought that there was some ground for danger.

P. 1353, I have dlready ssid in the Lower Court that ay I
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was & pessant as well as ajworker, I became a member of all organiza-
tions founded either in the name o’bhe workers of{the peasants
solely in the belief that these organizations sre intended for the
purpose of improving (Lit. removing) the economie condition of the
workers and peasants. The®hme thing bappened in my becoming
a member of the Workers' and Peasants® Party. I have
no information, whether I was elected to the Executive Committee
of that Party. I bhave signed P. 1353 which is the form of that
Party and I beeame & member (of that party), but I had not got
explained to myself what the aims and objects of the Workers’ and
Peasans’ Party were and what its programme was. And I had no
time for that purpose. I had got before me such a tremendous
work of the Bombay G.K.U. that I did not get time for meals from
.8 A.M. to 11 P. M. My sixteen hours were spent in (dealing with)
the workers’ complaints, in carrying on talks with the owners and
in strikes caused by insignificant and minor things, Now that being
the real state of things and as I was a worker and a peasant I was:
under the impression that this Workers’ and Peasants® Party must
be intended solely for the economic improvement of the workers and
- peasants and that its objeet must be to unite the workers and the
peasants and to improve their condition. It was therefore that I
became a member of that party. Really speaking I did vot at alk
know before my arrest what the programme of the party was and I
- donot know it even now. I did not really take any prominent part oo/
behalf of the Party in any of its programmes. Being a worker and
s peasant myself, there is only ope ideal before me today and that-
is only that of uniting the workers and the peasants by organizing:
institutions in the name of the workers and the peasants. It is still
my impression that the ideal of this- Workers’ and Peasants’
Party might be similar. It was my impression that these
institutions of thbe workers and the peasants which are organized are-
not specially political institutions. And that impression of mine
was correct to some extent. A similar institution named ‘Shetakari-
Unpati- Sahayak Mandal’ (An association for promoting the uplift.
of the peasants) was inaugurated in the year 1926, And the pro-
gramme of organizing cooperative societies and credit eocieties of
the peasants and of uniting the peasants is being carried on by the
Mandal today. My impression was that similar might be the-
programme of this (Party). Therefore I became a member, Really
speaking the question before wus ignorant and uneducated workers.
and peasants today is not a political question but is the, question of
livelihood. Because, even after twelve hours’ work continuously,
sufficient bread for the belly is not got even once (in a day’. Then.
(Lit. and) how to get this bread ? Thinking in the mind that the
problems of our livelihood will be placed before the people only by
legal methods by these institutions: founded in the names of the
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workers or the peasants, and thal some redress might be possible
through them, we become members of such organizations. But
when such organizations come to birth their leadership lies in the
hands of the educated class alone. Therefore only the conductors of

. the organization know with what object in mind the institution has
been founded. But when the ideal or the objects of the organizas
tion are explained to us, we are told that the organization is intended
.solely Yo improve (Lit. to remove) our economic condition and to
removeggyr difficulties and that we should become its members and
through Eur ignorance we believe in this and immediately become
members without further inquiry. It is trae that on occasions
advantage is taken of our ignorance and we are deceived. Bub
unless we get actual experience as to whether are being deceived
or not, we cannol blame that man without ca.ug Just as the blind
man has the support of the stick, similarly we uneducated people
have to place reliance on the educated. So long as the man with the
stick does not make the blind man fall in a ditch till then the blind
man has not only got full confidence on the man with eyes but he
also considers him to be his benevolent deity. Similarly we the
uneducated consider these educated persons to be benevolent and
keeping blind faith in them we form the impression that whn.tever
they say is hundred per cent true and we also believe if.

(Incomplete).
8d. K. S/ A,

31-8-31, ‘
.8d/- R. L. Yorke.

" Alwe (continued).
4

And if anyone has taken the advantage of the ignorance of
such blind men, it must be said that he has proved treacherous to
. those blind men. T have said already that I have no special know-
ledge of this Party. And as I had not taken any special part in the
programmes of that party, I did know properly how many persons
there were in this Party and what was its programme, what work
was done by the persons in the Party and what part I had taken in
it. Because the programme of tha Party—and it has been brought
before the court—is in English, 86 I have not thoroughly understood
it, Therefore I cannot give more information about the Party.
Butb my name has been mentioned once or twice in the minute book-
of the Party, and it is being shown 'here that I bad attended one
meeting. It is necessary to give a little explanation about that.

See page 42 of P1344. 1 have been named 2 & candidate for
Municipal election on bebalf of the Party. Of couxse I did not know
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of this. I was not even told (about that). I saw (it) when the docu-
ment was cited against me after I was arrested and brought here,
Then I was much surprised. I am not against standing for Munici~
pal election and if I had got the desire to stand for Municipal
election, I did not require ths certificate of this wretched Party.
The workers’ Union of which I was the President had a membership
of 8),000 and I could have stood and got easily elected on the

certificate of that Union.
L)

+Bee page 101 of the minute book (P. 1344) dated 23. 9. ¢8.
Diiference of opinion between Alwe and Nimbkar. I do noh‘p%perly
remember why this difference of opinion arose, but he and myself
had differences of opinion from the point of view of {our) work,

Page 107 of ’ 1344, dated 13.1.29. Communal dispute, I
have said about my having attended a meeting of the Party, (but) I
do not know whether there was a meeting of the Party on that day.
But Mr. Ghate had told me that I should that day come at 1 P.M.
in the office of their Workers’and Peasants’ Party. Then according
to his request I had gone there. Then therg were sitting there Messrs.
Ghate, Dange, Nimbkar, Joglekar, Bradley, Lalji Pendse, Kulkarni,
Bhayysji ete. After I went there, I was asked whether it was my
intention to have communal quarrels in the workers’ movement.
‘When this question/was asked, I wassomewhat surprised. At that
time, I told them only this much that there was no place for com-
munal quarrel in the moverdent of us workers, that the workers were
all one, thaty¢he workers’ movement was for livelihood and not for
communalism (Lit. Community) and that I was quite opposed to
these communal quarrels. This was the only question asked me,
. Then after some time I left the place and even’when I was there, I
did not understand anything of the discussion in their Party as it
was in English. I was a member of this Party but had not paid its
pubscription, Vide P, 1343.

P, 1348 (41) is the notice of a; meeting. It bears my signature ,
but I was not present at it.

P. 1348 (50) is also a notice, Thbe lis includes my name,
but I do not know why it was put in there.

P. 1373 (14) is (about) the Lenin Day meeting and it includes
my name, I do not know when this Lenin Day was celebrated and
.1 did not also attend that meeting but only the person who wrote
the name can say why my name was included in the Lenin Day
Meefing.

Here ends my work about the Workers’ and Peasants’ Party
and the story of t.hat Party.
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T have already said that these educated men take some ad-
wvantage of the ignorance of us ignorant workers and peasants.” A
proof of it ean be had from P 953. This article is mine and there
is below it the signatore A. A. Alwey President, Girni Kamgar
Union, bat it has been scored through and the words “Kamkari
Shetkari Paksha” (Workers’ and Peasants’ Party) were written
{in its place), why, only he who wrote (those words) can say.. And
they alone might be knowing what was their object in dragging me
into the Party.

&+ N
Now I wish to’narrate before the Court another funny instance
which happened while I was in jail. You can see how two letters
with my forged signature on them were sent as from me while I was
in jail. The man who was the jailor at that time has said in his
deposition that Alwe wrote those letters P. 2284 P, P 2284(1) P. in
his presence, but the handwriting expert (Lit. the person recog-
nizing signatures by scientific method) has given it to be his opinion
that the signaturs is not that of Alwe., Therefore the Court itself
should consider what this mystery is. I oan say only this much
in this’connection that somebody was certainly taking advantage of
my ignorance.

Now (let us $ake) the meeting of 16.1.29, P 958, minute book
of the Bombay G. K. Union. Iiis necessary for me to give an ex-
planation as regards the fifth resolution in this meeting.. As thée
prosecution has placed quite & wrong interpretation op this reso-

-lution, I have to tell the real eircumstances. Though Mr, Bradley
was a vice-president of the Bom bay G. K. Union, he never attended
the (meeting of the) Executiva Committee of the Bombay G. K.
Union excepting once or twice. He was however present only in

_the meeting of 16.1.29. He used specially to do the work of orga-
nisation of the G.LI.P. Union. When he had gone to Bauria, the
strike of the Bauria Mill was going on there. When he came into
the meeting of the Managing Committes of the G, K. Union, he
gave a description about the Bauria strike and the condition of the
workers on strike. After hearing this his account, it was discussed
what help i s.pogsible to give to the Bauria Mill strikers on
behalf o&'s‘ workers., At that time I brought forward a resolution
that the G. K. Union should give one thousand rupees as help in
connection with the strike to the wotkers on strike. That (resolutfon)
was passed and 1t was decided that (the amount) should be sent by
two instalments of Rs. 500 each. We did not know who conducted .
the Bauria Mill strike or who was the President or the Secretary
of the Union. It was therefore decided at that time that, (the
amount) should be sent by the Secretary of the G. K. Unioa to the
address of the Secretary of the Bauria Union 'and that inquiry
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should be made as to who the Secretary was. The help which we
ive (is given becanse) we the workers in the whole world are one
and we consider it our duty bo help one another whenever the
workers have occasion to fight against the owners. In 1926 a big
strike of the labourers in British cosl mines had taken place. I had
sent as help to their strike Rs. 130/- on behalf of our G, K. Maha-
mandal. Similarly when a Mill-strike took place in Bombay, in
“the year 1925, the British workers had sent about rupees twenty to
twenty-five thousand as help to that strike also. Similarly when
“a big strike took place in Bombay in the year 1928, helfto the
extent of Rs.’ 80,000/~ was received from foreign workers even dur-
/ing that strike. My only ob]ect. in telling this is that it is the
custom of the world for the workers to help one another when the
worker struggles’ a-gamsh the owner about the question of hvehhood
This help is not given with some improper object in mind. Why
thls first, msta.lmenb of Rs. 500/- was sent to the name of Muzaffar
can, be explamed only by him who sent it to his name. Because
from what I have heard here, Radha Raman Mitra was the sece
reta.ry of the Union and Kishorilal' Ghosh its President, wha.t
can the object be then in sending the money to the name of
Muzaffar ?

There was no kind of connection between the G.K. Union
and the Worker’s and Peasants’ Party. Five or six members of
the Workers’ and Peasants’ Party were in the G.K. Union. That
is all. But the work of those two (institutions) was separate and
the G.K. Union sand the Workers' and Peasants’ Party were
distinet indt itutions. The G.K. Union had mnever joined any
programme of the Workers’ and the Peasants’ Party. The
charge, there fore, made by the Prosecution against the G.K. Umon
is absolutely false.

Workers and Peasants and the Indian Congress.

It is now about forty-five or forty six years since the
Indla,n Nablonal (/ongress was started., If its demands from the
first are exammed, it will be seen thatitis an msmutmn
, brought into existence in order to carry on degeti¥ttoRel with the
Govt on behalf of India. It will be seen that amon the first
demands made on behalf of India, no demands were ma&e for us
‘the peasant and worker class. In the year 1906, the Congress
made a demand about Swaraj and placed the goal of Swaraj before
the nation. But the definition of what was Swaraj was not
clearly placed before the people. The only thing that was said
was that once SwaraJ was establisbed in India, the people of
India will get everything, If the resolutions of the Congress
thereafter are seen, those demands appear to have been made for
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the higher persons that is for factory owners, zamindars and some’
(demands) only for the educated olass. Therefore it did not
appear that many Congressmen had the idea as to how bad was
the condition of the workers and peasants. All the people and
similarly we the poor began to form the impression that the
interests of us peo' were different from those of the higher olass.
Many had not the idea that this would involve special ideas and
practices in the Swaraj constitution. They thought that Swaraj
would be established if they got the powers and the offices in the
haodgof the foreigners, after the forelgners had gone awny, and
that it wonld not be very long for the industry and the 'commerca
of India to come into the hands of the people of India and for
,Indla. to prosper. Afﬁer this idea was current for some time, the
Swara.] movement began to be vigorous and the Non-co- opera.hwn
movement of Gandhl began and at that time the necessity of us
workers and pessanbs ‘was felt in the political work of the Congress.
. ,Dnrmg ‘the same l'.lme the labour movement bega.'t and the
‘labourers' demands were pla,oed before the people. "As the’ lsbont
movement went on progressing, it came to be noticed by as
labourers that the National Congress was not doing the things of
benefit to the labourers. After so long a time a Declaration of
;Rrghts which laid down the rights of the 'masses in general was
announced in the ‘Karachi Congress. And it was also declaréd
‘that ‘the Trdian National Congress was for'the welfare ‘of us ‘podr
workers and peasants. But ‘as soon 8s it was eaid that the
'Congress was for the poor, the zamindars and 'the industrialista
raised a great 'wail and the Congress was asked as to what was
going to be doné’ about their rights, At that tlme the {Congress)
Working Committee gave them the' assurance  in order 'to" pa.clfy
them bhat it would also protect their rights. ' From this it caine to
‘our notice that the National Congress was mot for our welfare.
“When it his the' occa.sxon to fight wmh Imperxs.hsm ‘dnd when it
feels the necessxﬁy ‘of men, “the hollow promises are “made thht the
_'Congress is for l;he poor and that the ISws.ra,] ‘is belng ‘dbmanded
for them' (the poor.) " But how thé npper-cla.ss meh’ raise” obstholes
“and how the’ Congress deceives the poor ° peoﬁle whén a " gaetion
. of the workers and l;he pea.ss.nts oecurs in t:he 'Swa.ra.] donstitution,
can be nnderstood from the * assnrancs glven fo "the “zamindars' and
“the mdnstnahsts by the’ (Congress) “Working Committee, It will
be easily nnderstood on examxmng the cotdition''of the labourers
in other 1ndependent countnes that it will not do for us workets
and peasants if Swaraj be esta,bhshed merely - according ' fo the
Congress plans. It is lnrpnslng that the Congress does not as
'yet. reahze this, One will be mistaken if one supposes’ that the
poverty of us workers and pea,sa.nts——the difficulties of us labourers—
will dlsappear S0 long as t.he means of hvehhood in the country are
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not released from private ownership and made of national ownership.
From my experience of the Congress for these eight years and
from what I have.seen of the Congress work, I have been
convinced that the Congress is not for the poor. But we workers
and peasants have occasion to weep in the name of the Congress
in its national work. For example: when the Simon Commission
came, (they asked us) to observe hartal, when non-cooperation
began (they asked us) to go to jail, when Satyagraha began (they
asked us) to break the laws; such things, these patriots, asked the
ignorant people to do in the name of the nation, taking adv&xhage
of their ignorance. P.W, 104 of the Lower Court has said that
along with the Workers’ and Peasants’ Party Alwe had joined the
movement for the boycott of the Simon Commission. But this
is not true. Becanse, as I was a member of the Bombay
Provineial Congress Committee, I had participated in the Congress
programme of the karfal declared by the Congress against the
Simon Commission. This will be seen from these handbills
(D 719,720).

N. M. Joshi and May Day.

P.W. 47 of the Lower Court said that Mr. Alwe had
participated in the May Day celebration on behalf of the Workers’
and Peasants’ Party. This is not true, but the facts are as
follows. In the year 1926, 1 heard in Bombay about May Day

. among us the working class. That was as follows. On the lst of May
at 4-30 P.M. Messrs. N.M. Joshi, Jinwala, Bakhle and{others took
out a procession in the locality of us mill workers with red flags
in their hands and went about in the workers’ locality distributing
handbills and asking the people orally to attend the meeting.
At that time, I was doing my work in the Crown Mill. While I
was doing my work, I received a note signed by Mr. Mayekar, the
Secretary of our Mandal. He had asked me in that note to
attend the May Day meeting at 5 O’clock. At this time some
workers came there with the handbills distributed by Mr. Joshi
and others in their hands and began to ask me what May Day was.
At that time I too was faced with the same question because I too
had not up-till-then heard the name May Day. Because, though I
was doing the work of organization, I had not much knowledge

about the Labour movement in other countries, beeause I could not
read or write much, Therefore I told those men that I did not
know what May Day was but that'they should attend the meeting in
the evening where they would get the information. After I went
to that meeting, I asked Mr. Joshi: “Mr. Joshi, you are holding
today a workers’ meeting because of May Day. Then tell us what
this May Day is-"’ At that time Mr. Joshi told me that the May
Day is observed all over the world as a workers’ day and that we toa
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must observe it. On that day, work must be stopped, big meot-
ings held and big resolutions passed regarding the workers’ interests.
This is called May Day. All I uoderstood was that May Day meant
the holding of a meeting and passing big resolutions, The second
May Day was celebrated (Lit. took place) in May 1928. But it
cannot be said that it was specially & May Day meeting. At that
time there was a mill-strike in Bombay and meetings of that strike
nsed to be held daily, morning and evening. Aud the May Day
was celebrated in' the evening- strike meeting itself. At that
time, I also was present at the meeting. The president of the
meeting made a speech about May Day and others also attending the
May Day meeting made speeches. At that time the President of
the meeting mentioned my name and asked me to make a speech.
‘Whast I told the workers at that time was that if anyone wanted
the full history of the May Day the educated psople and the
people having ioformation about foreign countries could tell them
that, but that the only thing that I had to tell was that our
strike should be continued peacefully till our demands were seoured.
This is wy information aboust the May Day a.nd experience about

the May Day.

The Prosecution alleges that in my speeches during the strike

of 1928 I have said the workers Raj must be egtablished. .I
shall tell you the meaning of what kind of Raj that should be. All
the means of livelihood of the workers and peasants who form
to day the ma.;onty of the popula.tnou of lndla. maust be ma.de of
national ‘ownership. And this system of Govt. that is requued
must be one for the convenience and happmess of the 90 per cent
people living on labour. It does not matter then whether ane
Mipister in that system of Govt. is Mr. Ramsay Ma.oDona.ld Mr.
Baldwin or Mahatma Ga.ndhl Woe want that system of Govh. in
which the interests of us ‘the masses are looked after. Really spea.k-
ing who is the Ra.] today ? It is those who do not get sufficient
food even once ( a day ), who have no clothes on the body, that
" require the Raj today. This does nat mean that they want to sit
on the Emperot’'s throne or to become Prime Minister, but the
workers and peasants want that system of Govt. in which suffipieng
bread for the belly and clothing sufficient to cover the body
and in which the interests of the masses are (secured). Similarly
in that system of Govt. every Tnan and woman must bave the right
to vote. Therefore, such is the line of thought of what I meant
when I spoke about the workers’ Raj. "I at least do not think that
if any party whatsoever gets up today and raises an outery out of
sympathy for the workers and the peasauts, B’lhlﬁ will cause a changa
in the condition of the workers™and the pemmants, because, peopla
of these various parties in the country are mainly intent on how to
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get political power into the hands of their party, placing forward
the condition of the workers and peasants and making puppets of
the workers and peasants in order to make their (own) party strong,
take advantage of their ignorance and achieve their (own) political
objects. This I have realized from my experience so far. If the
workers and peasants want to secure a Raj or to secure some politi-
cal rights, they will be able to secure them on the strength of
organization by independently organizing themselves. It is not
at all possible for the workers and the peasants to secure their rights
by passing into the net of other parties.

If you will take into consideration my ideas and my systemr
of work, you will understand what my objects and my thoughts.
were. Videmy article in the Kranfi dated 9.3.29. My article
P. 930 dated 12th July 1928 which . has been produced (against me)
is quite incomplete. Sentences before and after have been omitted
and such arrangement of sentences has been brought about that my
ideas appear inconsistent. If you take into consideration the whole
of the article, you will see that any Trade Unionist can express his.
thoughts in severer language. In this my article the only advice I
have given the workers is that they should increase their strength,
that is, they should organize big Unions and should then face
the situation on the strength of those Unions. Similarly if the
article in P, 953 dated 19th January 1929 is taken into considera~
tion, you will see my thoughts that the workers do not want a strike,
In that my article I have shown that what is meant by a nation
is not a handful of capitalists but the worker and peasant masses,
Tt is in their interests that the whole administration in the country
must be conducted. Similarly I have shown how the owners.
become rich by robbing the poorand how the worker remaina
half-starved labouring for ten to twelve hours. If my article dated
9th August 1928 in P. 986 is seen, I bave requested the mill-owners.
and the Govt. in that article that they should intervene and bring
aboub an early settlement of the strike. It is an article about this.

Now in the Lower Court the charge bas been made against me °,
that Alwe had issues of the Kranti subsequent to November 1927
and therefore he could not be ignorant for long of the programme
of the Workers’ and Peasants’ Party. I have to say only this much
about this that the paper Kranti was gistributed among the workers
and that the paper contained news about the strike and such things
as negotiations that had taken place with the owners how much of
the wages of the workers had been cut down, how much the owners
were prepared to restore, what the worker demands etc. Similarly
the paper contained gfefview about strike activities and about the
work of the Strike ®Committee™ As I was an actual worker as
also the President of the G, K. Union, I had to take in all those
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papers which wrote about Labour matters, I myself read those
which were in Marathi and got others, that is, these persons, to
read to me those in English. My only object in reading and gett-
ing read these papers was that I had to see how much false news is
published about us labourers, or if some false rumours are in
circulation regarding the Union and if anything false occurred in ity
I had to give a reply to that. And this had become quite necessary
for me. Now it is not that the person taking in a newspaper takes
it in order to study all things in it. Some one has a liking for the
national movement, some one has a liking for politics and others
for other things. Such are ‘the different objects of taking in news-
papers. To take in a newspaper does not mean to study. After
the information required by one is read, not much importance is left
to the paper. Now it has been said that all the issues of Karanti
subsequent to 1927 were found with me, Thisis entirely false.
There is only one issue of 27th Nov. and it was sent by post to the
address of the editor Bombay Chronicle. When the reporters of
newspapers came to me to ask for information about the strike or
about the Labour movement, they used to leave behind the papers
in their hand. That is what happened as regards the issue of 27th
November. The reporter left it at my place saying: * Itisa
Marathi paper, you should read it.” That issue got mixed with
the useless issues of other newspapers with me. In all, six or
seven issues of the K7ranti were found with me and if you see
these issues (you will find that) they contain a table about the cut
wages of the workers and an account of the strike. This will show
what my object was in takiog in ‘this paper.

An example of the work I was doing up-till-now, of how I
did not get time while doing the work of the workers, of how I had
to work hard in mills for sixteen hours together for getting settled
complaints and of what kind those complaints were, will be shown
by D. 433. (Incomplete)y

Sd. K. S. A. Sd. R. L. Yorke
' 1.9.31. . '

Alwe ( continued )

Ana those complaints were as follows :—

Getting re-employed a worker whom the owners might have
dismissed; getting paid the wages of any one who might not have
received them; securing sick leave if required and if not given by the
owners; in case of any change by the owners in the workers’ rates,
geeing what the reduction (lit. change) was and meking the owners
restore it; in case the officials of the owners bea} the workers and
took bribes from them, bringing that mischief of the officials to the.
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notice of the owners and trying to get the owners to check it and to
stop it. Similarly, as I was the president of the G. K. Union,
(I had) to attend $he meetings of every mill-committee, to sign the
correspondencs, to see how many of the workers’ cowplaints had
been listened to by the owners and how many bad come back.
Hhere were 75 such mill-committees of the G. K. Union. (I had) to
see how the affairs of those mill commiitees were being conducted,
(had) to sign their reports, (had) besides, to attend the publie
meetingsof workers, to conduct such meetings, to attend the mesting
of the Managing Committee and to conduct ifs work and to.see
whether all this work was being properly comducted or not. As I
had to do such Herculean work of the G. K. Union, I did not get
time even for meals or for following the profession which provided
me with livelihood. Seceing, therefore, the heavy responsibility of
the work that lay upon me, the managing committee of the G. K.
Union resolved to give me an honorarium of Rs 50 per month for
my maintenance and that resolution will be found in. the minute
book of the Union P. 958 dafed 25.10.28. From this you will
understand what my work was and of what kind it was.

So long the educated people were taking advantage of the
1gnora.nce of us workers. = Similarly these Communists who had
newly come into the workers’ movement were also ta.kmg advanbage
of our ignorance. If that their goal is conmdered now, it was not
their only object merely to beneﬁb us by removmg the difficulties of
us labourers. These people were opposed to compromise. It
seemed to be their only desire that we workers should always go on
strike. They wanted revolution and it seemed to be their only desire
to bring it about as early as possible in some way or the other.
Though they had not to go to Geneva still they were very fond of

placing befors the world how many acts of bravery they had done, They
were great experts in making false reports for that purpose. In that
they used to behave with great indifference as to tbe benefit or other-
wise of the workers, That (was) as follows:— They came among
the workers and without hesitation asked them to go on strike.
Their reason is very easy (to understand) if one thinks about it.
The first reason is that they are not actual workers. The second:
reason is that they have no occasion to starve when a strike of the '
workers takes place. The third reason is that (they) get cheers in
meetings. The fourth reason is that {their) name gets publicity
in newspapers as Labour leaders. The fifth reason is that these
men get a ready means for spreading and placing before the world
their objects by taking advantage of the strike caused by the
workers’ circumstances. The sixth reason is that they have neither
pleasure nor pain whether a worker wins or loses the strike for
securing demands regarding livelihood. The seventh reason is

( o847 )



that if owing to the "economic difficulty of the worker the strike
made by the workers fails and the workers have to accept defeat,
they can blame the workers saying that the workers are fools and
can show that they themselves are brave warriors. The eighth
reason is that if the workers win the strikeon their own strength
(they) g=t a ready means of becoming the leaders of the workers
by saying, “Have you seen ? Vour sifike was won because we
were there.”  And these things I am telling because. of my actual
experience.

Now I have already said in the Lower Court that it is the
right of us workers to go on strike. But it is ndt my object that
that right should be abused and a strike should be brought about
owing to some minor cause. I have been telling that this weapon
of strike and this right of going on strike should be resjorted to
ounly when 0o other alternative is left, when the owners are not ready
to listen to compromise or negoliations and as a proof of what I
have said about not making strikes owing to minor causes vide
P. 958 minute-book of the G. K. Union, meeting of 16. 1. 29, last
resolutions (A}, (B), (C). On seeing these you will realize the truth
of what I have said.

Now in the meetings on behalf of the Strike Committee that
used to be held during the strike of 1928, empty talk was
indulged in, to the effect that the workers’ Raj must' be
established. And at that time it had become a common subject of
talk that the workers Raj must be estalished. At that time
words fell out of my mouth also that the workers' Raj must come.
But it was not because of political objects that our strike had taken
place. Therefore the speeches that were being made to the effect
that the workers’ Raj must be established were regarded by me only
as empty talk.'I,.however, have in those my strike speeches roundly
abused Government officers and my only object in thus abusing
{them) was, (the thought) why high officials of Government should
not intervene and bring about a settlemeht of the strike and this
what I said was entirely ia accordance with truth. Because, when
any two parties in furtherance of their particular object come to
extremes,intervention is needed and it is the duty of any ruling
power to intervene thus and if it does not do"that duty, it must be
said to have swerved from its duty. And it was just in aceordance
‘with what I said that the Government in the -end brought about a
settlement between the two parties and the strike was ended.

And I have referred to ‘workers’ Raj’ as ‘empty talk. Its
meaning is as follows:— How can that worker administer the
ruling power, even if it comes into his band, who gets deceived
by the owners and the mongy-lenders because of his failure to
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understand how many annas make a Rupee, because of that his
ignorance ? And even if such ruling power comes into the hands of
the workers, it is these persons that will remain the dictators of
that ruling power. Whoever be then the dictator, he who has got
power-in his hand will in the end try to exploit the workers and
peasants. If there be any Raj of such ignorant people it is their or-
ganization and it is only on the strength of that organization that
they will be able to bring about some change in their condition.
So long as they are not organized, have received ne education,
have no knowledge as to what is their interest and what is the
interest of another, tell then ¢ Workers’ Raj’ amounts te empty
talk.

Iy the matter of the strike the Reperters [P. W, 276 and
P.W. 278] have stated that they attended every meeting and one
or two meetings were held each day. This their statement is not
correct, Five or six strike meetings used to be held simultane-
ously on a single day on behalf of the Strike Committee and as
proof of it I am submitting D. 721. My only object in telling
this is that though I was not present at one of the strike meetings

‘and was engaged at the Secretariat in some strike negotiations.
with the owners, a false report was made about me that I had
attended the meeting and the speech of someone else was put in
my name as my speech. A false report was made that I had
stated- in that speech that the police should not be there in the
reetings of us workers, and en the strength of that report Mr.
Kelly, the Police Commissioner of Bombay, called me by a notice:
and after I had gone there I was told (lit. asked) that I had made
a speech in the meeting saying that the police would not be
allowed to sit in the meetings to take reportsy and I was shown
the report of that meeting, Of course that was not my speech
and I had not even attended that meeting. When I proved this
by proof and adduced all kinds of proof that I was engaged that.
ddy in carrying on negotiations with the owners regarding the
settlement of the strike, the Police Commissioner in my presence
reprimanded the reporters for having made a false report about me..
Several speeches have been brought on record as my speeches.
and these speeches are altogether incomsistent with my objects.
Now I attended at least three hundred strike meetings and made
speeches in all of them. If the record of all my speeches is seen’
you will easily understand all my objects and my work., If you
see the thoughts of the four or five speeches put in against me
and the speech D. 650, you will easily see of what kind were:
my thoughts. I have said in that speech that our strike was not
intended to spread sedition or to capture Raj, but that we were
asking the owners for an increase of two to four rupees inour wages
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and that was the purpose of our strike. I have again said in that
speech that, that our workers’ movement was not a seditious move-
ment, that it was a struggle between the owners and the workers
and that therefore the' Governor of Bombay and the Police Com-
missioner ‘should advise their subordinates the Police not to
interfere unnecessarily with the strike and not to beat us. If the
speech D. 651 is taken into consideration (you will notice that)
I had advised the workers to carry on our: strike peacefully.
Similarly if you see D. 652 [you will notice that] a request has
been made to the educated people to help our uneducated workers
at the time of the strike and thoughts have been expressed that
our strike was just and was only for securing the demands regard-
ing the belly. In my speech D. 653 also I have given this very
advice to the workers that the strike which they have made to secure
their demands, that strike and those demands were to be secured
from such powerful owners and that they would have to struggle
for five or six months against such powerful owners. This I had
told the men even before the strike took place as also during the
continuance of the strike. My object in telling (this) was that once
the workers go on strike they should not retract till the demands
are secured. (I also said that) I was collecting funds etc. for the
workers dying of starvation during the strike. This is the nature
of the advice given by me. In my speech D. 654 (I have said
that) the workers (lit. they) must maintain complete peace during
the strike, that if the police attack the workers on the road while
going home or while at home they should silently put up with
it, but should not allow peace to be disturbed, that if the workers
said that the police beat them if they began te move about on the
roads, then they should not‘él come on the roads but should stay
at home and should :Qt allow the peace to be disturbed and that
as the strike was quite near success they should peacefully have
patience for some time when their demands would be got. In my
speech D. 631 (a) I have given the advice that instead of remajning
in Bombay the men should go to their villages till our strike w
settled and that the strike should be maintained till our demands
were got. If you take into consideration all these my speeches
you are likely to understand whether I was connected with this
crime of conspiracy or whether my opinions were of that kind. It
appears from my speech P. 1726 M (3) that I have said in it that
Mr. Bradley was not an agent of Lancashire (but) was a Com=
munist. I do not remember thorou'gh'but I can say from memory
that in this meeting of 11-6-28; a rumour suddenly arose in the
workers’ meeting that Mr. Bradley was an agent of Lancashire.
As I was not then even acquainted with him thoroughly, suspicion’
arose in My mind as to who he really was. If I was to ask him,
the difficulty was that I could not talk in English with him. At
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that time Mr. Ghate also was present at the meeting. So I asked
Mr, Ghate: ¢ Who is this gentlemen "’ He [Mr. Ghate] then told
me that he [Mr Bradley] was a Communist. At that time the
word Communist was quite new, thereforeyl did not understand
its meaning. At that time I asked Mr. Ghate what was meant
by a Communist and he explained [what is] a Communist by
‘saying that those labour leaders in England whom we call
** Jahal" (extremists) in Marathi are known there as Communists,
After he had told me this, I told the men in the meeting that he
(Mr. Bradley) was not an agent of Lancashire (but) was a Com-
munist. I had read in newspaper also that Government had passed
a law to arrest him and send him to England. Therefore I told
‘the men that he was a good gentleman, a labour leader and that
as Government was going to arrest him and send him to England
we should thank him as he was going. This is my koowledge
about the Communists.

In the speeches P. 1699 which have been put in as my speeches,
the reporter has absolutely murdered several of my thoughts and
hag put into my mouth altogether different things. And if several
of my thoughts in that speech are seen they are quite proper. They
are:—Thae strike which we have made has been made because we can-
not maintain ourselves on these ten or twelve rupees. We are not
demanding anything more. All we are saying is that no cut should
be effected in our wages of Rs 15 or 16, And if you effect & cut in
these inadequate wages, the owners -and the Government should
consider how we are to maintain ourselves and our wives and
children in such a costly city as Bombay. Elsewhere I have said
that the police beat us at the insta of the owners and also
compel us to work on low wages. Thi§ is quite unjust. The owner
on the one hand effects a cut of rupees tw(iﬁhe rent of the houses
in which we live, as the houses also belong to these owners. In this
manner the mill owners are today quite bent upon ruining the
workers. And in that speech of mine I have also 8aid that whether
one be a rich merchant, a Governoror a worker, all are men and
requird food to eat. The governor or the rich merchants might be
eating ghee and roti but we workers must get at least bread and
vegetables, The worker is not a beast and has no horns etc. Itis
his right to live and it is equally his right to struggle for living.

Similarly in other doc uments put against me as my speeche.j
some thoughts of my own 4l seme of his own introduced by the
reporter are inconsistent with each other.

Vide P. 939, the rules of the Bombay G. K. Union. On
seeing these rules you will be convinced that this was one of the
recognized workers unions. Its rules were quite simple and
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straightforward and oniy about tthe economic condition of thes
worker. And all.work was being conducted in accordance with
them.

P.958, meeting of 16, 10. 1928. In this meeting a resolu-
tion has been passed towards the end that if this system of two
sides and three looms was to be stopped, .a separate “Two sides
three looms fund’? should ibe collected for that purpose to the
amount of one lakh of rupees and that the scheme should be
knocked out and for that purpose five thousand persons should be
got ready as a Volunteer Corps in order to collect those subscrip-
tions and fund and that a hundred speakers out of the workers
should be trained and these lecturers should {explain to the workers
what the standardization scheme was. Such is this resolution
and a handbill was also issued in that connection P.9g66. The
words ‘five hundred red army’ have been used in P. 967 another
handbill of the same character. Now as I have already said the
union hdd a Red F lag‘ad so people called this volunteer corps of
the union Red Army, that is, the Volunteers ofked union, and the
practice had come into vogue of calling it that way. The battle
mentioned in the handbill is the preparation to frustrate the new
scheme of the owners, It is that preparation that is called battle,
And it was the secretary of the union who issued such handbills.
But when opge or twice I regarded the language (lit. phraseology)
used by thesa as strange, it was necessary to bring before the
Managing Committee of the Union a resolution to the effect that
before issuing any handbill it (should’receive) the sanction of the
Managing Commiftee and it should be first discussed on which
subject the handbill is to be issued and what language is to be used
P.958 contains this resolution, *

P. 786, In February 1929, there was a Hindu-Maslim
riot in Bombay. This handbill was issued in connection with
getting that riot pacified, I have said in it that those who are
real workers should not observe the distinction that one is a Hindu
and onea Musalman but should behiave as brothersand should not
participate in the riot, The request made in the handbill is of
this kind only.

P.yoo. Thislis Jin connection with) a meeting called by the
union. Many men had fled to their villages in that Hindu-Muslim
riot and the owners had created some trouble about their wages, so
this meeting was called in order to e%plain what this trouble was.

P. 1464. 1 had issued this handbill on behalf of the G. K.
Mahamandal and myobject in what I had said in it was, that as the
owners were not then ready to listen (to anything) there was no
alternative excepting a general strike. i
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P. 1465. This handbill was also like the one above.

In the matter of the strike I have already said that 1 had
to call this strike of 1928 because there was no alternative and
I admit that as T was the president of the G. K. Mahamandal, the
strike was called according to the rules of that Mandal.

P. 1462. 1 cannot understand why the prosecution has put
in this handbill. Its subject matter is as follows:— The Executive
Committee of the G. K, Mahamandal placed before the people the
black deeds of Mayekar in the Mahamandal. If you read the
whole handbill you will easily see how even a half-educated person:
like Mayekar was appropriating to himself (lit taking advantage of)-
the money of the institution of us ignorant workers. And it has
been said by the Commxttee at the end of the handbill that Alwe
would tbereafteyr‘tako a lead in the work of the smke, would organize
the disorganized men and would try to bring about wunity for a
general strike, therefore, in order to ‘help jgm all workers should
unammouslg suppofrhls work.,, That handbill has been sigded at.
the bottom by the. Executive. Committee.

My work and oi:)ects described by e so far are quxte true
and this what I have said has not been said by me through fear
of xmpnsonmeut by the Government or gettmg fngbtened Because
of the seve;e punishment T m:ght get As I'am a workdr m,’is am not
afrald of ]all.‘ As far as I am concerned this small ]'ul of Govern-
ment and the blg ]all of the owners outsxde are the same. Equal
gnef falls to. my : share whether I am here a pnsonn,of Government
in Government s jail ora prlsonel of the owner in-the owner’s ]all

It anybody\says that I am afraid of u;npnsonment by the Govern-
ment or of the coming punishment he is certainly wrong ‘with
respect to. me,. I have placed this my: true account before the
court. I had not participated: in any. other movement: excepting:
the two.unions the G.K..Union and the 'G.K, Mahamandal, ahd both
these unions were founded by me of the labourers inthe industry in
which I was myself working: I cannot read:or write much.. I have:
studied only upto the first Marathi:standard. Therefore my vision:
is not so comprehensive. I have got knowledge only. about: the
movement for our maintenance. Now I wag a member of the
Provincial Congress:Commiitee bitt that was 'n; because Tapproved
of its objects and 'work. But it was only in order to see how far
the Congress Labours for the workers that T had become for ‘these
eight years a member of the Executive Committee of the Provincial -
Congress Committee.

Now as regards the ‘éhdrge (lit. cnme) under sectlon 121 A
« applied to me and as regards the conspiracy in which (the prosecu-
tion) has got me involved, I say with conviction that I am innocent.
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.Y have never takéd part in any condpiracy. I am not'a communist and
was never one.: I am 4 worker (and) 2 peasant and it is my profes-
siod to work for (my) livelihood 41d in’ order fo remove those diffis
éiilties which I felt while follo win};'th'e‘ bidfé;ss;iBﬁ for (my) livelihood,
1 have so far béen working only by légal methods on' behalf of the
Iegal Tradé Unions of the workers atid I éonsider it my duty to do
this work, THe charge made against ric of Having conspired to
subvert the Raj of thé Empe'or is énﬂré!& meaningless and ridit
culous. I was never cobnéctéd with any conépiracy nor wasTa
member of any illegal institution. Similarly ouf of my 32 co:accused
I did Trade Union work along with five or six of the accused from
Bombay, in the belief that they were Trade Unignists. . Thé others
I had never seen up till now, nor had I corresponded with them.
Simiilirly I had'nevér up till now heard thé nime of, or seen in my
life those 63 persons and institutions from foreign countries whom
(the prosecution) have connected with this case. Whence can there
be then any correspondence of mine with them? Now the chiarge
against me that I conspired with the accused in this,case and people
from' outside helping them, in-ordér to subvert thé Rajof the
Emperor is' éntirely false’ atid niistaken, Because nowhére has
there been any connection bet ween me, and these persbns and the
conspiracy. The work I bad been doing up till now, was being
doné by me as a Trade Unionisfatd T have“placed before you
that my work, I say with thorough conviction that I am entirely
innocent of the conspiracy. I have borne (’de in mind and told
truly what I could remember and tell iti a'Codnected way. So I
request the Court that I should be dtha_rg_ed (incomplete)

Sd. R. L. Yorke,
(Sd) K. S-A:

2931 s
Alwe (continued) =

=

and strike activities and to your other connections: documents
numbered P. 526 (29), 2408 (P),” of8, 944, 959, 949, 1463, 1464,
1465, 1462, 665, 967, 929, 951, 7865 790, 971, 985, 1699, 1706, 1707,
1717, 1726, ‘o, 986, and witnesses numbered P. W. 245, 273, 276,
and 278 4 as regards connections, the documents are P. 930
(kranti dated 29.7.28),P. 662, P, 18%; P.‘964, P. 30.{)53.% you to

[ 2. A R
Q. T‘h'e_l_ollwowing, evidence relates to ytﬁ:?,Tra,de-Union

say any thing about them which yoti-have sat Fetdsai d

A. T will give in writing later on what more remains to
be said ut,, Ghi idence). Whatever I have remembered I
have told \p till now to the best of my memory. Another thing I

b
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have to say is that Mr. Kasleisa erkenhfce myself agd smcg

1925 he has off and onﬁ worked with me 4 the G.’K “Matamandal
" and was the vice-president of the G. U)mon He has learned

one or two more books than myself. Thegefore, he will*give more

explanatlon about the activities of the- U{mon.and about the outside

advisers. Because, as I havealreddy said, owing-to my mabzhty\

to read and write, my memory is not of that much capacxty IfrI
" recollect somethmg which remains to be said I W111 submit it in
writing, gettmg it wntten by gome one else. N ,

Q. What about thnesses? Do you want" them
.A, Ihavegiven a hst. I have to’ call‘so’x;me v
'Sd. K. S.A. . . 8d R L. Yorke
3.9.31 - ' : -
Alwe (continu’ed')' 7

Q. Yoiu Have read your statement and it has been corrected
as required by'you, .Are you satistied that it is correct?

. A, Yes, N
S& K.S.A ~ Sd. R.L. Yorke
7.;.’31.' S (Sd) A, A. Alwe
'I:rue Translation, | ' ) .
sd. n.v.A :

A"’ ipael

Sataswati Machine Pnntmg Press, Meerut U P, (Ixa;hﬂs
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TRANSLATION t

*'Examination of Govind Ramchandrg Kasle, aged ‘about 42,
o the 8th September 1931 before me ‘R. L. Yorke, ‘Additional
Sessions Judge, Meerut. My name is Govmda, my father’s name
is Ramchandra, I am Maratha ‘by caste’ and a mill-worker by
profession. My residence is at Masure, -Police Statlon Malavan,
- Distt. Rntnagm T live at ‘Bombay. ‘
Q Your statement in the Lower Court P 2606 was, read oub -
to you on 16. 3. 3I. Is that correct 2

‘A. It was read oul, it was correct.

Q. The evidence against you in this case is mainiy under

‘two headmvs(I)Workers and Peasants’ Party, and All India Workers
and Pasants’ Party. (ii) Ttade Union and strike acuvmes. This
evidence is as follows:—(i) P. 1353, 1343, 1344, 1373 {1), 942, 043,
945, 645, 1170 and statement of P. W. 201. (ii) 958, 944, 959, 949,
1462,066, 967, 954, 971, 662, 776, 932, 964 and statements of P.W,
245, 273, 276 and 278. Also speeches P. 1712, 1726, 1'727,
1731, 1733 and 1734. )

+

Thrslxstlhad given you about two months back. Have
‘you to say anything about this evidence ? - o .

‘A, Thad got this list about two months - back But before

. telling about it, I have to-tell about my circumstances.s Our
former profession was that of a*peasant, - I was formerly a peasant;
but circumstances made me a_worker. Before ‘my arrest I: was
working as a fitter in the. Weavmg Dept in the Simplex mrﬁ

- have been working ' in mill since 1903. It was not by readmgA
books that I spoke about the workers’ ,condlt;on -1 3m telling of
what I myself experienced.and ig which I had’ to labour for:
twenty-five years. . Ih order 'to .clear . myself from' -the ’char;géo
against me, it is necessary for me to describe the condition of myselt:
and of workers, Therefore, I am- telling everything before telling-
about the chargeagainst me: I have, not recieved: either “High'

. School or Collége edncation. I am educated upto. . the 2nd standard,

. in Marathi: Therefore I do not understand what -is correct and
what is incorrect in Marathi. .As soon as_the case began I have
informed ( the court ). that. I do not ‘know any other language.
Therefore, it is impossible .to understand 'many things ia_ this .
case, I have said above that . we were formerly cultivators., Our
cultivation was on a small scale and e used to doxt on rent. '
Therefore we had to pay there-fourths of the produce as rént to the
landlord and it was impossible for our famrly to maintain itself on
the remaining produce. It being impos: sible to mamtam ourselves .

. (993 ) "



on cultivationy my father came to Bombay for serviceina mill even
when I was a small boy, But as even his wages were inadequate, we
could not maintain ourselves on it. Therefore, my elder brother
came for service to Bombay some years after my father, He too
was educated up to the "3rd standard ;in Marathi. After coming
to Bombay he took up service as a boy-peon in the Telegraph
Office on Rs. 7. While he was in Bombay I was in’ (my) village.
In that village I received education up to the IInd standard in
Marathi. Afterwards I too had to take service as it became
difficult to manage our household expenses. [t was because we
bad to suffer at home and my parents began to be put to trouble,
that I decided to take up service in Bombay and came to Bomay at
the age of 11. After coming to Bombay I took-up service in the
Adamji Peerbhoy mill in the year 1903 as a half-timer. I used to
get three rupees and a half as wages. As 1 took up.service my
studies never progressed. Out of my wages of three rupees and a
half something had to be paid as bribe to the jobbers etc. If we
did not remain absent for a whole week, we used to get two annas
as reward. If we happened to remain absent on some day through
illness or other cause, we forfeited these two annas and (the wages)
for two days. Asaresult, the wages got considerably reduced.
What was a poor worker like me to do on those reduced wages and
_ how was he to maintain himself ? This is a matter for consi-
deration, As we were half-timers, we were given a badge. That
badge we had to tie round the neck. It could be seen from that
badge in which milland in which Dept. we were working and people
used to know from that badge of which owner we were the slaves,
This is an example of being treated [ike slaves. If on occasions
that bedge got lost, the owners did not fail to levy a fine of one’
anna. At that time the mills used to work for fourteen hours with
two hours overtime, that is, for sixteen hours ( Vide P. W. 202 ),
As I was a half-timer I had to,work for seven hours. The mill began
to work at 5 A. M., so that the werkers used to get up at 3A. M.,
and finishing everything to be done at home up to 4 ot 4. 30 A.M,, -
and eating the chutney andthe bread in ‘the house, starfgd for
work. As the whole road was full of darkness we stumblesl and
knocked ourselves ( against the ground-) while going to work in
the mill. As we workers had to getup at 3 A. M., we did not
get full sleep and the failure to get proper sleep affected the
health of us workers. Bearing such trouble I worked for one year
in the Adamji Peerbhoy Mill. Then that mill got burnt which
involved in calamity all those who were like me working in that
mill and I lost even that service which brought me Rs. 31. After
some days I took workes-as a half-timer ic the carding Dept.
in the Greaves Cotton Mill. There I used to get Rs. 4 as wages.
1 worked there for one year. Thereafter the owners declared that
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the mill would remain closed for twelve days ( in the month ).
They said that besides these days, the mills would stop on holi-
days. This is one of the amenities provided for us by the owners:

How can this mercy fail toaffect us ? Ia the first place, the
mill remained closed for twelve days and with two or three daysas

holidays, the mill was closed for fiteen days and 30 we could put
in only fifteert days. As there was only fifteen days work in the
mill,we used to get only two rupees. Well, were even those wages
gotearly ? No. Two rupees as wages and they too eame to hand
after two months. The wages for the current moath that is for
September used to be received after two months that is in
November. If by chance, the worker fell ill and remained at home,
he got his wages after twenty days more, that is on the 20th of
November. Owing to all these reasons we workers began to be
considerably inconvenienced. In one month when there were many
such ‘stop’ days, I have received seven annas nine pies as ‘wages.
1f some person died at home and someone came to the mill to call
( the worker ), he found great difficulty in seeing the worker in
the mill. And if by chance they met and on hearing the sad news,
he weng tothe Manager to ask for leave, he was not given leave,
So thal{ remains of the ) person who had died at home remained
undisposed of till that worker returned home in the evening and
that dead body remained rotting there. Such were our sorrows at
that time. In order to get these grievances rederssed, the workers
in the mill selected some men, and sent them to place the difficulties
before the Manager. The reason why they were to be placed before
the Manager was that we workers did not at that time know who
the mill owner was. It was the belief of us workers that the
- Manager was the mill owner and that all things went on as directed
by him. The merciful Manager got irritated with the persons who
had gone to him to place before him the difficulties,got them driven
out at the hands of peons and immediately by issuing a notice
declared that the mill would remain closed. Then as the mill got
closed, all the men working in it lost their services. Then I went
to work in the Crescent or Damodar Mill. Then however, I took
up work as a full-time worker and I got Rs. 74 as wages. I was
working in the blow-room in that mill. The mention of the name of
that department makes the hair stand up. When working in that
department, there is cotton everywhere on the body and on the
face. Moreover, oil gets sprinkled over the body and gives rise
to small pimples. It was only with one object that I took up
work in a department thus harmful to health, and that object was
to help my family with a rupee or so. My maternal uncle also
was working in the same mill. One day his hand got caught in
the machine and he was immediately taken to Hospital where his
hand was removed from the.elbow. He was in the Hospital only for
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fifteen days‘ After recovery he came to the mill and requested the
manager, that he should get something for less of hand. But the
manager did not heed that request. He was paid the outstanding
wages for the one month before the hand get broken and for the
fifteen days that he was in hospital,was told that owing to loss of hand,
he would not be able to work properly and that, therefore, he should
not there-after come to work. He went to his village on the strength
of the money he got. Seemg this state of things, 1T left the work
in that mill, -Thereafter I worked at one or two places in the
spining department and then joined the weaving department i in the
Rughnath Thota or Bombay Industrial Mill in order to learn the
work. After learning work in the weaving department, I began
to work in the weaving department in the same mill. I worked for
four years in that mill. Then learning the fitter’s work in the
same mill, I worked for some years as fitter. The Great War began
at that time and imports into India stopped, owing to which the
indigenous industry prosperedand the prices of all other aricles
went up, but the worker remained where he was. There was no
Increase in his wages. In the Great War the owners got crores of
rupees as profit, but the owner did not give the worker evé®® a pie.
During the Great War, there was an increase in room rent,"in the
prices of cloth and in the prices of all articles. The worker’s
wages remained stationary, so it was impossible for him to maintain
himself on these wages, therefore, in 1917 the workers declared a
strike, The leadership of the strike vested in Sir Narayanrao
Chandavarkar, High Court Judge, Rao Saheb Talocherkar, -Messrs.
Asavale, Bole, Mr. (lit. uncle ) Baptista etc. After this strike tha
wages of the workers increased to some extent (lit. by a certain
percentage ). I will tell here briefly who carried on an agitation,
among the workers and how, before this strike took place. It is
seen from the biography of Mr. Fule that the workers’ movement
was first begun by the late Narayan Meghaji Lokhande. In tha
year 1907 Mr. Khote used to do something for the workers.
Notmes, petitions eto. for the men were written in his office at Kala
Chowki. When there was an increase in wages owing to the strike -
of 1917, the workers realized that they were benefited if all of
them began. to get organized, There was one strike in 1918, one
in 1919 and two in 1920, Its leadership vested in such leaders as.
Sir (Narayan) Chandawarkar, Messrs. Asavale, Talcherkar, Ghagre.
master, Bala Master alias Narayanrao Kadam, Jinwala, Barrister
Pawar etc. In the strike of 1919, those with fixed wages received
some increase as also a bonus, In the first strike of 1920, those
with fixed wages got an increase of 20 per cent, and the piece-
workers got an increase of 25 per cent, Inthe second strike of
1920 those with fixed wages got a further increase of 15 per cent
while the piece-workers got an increase of 10 per cent, which
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means, that since 1917, those with fixed wages got an increase
of 70 per cent and the piece-workers an increase of 80 per cent. It
will'be seen from this that the workers secured an increase in their
wages by going on strike. In the year 1920 I was serving in the
Century Mill. That year the Trade Union Congress held its
session in B8mbay, As I knew Mr. Athavale (P. W. 191), he
gave me a delegate ticket to attend the congress and several other
workers were given tickets like myself and were asked to attend
the congress. We had paid 8 annas as fee per ticket. Lala
Lajpat Rai was the president of that congress and it was attended
by big leaders like Diwan Chamanlal, Jhabwala, Omar Sobhani,
Tairsi and others. As the workers also had beea invited to the
Conference, we had gone there. (D. 502) (Incomplete).

Sd. K. S A. Sd. R. L. Yorke,
8-9-3t . 8-9-31
Kasle (continued)

While working in the Century Mill I fell ill one day. I was,
therefore, dismissed from work. P.W. 191 took me with himself to
the mill and explained things properly to the Manager in English,
when 1 was taken (back) on work. P.W. 191 has told about how
the workers are beat and otherwise harassed in mills.

The prosecution has - charged me with a terrible counspiracy.
1 do nof accgpt the charge made against me under Section 121A, of
having%ﬁ to overthrow the Raj of the Government. I have
not tried to subvert the Raj of Government nor did I entertain that
desire. Nor did I maintain connection with, or participate in, any
secret conspiracy, or join it a8 member. I have participated only
in the strike. The reason for participating in the strike was that I
was & member of the G.K. Mahamandal and a mill worker and as a*
geuneral strike took place, it was necessary for me t& participate in
the strkie just like other men. I am not a communist nor doI
understand communism. Before the strike I did not participate in
any political ?ovemenfs nor did I incite (others) to go on strike., I
have not corrdsponded with any conspirator, nor was I connected in
any way with any conspiracy. Being a worker, I was working in
the Trade Union Movement, so T do not accept the charge of con-
spiracy against me. ‘

Now I will give some account. of thg mill in which I was
working in 1921. Since 1921 I was working in the Simplex Mill.
In 1923 there was a general strike owing to the stoppage of bonus,
I am giving here the causes of the strike. It was in 1923 only that
the G.K. Mahamandal was established. I will give an account of
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it later on. In order to get the bonus the workers had to work
strenuously ( lit. to die ) for the whole year without a single day’s
absence. If he remained at homo for some days, he forfeited his
bonus. I have already told about various such difficulties of the
worker. The Bonus strike was brought about by the owners them-
selves. After eleven months { of the year ) were over; the owners
raised an outcry that they were suffering loss and eould not give the
bonus. When after working for eleven months, ( it was time?) for
the workers to take Bonus (they) were told by the owners that they
could not give bonus. The workers went on strike in order to get
the bonus. The leadership of that strike vested in Mr. Bhatwadkar,
the president of the G.K. Mahamandal in 1923, and Messrs. Alwe,
N.M. Joshi, Mayekar, Rao Bahadur Asavale, Honorary Magistrate,
Rao Saheb 8.K. Bole, J habwala, Finwala, Syed Munavar and others,
Mr. Alwe has already given most of the account about that strike. It
is not necessary for me to tell more. Now it is necessary for me to
say ( something ) about the G.K. Mahamandal. The G: K. Maha-
mandal was established in December 1923 in the veranda on the
third floor in the Wachha Building on Delisle Road. When the
-establishment of the G.K. Mahamaudal was considered, those present
included Dattatraya Atmaram Bhatawadkar, Dattatraya Ram-
chandra Mayekar, A. A. Alwe, Maruti Alav, Tavde, Sadhalkar,
Parulekar, Shankar Dhaku Kusagaonkar, Mahadeva Parab and other
workers. I wasg staying in the adjoining Aba Building. I was also
present at that time. It was decided that there should be some
ingtitution among us wotkers. At that very time the G.K. Maha-
mandal came into existence. - It was decided to take‘m&ﬁce
of the Mandal room No. 10, on the lst floor, Hejib’g XMW rthur
Road, Chichpokli. It was decided to take the office room in the
pame of Mr. Bhatwadkar. The annual subscription for members
wasfized at Re 1/4/— and the office-bearers of the Mandal were
elected at the same time. It was decided at that time that no
outside non-worker should be taken in the G.K. Mahamandal. The
president ( was ) Mr. Bhatwadkar, Sizing Jobber, Moti Mill, the
secretary (was) at first Mr. Sadhalkar and then Mr. Parulekar,
Head Time Keeper, Narayan Mill, treasurer Mr. Kusagaonkar,
Weaving Jobber, Kasturchand Mill No. 13, Committee Members:-
Dattatraya Ramchandra Mayekar, Wasudeva Krijshna Parab,.
Assistant Time Keeper Simplex Mill, A. A. Alwe, Weaving Depart-
ment, Crown Mill, Maruti Alav, Weaving Department, Crown Mill,
Shriram Kanhoji Tavde,Planet Mill, Dying Clerk, Mahadeva Parab,
Assistant Time keepery Jamashed Mill. Similarly I (Govind Ram-
chandra Kasle, Weaving Fitter, Simplex Mill) was also a member
(of the Committee). There were more names besides these. After
some years a quarrel arose between Messrs. Bhatwadkar and
Mayekar. Therefore, Mr. Mayekar opened branch No. 1 of the G.K-

( 998 )



Mahamandal, near Textile Mill, near (th#e‘.‘ﬁideuce of) Maruti Alav
at Prabha Devi. The function of opening this branch took place on
the st of August 1925. At that time the office-bearers of the branch
were elected as follows:=President A.A. Alwe, General Secretary D.R.
Mayekar yTreasurer B.T. Alwe and the Managing Committeo in-
cluded my name also ( D. 420} Maruti Alav used to supervise the
offica while a8 we all had go totwork, T could not often (lit. at every
hour) attend the Mandal. I went onceé in one or two months, if I
went af all. Much work to increase the membership was done by
Baba Kalsekar, Mr. Tavde used to do the work of Marathi writing
and he was Assistant Secretary of the Ma.nfla.l at that time.

Now I will give an account of the strike of 1925. By
stopping the Bonus in (lit. in the strike of }- 1923, the owners
behaved most mercifully towards us. And though the owner was
getting excessive profit he said that he was suffering a- loss and he
decided in 1925 to effect a cut of 11} per cent in the original wages,
that is in the wages on which ( the workers ) were working. Mr.
Alwe has already told about'that. The men went: on strike when
the owners made this effort to effect - reduction in -wages. That
strike continued for seventy-three days. There was a Joint Strike
Committes in that strike also. Its president -was Mr, N.Mg Joshi
-and its members were Messrs. A.A. Alwe, Mayekar, Tavade, Asavle,
Bole, Jhabwala, Jinwala and other workers. In this strike the
“British worker-brethren had given us rupees twenty-five thousand ag
help. Besides this Mr. Asavale brought a resolution in the Bambay
Municipal Lorporation that one lakh of rupees should be given as
help te the workers: That resolution was also passed. It was
resolved that work to that amount should be taken from the workers.
After the strike had lasted for seventy-three days the owners had to
withdraw the notice regarding the - reduction in wages, .seeing the
tenacity of the workers and their determination not to go back to
work on reduced wages. The workers won that strike.

In the year 1926 there was a strike of British worker-brethren.
Therefore, a meeting was called on behalf of the Prabhadevi branch
to help them. Advocate Anandra@dSurve was the President ef that
meeting. It wasteld in open space near Madhav Bhawan, opposite
Parel Workshop of the B.B. and C.I. Railway. At that fime, in
explaining the condition of the worker-brethren in England, ( we)
were told that they were also worker-brethren just like ourselves
and that they had helped our strike and shown sympathy towards
us. Such things were told and advice was given that they should ba
helped and the President gave five rupees himself. Some other
persons who Were present also contributed. Even small school
cbildren made small contributions. At that time my son Bhaskar
gave one Rupeo‘out of ( that given to him for) sweatmeats, In this

999 )



manner we sent them Rs. ‘131 a8 the first instalment. Some
months after this programme was over, time ecame for offering a
welcome to a Trade union worker who had come from England.
That meeting was held in the Nagu Sayaji’s Wadi. Dattatraya
Mayekar and others told us that he was a big gentlemsn from
England, a Trade union official andtbenefactor of the workers.
Then we gave him a grand reception on behalf of the Mandal. The
function was celebrated by borrowing furniture etc. for the meeting
from some persons. 1

As up till 1926, I had worked for twenty-two years, I came
to know the condition of the workers, I came to understand much
about their housing conditions and the reasons for their grievances
and difficulties. It is necessary to note them here. I will tell first
how the worker is robbed before he is engaged. Before getting
work, the worker has to seek the acquaintance of some jobber. It
may be said that the jobber is the. chief among the men working in
a Department. He has to be first given some bribe in order that
he should give work. At least one visit has to be paid to his
house every day for the sake of service. Every time that poor
(worker)ehas to spend a rupee or eight annas. .The worker is thus
robbed even before he gets work, I will now tell here .something
about the Jobbers and other high officials. After a worker takes
up work he has to obey whatever orders are given by the Jobber,
Head Jobber, cutlooker, folding Jobber, Number-Marker, Assistant
Weaviug Master, Head Weaving Master and Manager and if those

. . -
orders are perhaps disobeyed, we workers incur the resentment of
these high officials, Then ( workers) are sent awéy for some
insignificant reason. Besides, this, there are several kinds of
fines. If the ‘Fani’ is broken, heis fined, if the ‘Kutra’ is~ broken
he is fined, if the ‘Tarpole’ breaks he is fined, if the
‘Pikas' breaks, he is fined, if the cloth gels _creased
he is fined, if the cloth gets a line or some other spot, he has to
take that cloth and has to pay its price. The wages are not got
unless the price of cloth is paid. At times the price of this cloth
exceeds even the wages. He hto incur debts in order to pay
the price of the cloth. And in order to getfthat debt ‘he
has to fall at the feet of thé- Jobber or Head Jobber or some Bania
or Marwadi or Pathan. And if on some rare occasion the worker’s
loom gets broken owing to some cause, the poor worker has to sit
at home without pay for one month atatime. Hedoes not get
even his wages. If at some time the worker falls ill and stays at
home, he has in the weaving department to give a substitute in
cash, that is, has to pay cash. If he does not make that payment,
he is sent home and if money is not paid within three or four days
he is dismissed from work. He has to flatter the Jobber in order
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to retain the service and to pay the money and then the Jobber at
times gets (for him) a loan from a Bania or a Marwadi. But the
Jobber has' of course some share in it. -The next day the poor
(worker) goes and pays the cash. Owing to the worker being at
home for two or three days he receives less wages on the pay day
which again are subject to be snatched by others. If on occasions
the Manager’s son is to be married, subscription of one rupee each
is taken, but the worker has really no connection with the marriage
of the'son ‘or daughter of the Manager, but the Assistant Weaving
Master, the Head Jobber ‘and other officials bring it 'about and
raise subscriptions from the workers (out of which) some money is
“spent in celebrating the marriage snd the rest is pocketed by them(the
officials). Similarly worship of Shri Satyanarayan is performed in
the mill. This can be easily performed in hundred and fifty rupees,
but a thottsand rupees are collected by rasing subsctiptions from
the workers, out of which seven to eight hundred rupees are spent
on the high officials. The higher (mill) officials foist on the
workers tickets for dramas and famashas. It is these mill-officials
that in most cases take contracts for dramas and famashas. The
poor workers are tompelled to purchase these tickets as they are
forcibly foisted upon them. If on occasions, he refuses to take the
tickets; "the higher official- gets angry with the worket who is
deprived of his service within a few days. Similarly' somebody
from the Head-Jobber upto-the Manager brings a clock worth forty
to fifty rupees and brings' some broken harmonium and these are
raffled, od which t&e‘y taise seven to eight huudred rupees, taking
contribations fromgpoor workers of four annas -each. All these
reasons niean less of wages so that the poor worker has to manage
household affairs by incurring debts. If (spoiled) cloth falls to his
lot, he has to pay-its price and in order to pay it has to incur debt
from the Bania, Marwadi or Pathan.: The Pathans take iuterest at
the rate of four to siX annas a rupee, and take a bond for twenty
rupees for tén. If the poor (worker) be not able to sign, his thumb-
impression is taken and on the bond they write only one anna as
the (rate of) interest. ' If on the pay day, the worker does not get
his wages owfing to his absence, the Pathan is sure to stand at tHe
workers’ door with % big stick in'hand, to use ugly abuse and on
occassions he Hoes not even hesitate to beat (the worker). If debt
has been taken from the Jobber or the Head-Jobber, he. takes from
the worker his wages in the mill itself. When'the Jobber or the
Head Jobber thus takes his wages, the. 'worker bas to return home.
empty-handed. If be has to pay the Pathan’s ‘money the plight of
life is beyond description. The Pathan stands at his doorin the
evening with a big stick in his hand. And this poor worker, having
no money and being afraid of the Pathan stays away from him ill
nine or ten O’clock at night.” .Next day the worker goes to the
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bouse of the Jobber or Head-Jobber and requests that the wages
taken <i’by him) the previous day should be again given to him as a
loan and the Jobber or Head Jobber pays him from his pocket or by
borrowing from others and he has fo give 3 bond for twice the
amount he might have received. Then the worker arranges to
pay other (claimants). If the worker on some occasion is compelled
to borrow money from a marwadi, shes the marwadi not only takes
a bond for double the amount (paid), but takes eight annas from the
worker for the (stamped) paper, deducts the first interest in advance
and if occasionaly mouney is left (napaid) for two or three months,
takes three months’ interest for one month, counting one month
thrice as “Falgun, Shimga, Holi,® Such are the various difficulties
threatening us workers (incomplete)

Sd. K. 8. A, - 8d. R. L. Yerke
9-9-31
Kasle ( continued )

WOMAN-WORKERS AND THEIR HARASSMENT.

Women also work in the reeling and winding departments
in mills. They have to pay a rupee or two to the Naikin in order
to get. work. Thereafter she gives work. After joining work any
orders given by the Naikin have to be obeyed, otherwise she ( the
worker ) is dismissed for some insignificant reason. On the pay-
day she has to pay a bribe of from eight annas )3 rupee or two to
the Naikin. They have to pay her one or two rupees morein order
that they should get more material ( yarn ete ). On holidays and
feasts she has to be given part of the things prepared at home. In
this way women workers are much harassed in mills.

THE PLACES WHERE THE WORKERS LIVE.

The working population is predominant mostly from Jacob
Circle to Nagu Sayaji’s Wadi. The working class, lives in the
locality from the Victoria gardens to Sivri,from there onwards Nagu
Sayaji’s Wadi, Varli, Prabha devi, Fergusson Road, Delisle Road
Chinchpokli. The road in this locality is such that dust passes
iato the nose and the mouth continuously day and night. The
chawls of the workers are dirtier even than catile-pounds. The
few chawls that have more than one storey have twenty to thirty
rooms on each storey. Each room is five to seven feet in widih
and seven feet in length. Every chawl has three or four latrines,
and one or two pipes. The latrines are so dirty that one is disin-
clined to use them. The workers have to go to work in the morn-
ing which causes such a (hurried) confusion that if they get water
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they do not get a latrine, and if they get a latrine,they do not get
water. We workers have to face several such difficulties. AS the
reat of the small rooms there is eight or nine rupeesyit is very
difficult for the workers to hire more than one room, Chawls with
a single floor are extremely inconvenient. Such chawls are on two
sides of an empty space and the chawls being on both sides the
municipality has constructed drains by the side of the rooms which
greatly yitiates the air.” In rainy days the water accumulates
to the rooms, which gives rise to diseases like fever which make the
worker ill.  Thereéis perpetual darkness in the chawls. The sun’s
light cannot be seen in several chawls. Itis impossible to get
pure air in chawls, because owing to the mills round about, small
particles always get mixed in the air. Similarly owing t6 absence
of sun-light, the stench created by water id the mud is not removed,
Absence of pure air and sunlight affects the worker’s health and
hefalls ill. The worker’s rooms and chawls are always sooty.
They are whitewashed once in a year, at the pleasure of the owner,
Owing to such dirty rooms and dirty chawls and several difficulties
like inconvenience as regarda wategylatrine and air, we workers get
sick. Cement chawls have been construcled for us workers, They
are situated at Varli, Delisle Road (and) Nalgaon. Men live to sorhe
extent in the chawls at Delisle Road and Naigaon but all the
cement chawls ab Varli are nearly empty because disease is frequent
there. It is these chawls that were transformed info 2 jail during
the Hindu-muslim riot in order to keep men in detention. Though
the rooms arg sma)l eight or nine men live in them. The room is
inadequate forsleep. We £3e faced with several such diﬁiculligs.

OPPRESSION ON THE WORKERS AFTER THE
1925 STRIKE.

It may be said that the owners felt sorry for the workers’
victory in the strike of 1925. And it appears from their policy, nay
their behaviour, that they had decided to vanquish the workers in
some way or the other. The owners kept quiet for some days after
the strike was over. Ifthey had created trouble then, the workers
would have immediately put 2 stop to it. But as the owners are
very sagacious, they did not do so, because they knew that the
worker would notat that time allow them to do anything. Alfter
some days had passed they began to oppress the worker. And I
-shal] give my own experience as regards this oppression. I was
working in the weaving department in the Simplex Mill ( D. 503).
There were in all nine fitters and four digaris in that departmeut
Out of these, five fitters and four digaris were reduced, s0 that "we
four had to do their work, but did not get an increase in wages.
The fitters used to come to work at 8 am. and to leave at 5-30 p.m.,,
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but instead of that, they were asked to come to work ‘at ¥ a. . and
leave work at 6 p.m, The over-time  (allowance) that we ‘got was
alsostopped. The work increased, the ‘time’ increased, but there
was not an {ncrease of éven 4 pie in the wages. To understand this,
see the monthly journal of the Bombay Mill Workers’ Union of
15. 11, 28, page 4, columns t-4{ D. 435 (2) ).

While (I) was in the Simplex Mill, my sistér died at home,

so I was called (home). I teld the manager this, but he did not
give me leave, ~ Not only that but he said: ** Why thete are deaths
at your homes only and not at ours ?” = After ‘thé mill closed, I
went home and then performed her funeral. According to the
Shasbra, the ashes of cremated body havé to be thrown intp the
sea the next day. I had to go for that purpose, s6 1'could not go to
work that day and sent word with the “Assistant Time-kéeper,
living in the heighbourhéod thatT could notattend work that day
and requested bim'(The Assistant Time-keéper) to tell the Manager
all sbout my sxster s'(death) which was known to ‘him.: The next
day I went to ‘work but the mamlger cut joff ‘my two: days one on
ich I had worked and the other-on’ which I ‘was’absent.. When
going to work T ‘had taken with me the death-certificate ‘of the
Municipality, ‘but thé mandger did not care for it. The owners
were preparing a schéme after the strike of 1925. The owners must
have spentone or two years inthe preparation of that- scheme,
After it was ready (they) began to put it into effect. This is called
the' “Three looms twosides’” system. ,A man works gn two looms.
Thrée looms were foisted ori him," that‘two men had o do the work
- of three, A man works on one side, he was to be made to work ose
two sides and oné ‘mdn wis to be sent away. ' The system was
introduced of reducing menin this way, increasing the time and
taking work in the same wages. The Sassoon and Fmb {Mills)
probably decided to “introduce this 'scheme, because it was in those
mills that it was first bégun. Therefore those  mills went on strike,
The Appollo Mill went on strike (lit. came out) in Jabudry 1927. It
was in that mill that this system had been introduced. There was
afterwdrds a strike in the Sasscon and Finlay mills. Asthe workers
went on strike, the owners' said that ‘they would stop the system.
Then the men began to go'(back) to work. Theé owners created
dissensions among those workers and again introduced Lhe system in
the same mill. Then after this system had been introdused in several
mills,fifteen to twenty-thousand men became unemployed. While this
was the-position, a dispute arose in the G. K, Mahamandal between
Mr. Mayekar and the Executive Committee. In order to inform
the people about- it, the President, A. A. Alwe, issued an explana-
tory handbill in the name of the Executive Committee. The
prosecution has brought this handbill on the record (P.1462). I
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,havifollowing‘ explanation to give about thisi=~ I was: a member

of the Executive-Committee of the: G. K. Mahamandal, but as I
was on work and owing to house-hold difficulties I did not go to
every meeting of the Executive Committee. So it was not possible
{for me) ta come to know every thing about the Mandal. The
executive committee suspected that Mr. Mayekar had caused
confusion in the accounts and in that connection a committee was
appointed to examine these accounts. In that committee Mr.Mayekar
even accounted for some of the items. But the money spent and that
account did oot tally. The committee realized this. Besides this,
Mr. Mayekar pocketed the money paid by the men by collecting
subscription. Mr. Mayekar had received'this money and passed
areceipt for it. THhe account of that money, however, was not
shown to the committee. The commiltee saw such misappro-
priations and the committe¢ appointed to" examin counts sxk-_
mitted the whole thing to the Executive Commiltegpgain examined
the whole account and when it noticed that there was
confusion in it, it decided’ that as Mayekar had deceived us
poor workers; and’ had squandered the money.collected by us
workers in the Mahamandal' by way of subscription, that thing

must be placed before the people. The executive commitiee had’
authorized Mr. Alwe; the president of the G.K. Mahamandal;
to issue that handbill; It is not understood why the Prosecution
has put in this handbill. Because it'was our duty to lay before’
the people the trickery of a teacherous person. When the committee-
had proved' that Mail:‘r had misappropriated money in any way

he liked, the whole of which Was collected with the Makamandal

by the poor (workers) paying subscriptions of four annas each;, it
would have amounted to treachery with workers to cover that affair.

As Mayekar had caused' such confision in the Mahamandal he

was dismissed from the Mandal. Vide P. 1463. I cannot say unless

I see the handbill in manuscript, whether the handbill P. 1462

has been signed by me or not. My name might have been put

in as I was a member of the executive committee.

CAUSES THAT LED TO THE STRIKE. OF 1928,

Nearly fifteen to. twenty thousand persons had been rendered
unemployed owing to the introduction of the, three looms two
sides (system). There was a reduction of. 13.to-20 per cent in
the wages, The Jours of work had been increased. Exorbitant
fines were inflicted for some minor reason. B:ib:ry was rampant
in the mills. The workers were being dismissed owing to insigni~ -
ficant reasons. Despotism reigned. in the mills, The worker
felt harassed owing to these reasous. I too felt considerably
harassed. Because how were eight persons to. be. maintaived on.
low wages, how wasthe debt to.be-repaid; how was the room-rent
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. 2
to be paid, how were the children’s school fees to be paid, how .
were they to be educated and how were other worldly things to
. be done ? It had become impossible for me and similarly also for
the other workers to do all these things. ' ‘

Ssd. K. S.A.
10-9-31. Sd. R. L. Yorke.
Kasle (Continued).

It was the opinion of the executive committee of the G. K.
Mahamandal that the 1927 strike of the Sassoon and Finlay groups
should be fought out. It was decided in the Executive Committea
of 4-3-28 that a general strike should not be called as far as
pbssib]e. Vide the mincte book of the G. K. Mahamandal. The

"“‘-’-M»zrhm&adab'\nﬁ all sorts of efforts to avoid the general strike;
but the owners Bustrated all of them. Theé workers had to declare
a general strike having no other alternative. The strike began
on 16th April 1928. My mill worked till the 24th of April and
till that time I was on work. As the mill closed, 1 too had ta
remain at home. All the mills went on strike on 26th April 1928.
The leadership of the workers’ strike came to the G. K. Maha-
mandal. Shortly after the strike began, Messrg. N. M, Joshi and
Jhabwala opened talks regarding the formation of a strike-com~
mittee. We said that a strike committee should be established
if half of the representatives are taken fromghe G. K. Mahamandal.
They accepted that. A Joint Strike Committee Was established
on 4-5-28. It contained 30 representatives in all. There were
1o representatives on behalf of the Textile Labour Union or
Girni Kamgar Sangh of Mr. N. M. Joshi, five of them were
workers and five outsiders. Out of these the outsiders were Joshi,
Jinwala, Asavle, Paralekar and Syed Munavar and the remaining
five were workers. (There were) five on behalf of Mr. Jhabwala’s
Mill Workers® Union. All of them were outsiders. They were:
Jhabwala, Dange, Nimbkar, Mirajkar (¢znd) Bradley. There were
in all fifteen, representatives on behalf of the G. K. Mahamandal
and all of them wers workers, They were: President A. A. Alwe,
Dhuri, Gadkari, Savant, Pendnekar, Ausekar Tamhanekar, Tavde,,
Kadam, Khandeérao Desai, B, T. Alwe, myself, Ghogale etc. (Vide
P.W.245). There were twenty worker-representatives, five on hehalf
of Mr. Joshi's Union and fifteen on behalf of #1e Mahamandal,.
From this (it will be seen that) the workers were in a Majority
©of the Strike Committee (and) if you takeé into consideration the
history of the strike, you will realise that it was with the help of
their majority of votes that work of maintaining peace and distri-
buting grain was proceeding systematically. Duaring this six
wonths strike, the workec suffered- the pangs of hunger etc., he
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suffered in various ways. his household (goods) were subjected
to attachment etc. and he did not allow his peace to be disturbed
in the least. From this you will realise that this was not a political
strike but was purely oné intended solely to ward oF .the attack
made by the owners on the workers’ wages.

Reasons for the establishment of the G. K. Union though the
G. K. Mahamandal existed.
]

The owners began to say that they were prepared to carry

on talks only with a Registered Union. A letter to that effect
from the owners was received by Mr. Joshi. Therefore, the exe-
cutive committee of the Mzhamandal decided that if the owners
were prepared to carry on talks, the G, K. Mahamandal "should
be registered. And Mr. Alwe ‘and some workers went in order
to get the union registered. Mr. Mayekar had 'been dismissed
from the Mahamandal. We were told in the Registration Office
that a union by the name of G. K. Mahamlandal had been registered
by Mr. Mayekar.- A detailed account about this has already been
given by Mr. Alwe in his statement. As two institutions cannot be
registered with the same name, it was decided by the executive
committee of the G, K. Mahamandal that another union should. be
started and registered and that if a settlement was possible it
should not be stopped because the union was not registered. It
was. the rule of the Mahamandal that outsiders should not be
taken into the Union. Mr. Alwe said that these men were such
as would do the workers’ work_ only_according to Trade Union
{method) and that they would do well the work of the workers,
that the (workers) had-to go elsewhere if correspondence had to
be carried on in English but that these would write it. We had
confidence in Mr. Alwe. As we were on work, the executiye
committee had given him all authority. Therefore, trusting in  what
he said, we did not make further inquiries about the outsiders as
to they were and what they did. - After Mr. Mayekar had got
registered the G. K. Mahamaridal, this new union, the G. K. Union
came into existence, as two unions cannot be registered under the
same name. This (G, K. Union) was established on 2znd May
1928 in Nagu Sayaji’s Wadi, under the Presidentship of Mr. Alwe.
- The new electigns of this union took place in the same meeting.
At that time all the officials of the old Mahamandal again stood
for election. Similarly, these outsiders also stood for election. I
havé said above that I myself and similarly our workers had no
" information as to who and what these outsiders were, But as Mr,
Alwe sang their praises that they were Trade Unionists working
in the interests of the workers, similarly that they were selfless
persons, Congressitfes, servants of the country etc,, that election
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was not Bpp_‘oeed,, but not that they were elected unopposed, even
in that meeting there was some commotion. aliout these outsiders,
to the effect that outsiders were not required in our union. Sech
was the argument. (lit. debate) put forth by some persons.. Mr.
- Alwe placed some difficilties before the men. They were as
follows :—Work is delayed and difficulty is felt at every step as
there is no.one among the workers? union wha: can read: and write
English. The work of, the union cannot. be- carried on in the
proper way it should,that is (as regards) English correspondence
with. the owners, carrying. on. negotiations. with the owners in
English, etc.. As. Mn Alwe. placed. zll these (things) before the.
eyes of the men, the- commotion got appeased and. the programme.
of election. was carried through. From 'that day, I became ac-
quainted with these outsiders. I.had-never seen them before. that,
nor was I.also acquainted with them. The election of the office
bearers of the G. K. Union. took. place,. It was as follows:—
President: Alwe, Vice-presidents: Tamhanekar; Jhabwala, Bradley,
Nimbkar; Secretanes Dan[ge, Tavde, Satam,Joglekar; Treasurers:
B. T. Alwe and - Ghate, I knew Mr. Jhabwala. before I
came to know. these men, but I was not closely acquainted
with him. The executive committee was. elected. and I also
was elected to it. Thenumber of (the members of) that commitiee.
was over fifty, If this is to be seen,, vide P. 662 photograph of the
" executive committee. It includes thirty to thirty-five members
of the committee but many persons were absent when this photo-
graph was taken and so it is incomplete. Though. this union. was
born during the strike, the work of the strike, however, was: being
conducted through the Joint™ Btrike™ Committee, Now if I begin
to give an account of this big six month’s, strike, it will ba

a big volume (and) it. will be wasting unnecessarily the valuable
time of the Court. Therefore, 1 will tell in brief.  The point - I

want to make is that this strike which we workers made and
the part we took, was because the strike wasnot of a political
nature. If you. look fo our strike demands, you will easily realise
that this strike was intended solely to  ward off the. attack mada
by the owners on the wages of us workers.  Mr. Alwe has already.
stated in his statement all the demands of the workers which were
put fcrth(lit.existed) when this strike was settled in the Secretariat.
through the intervention of the General Member Sir (Ghulam
Hussain) Hidayatullah. It is not necessary to state those demands
here. The worker’s leaders said that the strike would be called
off, if after discussion between the General Member (Sir’ Ghulam
Hussain) Hidayatulla, the représentalives of the owners and the
representatives of the workers, those demands were granted.
The strike was called off when the demands were accepted, but
the above demands were accepted till the report of the Fawcett
Committee was out.
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My Specohes:—

Frorii 4ll'these things, you will note that this strike was riot of
apolmcal chdracter, but I will tell here briefly about the speeches
T am alléged to havé made during this strike, speeches, giving a
terrible forni fo whichk the' prosecutxon is trying to get me
" entangled id this conspirdcy. I will give a brief accoudt’ of the
attack of the police agamsf us, during strike’days, that' is, when
the strike for securmg the denmatids régarding liveliigod of the
workers was being peacefully carried' on, Beating' the workers'
after going to their homes when they miight be sitting peacefully
 at home, as}ing them forcibly to work on reduced wages, attacking

the worker’s ? meetings beig carried on by them peacefully,
dtticking workers' with' Lathis when' they were returning home
aftet finishitg meetings, taking to the Police chowki, keeplig shutt
‘theré a;ii& beahhg ady worker’ that they’ m‘a‘j cdmé across, beating
evei they liked; and doing such' otHet - thihgs-== skeing all this and
Being harissed though lack of food and water, and seeing the
sufferitigs of the children 4t hoie, I riiight Bdve on somie occasion
fsed bad langudge in'a fit of dnger of th¥sugh véhemende; bt
the'object of fny speech, However, was not that of spreading or
cteating hatred about Goveérnment iii the' minds' of the pedple or
of preachin (lit. miaking) sedition, Al thisfgetting tired of
the circiithstatices of thgytime or getting helpless, some bad things
riight have conié otit' B\ my mouth. Soime™ (thinigs) in those
gpéecties might have béen true, some mxght have been inteipolated
by the Reporters. 1 d5 not say that'I' did not make speeches.
Havé already said it the Lower Court ¢hat I had made speeches.
Td the iatter of the. speechies the Marathi reporters wrote one
thing; they wrote aiot.her from the shofthand *(ootes) and wrote
quité’:\éthird’_i‘n English. A_ll my speeches are only confined to
the str Our bad condition Had its result (on me), so bad -
words might have ou sotiie occasiaii come ont of the mouth, (but)
the object was xot ts subvert'the Raj or to give incitement in
any othér way: The only object was in what way the strike
would be rmaliitained. I did not attend’ any politjcal meeting either
before of aftet the'strike. My work was confined only to Trade
Uniofs (t6 be continued).

Sd. K.S. A.

12.9.31, Sd. R,L: Yorke,
Kasle (Continied)

Sir Leslie Wilson the Governor of Bombay, had- heard.
about the Police oppression, Vide P 439 { 20 ). As I- have said-
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before about my speeches, I might have condemned the Police
but Ido not accept. several things like “beat, thrash” which
have been put in by the Reporter in my speeches. I did not at
all use such words. Vide P 966. It has been said in it that Satya-
graha should be offered, that boycott should be declared, that
preparation should be made for boycott. "Handbill P 966 will carry
conviction about the work we were doing. It has been said in
that handbill that.the system of three looms and two sides should
be smashed, that strike should be made peacefully and that
Satyagraha should be offered.

Now I will speak about the peasants’ and workewefConference
of Calcutta (P 942, 943, 945)- I had not gone to Calcutta or to the
Jharia’ Trade Union Congress. P.W. 254 has written in his report
the name of my son B. G. Kasle as having attended the Conferencea
But while identifying me in the Lower Court he said that Kasle
was present at the Calcutta Conference. This his statement is.
quite false, His evidence is not at all reliable, because iu this
(lit. higher) court, he omitted my name. The statements he had made
about- some other persons are such that he ( P. W, 254 ) hasin
his report given as having attended for all the three days the names
of those who did not at all attend the Conference and of those
who attended on some day for some time. Besides this, P. W.254
did oot identify Gluri Shankar in the Lower Court and said,
while identifying ( him ) in this ( lit. hifgfr ) court, that he had
identified Gauri Shankar in the Lower Court, but the Magistrate
might not have noted that. By this statement he has even made
the Magistrate false. P.W, 36 also has made a report .about
the Conference. P. W. 254, while giving evidence in this court
omitted my name at first, but stated duriné[-cross--examination
that Kasle was pointed out to him by somebody there, tha{ Kasle

. was sitting with his back turned towards him, that the krson
' appeared like Kasle. See evidence in lower (court) of P. W.179
and in this ( lit. higher } ( court ) of P. W. 254. It is understood
from P. 459, which contains the photograph of my son, how false
is the evidence given by this witness, You yourself have seen’
this my son after he had come here (and can see ) what a great
difference there is between his photograph and my photograph..
Besides this, the witness has also said that my initials were B. G.
Kasle and he did not know even my’initials, According to his ~
report only one Kasle had attended the Conference and his name
was B. G. Kasle. Besides this, in the report of the conference
P 334, page No. 87, para No, 3, it has been stated that B,G. Kasle,

a small school boy, son of a Bombay mill-worker, spoke in the
Conference. From all this, it is clear that I was not present at
the Calcutta Conference. But my son had gone to see Calcutta.-
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In this way the evidence of P.' W, 254 is entirely false. Exhibits
P 942, 943, 945 are from my search. All that property might have
been brought by myson and might have been got in the search
along with his articles and books. P. W. 201 has said that it had
got written on it the names ‘B. G. Kasle' and ‘M. G. Kasle’.
This property that had been brought ( by my son ) has been foisted
upon me. As I was working in a mill what else could be got at
my hounse ? I did not read newspapers, nor was I making secret
plots anywhere, nof was I connected with any secret conspiracy.
In this way, I do notaccept the grave charge made against me,
- the tremendous stress laid by the Prosecution, stress to the effect
that Kasle knew everything. After I came here and the case
proceeded, I have heard the mention of ( lit. of where ) ‘communist’,
¢ Leninism, * ‘Germanism’. I am hearing all this after coming here,
We had never heard this ( before ). My only ideal was only this
 much: how my children and family would be protected and how our
improvement could take place by a legal method,
Now I will speak about the -Workers®' and Peasants’ Parly
of Bombay. P 1343-1344. I have been charged with being a
member of the Workers’ and Peasants’ Party of Bombay. I have
already said about thatin the Lower Court that many persons
come to us and ask us to sign some paper, some written form (or)
petition. As we cannot read or write and do not know laws and
regulations, advantage is taken of our iguorance and signatures are
taken from us by telling us such things as “(We) do good things
for you; (these) things are beneficial to you, (I) have to go into the
Council on your behalf, I am going to stand for municipal (election)
in your interests, we shall try to remove yotir difficulties. Similarly,
some one might have come to me and might have told me that the
things were of benefit to the workers and peasants and after telling
this, might have taken my signature,: I have already said that my
profession was that of a cultivator and - that I was also working
in a mill. So I might have signed that form. The form on which
my signature is shown, is in Eunglish. I have already said that I
do not know English and noneread out to me the rules of that
Party, nor had I paid the subscription. Vide-P.r3¢3. Nor did I
attend any meeting, nor did [ get any intimation in that respect.
I was preseat at the meeting P 1373 (1). What I remember about
that is that on that day T had gone to a workers’ meeting—meeting of
the workers of the Victoria mill—at Chaupati. When I went, I had
with me Messrs. Tralkar and Kandalkar. As there was much
time before the meeting, we entered Mr. Ghate’s -residence on the
way. At that time talk arose about the union, about subscriptions
etc. At that time talk was started about outside clerks and I said
aboul the appointment of outsiders on Rs. § a day: “Why should
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out-side non-workers be brought into the Union? Instead of appoint~
ing. fifteen men by paying each one five rupees daily, the workers
who are unemployed should be paid a rupee daily and should be
appointed to write Marathi receipts,” What is the necessity of
paying outsiders five rupees' daily? Some workers can write
ordinary Marathi. Many such workers are unemployed and they

. should be given work. That will help the unemployed workers,
as also reduce the expenditure of the union. Why are educated
outsiders required?” At that time there was a-dispute between me
and our other men, and Dange- etc:, and because of that I left the
place for the workers’ meeting at Chaupati. I had not gone to the
meeting of the Workers’ and Peasants’ Party, nor had I been invit-
ed in any way. Vide Para No. 5 of P 1344y page No. 1o07:

(D) will(now) tell about P' 645, 1If is impossible for mé *fo
know why my name and address was written i Mr. Bradley’s
diary. I cannot say with what object he wrote that address. He
alone knows about it

P 6524 776, 932, 964 ate incoffiplete pliotographs' of the
Mariaging Comimittee of thé G. K.-Union. These wete taken: some
fifteeti days aftet the elettion of the G. K. Uiiod took placé, All
the meéfibers of the Mandging Cofarnittee Had beed asked to gather
together in the Damodar Hall:at 16 A. M., for being photographed,
but the photographer said that at ten o’clock there would be too
miich of sunlight and that the photograph would not come out well,
so the photegraph should be taker in the morning., As themembers

- of the' Managing Committet had been‘informed beforehand (about the
fixitig of tinie as 16 A.M.); the photogriph of only thosé pefsory was-
taken who were present, All the members camé at- 10 o’clock b’
the p}iot‘o‘grépner had alteady taker the photograph and’ gone away:
So all could not be included in the photdgraph. Therefore; these
phidtographs were incomplete. I 4lso-was a meniber of the Manag-
ing Corhiiiittee; therefote, my photograph hias also' béen included in
them,

(Now Iy tell about P 959, F949, Po71, Pg54. (This) isan account
of anigunts taken from the G K.-Union for being. spent on sundry
expenses for the work of the union: I have already said that I was:
a member of the Managidg Committee of the unioh and subsequ-
ently Became (its) Vice-President. Therefore,. I had to go to the
thé mills ete., in drder {o settle thé complaints of the workers and
to remove any difficulties arid sufterings. Therefore, I used to take
moriey for gharry hire etc,, and used to give receipts for being
plated belore tne Commiittee. From these the account was written
as to how much mioriey had been taken either by myself, or by others
and how much had been spent. It (the account) includes my name,
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Po44 is a paper which has (written)’on- it the names of the
members of the Managing Committee of the G. K. Union. Thesein-
clude my name also, How can I say from the paper, who wrote it and
why? If that paper is seen, it has on it only the names of the persons
- of the Managing Committee, there is no point, no. subject in it.. So I
cannot say more about such a paper. This paper is-not in my hand-
writing. Perhaps the names of the members-of the- Managing
Committees might have been written iu order to. recognize them.

P 958 is the minuate=book of the. G. K. Union. ‘I have said
above that I was formerly a member of the Managing  Committee
of this Union and after Mr. Jhabwala had resigned his Vice Presi-
dentship, the- workers: appointed me in_his place. I was Vice-
President since that time till my arrest-.ﬁ), I had to attend the
meetings of this Committee and it is natural that my nume should -
be mentioned in it. 1 also used to bring before that- committee
resolutions of interest to the workers. Because, it was a Union
purely of us workers and I considered it to.be my duty to work in
this union as 1 was a worker. In the Managing: Committee of ‘the
G. K. Unijon, there were upto eighty worker members- like myself.

. There was a mill committee in every mill. There were many such
men of all the mill-committees: It: was through thé workers that
the whole work of the union was being carried on. All explanation
about this has been-givén by Mr. Alwe. Therefore, I too do
not like to say more in this matter. But I, however, bave to
say (something) about these four ok five outsiders.  If these have
made some secret plot behind (the backs) of us workers and of the
Managing Committee or have tampered behind our (backs) with the
work of the union, taking. advantage of our ignorance, or have
made some secret plot, only God knows it. We are not responsible
for it, they themselves are responsible. The only thing to be said
about the work of this union js that this Union was registered -
according to Government rules and was a respectable institution
working for the economic condition of us workers, and #it§ work
and rules are seen by you, you will understand that it wds not an
illegal institution. Now P 966 and P 67 are handbills published
on behalf of the G. K. Union, But I find my name on them.
The Secretary of the Union used to issue handbills. I saw the
handbills after they had been issued, when they contained such big,
‘big words as- *Lal Fauja’ (Red armies) etlc etc. What the object
of the secretary was in using such bfy=dwords) and dignified
lauguage can be said only by him. Nowf if the owners did not
stop the system of three looms and two sides, the workers should
resort to Satyagraha in order to stop the oppressive system and
should get it stopped. What power is there in our hands by which
we can stop- the system of three looms and two sides? That
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(power) is Satyagraha, boycotts While explaining my speeches,
I have toldabout Satyagr!ha and)aoycott. The words used in the
handbill about five hundred or five thousand red army (refer to)
the Volunteer Corps of the Union. We called it ‘Volunteer Corps’
but only God knows what was the object of the Secrelary in using
the words ‘Red Army’. We used to call it Volunteer Corps
alone. Volunteers were required to offer peaceful Satyagraha and
Volunteers are required to collect Union  subscription in the miils.
Besides this, volunteers were necessary to maintainorder in

_meetings. Sucha Volunteer Corps had not been raised only at
that time, but was in existence since the foundation of the
G. K. Mahamandak

Sd. K. S. A. Sd. R. L. Yorke
: .
14-9-3t
Kasle (Continued}

The Managing Committee of the G.K.Union had reprimand-
ed the Secretary for using words like “Red Army.” Mr. Alwe
has given a detailed explanation as regards this handbill.

" Efforts made by these persons to get me out of the Union.

I have to tell here briefly about the effort made by these
(persons) to get me out of the union. After I became the Vice-
president of the union, I could notpu]l on with these (persons), so
Mr. Dange was making a conspiracy against me in order to get me
out of the union. If you bave to see this, vide the minute book of
their party P. 1344, page 109, meeting of 3. 2. 29.

The reporters have made an attempt to show in their report
that in my speech P. 1727, I have called Mr. Nimbkar ‘Guru’.
"Bat that is entirely false, for, it was not at all possible for the rela-
tion of disciple and Guru to come into existence between Mr.
Nimbk®¥%nd myself. If there was any relation between Mr.
Nimbkar fd myself, it was that of plaintiff and defendant. Not that
1 am saying this here but y.ou‘ will realise it if you see how, before
my arrest, there were clashes, every hodr, every day, every time, .
between the Nimbkar clique and myself. Vide D. 433,
Majoor-Bandhu dated 3. 3. 29, heading ‘Nimbkar versus Kasle*
columos I & 2, page 1, D. 435 (3). I am showing only this one ins-
tance {lit. point) here,;7had I been on hail ‘I would have got an
opportunity of showing how there were clashes between myself
and the Nimbkar ¢lique. Had I got facilities to get papers regard<
ing the dispute hetween me and these (persons), I would have
shown with proof that they were opposed to me and I was opposed -
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to them. I have not got here the proofs for that, so I have to rest
satisfied with this small proof. Similarly you will be ableto see
how in their paper the Krantii, they were making false statements
about me. Kranti 10. 3. 29, heading ‘Mr. Kasle’s Threaty (D 722).
Several of their efforts against me through tae paper Kranti can be
shown, but I am helpless because of illness. I will give them in
writing afterwards in (my) written statement.

I will tell briefly about the documents which have been
put in as my speeches. I am myself a worker. During the strike
of 1928, I had been reduced to a condition of penury. FPersons
at home were starving, The workers had madz a strike in order
to ward off the attack made by the owners on their wages.
Besides that, the oppressive system of three looms and two
‘'sides was also to be stopped. The police had no connection
whatsoever with the strike made by us for our bellies. But the
police used to harass the workers any way they liked, used to
beat the workers soundly, used to arrest the volunteers . and beat
them in the Chawki { police station) as much as they liked.
After seeing all these pranks of the police, I might have protested
" against their action, but I have never used such vielent language
as- that they should be beaten or driven away. If my speeches
are read, the sentence above, ( will be found ) not to be connect-
ed with the sentence below. Bombastic words have been
introduced in them. From all this, I think that the reporters have
interpreled my thoughts any way they liked. From the fact
that Rai Saheb Trivedi P. W 254 said that I had’gone to Calcutta,
even though I had not gone there, you will realise kow (false)
reports: are ( unscrupulously ) made. I have never used the word
¢ communism’ in my speeches. The reporter has stated in his
report that I have in my speeches said that we wanted the workers’
Raj. I haveto give some explanation about that. My definition
of ‘ workers' Raj' is different than that of others. As the
workers are uneducated, they are deceived by the bgnig, the
marwadi and other savkars ( money-lenders ). Similarchials .
practise deception in the matter of wages, they also practise
oppression and highhandedness. ‘Workers’ Raj’ means education
for workers' children good rcoms for workers to live,
(and) sufficient clothing. @ When this is got the workers
get pleased. This is what is (meantby) their Raj. Right
of citizenship for the workers. Places for the workers
in the Councils and in the Assembly (are required). My speeches
always aimed at the benefit and refrom of the worker. At present
the workers in England are carrying on the Raj, while the
workers in India cannot calculate accounts. From which (it will
be seen) that the workers® Ra}',means their education their economic
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improvement. We have no objection whether the- question of the
livelihood and economic improvement of the workers is solved
during the ministry of Ramsay MacDonald, of Baldwin or of Mahatma
Gandhi. The speeches I made were not made with the object
of subverting the Emperor’s Raj or of spreading sedition. Nor
( did I make the speeches ) because I had to maintain ( my)
¢ Leadership’ by bringing about a strike, or had to maintain
myself on the money of another country. Nor had I to parade
my greatness in the name of the workers. *I had not to take
advantage of the ignorance of the workers by making a secret
plot. I myself am ignorant. 1 took partin this strike and made
speeches solely in order that the oppression to which the workers
were being subjected should be removed. I am nota communist
nor do I” understand what communismis. I am a worker. It
was solely in order to solve the question of livelihood that I was
working for ten to twelve hours in a mill. 1 could not, owing
to illness, state the points which I wanted to state systematically.
AsIam illmy head in not steady (and ) in that condition I
.might have omitted something and stated something unnecessarily
(Lit. lessor more ). Just as I-begin to think of a point it
disappears owing to the agony of my illness and the thought
- about that point is interrupted. In such circumstances Iam
somehow completing my statement as desired by the court. You
are seeing my condition, I shall give in writing any points missed
by me and those points which reqiure to be systematically stated,
after my condition improves. :

Now, I am entirely innocent of this terrible charge under
section 121 A that has been brought against me. If you see my
thoughts, as described by me, and my work, (you will realise that )I
have worked according to Trade Union methods in order to get by
legal methods out of the economic condition. My object and efforts
were solely for solving the question of the livelihood of the workers.
From this what I have said, T am entirely innocent of the charge
broughf,agginst me of having conspired to subvert the Raj of the
Emperor. , Therefore, the Court should discharge me. I had no
connection with the outsiders in this eonspiracy, nor had I corres-
‘ponded with anybody, nor had I made any. secret plot with any one.
Leaving sside five or six persons from Bombay, I did not even know
before this, any one else in the conepiracy. Ihave already said why
I got acquainted with these five or six persons from Bambay. If
Mr. Alwe had not given an assurance adout them they would not
have got an entrance at least into our millworkers’ movement.
Beecause it was a rule of the G. K. Mahamandal, that no outsider
should be taken into the union. But Mr. Alwe brought these
(persons) in and said that they were well-educated perscns, patriots
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and cogressmen. And that is true also, Because up till. now they
. were congress members.. But after coming here I see everything
contrary to (wha.t I thought) Some ‘one says he is a Communist,
some one ‘MarxiXm’ some one ‘Germanism’ and some one ‘Fascism’,
‘When they.were arrested and we came to Meernt, most were devo-
tees of KHADDAR. The late Pandit Motilal Nehru, ( Pandit g
Jawaharlal, (Mrs) Sa.ro]xm Naidu, Mahatms Gandhi eto. bad come
here to see these (persons), and (they) gave help, for defance acgording
to their ability, but I see now at the time of the statements that
everythisg is contrary to ( what it was ) and every one 'is beidg
abused
. oo hat Ag
I am not connected with any illegal institution. , Up $ill now
I spent thedays of my life in solving the question of livelihood,
working for twelve to fourteen hours in g mill gnd uged somehow to
pass fhe days of my life in & half-starved oondlbxon eating the dry
bread that I -oould get. But when these five or six persons of
Bombay joined ;t,.h? 1@}}59, {there came in) somewhere secret conse
pira.cy, somewhere Leninism, somewhere Communism, somewhere
Marsanism, somewhere Fasinism®, I had no con-
* Apparently nection with such secret plots of these ( persons ).
Marxzism and Only this much is true.- By coming into the sfrike
Fascism. ‘of us workers these persons did, on the eontrary,
only one thing. - The securing of all the demands
remained aside bub a poor worker like myself had to come to ‘the
Meerut Jail and to suffer* for two and a half years.
#The literal  From all this my account, it will be easily seen by
meaning of the you who I was and what thoughts I might havé had.
word used in , No expert PANDIT is required to understand thaf.
the original is,
to make a .
Forceful sound,
as at stool ete. o

For these two years you are closely examining this case,, s0
you must have realised how far.I Bad a conpection with the- - copgy:
plra,cy These my-Bombay friends peisecuted me not enly *outside,
the did not hesitate tio persecute me even in jail. "I finish my
statement with the humble request that none of my worker-brothers
should let themselves be influenced by such persons.

If the Judge Sa,hebmnjlgegrg} oase_thinutgly, \it canBe
eaily seen how I got inyolved in the ‘Tnatter of the consplra,cy bod I
finish my statement with the prayer that God should lead him to

consider. mmut.ely R

-~

( 1017) | .



Q. Do you intend to eall witnesses?

A. The Court can decide justice or m]ustlce. without the
help of witnesses, N Concluded) X
8d. K. 8. A 8d. R. L. Yorke
15941 o
EKASLE (Continued).

.

Q. Your statement has now been read out to- you 4nd has

been corrected as desired by you. - Are you now satisfied that it is
correct? * . *

A, Yes. ’
86 K. S A .
16-9-31 8d. R. L. Yorke
8d. Govind Ramchandra Kasle,

‘e

Sa.mswats Machine Pnntmg Press,"Meorut, U P, (Inéh&)
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Certified that the sbove is a full & true account of accused's statement taken
. in my presence & hearing & subsequently read over to accused & corrected asrequested
by him & finally admitted by him to be correct.
(84.) R. L, YORKE.
16-9-31.



" In the ‘Court of R. L. _Yoike Esq: Addl:-Sessions Judge Meerut.”

~ In the case, of ‘King. Emperor 'Vs. P, Spratt and- others
Examination of Kishori Lal Ghosh accused-undef ssotion 342 of the
Code of - Criminal Procedure,” 1898, * made before me R. L. Yorke-
1.C, S Addr Sessxons Judgs at Meerut on the 10th day of June 1931.

. My name is. KJBhOl'I. La.l Ghoeh, my ‘father’s name is
Nanda Fial Ghosh; T ani by caste Ka.ya,sth I do not believe in cakbe;
36 years of age; by écoupation Journalist and Ia,wyer my home is ab
Calcutta, Police-Staion ‘Shiath’ Pokhra, dxstncb Ca.lcuhha., I resxde ati
1 Kanta:pukur‘Laue Caloutta, ~ S .

Q. You heard. yeur sha.hement ﬁo the Lawar Courh P 2599
- read out on'16. 3 31. ¢ Is that statement correct ?

A. Yes; w1th one exeepﬁlon In explaining my Manifesto

* to Jamshedpur workers I ha.d said that “certain words and phrases.’

bore some resemblance to those one frequently comes acrose il

Inprecorr, in the same way a8 I resemble in some of my habits the

-“members of the Third Int’erna.blona.l who I presume take boiled eggs

with their tearsnd toasb . The lea.rned Maglshmhe failed to .record

. -the- las}, pa.rk of J;he. se,p'aence -&ltogeﬂier and though the leayned *

Junior Public. Prosecuhor.in. i sun)mmé up%sa.ld, ~“Mr. GthosE said

: ,somel:hmg about eggs and the Third International,” the Magistrate

- wrote in his Commll:tal Order *Kishori Lal Ghosh a.dmlhs thaf the

language of the Manifesto was inspired by mpreaorr I may

mention - here that . it could nof “have oceurred to me at all.to refer

" to.the Inprecorr in eonnection -with my explanation of P 36 if the
Prosecutnon had not suggested l;hah some of the words and phrases
often "gsed in Knoglish language wete the monopolies -of the :

. ACommumsts and whea used by a.ny of the accased in the dock ush
be- ta,ken to’ bear 4 very ‘sinister mea.mng. That this suggestion of,
the Prosecutlou ‘hag’ been a.ceepted by .the learned Magistrate is-
a,ppa.rent throughout the’ Commfbb&l Order and nowhaere so glaringly
conspicyous as where he dealt w1b‘h my case individually.

Q- :The following documenhs relate to what may be ea.lled

N yout Europea.n connechomeo far us they have any apparent bea.rmg
in this case: P 30, 167, 158, 72 (1), 79, 526 (29); #6;42008P; -2419P=
2255P, 2429, 2430 series, 15186, 1517, 1518, 1519, 2431 ‘series, 1530,

" 1531, 2116: P2001 & 2002, P2189 and Pi%6 (13). Have you anythmg
o sa.y about f.lus evidence {

A. The learned Ma.glstrate has found that M%s “an affiliat-
ed member of the L. R. D. late in 1928 and 2 ably had beens .
earlier'” and bhat I wag “working in a tearh with fmge and Spratt
under 1&." 'As ia.r 88 I could ses, though the Magistrate does ‘not .
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mention it, P 2255P is his basis for holding that I was an affiliated
member while his inference of my team work with Dange and
Spratt has been drawn.from P 2419 ‘out of whigh he quotes an
extract. Let me at.the very outset say that I was never.an affiliat-
ed member of the L. R, D.:nor was thereever any guestion of
working in a team with. Dange .and, Spratt... As a matter of fact
1 did not know at all that Dainge had anything to do with it
(L. R.D.). ‘I-met Dapge in February 1928 at Delhi where I had
;gone in connection with the Executive Council meeting of the 'A. I.
T. U, C. but he-did no¥ tell ine anything about it. -Nor did Spratt
inform me later on in Calcutta when I discussed with him my ideas
about a Burea.u which should pnma.nly concern itself in the investi-
~ gation of problems ansmg out - of thg relations betweeq La.bout and
-Capital.

P tao

The facts briefly stated are these: as the Secretary of the
Press Employees Association, Vice President of the Ka.nkmara
‘Labour Union and Secretary of the B, T. U. F. I had
on many occasions - to - meet’ and - disouss with the
‘management of the  various:  industries. terms  of
settlement’ for the calling off ‘of strikes, -Ox these occasions | 1
-used - b0’ meot: smiling and very- courteous; ‘gentlemen who profe-
" ssed’ great’ _sympathy. “for‘ workers and 'thh a -~ candour which’
disarmed criticism  would -express theu' 1pa.b111ty to give a.ny relief
to- them because, they would say, in thig sge of hard competition
it would harm, if not be sumicidal to, the mdustnes concerned.
. With & rapidity that was bewildering some of them would snatch
.a piece of paper and scribble’ out figures to show that the limit
had been reached and that whatever they did or were going to do
was the only thing to do under the circumstances—be it & reduc-
tion of wages, of Khoraki,or reductions of hands, It was useless
- to point ou$ to them the .past profits or ‘dividends paid by those
concerns even when sﬁpported by the latest figures as published
in the Press. - *Oh!-those were good old days”, they would gene-
rally exclaim, “‘but the Industry is passing through a crisis and we
who have got to face the musie only know what we ara in for.”

There was also anothér reason. The w0rkers havmg pra~
etically no representatives in the-Leglsla.buta, mperpellatmns hayé
got to be made through gentlemen who, whatever may be, their
other qualifications, could. not be expected to be very well Jposted
with regard to the needs and grievances, of the workers in
particular industries. The official answers to interpellations are
generally . so studiously vague that: they are- almost. uselesa unless-
followed by sesrching supplementary questions which from : their
very bpature require a thorough koowledge pof the subject ‘on - the
part of those who put thesa. questions. - I :need not dilate on - the
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obvioys’ usefulness of well conducted investigation: with a view to
educate the public in general as to the oclaims of Labour to a
just proportion of what it produces~=whatever may be the
controversy regarding the exaot proportion. to which, Labour and
Capital are respecf.wely entitled even, abt the present state of
:soclety based as it is ‘on idividualism.

In other words I wanted a hureau for the study of economies
with a view to analyse the working of every industry, the productive
capacity of the worker, the market value of what he procduces,
the cost of what he produces and the proportion his wages bear
to the cost and the ‘market value of the product. I wanted a
bureau for a comparative study of the producitve cspacity of the
workers of different couptries, -the cost of living in those coun-
tries and the standsrd of living as well as the wages paid. It was
inevitable that I should fee! the'need for such a bureau particu-
larly because the Government- is apathetic in this respect and the
powerful employers’ organisativns formed to safeguard their
interests caunot be expected to ¢ollect and publish facts and figures
whigh would certainly not improve the case they always seek to
make out against ‘the- workers in turning down their demands.
If workers’ representgtives have to meet~ the. employers on_ the
pla}g of argument they must be thoroughly equipped for the job.
If tha pressure of public opinion ‘is to be. enlisted in favour of the

workers . in their endeavours for the betterment of their economic
conditions . the public should not be allowed to .look at only one
side name’y the employers’ side of the shield.” The public should
also have the “opportunity to look at the other namely the workers’
side of the shield.

When Spr@.tb visited Caleutta in.March 1928 in connection
with the Trade Union Inquiry I broached the subject to him
in one of our very first meetings. As a matter of fact I considered
Spratt to be the fittest man available to help me in this
matter as he was.- connected with the L. R.D., which fact wWas
known to me as early as the middle of 1927 when Mr N. M. Joshi
had sent me a printed appeal similar to P 230. The very name of
this Lody, (the L.R. D) ‘though I knew nothing about it at the time,
was enough to encourage fhe in the idea that Spratt’s experience and
knowledge about the working of this body would be of help to me in
starting the bureau for the objects I had in view. Itold him my
ides and asked him whether he would read a paper on the subject in
a public meeting that I intended to call under the auspices of the
B.T.U.F. He said he would write something abous it for me but did
‘not take very kindly to the idea of readibg it in a public meeting.
_On my next meesing with him I asked him what he had done about
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it. He said he had not been able to do much about it but that he in-
tended to give it to me by a certain date. I reminded him again (P56
{20) ). But he acutally gave it to me or rather sent it to me through
the post in about June from Ondal (I am not sure about the month).
I am sorry [ could not find it amongst articles rocovered from my
gearch, otherwise I would have produced it before the Court. As
far as I can remember the paper sent to me was very similar to the
one which has'been recovered from the European Asylum Lane and
bas been put im by Spratt as D+92.

My next step in the matter was to write to the L. R. D.
requesting that some of the reports with a eopy of the rules ete:
may be sent to me, - Four issues of the periodical calléd * Monthly
Circular” published by it were sent along with some booklets, while
no rules and constitutions of the body nor its annual reports were
sent. I was informed in a letter that the minimum affiliation fee
was £1 per year and that both persons and orgamsanons can be
affiliated. I wrote another letter bhgtmg it for the literature received
but repeating my requests for rules and constitutions and aunnual
‘report. This was about August or September. There_the matter
ended as I had my hands full with Bauria strike'and[‘c?)ndueh of
several casesarising out of it besides my other activities. It was here
that I learnt for the first time about P 2255P which on the very face
of it seems o be a Bill and not & receipt made out in the name of
the B.T.U.F. Beyond the Inqulry about affiliation and‘za.%tual*
working of the organisation as stated before there was, as-faras I
remember, nothing in my letter which could warrant thdgending of & .
Bill. This is,as far as I gather, an instance of a lamdable _attempt
to extend the elientele of the organisation. Perhaps it did not occur
to the sender of the Bill that the organisation sought to be affiliated
must first of all apply for the same, acquainting itself" with the rules
and constitution of tlie body to ba- affiliated with. The Secretary
of no organisabion can affiliate it to another organisation without
the full and formal concurrence of its Exacutive, if not of the whole
body of its members. I consider it necessary to add that in my
correspondence with the IyR.D. I used the B. T. U. F. note-paper
which is to be found amongst exhibits. | may also add that after
Spratt gave to me the paper or prospeetus referred’ to above I had
no talk with him on the matter, In thisqconnection I cannot help
remarking that it seems to me rather unwsual that the bill should
be sent without any covering letter, particularly in view of the
circumstance that it was being sent to an organisation which had
not formally applied nor had expressed its desire to be so affiliated,
beyond what can be inferred trom the inquiries the mature of which
has been stated above. But perhapsIam doing the L. R. D. an
ypjustice. It might have sent a covering lctter, on the ultimate
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fate of which as of the original bill perhaps the Police- more than
unybody-e}s&c&n throw some light,

Before I leave the subject I must say that I had no idea
about the character, constitution and personnel of this organisation.
1Its name ag I have said before 50 obviously indicates its” functions
that I believed it to be a mon-party organisation of the sharacter
I wanted to see up, devoted b re-search work in the interest of the
working class. It is necessary to point out in this connection that
an Epglish Journalist of the knowledge, experience and eminence
of Mr. Wilson was no less surprised in his editorial chair at the
Pioneer officey 4hen I was in the dock when the late Mr.
Langford James included in the list of the organisations supposed
to have conspired -against - His Majesty the name of this body.
M:. Wilson wrote & short leaderctte in the Pioneer dated the 5th
August 1929 which .got him into trouble, of which I quote the
following relevant extracts :—* It is rather surprising to find the
L. E. D. among the list of organisatiors~outside British India
with which it is alleged that the accused in the Meernt ponspiracy
"Case ‘have conspired. 1t is to.be sincerely hoped that the Crown

~Prosecutoy is not involving in his sllegation the L.R.D. which
is attached .to the Labour Party’s chief or'ga.ni,ea.tion in London.
If he is, we are afraid we must point out—and we hope that in
so doing we are in no way-prejudicing his case— that he is casting
-aspersions upon one of thi@ most respectable and perhaps the
dullest section of the Labour Party. The L. R. D. fulfils for the
Labour Party similar functions to those discharged by the Research
Department attached to the Conservative Central Office. It
gathers and-supplies ammunitionf of facts and figures for the wuse
of the candidates and for the propaganda of the party and no one
has ever yet suggested-that it has while discharging these duties
_brought itself within the law of conspiracy. Its staff has consisted
of learned hard working economists who believe in Socialism, which
is net yet an indictable offence. Two of its most distinguished
members have been Mr.'G. D. H. Cole, formerly a fellow Magdlem
College, Oxford and now a fellow of the University College and
University reader in economios, and Mr. Morris Dobb'who ‘is now
University Lecturer in economics and folitics at Cambridge. The
Secretary of the -department has -been Mr. Arthur Greenwood,
now minister of health, who was assisted by Mr. W. W. Henderson"
M. P. for Enfield and the son of the foreign Secretary. It is quite
likely that they -may have something to say later about the in-
clusion of the L. R D. in a list side by side with the Third Inter-
national and the Young Commaunist League.”

‘Inarguidg the cb;itempb ¢ase againsy Mr. Wilson ‘in "which
this léaderete formed part of the subject matter, the late Mr.
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Langford James did not challenge the facts stated there. But
even if he had, it would not have affected my contmtion which
is this that an Englishman and a journalist having considerable
knowledge of the public bodies functioning in England had an idea
of this body similar to my own, namely that it is exactly what i3
purports to be from its name.

I may further remark that it was not $ill June 1929, about
three months after our arrest, that the British Trade Union
Congress in its annual session at Belfast endorsed after a prolonged
and heated discussion the report of the cowmjttee appointed by
itaelf the previous year to inquire into the dfbrdptive elements in
the Labour Movement—=the report containing an account of
the L. R. D. which thoroughly surprised many of the British Trade
Uhnionists who by no stretch of imagination can be called Com-
munists or said to have, to quote the words of the learned Magistrate
“ leanings towards Moscow *. I have already shown in my cross-
examination of Mr. ' Brhilsford and propose to show farther that
many of the biggest Trade Unions, conducted on the most orthodox
lines with such office bearers as Mr. Purcell and Mr. Henderson
or Mr. Thomas, were affiliated up to 1928 if not to the present day
with this body. Inthe course of the debate on the report referred
to above Mr. Citrine the General Secretary of the British Trade
Union Congress supporting the adoption of the report said * We
there (in the report) say the foregoing™facts want rather drawing
the attention of affiliated Unions to the activities of this organisa-
tion. No-where in this report do we condemn the L, R.D. as a
Communist organisation. No-where in this report do we denounced
those Trade Unionists who have been connected with the L. R. D.
All that we say in fact is' *There are certain Communist connections
in our opinion here. You affiliated unionsyexamine the subject for
yourselves and satisfy yourselves that everything is above board’.
That is what we say and I suggest to you we have grounds for
saying s0.” So that was the position of the British Trade Union
Congress even as late as June 1929 after this case had begun.

MY RELATIONS WITH SUMENDRA NATH TAGORE.

The learned Magistrate finds my correspondence with
‘Soumyeundra Nath Tagore * suspicious™: Tagore went to Berlin,
he says, “as a professed Communist—he was on the Executive
of the old C. P. 1.—and there joinéd forces with the Berlin group
such as Nambiar (P 2008). He corresponded with Kishori Lal
on such subjects as affiliation of the Trade Union Congress to the
Internationals; he informed him that be had eent money to
Muzaffar Ahmad and Dange to subsidise labour papers, and
offered to get some money for him for the same purpose, the
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exposure of the exploitation of the masses and the' repression
practised by the Government (P. 76). The very fact that Tagore
had to give an accomodation address P. 73 (1) care of Miss Agnes
Smedley should have seemed remarkable”, and to complete the
catalogue of my crimes I happened to have corresponded with Miss
Agnes Smedley in conneotion with the press service between
India and Berlin (P.72and 79) and so the learned Magistrate
comes to the conclusion satisfactory to himself that I had connec-
tions with the continental group. . ‘

Now before I explain my connection with Tagore and Miss
Smedley and the circumstances that led to the correspondence
referred to I should like to say a word or two about “the Continental
group™. As far as I can gather from the evidence tendered by the
Prosecution it seems both the Prosscution and consequently the
Magistrate have a rather vague idea about what they call the Con-
tinental group and the evidence.is equally vague.. Whdt is this
Continental group with which I have been alleged to have “connec-
tions” ? who are its members and what was the object for which
thia group was formed ? I went carefully through the opening
address of the late Mr. Langford James; the closing address of the
learned junior Public Prosecutor of which I myself took ¢ opious notes,
and the Committal Order of the learned Magistrate, But I found
confusion, cpntradiction and vagueness surrounding all their re-
ferences to it. The late Mr. Langford James studiously avoided the
use of the expression, whereas the learned junior Public Psosecutor,
less cautious, was definite that the Coptinentakgroup consisted of
M, N. Roy,and Sipassi alias Mohammad Ali. Besides using.the
term in conneetion with my case the learned Magistrate used
the term in pages 118, 179 and 198 of the Committal Order. In
referring to Adhikari and Hutchinson he mentions the-Berlin group
of M.N. Boy and Nambiar on paget118. On page 197 he refers to
Adhikari being in close touch with M.N. Roy and the Continental
group. No-where has the Prosecutfon made any mention of Tagore -
and Miss Smedley belonging to the Berlin or Continental group,
powhere except when dealing my case has the learned Magistrate
eonnected these two with the said nebulous group. The evidence
tendered by the Prosecution on the other hand shows that - Tagore
bad very little to do with it; The very exhibit namely (P 2008P)
which the Magistrate relies upon for his inferenee that Tagore
“gombined forces with the Berlin group such as Nambiar” siproves
the very contrary, because of the contemptuous way in which Tagore.
refors to “a Madrasi named Nambiar” while finding fault with me,
for doing nothing in regard to the arrangements between Miss‘
Smedley and Free Press about the press service and seems to. be 2
little bit angry that that Madrasi should have come to a similar.
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rrangement withi the Fres Press.” Put lf‘Tago're mentioned Nar+
‘biar with & touch of indifference and"-tonterapt he himself is
‘mentioned in the famous P 877, otherwise knoWn 48 $he Assembly
Liotter, in » way which, if the Lutter itself is' genuine =s the
Prosecution codténds it is, _suggests’ thut Tagord far from
belong’mg to the Group of which M.N. Roy is alleged by the Pro-
sectition to ha.ve been the shining light and lea.diug gpirit was
Yegarded ‘with' suspicion and Contéempt, Ths whole ﬁa.mgmph has
been devoted to him under the sub-heading *“The repredentative of
the W.P.P.” ending with the suggestion that he should be expelled -
from the Central Committee of the C,P. if not f¥fom the party itself.
Bo much i%Tagore & connection' with that vagué entity called .
sometimes/Berlin Gréup and ‘sometimes the Continental Group.
But Mr. Tagore’s misfortuhe is td be misundefstood even by the
party itself whose representasive hé claimed tg be and for which 48
the Magistrate found he collected and tried to eollect money of
swhich fac§aggin he wrote {0 me. Mr. Muzaffar Ahmad takes him
to task for incotfectly giving the name of the Party and on anothér
occasion demands whethet the promised money has any other
existence thin in the imagma.txon of Tagoré,whwh naturally paids
lnm & greaf ‘deal.

Theré is & referdnos in P 2327 ﬁa.ted 2/8/27 in o, !etter by
MM.A® to “Dear friend;” bearing the Paris Post tusrk, to & long
hiired fellow’ who is eallsd ‘idterestig’: I do'not bretend to know
who this ihteresting fellow might be. But if- M:.A. stands; as is
suggested by the Presécution,fé# Mohamrmad Ali aliss Sipassi and
if from the wellknown fach that Thgore had long hair and e
Calcubta for Europe in April it is to bs inferred that he was the
pérsoii referrsd to; the comphment seems t0 be of a doubtful
ehatacter as applied t6 one by another edgaged in a revolutionary
conspuacy,——whatéver may bd 1t8 value jo a lady’s 8 drawing room,

Interesting he was undou‘btedly—'-so much so that very fow
people from what they saw of him in Calcutta would associate him
with revolution, far less with a revolution ledding to the Dictator-
ship of the Proleta.na.t. He belongs to the Tagore family of
Calcutta, and is the grandson of that grand old philosopher-of -
Bengal late Dwijendra Nath Tagore, the elder brothes.of Rabindra
Nath Tagore. 1 knew his father, Mr. Sudhindra Nath Tagore
who was wellknown in Bengal for short stories, his pedestrian
habits, as well as for his simple and unassuming manners, I
knew him long before 1 cime (o know his son, of .whom I heard
for the first time in as faras T remembered about the middle of 1916
in connection with a benefit dramatic performance, The only '
revolutionary trait in his ‘character at the time which, created a
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st i Calcuttd society and caused some controversy in some
‘newspaper was mawfested by dn item in the programme, namely
a'dande by & gird of his family. This was the first time that a
.Bengali Iady danced in- public. "What with this and what with the
name itself which is rather rare I did not forget it when about
‘six month¥ latey Donald! C%;rhpb'e!l introduced him and Muzaffar
Ahmad to mé on thé very first evening he came out from’ J‘axl
on bal. ¥ was infornied by Canipbefl that it was Muzaffar and
Tagove, that with- their joint éfforts securéd his release on bail
-dnd thiat Fagore stood s ond ofhis ‘gurefies. I maty mention in
this éonnection-. that that was the first time I care in contdct with
Muzdffary and his name soundéd unfamiliar to me #ill' he himself
aefreshed my mémory by stating that hie was éne of the ‘four who
-were ‘convicted in- thé Cawnporé Conspiracy Case, bat that he
was tet out before his time because hé had dp‘v@ld)ﬁed Tuabsrclosis.

D/11-6-31.

However bo eonie back to Tdgore, Im that first introduction
F asked him hig relationship with Rabindra Nathk Tagore and he
$0id me hiy fatbior's naine., Further explanation was mecessary and
T told him that I knew hig father. I saw him for the second time
in the Police Court on the da.y when Donald Campbel} was taken
dn g,us,toify to’Bombay and coqseqmmtly Tagore’s sumﬁyshlp was
Aigcharged. I saw hmi"for the third time ab ,the Iu,dxa,n Associas
tqon Es.ll where 1 ,accompam.ed Mr. Saklatwala at his owa request
a8 ,t,he Ja.tbet ,ha.d jush finished his reply fo the addregs given to him
st the Wellington Square by the Bengal Trade Union Federation
and the Pzess Employee 8 Aas,omahon. I knew nothing about this
iuuquen ab the Indlan Aasoma.tmn Hall except what I learnt from
the vague mforma.hwn sn,pphed by-Mrs. Santoshkumari Gupta, ab
.one time the President of the Bengal Jute Workaers' Association,
who also ac¢ompamed Mr. Seklatwalp, namely that it was some
thmg sbout the Gonference of the Peasants and Workers. 1 had
of coiirse read im tha papers some oceasional notices of what I
Qonmderei to be a newly fotmed party, re-organised from fthe
defunch party known a8 the La.bour Swaraj Party, with which I
was mduzeotly aoquainted through Mr. Hementa Kumar Sarcar
who “had been Jinteresting himsglf in the peasants’ problemg since
1923 when he had been an M. L, C. and wasa ‘membefof the
Swam] (patty, ‘whwh l,oqked ppon h1m as & sorb of enfa.nt. tembla
l came to Mr. Sa.rca,r in the conrse of my, dumes a8 a J ouma.hsb
connected th.h the ;E‘oryvargi, the organ of the Swaraj Pa.rhy.
Theie st the Indian Associstion Hall 1 saw for the second or
third time Mr. Muzaffar Ahmed and also Mr. Ta.uore who read
oib the hddress oa bichulf of she Confotence. A fow ‘days after
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Mr. Tagore paid me a call aud we had some talk about the Trade
Union Movement and the unfortunate differenggs that had retarded
progress of the movement, Now that the other party had
practically ceased to exist.after the T. U. C. Execubive mesting
“in December 1926, he hoped that I would strengbhen the organisa-
tion etc:. He modestly hinted that he too was working for
Labour and then for the first timie told me that he was shortly
going to Europe for study. A few days after during my morning
walk I returned his visit out of courtesy and there I was informed
that his date of sailing bad been fixed and that he would study
in (termany, though he intended to travel in England and France
as well. I told him that if he could spare time he might maintain
correspondence with me and write to me about his experience in
these countries particularly with reference to political and TLabour
eonditions in which I was naturally interested both as & Journalist
and as a Trade Unionist. I came away and two or three days
after yeceived a note at home saying that he came to see me bub
could not find ime and invited me to a social gathering of some of
his friends to meet him. I could not attend because of previous
engagement and this I informad him in a letter wishing him a safe
voyage. These are the facts about my rela,tnons with Summendra
Nath Tagore. .

: Not’having the-resources of the C. I, D. I never knew that
he was a professed -Commaunist or thaty was & member of the
Executive Committee of the Communist Party in India. Though
in fairness to myself I must say that even if I did know that
would not have prevented me from having the relations that I had
with hime. On the other hand, those who knew Tagore at the time,
would bear me out that in outward appearance he surprassed even
. an outand out Gandhite. Clad in' the thickest of hand-spun Khaddar
available he used to go about bare-footed. I did never in the cohrse
of our conversations hear anything that would have led me to suppose
that he was in any way different from hundreds of young men,
intensely Nationalistic in outlook, loyal to the Congress,but at the
same time dissabisfied with its lack of any definite polisy and prog-
ramme which by eplisting the sympathy and aupport of the masses
would make it in {f#8t as it was in theory truly a'Nat.iona:l‘ organisa.;
tion. He had very little idea about the pra,cbicaf problems facing the
Trade Uniogn Movement 0r about the econditions of the working
class, He had a clearer knowledge about the needs of the peasantry
which be had greateropportunities of studying becanse the Tagore
family had extensive Zamindari. That is how I saw Tagore before
he left India.

In this connection I may also add that the fact that Muzaffar
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and Tagore were takicg such an interest in Campbell did not strike
me as strange. It was quite natural for the Indians to do the little
that they could for an Englishman who came to India and got into
trouble for associating with the public activities of this country.
The sympathy and support accorded both to Spratt and to Johnstone
by Iodians of all shades of op{nion would bear out what I have said.
It must be mentioned that ibe)fore Campbell was arrested he had
rather prominently been mentioned ia the newspapers for his particis
pation in the Executive Council meehmg of the A.L T.TU.C.in
December 1926.

Now.I come to the .correspondence between me and Tagore.
As far as | remember it was Tagore who first wrote to me and in
reply I enclosed a few copies of the ocircular letter that I had ad-
dressed to the Prass in India on the need of sending a delegation to
China ( D 180 ) requesting him to distribute them, if possible, to the
various newspapers and news agencies and also to help 1ue presure
materials about China which would enable me to draw up a scheme
as requested by a number of Journalists who approved of my idea. It

~ was ab this stage that Miss Smedley eame into the picture. Tagore

wrote to me that his friend Miss Smedley, herself a Journalist, had
peen spoken toon the Subject andshe had kindly undertaken to
supply me with as much information as she could collect She also
wrote to me the same effect. She gave'me im t¥o Tettefs detailed
information about the cost of living in China, laying particular em-
phasis that the Journalists, if they wanted to collect correct and
first hand information, must pickup Chinese, and reassured me that
it was not such a formidable sask as would appear as first sight. Sub-
sequently in the process of time, that is, within a few months from
the date of my circular letter the situation in China settled down
almost to a stalemate and I had to give up the project, the reasons .
for which I had given in D 175 in my opening statement to the
All India PressyConference held on January 1st 1929. But the idea
of setting up a Bureau for the supply of correct information about
what was happerfing outside to the Indian publie, and to supply to
the public outside India through foreign news agencies correct news
about Indin,was not given up by me. I continued o correspoud with
Miss Smedley at Berlin and Mr. quiu Bebhari Seal of the Oriental
News Service in London, My idea was thjs that the Indian Journa-
list’s Association with the help of the Press in India would set up
a News Burean which would supply Iudian news tothe Fureign
Press or news agenoies in exchange for foreign news. This latter
the association would circulate awmongst the papersin India uatil
they realise the importance and value of such service as supplemen-
tary to Reuters. Subsequently when the Bureau would be in working
order it would be handed over to an Indian news agency under certain
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conditions, of which one was that a certain number of young men
recommended by the I. J. A. should be taken by the Bureau on
probation for qualifying them as sub-editors, and that the Editorial’
Board of the Bureau should have an effective representation from
the assoeiation. Au idea of what I had ia mind may be gathered
from the letter I wrote to Miss Smedley in reply to her letter re-
questing me to recommend her to the Free Press in regard to this
project of News Bureau. Of courss I did not, whatever my own seheme
was, like to stand in the way of her direct communication with the
Free Press, and as a matter of fact I did request Mr. Sadanand; the
Managiug Direcbor of the Frea Press, to take her as a correspondent
and I believe he did something for her. Shortly after my return to
Caleutta from Delhi in Fobruary 1928 I wrote to Miss Smedley
about it. I may add here that there are few Journalists in India
who do not know Miss Smedley by reputation or have not read her
articles contributed to the ‘‘People’™ founded by the late Lala
Lajpat Rai of Lahore, the “Forward’* founded by the Iate C. R. Dass,
the “Modern Review” founded and edited by Mr.Ramanand Chaterji
and last but not the least “‘Amrit Bazar Patrika® with which I was
connected up to the day of my arrest, the 20th March, 1929, All
my relations with Miss Smedley were purely in connection with
my activities as a Journalist and Secretary of the Indian Jourpalists
Association, . , , *

. <

To come back to Tagore agair, I notice that except three
none of the letters, which as far as I can remember, can not be more
than half a dozen on either side in total that passed between us,
have been put in by the prosecution. Now, if Tagore had left India
ag such a dangerous character as a professed Communist is in the
eyes of the Police, with whom even to carry on correspondence is
suspicious, it is quite legitimate to suppose tha} the watchful Police
were interesting themselves in the contents thereof. There was such
a thing as a camera as early as 1327 and type-writers pen and ink
were nob very soarce. How is it therefore that manuscript, typed or
photographed copies of all these letters passing bétween us were pob
put in by she Prosecution before the Court to enable it to judge the
exact character of my relations with Mr. Tagore and incidentally
with Miss Agnes Smedley ? I hope the Prosecution in due time
will answer the question., The Intercepting Officer (P. W. 97 )
produced a photographic representation of one letter ¢ P. 2008 P )
and two letters recovered from my possession in the search, ad-
dressed by Tagore to me, were put in and one draft copy of a letter
{ P79 ), some pages of which seemed to have been mixed up with
another draft letter to Miss Smedley, had also been recovered. If
P 79 is compared to D 212 it will be seen what a mess has been
made of the whole thing by thase who were entrusted by the
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Prosecution with sorting out the various documents. Both P79 and
D 212 must hava been of the same date, namely about the Tth
Februsry, because I find an enfry in my diary { P 41 ) on the 9th
February about. a registered letter being sent to Tagore.

To come, to the letters pnl; in against me by the Prosecution.
The learned Magistrate finds it remarkable that Tagore would
give me what ,the Ma.glstrs.be calls an aceomodation address.
The expression from the standpoint of lucidity lea.ves much -to
be- fesired, butif the 'Magistrate had meanti-by it that Tagore
wanted tq deceive the Police I think, as usual, he had drawn
& hasty inference which he would not have drawn if he had ca,rad
to go through a lehte_; from Tagore to Muzaffar Ahmad P. 2026 T
dated tte 17th January 1928, that is a fortnight later than the
letter to me,where Tagore almost in identical language says that
as letters miscarried far too qft;exi they should be directed to him
clo Agnes Smedley. I did not’ find the request remarkble at all.
In the previous letters Tagore told me: emough to indicate that
though ‘his pe:maqenh resxdence was ab Berlin he was used o
copslder it un};gual tha.t he shonld nge me the a.ddtess of a fnend
to direct his letterg o, so that he mlght be sure po geh them
when he came back. In this letter P 79 he askd from me “a nwe
detailed report about Trade Unions ” gontaining ajso “a hlsborlca.l
aspect of ghe . ;noyemenb and aocounba of concrete particular
Trade Unions ** which he-infended to circulate in my name to
the ‘Trade Upjon Confenence whlch was to be. he]d a.b Berlm
about the end of February I sents ko h1m an a.rhlole on the
Trade Umon Movemen$ under a regxstered cover on the 9hh
February. A mentiopn about this article is to be found in P76 in
which Tagore gives his views on the article and impresses on
me the necessity of making known in Germany “in what
terrible form exploitation is goipg on''. He evidently expected
my article to be of a denunciatory oha.raoter rather than a
. presentation, as I sought to give, of facts about the Trade Union
Movement in'its early stage and the problems to .be faced by
those taking part ia it. Snbsequenhly all that I heard about it
was .that it was published in Berlin papers which he promised to
send me ( P 2008 ). Rither Tagore failed to carry out his promise
ot they are now in the archives of the Police. I never had the
gatisfaotion of seeing my artiole in Grerman print._ Here also .1
notice that the prosecution -has failed to produce the'orig»ina.l-
. arhwle :

PT6 already referred to is also a letter from Tagore dated
A2th June 1928 and is ext.ren_xgly mberestlpg _for more tpgp one
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reasony. Here he refers to two letters he wrote to me. Here
again the Prosecution might have helped the Court in throwing
as much light as possible on the character of my connection
with Tagore. However the -reference in this letter to. a Left
Wing paper reminds me that there was some correspondence
going on for sometime about the need of a Liabour paper. ‘Tagore
and I both agreed that there was need of such a paper but that
was the only thing we agreed upon. The difference centred
round the policy of the paper. I was for making it the organ of
the Trade Union Movement in India - if not the actual organ
of the A, I. T. U. C. The paper must be acting in the closest
cooperation with the B. T. U. F. and deal with Labour problems
from a non-partisan standpoint. But Tagore finding that my
views were not in agreement with his began to approach the
question from a different standpoint without letting.me know in
so many words that he did not agree with me. His reference
to_sending money to the Jute Workers® Association at Bhatpara
and the Textile Workers’ Union at Bombay for starting papers
was construed by me at the time, and Iam still of the same
opinion, that he wanted to convey to me the idea that he stood
for several papers to be started for different Industries and those
unions , which would be prepared to cooperate witb, if not to geb
themselves affiliated with the Workers’ and Peasants’ Party
would have the conduct of these papers. I was confirmed in this
impression gathered from the letter further by the fact that the
Bengal Jute Workers’ Association which kept itself more or less
aloof from the Bengal Trade Union Federation had invited the
W. P. P. to hold its annual session at .Bhatpara and the Bengali
Annual Report of that Party spoke in exceedingly flattering terms
about the Union and its membership. That I was not wrong in thus
construing his meaning would appear from P 2027 where Tagore
writes to Mr, Muzaffar Ahmad that he had already written to
Kali Das Babu explaining that his paper was to he published
by the Party.

-‘However much I liked to correspond with Tagore and
discuss with him all sorts of ‘problems in connection with labour,
I bad kept one point in view, as I did ia all my activities, and
it is this thab as the Secretary of the Provincial Committee of
the A. I.T. U C. I should never allow any outside body or
person 6o dicfate to it its policy and programme. I had made
*it cleat in my letters that.in the present stage of the Labour
Movement the need for a central organ in cooperation with the
central body representing the Labour Movement, discussing ‘the
various problems of Labour add organisation, and containing
the news of the Movement at home and abroad is more urgent
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than a sectional organ whici would be of interest only to a
limited - number . of workers, the number being very small in view
of the appalling illiteracy amopget them. So with all his kind
assurance %o help the Press Employees’ .Ass3ciation and bhis,
request to me not to hesitate. to * utilise ” him, I found that
in our various discussions on the Labour-Movement now that
we were beginning to face conorete problems—ouy difieredoe in
outlook was becoming clearer and clearer.

This was further manifested in. the discussion about the
affiliation of the T. U. Movement to outside organisations. In the
meoting of February 1928 of the Executive Committee of the L.U.C.
at Delhi this question was postponed. But I gave my views on
it in a letter to Tagore wherein I said that I stood outagainst the
affiliation of the T. U. C. either with the ‘Amsterdam or the
Moscow International. I do not remember exactly the reasons
I gave for this attitude but the words I used in this connection hgve
been quoted by Tagore in his reply dated 1st August 1928 P 2008P
namely. that “it is suicidal to tie the Indian Trade Union

. Movement to the tail of the Second or Third Internatianal’”’. As I
shall have to.say something on this in connection with my speeches
in some of which the learned Magistrate has discovered traces of a
leaning fowards Moscow, I do not say anything now except this
that whereas hitherfo Tagore was indulging in vague idealism and
denunciatory language in describing the conditions of the workers
in this country, which must have appeared to him particularly
shocking when he compared their condition With that of the workers
in Europe, as soon as such specific and concrete problems as that
of a Labour organ or the saffiliation of the Trade -Union- Congress
began to be discussed our difference in views came to be accentuated.
If the learned Magistrate had bad the patience to go through care-
fully even the three letters. which the Prosecutign chose to place
before him and cowpare. them with those that passed between
Tagore and Mugaffa.r Ahmad, he would have found that the corres-
pondence with me was rather between two friends who diffgr in their
views and outlooks though both were interesfed “in the Labour
Movement, whereas in the other case it was entxrely different in
tone and character. ‘Tagore goes on discussing with me at length
about the ways and means of starting Labour papers but he
stralghtway sends money to Muzaffar and Dange.. He asks me to
putb him in touch with the different unions a.ffllm.ted to the Federa-
tion go that he might know all about the Movement in the different
Todustries and have synandate from them. But he must know
exactly the policy on which I W&nbed to conduot the paper which
was to act as the central organ before he tried o procure money
from Gegmany. He was perfectly within hjs rights to do so.
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But I have to bring out these obvious facts bzcruse they seem to
have escapsd the learned Magistrate in his Jaborious search for
truth. And yet these facts emerge unmlstakabfy, in epite of all the
bright promise held out of the country being floeded with Labour
papers representing such leading unions as Jute, Textile, Seamen,
Ra.ilwa,ymen, Post and Telegraph and even Press Employzes
“subject to the central organ of the Federation”. The prospect
was dazzling bt the policy must be made clear, 8o that those wbo
would send the money might be satisfied that it was & policy worth
spending money for. This was not necessary in the case of
Muzaffar and Dange for reasons too obvious to be mentioned. The
Jearned Magistrate, who found my use of the terms ‘solidarity’ and -
‘Workers of the World Units’ as significant, did not find anything
unusnal or to quote his own word significant in this insisfent
request for a definition of policy or in Mr. Tagore’s earnest eudea-
vours to prove to me that his remedy to deliver the Indian Labour
Movement from Messrs, Joshi, Chaman Lal, Andrews and others
whdm he elegantly described as “toadies to Reformist Capitalists®
was the best one, his heart-felt desire that I should accomplish the
hard task of keeping the Movement in the fighting line, and his
efforts to get over my reluctance of foreign control by assuring that
the donors did not intend to contral the Movement—all these did
0ot strike the Magistrate as significant or indicate the character of
our connection, namely Tagore trying to convert me to his’views in-
heart to heart discussion conducted betweed two friends having
* mputual esteem but difterent in their outlook on matters of common
interest, that is the Liabour Movement in India.

D/- 12. 6. 31.

By Court:— - The accused requests the Court at this stage to
add to the question the references showing connection with J. W,
“Johnstone of the League against Imperialisin and Donald Campbell,
I therefore add to the -question the references, which are :— P 84,

526 (7), 576 (9), 217, 2224, 26, 41 to 47, 80, 81,1999, 71, 50 1354 (3)
and 38.

A. My connection with Harry Pollit and William Paul:—*Ip -
addition to this’ ( that is, team work with Dange and Spratt under
the L. R. D. ), observes the learned Magistrate, ** Kishori Lal was
in correspondence.with Harry Pollit of the National Minority Move-
mens and quite clearly approved of the ‘Worker and SandayWorker'.
The Magistrate only refers to P 30 which is a draft letter to Mr.
Harry Pollig recovered ip search from my house. But he also might
have referred to two other exhibits in this connecbxon, namely P 167
which is dated 3rd Augusb 1927 and is & message of good will and
best wishes conveyed by the National Minority Movement through

(1034)



its Secretary to the All India Press Employees' Conference, and
P 168 which is dated 5th August 1927, also a letter of the same
character addressed by Mr. William Panl, editor, Sunday Worker, to
me as the Hony: Secreta.ry of the all India Press Employeces’ Coufer-
ence. Before I proceed to explain the character of the correspondence
with Mr. Harry Pollit I should first invite your attention to the
opening sentence in the draft letter "which is to the efiget that a
letter of Mr. Harry Pollit dated 17th June was received by me on the
11th July. From the internal evidence it seems that thedetter must
have been drafted and sent somewhere in the middle of July 1927.
In view of the disclosures made by the numerous C. I. D. officers
in this Court about the interception of letters coupled with the
delagreferred to in the receipt of the letter under reply, it is legiti-
mate to conclude that the letter must have passed through the hsnds.
of the ever watchful Police. Bu$ that letter has not been produced
by the Prosecution. If it were produced it would have been found
to be a reply to my letter which I first wrote to Mr. Pollit in about
May, simultaneously with those I wrote to various other organisa-

¢ tions including tBe British Trade Union Congress and the Secre-

* tariat of the lnternational Federation of Trade Unions, as would be

% gvident from"the reply of the latter body in D 236. I just incidentally
meation this because, if my first letter to Mr. Harry Pollit and his
reply to it were produced by the Prosecution, thé character of my_
c‘orrespondence would have been even clearer than it is, and would”
have “clearly proved” the reverse of-what the learned .Ma.ﬂlstratg
iofers from the draft found in my possession. -

1 shall here state briefly the circumstances which led to the
correspondence. The B. T. U. F. was rent asunder by serious dis-
putes in the  early part of 1926, as referred to in my statement in
the Lower Cuurb in connection with Donald Campbell, which conti-
nued practically® throughout the year. At the Executive Council
meeting of the A. I. T. U, C. held in December at Calcutta the
party which started the quarrel was defeated and the beginning of
the year 1927 found the Federation setiling down quietly to the
task of conselidation gnd re-organisation. A sound pohcy which
would bring to this body the support of the maximum nuwmber of
Trade Univns and Trade Unionists was necessary. It was necessary
that I, its Secretary, sbould bave - a thorough knowledge of the
workings of the well-established Unions abroad, particularly of Eng-
land—and the policy on which they worked, how Federations are

" formed, their constitution, rules etc:. Mr, N. M. Joshi the General
Secretary of the A. I. T. U. C. helped me as far as it was possible in
the matter by lending. me from the Head Office at Bombay some
liber?.t.ure .on these matters. But I wanted more. I wrote to

v
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Mr.Citrin, to Mr.Harry Pollit as well as %o the International Federa-
tion of Trade Unions at Amsterdam with which I was already in
communication as Secretary of the Press Employees’ Association
and which used to send the association regularly its News Bulleting,
a large number of which was recovered from the search of both no:
1 Kantapukur Lane & 34 Bow Bazar Street. But while writing to
them, I realised at the same time that all or even much of the litéra-
ture that way be available from these bodies cannot be supplied
without being paid for and the B. T. U.F. certainly was not able to
afford the money. Being a Journalist naturally I hit upon the plan
of supplying Labour news or contributing articles on Labour to the
Labour Press abroad.” Thie plan would not only enable me to give
publicity to the Indian Trade Union Movement abroad bui Wwould
“also enable me to procurd the literature necessary for getting an'idea
of the Movement abroad and the different currents and cross-currents
in it of which I had a very vague idea from the news available in
the British papers I had-to redd in the- course of my Journalistio
duties. It was not the money ‘that I was so much keen about as the
literature indicating the tendencies and the latest developments in
the Trade Union' Movement singe after the War. J did send an '
article as “I hope to send” to Mr.. Harry Pollit deahng with the
fundamental problems a Trade Unionist in Indis has to gmpple
-with. But I heard nothing about ib, nor, as is the usual Journahsko
custom, was any copy of the paper in which it was, if itswas at all,
Jpublished, sent to me. Either the article did not reach its
destination or it was not published. At any rate in view of the
disclosures made in this court about the thorough character of the
system of interception it is fair to infer that either the original
article or a eopy of it was in the hands of the Police, which was
either not supplied to the Prosecytion or the Prosecution did not
for reasons of their own puf it in as an exhibit, 1 make particularly
*pointed reference to this, as the article itself would have given a’
clear indicgtion as to the character of the problems which faced
me as a Trade Unionist. It would further. have shawn with what
outlook I approached these problems. e

The learned Magistrate, as on certain other occasjons in
dealing with my case, is a little hasty in drawing the inferences he
did, namely that I ipproved of the literatare. What I actually
said in thanking Mr. Pollit for sending me three pamphlets was
that “I read all the three, especiplly the last, with great interest
and profit”. Certainly I did read them with interest and profit,
because it enabled me to have an idea of the views entertained
by one.and that the minority section of -the, British Trade Union
Movement, I set out to learn about the different points oi view
in this British Trade Union Movement and I picked up a lot of
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information from thesa pamphlets. The question of approval io
the sense of the acceptance of views did not arise at all, If, as the
. learned Magistrate lays down, one has io read with interest and
profit only those bogks which he approves of the bounds of human
kzowledge would be exceedingly restricted. In the 3rd paragraph
of the letter the position is made absolately “c'ear, leaving no
room for doubt at least to thoze who Wwithout prejudice seek to
find out the truth, I agreed to contribute to the paper on the
Indian Trade Union Movement. I agreed to do so without
payment but ia exchange for the litetature” and periodicals con-
nected with the Minority Movement, which as I have already said
I wanted to study in order to gain a completex knowledge of the
British Trade Union Movemeat as a whole, The same motive
prompted me to carry on correspondence with the 1. F. T. U, as
well, To the LF.T.U. organ I cffered to supply news, whereas to
Mr. Pollit‘ I promised to contribute articles about the Trade
Union Movement in India. - :

In carrying” on- the correspondence 'as I did. with these
. ®rganisations it rever struck me that the condition precedent to the
acceptance of articles in a particular paper, even though it be 2 party
organ, is that the contributor should agree with or even approve
of the views ard policy of that paper. During the whole course
of my Joumahstxc experience from 1920 to 1929 gained ‘from my
close connechon with such leading Nationalist papers as the
.“Servant,” the “Forward” and the *Amrit Bazar Patrika™ I
have never [ound that the chdice and selection of artic'es or
inviting of contributions has been solely or even mg.in]y gizided by
the view expressed by the writer. The Indian Journalists have yet
to learn tha sense of jourualistic fairness which made the London
“Times " refuse to publish a prolest and contr:diction of the
*facts ¥ in Mify_Mayqo’s * Unsubsidised” book called ** Mother
India” while giving theseTakts the widest piblicity or opening its
hospitable columns to the effusions of people like Sir.Michael
O’Dyey and close.its columns to emiuenrt' publicists like Sir Tej
Bahadur Sapru or Munshi Ishwar Saran offering-to remove certain
mis-conceptions and prejudices thal might be created in the minds
- of the British public due to these misstatements and half truths.
Be that as it may, the \;hole thing summed up amounts to this.
I wanted the literature of the Mmorlty Movement as I already
had some of the British Trade Union* Cohgress from Mr. Joshi.
I could not pay. for the. literaturg™ that 1 wanted, so | offered to
give Mr, Pollit some articles on the Trade Union Movement in
exchange for the literature of the Minority Movement. I «do not
koow what became of the first which was also the lask afticle
1 sent; nor do I know whether any further literature was sent to
-
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me.. The Police and the Prosecution could have enlightened the-
court on this poiat if they choose but they did not. However the
correspondence ceased at this point. : o
The last paragraph of this letter suggests clearlyagain. that
here there was no question of approval of the National Minority
Movement views. The character, constitution and the personnel
,of the All India Press Employees’ Conference was not such as to
encourage one, who had according to the Magistrate approved of
the views of the National Minority: Movement, to invite Messrs.
Tom Mann and Harry Pollit to send a-message of good will' and’
sympathy. As a matter of fact any one who approved'of these
views would neither have consented nor would have been elected
to the Secretaryship of the Conference itself. As a matter of fact, '
as I propose ‘to show later on, in the whole course of my condact
as a Trade Unionist I have tried to view the working class move-
ment as a whole, while recognising the existence of different
parties within it, but trying to find outa common platform on
whieh all the parties could work together up to a certain point.
My study of Indian conditiorgas well as the history of the origin
and growth of the Trade Union Movement of Brilaia led me to
consider this to be the soundest policy at the initial stage of the
movement acd guided my activities and policy throughout the
period during which I was the Secretary of the B. T. U. F:

My relations~'with J. W. Johnstone.

I have already stated in the lowericourt the circumstances
under which I became acquaiuted with J. W. Johnstone. The
learned Magistrate however seems to have accepted these explanations.
with some amount of reservation. ¢ Well ”, he says in effect,
“you may have met him in your oﬂici&l“c{.pacity F the Secretary
‘of the B. T. U. F. but it seems you, gob on well with him” and
refers to P 1999P. - The first evidence of my getticg on well
with Johnstone isof course that he could not pick up my correct
name. Ie addressbs me as Gosh whereas the envelope is directed
to Mr. 8. Gosh. The second fact in connection with this letter
is that he requests me “if it is possible and not t6o much
trouble” to trace his personal effects he left at Jharia-
when bhe was rather unceremoniously bundled out of it
by * the "Police and send them to an address at New
York. The third point is that he informs me that he purposely
leaves out all politics so that those Government officials who
might read the letter might let it go through to me. This Jast
observation must have been the result of his bard experience,
begause in the very opening line of the letter be informs me that he-
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wrote three letters to me dealmg with particulars of his case.
He was quite right in inferring thht if the letters had reached
me my replies also would have reached him. But where are those «
three long letters ¥ Why were they not produced before the court?
All these’ points; which suggest themiselves to one on reading
P 1999 P, of course escaped the lo#rned Magistrate.

In thisconnection I should also invite thé attention of the
Court that J. W. Johnstone was introduced to me by letter P84
dated 25th November 1928 from Mr. P. C. Boss of Jharia—the
Becratary of the Colliery Employees Union—who héd gone to Genevs
in 1928 as one of the advisers t6 the Delega.hlon elected by the
A. L. T, U. C. at Cawupore, and attended the (;ommonwea}hh
Labour Conference: held in- London as one- of the representatives-
of the A.-I. T. U. C. Further P-80 which’was acable addressed’
to Johnstone washanded over to me by Johnstone as his” credentials
sometin‘le' after he first came to me. DBesides thesegﬁs‘ another’
point., It was at the Gauhati Session of the Indiah National
Congress  that Pandit Jawahar Lal Nehru wan' elected ‘to represent
the Congress at the Brussels Session of the League, and it was
on his report that the Indian National Congress at its Madras’
Session in 1927 agreed to' become an associate member of the:
League. It will also be noted that Pandit Jawabar Lal Nehru:
was elected at Brussels to be a member of the League Executive:
Moreover if the learned Magistrate had given a cursory glanceat
P. 57, which is an issue gf the Simday Worker ” dated July 8,
1928, he would have found og the very first page and first column
something which would not only bave explained why I- retained
thie- particular issue im- my possessiom but salso' he  would have
found 'some more facts which- would bave thrown some light on
my relations  with J. W. Johnstone as representing the League
against Imperialism, which body got on very well with fhe Indian
National Congress, I quote the relevanb portion of a report-of a*
meeting of the British section of the League from P 57: “...........
fraternal greetings. have been received from §. Iyengar, from the
Indian National Congress ( Mr. Srinivas Iyengar, Ex-Advoocate .
General of Madras and the Ex~President of the Indian National -
Congress ) ........ Amongst those present on the platform was
Mohammad Alj the veteran leader of the Mohammedan delegstes.”

Mr: Johnétore was “not 'only the fraternal delegdbe, to the
A:1.T. U.C. but ag he "informed me 'he' also had a' mendate to
represent the Lengueat the Indiad National Congress. In these
circamstances I would have failed in my duty ag the ' Secretary of
the Provineial: Committee of the A1, T. U. C:'if T did not do what
1 did, bsmely. taking bim both to'Chengail' and to Bauria wherd
unions had been organised under the direct mandate of the T. U,
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Congress and through my efforts as its Provincial Secretary, I was
only doing my routine duty in ioviting Mr, Johnstone to & meeting
of the Federation and introducing him to the representatives of the
Urions as the fraternal delegate of the League to the A. I. T. U. C.
The Magistrate might have, if he were so inclined, noted that there
was some material difference in fhe character of my econnectiongwith
Jack Ryan and those with Johnstone. J.Ryan came to me and
introduced himself as the fra.ternal delegate to the T. U. C. from the
Pan-Pacific Trade Union Secre&naw I certainly did not doubt his
words, but I could not help noting that he brought no introduction
from any one holding official position in the A. I. . U. C. and did
not- show me any credentials. I contented mryself in his case by
inviting him to a meeting of the'B. T. U. F., and had very little,
certainly much less association with him than with Johnstone during
his stay in Calcutta before the Congress. It seems to have struck
the learned Maglsbra.te a8 rather unusual that some members of the
‘Workers and Peasans Farty should have been present on that occa-
sion at the Federation meeting and gives me the undeserved credit
of ‘“getting” the said members to meet Ryan. Here again, if the
Magistrate had carefully gone bﬁtough the records, namely P 1806P,
he would have seen that J. Ryan bad far better and more congenial
hosts than my unworthy self, and he would certainly not have waited
for me for introduction with the members of the Workers and
Peasants Parby in Calcutta. The presence in the Federation meeting
of Messrs. Muzaffar Ahmad and Dharni Goswami is to be acecounted
for as being the office-bearers 6¥ Scavepgers’ Union sand not as mem-
bers of the Workers and Peasants Party as suzh, bacause in matters’
of general Liabour interest and concern the office-bearers of Unions
which were not yet affiliated were generally-invited by the Federa-
ion. As for Spratt his official position as one deputed by the A. I.-
T. U. C. to colloborate with me in an enquiry into Trade Uuion *
affairs was too obvious to require any explaaation of his presence at

Federation meetings of this character. .

_D/- 13-6-31.
The prosecation suggests that the credit of affiliating the
A.L T. U. C. with the League against Impetialism belongs to
some of the accused in the dock acting under definite instructions
from abr%lj 1mely that affiliation with the Third International or
with the P.A-u not being passible under the circumstances, the next *
best thing is to affiliate it with the League.. Now, sir, I am always
ready to give credit where credit is dae, but to give credit where
none is due is to deprive others to whom it is legitimately due. The
credit for the enthusiastic support which the propasal for affiliation
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received was due mainly to the Government which so unceremonis
ously deported Mr. J. W. Johnstone, the fraternal delegate of the
League to the A. I. T. U. C., under an Act of 1866 or 1868 I forget
which. The clause in thé resolution passed in the Congress that it
was for one year only would indicate the strength of the opposition
which the proposal for affiliation would have met in case Govera»
ment had departed from its traditioral way of bringing about the
very thing it seeks to avoid or prevent. .

..
But it must alsp be admitted that besjdes the extreme Right
Wing, who would not vote for affiliation with the League but wers
subsequently swept of their feet by the arrest of Johnstone, and
thuse who must get it affiliated as they had been, as I understand
from the Prosecdlion, instructed from their directing organisation
abroad, there was a large volume of opinion in support of the affilia-
tion mainly on the ground that.the Indian National vCongtess had
allowed itself 1o be on the listof the associate members of the
League. Mr. Chaman Lal, who so resolutely opposed the
affilintion of the T.U.C. with the Pan:-Pacifice Trade ,Unjon
" Secretariat, was dispased to Jook upon the I.eague with benevolent
eyes. Pandit Jawahar Lal though he said nothing either in favonr
of or agaiflst it, .as ;every*body koew, was himself a member of its
Execu,ﬁve: -Besides this, the sympathies which it is pataral for
the ppeople of .a dependent courtry .struggling for its freedom to
feel for a body with such a taking name were there. - If the Govera-
ment had not bungled, the discussion eves this quesfion would have
been heated and prelonged and the Congress perhaps would have
voted for affiliation, by a majority which may be called narrow.
But the Government by its action 5et all controversy at rest.

In this conngection I might point-outa mxstake, I hopeitis
not wxlful whxch the Ploseculxon has made throughout this case,,
To criticise Impenalxsm, to condemn it and to ﬁ‘*ht it in all pos:xble
~and legitimate ways is oot at all the monopoly of the Commu,msts. ’
The Communists haye a . deeper psychological in-sight into the
minds of the people of a dependent country than.the Government,
and while 8r rather because they are fully alive to the fact thata
people which, though averse to being dominated by 'm,ot.her.p aople,
would yet re(use to accept the Communist programmsg, they seek to
enlist their support primarily on this jssue, namely an uncompro-
mising fi h'. against Imperialism. Now, in countries like Etigland-
or France the Communists work under a great hanclxcap, becanse
the people there are not so much the victims of Imperialism but
rather as the Capitalist Press:led by Lord :Rothermere and Lord
Beaver-Brook points .out, a gainer from it. Here the Communists
of course, try to prove, as also do the Socialists, that properly

»
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looked at, the benefits from the political and economic dominalion
of one people by another people are less than the resulting injuries
which are bouand to make themselves felt in the long run, . But
human nature being what it is and the level of human understand-
ing being what it is the people are disposed to look to the imme-
diate benefits accruing from the domination of other people’s terris
tories than to the ultimate injuries that are bound to follow.

Now speaking for myself I may repeat, as I have said beforey
that ‘I am not a Communist but I am certainly against
Imperialism. .1 do not believe in the possibility of one
nation remdering service to another nation without reference
to its own interests, immediate or ultimate. In support of this I
need not go to philosophers like John Stuart Mill, but Ifind sup-
port in unexpecled quarters and for that reason very convincing. -
In support of my views I refer to the compaign that is being carried
on at present by the newspapers under the leadership of the coming
Mousolini of England, namely Mr. Winston Churchil. Their sole
theme is that to concede to India, the right to manage her own affairs
unhampered by any other considerations than what is dictated by her
own interests, needs and requirements is to lose India and to
reduce England to a third-rate or it is sometimes said torfenvth-rate
power. One newspaper Lord also finds in the preseat conditions
of Portugal a lesson for England, namely to lose your colonies is to
lose all. Then again it is pointed out that out of every six, seven
or eight persons in England one lives directly or indirectly on

- income derived from India. I certainly cannot submit to this curi-
ous logic of the robber who refuses to part with the booty on the’
plea that he would starve if he doés so or that he would not be able
to swagger about in the world as he used to do before on the
strength of the [ruits of his robbery.” In the case of an individual
this sort of argument is brushed aside with ridicule if not with con-
tempt. But that a large number of Euglish people take this argu-
ment seriously and support those who advance them is evidenced
by the fact that Mr. Baldwin is being gradually elbowed out of his
leadership of the party—not because he does not accept the princi-
ples underlying these arguments but because his cultured mind
revolts at the way they are being advanced, stripped of all decent
clothing with which they were hitherto covered, namely the muslin
of the “‘sacred Mission" of Britain, It is very thin and fine and can’
be seen through but still it is a covering all the same, at any rate
enough for short sighted people.

In order to avoid repetition I do not sayany thing more here
because I have to deal with it at some length in connection with the

»
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learned Magistrate’s discovery of my leaning towards Moscow,
Here I am concerned only to show that a man need not be a Com-
munist or even a pro-commuaist to be anti-Imperialist. I go fur-
ther and maintain that a man may be definitely anti-Commuaist and
yet an uncompromising opponent of Imperialism. I further state
that the large measure of support and sympathy which the League
against Imperialism received from this country and also from the
A.I T.U.C. was due to the fact that it had enlisted the support
of the Indian National Congress.” That I am right would be proved
in the near future because the League by its recent hasty actions in
expelling Pt. Jawahar Lal Neliru from its ‘Executive and.rémoving
from its list thename of the Indian National Congress is bound to
alienate the sympathiés support- of all except perhaps the devout
Communists,

Did Spratt use me as a cover address?

The learned Magistrate in his Committal Order on page 276
says, “There can be no doubt at all that he was on very intimate
terms with Spratt in particular and with most of the Bengal accused.
He allowed Spratt to make use of his address for letters. It should
be made cleur that it was not a cover address—in general letters
were addressed to Spratt c¢/o Kishori Lal Ghosh, and the explana-
tion he gives that Spratt’s movements were so erratic that he wanted
to beable to give a- permanent addrees, is in itself plausible: there
was no attempt, say, to deceive the Police, But it betokens cjose
intimacy; and on, at any rate, two occasions C. P. Dutt usedras'a
real cover address for Sprattj(P 2001, 2002) in both cases to ensure
the safe delivery of 'a very important letter”. The Magistrater fur-
ther remark§ ‘with regard to P 2001 and P 2002 are to be found on
page 278 of the Committal Order. ““The first was sent in an envelope
to Kishori Lal without any covering letter or an enclosed envelope
and it contained Dutt’s' obviously code enquiries about Rhuden
and Uke-Rhug (P2002). Such a letter could hardly strike the
reader as innocent: yet it was sent in such a way that the addressee
for whom it was not intended was very likely to read it through.
It is almost impossible to believe that a letter of such importance
would be sent exposed to the gaze of a casual acquaintance of
Spratt who was notin the conspiracy. The other letter was the

.E. C. C, L letter to the W. P, P. Here there was a covering letter

asking Kishori Lal to pass it on, but again there was no inside
eavelope (P 2003). The same remarks apply with the addition that
Dutt addresses him as *‘Dear Comrade’ and signs himself *Yours
fraternally’ with the usual squiggle as his signature. The use of this
sign'a\ture alone suggests that Duttis writing to an accomplice,”
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In this connection my statement to the Magistrate in réply to whe-
ther Spratt used me as a cover address should be taken into : consi-
duiation:-I said “when ‘Spratt came to Calcutta for the first time he
told me that his movements would be uncertain and that he had al-
teady sent my naime and address to his home people to direct letters
or to remit money c/o.me. I made no objection-te it. As far as I re-
‘member there was one letter which was. addressed to me on the
cuter cover ard had an inner cover addressed -to Spratt, That
letter was forwarded to him without opening. I never,opened .the
fetters sent to him save one telegram mentioned in the exhibits.
Spratt’s first visit to calcuita in 1927 was very short, but in 1928
afler the meeting of the Executive Committee at Delhi he came .to
Ealcutta at the instance of the A..I.T:U.C, as a member appointed
by the Executive Committee of a sub-committee of which the. other
member was myself etc......to inquire into the conditions of Trade
Unions in Bengal, ‘Now-before. I set about.saying :anything about
the evidence tendered in regard to two letters in regard to which I
was alleged to have been used as a cover_address, I maust beg
leave of the Court'to express my suprise that in spite of the ;emarks
of the Maglstrate quoted above and my statement beanng on the
subJect the late Mr. Langford James at. the conclusion of his
openirg addressin thxs court while summmg up the cases of the
individual accused should say with regard to me that T got “* en-
tangled”. (I am quoting his very words) in. this case as the cover
addressee of Spratt.

Now let us see what P. W. 97 Sub Inspector Amarendra
Kumar Sen said in cross-examination with  regard to P 2002Cs: ‘1 -
can not 'say why'the letter P 2002 was ‘copied while its envelope was
photooraphed I got Exh. P 2002 -and P 2008 from the same Post
Office intercepted on'ihe same day. The order to cog’y both was
‘from the Deputy Commissioner. I can not say on what system my
superior officers ordered copying or photpgraphing. “There was
‘nothing else inside the envelope P 2002P'E excepl the actual letter,
There was no second envelope inside it. T do oot remember if I
mtercepted any other leiter trom a foreign country to Kishori Lal
‘Ghosh 'that day. “That envelope P 2002 P is certainly the envelope
in which P 2¢02 was received and isnot the envelope of any other
lett'er I have not got the substance of. P 2002 in my notes.
Leavmg aside the copies [ ‘canTot now remember the substance of
‘the leiter.” Before I proceed with fufther quotation of the deposi-
“tion of thxs officer I should like to recall "to your Honour's*mind
that it was because of Mr. Sinha’s repeated questions as to whether
there was an inside cover that Mr. Kemp - went through the notes
and poxnteJ out to the witness that there was a mention of the
inside ‘cover “and it was then and not till then that ihe witness
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admitted:  “I made a mistake in saying above that there was no’
second cover inside the original of P 2002P. 1 find from my notes
that there was an envelope with the address on it at all. The letter
to “Phillip” was inside that envelope addressed. Bsfore returning
the letter to the Post Master I put the letter inside the hlank cover
and put that inside the cover addressed to Ghosh. I can not
remember if there was any writing apart from address on the inner
eavelope. I do notremember if it had on it the words ‘for P. Spratt’
or not.” So it may beseen that the learned Magistrate was wrong
in holding that the letter was “exposed” to my *‘gaze”. As for his’
remark that this letter could hardly strike the reader as innocent, .
though this question does not arise in view of the reluctant and belated
admission of the witness about a second inside cover, all that may
be said, even admitting that I had read the contents,is that if experi-
enced C.I.D. officers of the upper strata who are expected to know
their job and the ramifications of all conspiracies, if they did not
think the letter as of sufficient importance to take a photograph and
were merely content with ordering a copy of it to be .made, it is a
little bit far-fetched to draw the inference as the learned Magistrate
did against me. It should also be noted that the witness was not
very sure or rather could not remember as to whether there was any
writing on the inside cover though if his statement “apart:from the
address’’ is taken into consideration, this would show that there was-
the name of Spratt on ‘the envelope, For the present I shall not
take up other features connected with P 2002C, which has, as your
Honour will remember, rather chequered history and put the Pro-
secution to a lot of trouble because of the initials R. H.

Now in regard to P 2001, the first thiug noticeable is that I
had never had the opportunity, thanks. to the zealous care of the
Police, of dealing with it. It was detained in transmission. In.
view of the reluctant admission of P.W. 97, for which my thanks
are due more to Mr. Kemp ‘than to the officer with regard to
P 2002C about the inside cover, I can pot be sure asto whether
the enclosure in P. 2001 was or was not in any other envelope
directed to Spratt, But in this connection I can #ot help remark-
ing that the learded Magistrate’s inference from Mr. C. P. Dutt’s
use of squiggle in his letter to me is.a little bit hasty if not far-
fetched, becduse in going through ghe exhibits I find that this
géutlemanl—if all the letters fathered by the Prosecution on him are
really his uses his full name or squiggle in accordance with no
consistent plan or principle, for less in consideration of the degree
of the intimacy with or the confidencg that he had in the addressee.
He is guided rather by the whim of fmoment or if I may say so by
the exigency of the moment, In order to prove that my conteation
is based on facts, I would invite the attention of the Court to
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several.ont of many such: exhibits. namely:. Pr526 (44); a letter to-
“Dear Spratt” from “Yours C. P:. Duil;”t \P 5§26 (42); = letter to
“ Dear Phillip” by * Yours C;” P 1233 a letter to * Dear
Mr: Mirajkar’ from * Yours sineerely C.P, Dutta,” and P'1348 (34)
to,“Dear Ghate”:from: “ Yours fraternally-C. B. Dutt:”. There are:
some more documents.of nature.

Now,,Sir, I am rather, averse to: advancing any theory. as.to.
what might have heen, the intentions of,Mr. C. P. Dutt ta write.to.
me. (or the ﬁrst and the, last time with 2 request,to send a. pamenlar
document to.. Spratt, But .considering that. the whole. Prosecus
tion, case, as, 1 hold, res&s;ona theery: unsnbstantlated or. madequat-
ely. substantxated by facts, I thmk that I shall foronce get over my
relpctances in, advancxng theones and,. shall give you one which is.
more. hkely and consistant with.the. records;sa far produged in.this..
Court than the. theory aclvanced by, the. Prosecution., The nature
of the document as well as. thaanxlety of the. sender as.coveyed in
the. letter lead one to the inference that. Mr, Dutt. was. racking his..,
brains, to. find out.means whth_ would.ensure the safe.arrival .of the
document  to, its destination.. In these. circnmstances, it .is.butr,
natural that. he should.write to.some.one . whom he knows.definitely .
to be not gne of their. circle and as such, as he must have. rather.
naiyely.supposed, (not beipg aware:of the. condmons to this country).
that my letters were. exempt f;om Polics curiosity,. I am rather
copfirmed.in:this belief. by. P 1610;.in. whlch M., N. M.. Joshi.. has..
been used as aicover, address.for, Dapge by, Mr, V. Chattopadhayaya
of the Leaugg -against Imperfalism, who.accarding to. the Prosecus .
tion helds as important a possition in this conspiracy as Mr, C.P.
Dutt himsel.. In .this.letter-we find Mr.. Chattopadhayaya explain-
ing to “My dear Dange,” that: he:was.sendiog; that. particular. letter-.
to-Mr.. Joshi’s-address:because he had; learnt.from- a- mutual friend
who recently saw. him that * our letters.do. not reach.you:all.”.

D/-15-6~31.

With regard:to:momey-crders:sent to Spratt care of me, I must.
.say that-I never looked at the. forms as I had no interest in:them. .
Ibelieve L was asked:to sign as 3 witness. to payme’htand I did:so.
Allalong I had an idea that.his.people at home were sending. the |
money and so I never gave:a; thonghtto it. ,The proeedure was.
this. The peon in.charge of the‘money-order would come and say.
that there-was money-order for Spratt Saheb. I would inform Spratt,
by note or through phone. that I had asked the peon ta come on a.
particular date and at a parttcula: time, As regards. telegrams the:
same applies .with this exception. gha.t I.took charge ofithe telegrams:.
and sent them unopened to him.. I believe-on one or two occasions,
I redirected some telegrams or money-orders to }iuropean Asylum
Lane,
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. In conmectisn’ withi * P26 (13} 1 have to swy that this coufirms;
f confirmation weré 'needed, that like af ordinary gentleman with
ordinary notions of decency I never tlibught of opening Spratt’s
letters or telegfams and considered that an apology was due from
me to Spratt'on the one-occasion’ when I had. opened” a telegram
‘meant for him throngh'inadvertence: As for the coneluding passage
in that note which réf'eruo interceptions offletters aiid telegrams it
is,an.opén secret that hewever-is* engaged id- public activities' in
India, barring perHaps the President‘the’ Secretary of the European
Associatien and certainly of the Civil Service. Association, gets
his mail after. it has passed through. the-hands of the C. L. D. The
‘Leader’ of. Allahabad would: bear me out when I say that even
personages like Sir. Tej - Bahadur Sapru and the’ late Raja of
Mahmudabad did not escape the attentions of" these gentlemen after
they had lost caste, by denouncing the Simon Commission, The
grand-mother of Nationalist India=Mw Beasant~described by
the lute Mr. Langford James as the “ dear old Tady'"' complained’
more than once in press interviews that her mail was: tampered'
with, In the diary, of tHe late "Mr. Montagu we come across’
the authenticated incident as' ‘to How a telégram from: the late’
Mr.. Bhupendra:Nath: Basu; memberi ‘of: the- India Council, to
Bir*Sankaran’ Nair, member of the: Viceroy’s Executive Council
" was withHeld! and: they:were put on the suspect list Jbecause the
telegram- referred  to” the' despatch: of some sweels- from Calcutla,
whichy I mdy mention is {smous for them; pn- the occasion- of.
a:dimmer’ that Sirc Sarkaran ‘Nait gave! to: Lord: Harding, The
ever watchchfal:C,-1..D.. 's: remembered. that in:the. code -of.
the’ Bengal ‘revolutierkriess - ‘s weets” - stood for bombs.

I am sorcy 1.forgot, fo date this note but.'I believe the
approximate date can be gathered- from the fact that I' mention’
there. a latter 1 had addressed. to, the. ‘btatesman whlch Ihad
tendered as defence exhikit. no; 174.(6) dated the 31st May., I’
ami sorry‘l domot ‘remember the contents of the telegram at all.
I do- not.think ltmhmg especial to. fix itself. on one’s memory.
At any rate 1did not give it a second - t‘mught after I had found’

out that it was flot meant for me,

= The whole lettér is wriiten in a bantering tone and this

requires 10 be specificilly mentioned in view of the fate of a
letter writtenin a simifar strain by MiD.R. Thengdi’ congratulaimg
if I remember « nght., Mr. S.'S Mnra]kar on seekmfr to usher
in the chlatorshlp of the Pro]etranat with Marwari money This:
was interpreted by both the Prosecuuon and the learhed” Magistrate:
as an expression of M, Thengdi’s joy at receiving conttibutionst

% To be. an ummptachnb]e Bolshe¥ik™, ‘said Mr. Lanffford Janiess
in his cpening address, “/Jtrxs quite essentlal that you'sHould!
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have no sense of humour.” I do not know about the unimpzachable
Bolsheviks who, if there are any in this dock, will vindicate thexr\_
position; but I can well see that this applies to Prosecutlon. I

dare not say that this applies to the learned Magistrate ‘as well.

So, to guard myself against this lack of sense of humour on the

part of the Prosecution I have to point out that the letter was

written in a light vein and misunderstanding might be if this

fact is kept in mind. In regard to cerfain references in the

letter to Chengail I shall deal with it e]sewhere.

I find P 526 (7) described in the mdex to exhxbxts as a
letter dated 28. 1r. 28 frém K. L. Ghosh to Spratt announcu'xg~
Johnstone’s arrival and stay with him. 1 do not know what led
to the inference that Johnstone was staying with me, Probably
the gentleman responsible for this compilation did not notice
the significance of the\wo‘rd ‘now’, This, for aught I know,
may have influenced the learnsd Magistrate’s findings about
my getting on well with Johnstone. However as’the prasec ution
witness from the Coatinental Hotel deposed that Johnstone had
been staying there I trust no further explanation is necessary.

I want to say something further in this connection. This
note was not at all intended to be an annoucement to Spratt® of
Johnstong’s arrival because Spratt was introduced to Johnstone -
several days earlier at ‘my place where he happened to drop in
accidentally while Johnstone was talking to me. I may also
mention here that I introduced Huda to Johastone on the same
day that is 28. 11. 28 at the Howrah station, where he met me
in response to a card I dropped to him asI dld several others to
various Trade Unionists inviting them to come to Bauria and
Chengail. This letter also contains an invitation to Mr.
Muzaffar Ahmed along with Spratt to visit Bauria. This is one
of the several occasions oa which I invited him as & jnvited
many other Trade Unionists and sometimes Congressmen to
attend and address Baaria meetings. Mr., Muzyffar Ahmed attended
none exceptone in, I believe, Jwuary 1929 aad it may be on
another occasion which I do not recollect.

Then P 27 which is a letter fro n Spratt dated 29. 11. 28
may be taken as a reply both to P 526 (9) dated 29. 11. 28, and
P 526 (7) dated 28. 11,28, Thatitisa replyto P’ 526 (7) would
appear from the concluding lines, namely *'I received your note
yesterday just before 2. 30 when I returned and so I could not
possibly come .” The first paragraph of P 27 where Spratt says
that he could add little to the value of discussion though he
would be interested to hear it was in reply to what U said
in P 526 (9) about seeing someone for discussion over Caenzail

*,
e
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and. Bauria affairs. Thal someone was a leading, Congressman
and of great inflnence. Perhaps Spraty's reluctance. to participate.
in. the discussion. might havg been due to.this.fact. The sccond.
paragrabh refers to the unfartunate telegram sent to Mr.Saklatwala.
by Messrs. Radha: Raman Mittra: and Spratt. which as the learned
Magistrate found, consldcrablg upset me, This was Spratt’s
reply to the substance of lheconversatlon I had with Bankim
Baboo, over this, matter and. which I communicated te him
in P 526 (9). Ca s

» .

My relations wztl; Danald Camgball.

Bbsxdes what T statef in h“ne mqun'y P sourt ae"to Bow I camé
i _cpntach with Campbell and the ohiaracter of our'relations I have
not much to add, except what I think is called’ for by the observa-
tiots of*the learned Magistrate. Here' again’ tiat dnfortunate
“suspicion”; which dogs the Mhgistraty's' fovtstepy throughout the'
Committal Order-dealing with my- cuss, influenced His reasohing™
process and  he found: that Campbell’s stggestibn tb' Mr. Spratt
thiab, to quote-the: Migistrate, “I'waga: good mad'to-go™ to* the*
PP T Ui 8. Conférenve at* Canton' “presipposed’ & gteatéf
intinacy” tHan was explained'byi mes

I, of'course: cannott b expeebetlto knowrwhmh wahk - ag! the
back-of Campbell's: mind whenihé saggested miy name!tt: Spratt;.
any-mores than ,I: cam explaim what mwde Spratt- writes to: the*
friend in: England:that. I: was: improving,”’. All that.I: can- say"
is;that: the views: thasi L. entextain being:the resultsofclose: study
apd much: thonghtiand my own: exprience, I.baves never had:any-
occasion. toy congceal . themw. On.the: other: hand' I.always-invited:
friendly discussion.andcriticisny from these:who-did not agreeiwith:
me and ‘'were:as:strongly.convinced of the correctness:of their! views:
as:Ilwas of - ming: But:durisg: the.: whole: period:of 1927 and 1928
1/ was: engaged-in the taskof organisation; which. I considered-as -
the one: thing-nacessary: ab:the present stage' of the - Trade- Unions
Movement, and{ se I was.iinterested: more~in eliciting. information -
from those; who had. first hand. keowledge about the Trade-Union-
organisations.abroad i particularly in Eegland and from. Johnstone::
about Trade: Unions organisasions in:Ainerica- ‘than in - diseussion-
of abstract prineciples6f course-thavdiseussion: of abstract principles:
can-not wholly:be avoided;ithey :are-bound to ‘crop: up in the-courser
of conversatiomand dizcuesaion: would follow.

Campbellr: was..a* Trade. Unionist and, as.I.was-told. by
him, balonged..to.»the.Miners’. Federation. - Further be: was. a:
Scotchmsn. and:like-all Saotchman was.intensely shrewd.and practi-~ -
cals.. He was fax. more ab homa in the practical aspect of the Trade.
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Union Movement than in the exposition of the theoretical part of
bis creed. By this I do not mean to suggest that he was not
well postsd with regard to Communist: ideology or the history of
the development of Marxism. What I mean bo suggest is’
that having pra.otlcal experience of the Trade Union Movement in
Great Britain and myself being very much interested in the task.
of organisation our conversation was mostly confined to the actual
state of things in Bagland as far as the growth and organma.hon
of British Trade Unions are concerned. .+ - .

In . this conneotion I may mention one incident which may

throw some light qu P 24, which has been rather curiously idterpres"

ted by the Prosecution, besides thrpwhfg some light on the character
of our relations, When Campbell briefed me for his case he _aske&
me my terms. I told him ghkat he, need not worry because the
lawyer in me did got allow me to forget, that I was also s Trade
Unionist and that he was a member of the Executive Couneil of
the Trade Union Congress. But he told ne with the bluntness
which a Scotchman claims to be a peculiar ebaracteristic of his,
that in coming to me with the offer of the brief he had only been
following the established custom of the British Trade Unions, who
in  case of need give preference to what they call Labour Lawyers,
and then he mentioned some names of “labour lawyers ” including
that of Sir ‘Henry Slesser the Attorney General in the Labour
Government and who was briefed in the case.of the twelve
Communists. Then he said something about the eontradiction
involved in the conduct of one who while like himself resolutely
opposed to exploitation of all sorts would yet, while be could afford
to payyaccept services gratis from another who due to some weak-
ness, he refused to call it by any other name, hesitated to aecept
remuneration from the new found eclient because he met him in
the course of his public activities. It was in this connecsion that
Campbell said that a Communist, however strongly be might
criticise what he would call the ordinary Trade Unionist in season
and out of season and however bitter might be the fight he would
carry on with the latter, when it comes to the question of render-
ing assistance in a strike he would unbesitatingly cooperate with
the union concerned and placa. his serviees at the disposal of the

Union to bring the strike boasuccessful‘iseié, even though the °

union leading the striké was under reformist control and gmidance.
What Campbell wanted to convery to me, in short, to overcome
my reluotance, he would call it a weakness, in charging fees was
that ordinarily the Communist aud ordinary Trade Unionist might,
should and can oot but fight each other from the very nature of things.
But if it eomes to the question of taking help a Communist would
gb to a Trade Unionist rather than to any one outside the Labour
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Movement. 1f it is a question of servioes.on which the Trade
Unionist depends for a living and if the said Commuyist can afford
to pay for the serviceg the whole matter should be put on a strictly
business “footing. Similarly a Trade Unionist might count on
Communist help on such vital Inatters as strike where the main
thing that mattered 1mmedmte}y was the successful conduct of the
strike. I give .here as far a8 I remember, only the bare gist of
what he said in the course of a discussion in which I was trying to
justify my reluctance to ‘accept fees and he was trying to convince
me that it was_but a sentimental weakness. In regard to the
attitude of a €ommunist duringp strike he repea.ted what I have
- just now said more than omcq in the coursé of oilr “comversation
during the period of his stay in Caloutta and subsequently Mr.
Saklatwala said practicaliy the same thing, which was also
confirmed by what I read about the swbject in the Communist
literature - though I can not at present remrember the book or the
author. If I did not mention this to the Inquiry Magistrate it
was because I considered such details as unnecessary and would
not have stated in this Court also at such a length had it not been
for the way in which the first part of a letter to Ms. N. M. Joshi
(P 24) has been interpreted. I mention the matter of the fees to
remove any misunderstanding that might be created by Mr.
Muzaffar Ahmad’s statement that I kindly “accepted the legal
brief of D. Campbell” as the Secretary of the B. T. U, F.-and
charged fees for the*same.

Campell and I parted as best of friends ‘when he was taken
in custody to stand his trial at Bombay’ It must be mentigned that
his case, as far as I had 'the opportunity of studying it, should not
be judged by the severity of the punishment awarded to him, He
wanted to.come to India and he did come. That the ‘Government
normally regard these Passport irregularities as nothing more serious
than mere lechnical offence is proved by their treatment of Inspec-
tor Derojinsky who came to India without Passport and as he ad-
mitted on cross-examination in this case, had on Some previous occa-
sion imposed on the Pass-port officialses 1do notremember whether
Soviet or Turkish. I think I am entitled to draw the inference that
if Campbell’s political views were not what they were his case might
hdVe been treated at any rate moredighuly than it was. He was all
along described in the British Press in India as “the notorious
Communist.” At any rate 1 did not consider that the cffence invol
ved any moral lurpuude and as a Trade Unionist of great British
experience whose” couversation I found very instructive I did not
scruple to associate -with him as I did in spite of the-fact which he
koew very well that he and I would never come to see eye to eye
on the question of Communism. But with all this personal intimacy -
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Campbell never took me into his confidence more than was absos
lutely necessary for him in regard to the case before he kyew that
the case was o be transferred to Bombay. Even the fact that he
was o Communist he did not disclose to me till he engaged me to.
appear on his behalf. On the occasion he met me before his arrest,
and on the eve of the meeting of the Executlve Council (as referred
‘to by 'me in my statement before ‘the inquiry Magistrate) he intro-
duced himsell'as a Mmer and Trade Unionist - who had come to
India to study the movement I'never knew the connections and
¢ associates he had in India besldes Messr. Muzaffar Ahmad and
Soumyendra Nath ‘Tagore whom he introduced to- me as gentlemen
who had mterested themselves on hls behalf and™ one of them stopd

surety for hxm- - " -

. In regard to his suggestxon that I should go to. Canton as_
conveyed through Spratt'g‘ letter | 4 38 I certalnly can not say, as,
I have already said, what was at the back of h1s mind.

l?j: 16/6/31.

But I did" pot give the matter much thought because I had
no_ intention of gomg tnere. The learned Maglstrate would have
had no d:ﬂnculty in commg toa correct fmdmg in this matter,if he -
had seen hxs way to make full use of even the matenals w,hxch the
Prosecution had placed before him. The wholeyroceedmgs of the_
Bengal Trade Union Federation was before the Inquiry Court and
if he had turned fo pages  23-24 he would bave found thatin a
meeting held on the gth April 1927 a resolutxon was moved by,
Mr. K. C. Roy Choudhri that in view of the shortness of the notxce
and-scanty information available about the Canton Conference the
Federation did not feel itself competent to pass any opinion one
way or the other.

P-34 (3)isa telegram from me to Bakhle the Assistant Sec-
retary of the A. L. T, U. G. sent on the r2th February 1927 uuder
instractions from Campbell given to me when he was bemg taken
in custody to Bombay. As I d@%d not know the address of Mr. G. F.
Ginwala, whom Campbell had decided to engage as his solicitor in
Bombay because he was a Trade Unionist, 4 wired to Bakhle cfo
the Servants of India Society’s home~—the Head Offige ol the A.IL.-.
T. Us C. informing that Campbell would arrive next Monday and’
that arrangements for his bail should be made. ‘P 50 bemg a leiter
from Campbell while in Jail asking me if I would actas hlS lawyer
carries its own explanation with it. In legard to P 77 I have
vothing to add'to what I stated in the lower ‘Court, though the
learned Magistrate did not see hx; way lo draw, any other mfereuce_
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from this exhibil than that I was in touch with Campbell even be=-
fore I came to have relations with him as between a lawyer and
gliept. But on the character of those relations he had cothing to
say in tpite of the clue furnished by P 7. Perhaps if I had not
come in touch with Campbell before he entrusted me with his brief,
the learned ..agistrate would. have .had no difficulty in [inding
something smlster "Snd conspiratorial in the fact that Calcutta being
so full of lawyers bonald Campbell should have come to me.

I believe I have toﬁched all the exhibits and though I have
not specifically referred to a number of them particalarly those re-
- lating to telegrams “and money-orders E believe my. explanations
have covered them. Mj explanations aresto be takén as supplemen-
. tary to apd sometimes amphllc.:\ﬁons of the"statement I made before’
the learned Inquiry Magistrate. In case I have omitted to refer to
any exhibit which ! may subsequeutly find out has not been eovered
by my explanations 1 ask leave to take it up later on before' I have
finished my statement.

Q. The following papers relate to your connection with the
Bengal and Bombay W. P. P.s and A, I. W, P. P.; P 85, 512, 4o,
23, 56, %1, 2510, & 544 (3) & P. W .s. 104, 90, 254 & 36. -Have you
anything to say about this evidence ?

A. Regarding the pamphlets and leaflets issued by the
Workers® and Peasants’ Party I do not renfember the circumstances
‘under which I came to possess each. There were so many pamphlets
and leaflets in my posséssion issued by the various public bodies
received by me either asa Journalist connected Wwith a leading
Dails or as the Secretary of B. T. U. F. that it is impossible to
remember as to when I received any one of them and thicugh- ‘whom.
There may be some-which I might have received from ..r. Muzaffar
Abmad direct, who perhaps wanted publicity for them; or some
might have been sent from the office of the Amrit Bazar Patrika by
the sub-editors who were unable to decxde whether to publish them,
while pthers might have béen sent threugh post by the Peasants and
. Workers’ Parly office'to me as Secretary of the Bengal Trade
. Union Federation. I used 1o preserve these pamphlets and leaflets
" as carefuliy as I studied them because since the time, that is at the
beginning of 1927, I came to know of the existence of this Party
1 bad: an idea that this Party though essentially a political party
bad the ambition of being a rival tothé Trade Union Congress-or
at any rate by inviting the affiliation of Trade Unions aad also by
its attempt to organise uuions it would ultimately divide the alle-
giance of the.unions which would be affiliated-both to the T, U. C.
and the Workers’ and Peasants’ Partyand thus there might be g
clash= between the two. That this was so would appear from 3z
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signed article I contributed to the Amrit Bazar Patrika in its issue
of 31st Decemb .r 1928 which I intend to tender before the Court. It
was written after the Jharia Sescion of the All India Trade Uyion
Congress and I gave therein my impressions of the Congress.

I regret that my collectidn of the literature of this Party
was not complete, because of the absence of two very important
publications of the Party namely -“honest ]o,h’ " Presidential
Address at the All India Wo;kersand Peasants’Conference at Albert
.Hall and that historic document known by the ingpiring name “Call
to action”. If I were 4n as tlose touch with the Pasty as the Prosecu-
tion gives me credit For I certainly would have been the fortunate
possessor of these two documents bt which the Prosecution relies
so much for proving complicity in this wonderful conspiracy. That
the learned Magislrate also accepted the Prosecution view of the
dangerous character of these two pamphlets is proved by the fact
that one of the reasons given by the Magistrate for discharging my
friend Mr. Chaudhri Dharamvir Singh was that the copy of the
¥Call to Action” alleged to have been recovered from his posses-
sion “looks suspiciously clean and unused.” As to the dangerous
character of “honest Josh’s” historic speech I recall the #foransic
master-piece of the learned Junior Public Prosecutor who before
the Inquiry Court while summing up the individual case of Mr.
Gopendra Chakravarty said, “Now I come to the case of Gopendra
Chakarvarty, Your - Honour, please look at him. He listened
atlentively to the address de'ivered by Sohan Singh Josh’. In®
these gircumstances I trus{that in dealing with the lilerature issued
by the W. P. P. recovered. from my possession Your Honcur and
the {ive irtelligent gentlemen who are here to assess the evidence
would attach due significance to the absence of these two pamphlets
from my collection. Candour demands that I shomld coafess that [
narrowly escaped having in my possession the Presidential Address
of Sardar Sahib, but fuller explanation of this will be present-
ly given when I come to deal with the very truthfpl witness mo. 254
that is Rai Sahib Trivedi I trust Your Honour would not consider
me as indulging in triviliaties when I earaestly beg you to remember
that if the leaflets and pamphlets issued by the Peasants and Workers
Party which were found il my possession-happened to have the
appearance of being well thuinb@d, dity and much used, it is be-
cause thesz documents were sent to the Press by the Inquiry Magis-
trate for printing, after they had been tendered by the Prosecution as
exhibits and we all know what a document looks like after it has
passed through the hands of the printers. I consider this explanation
recessary because the logical implications of the learned Jlagistrate’s
finding in regard te Mr. Choudhri Dharamvir Singh’s copy of the
“Call to Actiou™ is that the fact that these leallets look dirty and ~
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mucb used is an evidence that the pos:essor thereof has imbibed the
pernicious . doctrines preached #kterein. What I seck to convey
to the Court is that I read these pamphlpts like any ordinary
man but that the amount of interest I took in them should not be
judged by their outward appearance. I may also say that being
in a responsible position in & public’body I considered it necessary
to a.cquamb myself fully with_the view-point of any other body
with which T thought sooner or ylater some clash was inevitahle.
P 85 is & Manifesto to the All India” National Congress Gaubati
1926 purpoﬂ;mg to*have been issued by the Commumst Party of
Iodia. Shorbly after Mr. Muzaffar Abmad was introduced to me
by Donald Campbell under the circumstances I have already
mentioned# called on him at his office-at 3% Harrison Road where
_he was living - as a return visit because he had called on me sevefhl
times  gince ours+introduction. I noticed a few copies of this
‘Manifesto lying on a bed and what excited my interest was to
learn fof the first time that there was a Communist Party of India
and that its Manifestoes are published not from India but from
England. I do pot remember whether I asked *Muzaffar Ahmad-
about this anomaly but I think I did not ask him anything out of
politeness, because ~the gquestion would have suggested that the
C.P. of Indiaexisted on paper only. I asked Bim if I might have
a copy and he kindly gave me one. I had since then an idea that
there were a few Communists in Indn but no Communist Party as
such, because a party which has ¢ 'my other existence than on papér
does not rua up to London for getting a simple Manifesto printed.
I hepe I am not more pig-headed than any other bub I;do not find
in spite of all the paraphernalia in this case even now any wccasion
to revise my idea, though I kuow that by saying this I run the
risk of offending Mr S.V. Ghate, who I understand from the
Prosecution evidence happens to be the General Secretary of this
" rather elusive body.

“There can be no doubt “at all that he was og
very intimate terms with Spratt in particular, and with mos% of
the Bengal secused’’—says the Magistrate in one place and then
he refers fp. “enmity between me and Mazaffar which seems rather
to have been a personal one”. The learned Magistrate quite
advisedly said “the Bengtﬂ‘a.ccused" instead of saying “the members _
of the Workers’ and Peasant’s Party’’. But even by carefully
choosing his words he could not avoid drawing an inference
neither warranted by facts nor even' by the records of this case.
Far from being “on very intimate terms'” with most of the accused
1 dofnot know much about most o®them and came very seldom
if at all in touch with many of them. I.did not for example even
“ know the hame of Gopal Basak, and when he was brought to jail

"o
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I could not recall to my mmd evor to have seen him till he smd
that be had met me ab Cawnpore durma the Sessions of the
A LTUCin1929 I did” pot know Mr. Ajudhia Prasad by
name nor do I remember to have seen him though I can not say
this on oath—but what I want to convey is thaf even if I might
have seen him I had never 'any ocoasion to talk with him,
Mr. Gopendra Chakravarty bad talked to mé on ong ocoasion which
is referred to in one of the exhlblbsy though I might have seen him
at Lillooah as I saw many others working for the, Union there
without knowing their names. Mr. Dharni Goswami came to be in
touch with me in connection with the Scavengers’ Strike though
- before that I might have met him once or twice but I can mnot
remelpber where, 1 met Shamsul-Huda sbout half a Jozen times
dr 8o before my arrest. He was introduced to me at a meeting
beld at Bauria over which I was presiding, and ag I understood he
would like to address the meeting I invited -him to do so and
introduced him to the mesting in the terms in which he was
introduced to me, namely as Sayed Shamsul Huda who had been
to America for education and was very much interested in Labour.
In regard to Mr, Radha Raman Mittra I may say that ] - first came-
to know him in about January 1928 or it may .be sometime earlier
through a common friend Professor Arun' Chandra Sen of the
Scottish Chureh College where both Sea and myself studied to-
gother for four years and took our B. A degree in the same year
1912, Mr. Mittra was introduced to me as a graduate who with
his friend Mr. Bankim Chandra Mukerji, introduced to me about
. the same $ime, a8 Mr. Sen said, did wonderful organisation work
under the Congress at Etawah in T. P. and were respectively the
President and Secretary of the Congress organisstion there and
suffered imprisoninent during the Non-Cooperation Movement of
1920-1921. I was further informed that he passed some time at
the Sabarmati Ashram. He was at the time and till a consider~
able time later, as far as I could notice, a Khaddarite and till his
*Jurrest was closely connected with the Calcutta Congress Committee.
It ®as also reported to me that he was a Head Master in a primary
school in the Caloutta Corporation and he taok great pains in
organising successfully the Primary Schools Teacher’s Association
on the T. U. bagis. Roth Messrs. Mittra and Mukerji were taking
. considerable interest in the Labour Movement, so Sen informed me,
aud that they would very much like to help in the task of organi-
sation. I welecomed their uffer of help. When I came back from
Delbi after the T. U. C. Executive Council meeting in February
1928 with a mandate to organise the Jute- Workers Association and
a preliminary grant of Rs250/-, I availed myself of the first
opportunity ihat presented itself at Chengail in getting them
elected to important offices of the ‘Union formed there under the™*

!/
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auspices of the Federation. Mz, Mitéra was subsequently also
elected at my instance to be the Secretary of the Bauria Jute
Workers’ Union formed under the auspices of the Federation.
Neither Mr. Mittra mor Mr. Mukerji, as far as I was aware, had’
any connection with the Workers’ and Peasants’ Party nor any of
its members. In the course uf their activities in the Labour field,
in which they became very prominent by virtue of their undoubted
ability, they came in touch with Trade Unionists of various
schools of thought including some of my fellow accused in the
dock.

Shib Nath Baner)l wa$ introduced to me as early as 1926
“also by Professoms Arun- Sé&n as one who had travelled much in
Europe including Soviet Russia and was very much interested in
the Cooperative Movement. I remember to have tried to help
him in his efforts to start a: Cooperative Store in":Calcutta which.
came to nothing.

Next I found him as an .associate of Mr. Kalidas Bhattacharji,
at -the time as far asl remember, the Ggaeral Secrgtary. of the
Bengal Jute Workers’ As,socnatxon. Now,this Uniop and Kankmam
Labour Unijcn of whlch I was @ VicesPresident used tq regard each
other in 3 spirit of rivalry and, there. was some amount .of friction
between the two. .lu the unfortunate dispute in the Bengal Trade,
Union Federation to which I teferred in connection with Donald,
LCampbell, the Bgagal Jute Workers® Assocjation led by Mr.
Bhattacharji maimaincd a so:t of benevolent™ eutrality which in

reaped zhe beneﬁt. of the benevolencc and we .had to be cont.en.tr
with all that was left, namely cold neutrality. So far as the
relations betwgen -the .Federation and this association were
coucemed they were cold, courteous and corsect. But subsequently
in connectnon with the. organisatien ok Jyte workers’ Umon under
the auspices of:the Federation, the negative and I may s’ay pussive
relations hetween the two developed igto what I used to regard as
active hostility on-the part of the Bengal Juie Workers' Associdtion
supporled, as far as 1 could gather at the time, by the Workers’
and.Peasants’ Party to which this U‘uj,{)_u‘ got itself affiliated in 1927~
Lsannotexacily say whether before or after the Bhatpara Conference |
of the Party. But dyring this period of active bostility on the part of
this. Union Jed by Mr. Bhattacharji . Barerjec was not in, evidence,
It was as far as I couald.see.at the time due to the fact that he was g
busy at Lillooah, being au important office-bearer of the Unjon
during; the period of the lgok-out—zand up till the time of-his arrest
several months befose this case was. started. ;

Now co,mmg fo Muzaffar Ahmad, I have already stated the

circumstances in which I was introduced to him. T have.also stated
2 '
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that Campbell, canny Scot that he was, did not choose to take me
into confidence about anything specialin his relations with Muzaffar
Ahmad or Tagore which, if the Prosecution can prove what they
seek to prove, there must have been. But with the removal of
Campbell from Calcutta in custody what made me keep in touch
with Mr. Muzaffar Ahmad is that I always used to consider him as a
victim of miscarriage of justice, which unfortunately often happens
in this country partlcularly in political cases, His appearance was
-that of an invalid, and the fact, as he told nie, that he contracted in
Jail a terrible disease under which he was wasting away, made me
feel for him, as it would have made any decent maun, not dead te all
ieelmgs,feel His education, as far as university education goes,
was not much, but it was evident in the course of our conversation
that he was a well-read man and was a mine of information. So
I continued to maintain cordial personal relations with him.

But it becomes very difficult to differentiate between persons
and the principles they stand for,or the policies they pursue
particularly when two persons having the best of personal relations,
happen to be actively and I may say prominently connected with
movements having for their basis different aims and pursuing
policies opposed to each other. Measures cannot be criticised
without the agents carrying out those measures eoming in for
criticism. If I had criticised Mr. Muzaffar Ahmad and his
Comrades which I did rather strongly it was not in a reference to
what he did to me personally, because, as I have said all along, our
p-rsonal relations were cordial, but with reference to the conduct
and policy they pursued, which I considered extremely harmful to
the movement with which [ was associated in a responsible capacity,
in which I believed, and for.-the success of which I was and I am
ready to suffer as much as they are ready to do for the movement
in which they believe. I am sure Mr. Muzaffar was actuated by
the same mctive in his hostility to me, There is also another aspect
of this matter which is likely to cause some confusion because of
the limitations imposed on human speech. En political controversies
we often find the parties or persons belonging to one side charging
the other with personal prejudice, bias or grudge. Even there it
-should not be taken literally in the sense of private grudge without.
due regard to all the circumstances or due reference to the context.
Now, I had come to realise since after I had made some progress
in the organisation of the Jute Workers’ Union at Chengail and.
Bauria that I was being regarded with particular hostility by Mr.
Kalidas Bhattacharji with- the support or connivance of Mr.
Muzaffar Ahmad. But even here it must:be taken that I was so
regarded as [ thought I was becaunse, as the Secretary of the Bengal
. Trade Union Federation, I was bent upon organizing Unions which

t
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if they really develop into strong Unions would surely hamper those
incharge of the policy of the B.J. W. A. in the pursuit of their
particular policy even if these Unions were, as I had suggested
more than once to Mr. Bhattacharjiaand his friends,either federated
or formed into single Union with Head Office in Calcutta and
branches at several centres. Now this may be regarded asa
personal hostility, but only in the sense that though they had no
criticism to offer to my conduct of the strike, to my sche me of
Federation or fusion, yet they wodld opposs me at every step,
hamper me in my task and carry on propaganda against me-—all of
which might bring about the collapse of the strik e—=simply because
my success would mean the success of the Bengal Trade Union
Federation, which they wanted to preveat at all costs. In other
words they recognised that in doing what I was doing 1 was carry-
ing out the policy of the B:agal Trade Union Federation in
accordance with the principles for which the Federation stood and
which it was their duty to oppose. Here though the opposition
- was directed al me personally, but it was done so because I was
representing a_particular policy. The learned Magistrate did not
take into account this aspect of the case, though a study of .the'
records. as had been presented by thz Prosecution to him at that
stage would have given him enough Taterials for coming to a

correct finding,

_ D.1y/6/31.

- The nalure of the hostility as I have tried to explain would
appear from P. 593 T, being aa editorial note published in the
Ganawani of 26:h July 1928, that is within a fortnight
of the commencement of the deadlock at Bauria, Here there is
nothing which indicates personal, in the sense of private, grudge.
Ganavani was-the declared organ of the Workers’ and Peasants’
Party, and the Bengal Jute Workers’ Association was affiliated to
the Workers’ and Peasants’ Party, It is quite natural ‘to assume
therefore that the Workers” and Peasants’ Party was suppording
the attitude takenup by the Bzaugal Jute Workers’ Association.
The attitude taken up by the Bengal Jute Workers’ Association
under the leadership of Mr. Kali Das Bhattacharji was summed up

~ by me in P. 24 which is a letter dated the 17th December 1928
addressed by me to Mr. N. M. Joshi, of which one part was
misinterpreted by the Proseeution while the rest was completely
ignored, This is what I said about the difference between myself
and Kali. Das: “his presumption is that becaunse his Union is
cxlled the Bengal Jute Workers’ Association therefore allthe Unions
that may be formed by the Workers in the Industry should be as
its braa:azs. | pointed out to Kali Das that let the organisation qk"
the Unions go on and then it would be tine for the Jute Unions to

-
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consolidate themselves on the basis of Federation or into one
Union with branches spreading ont in the whole Jute area.” *

In the editorial note in the Ganavani referred to just now 1
have been criticised for my failure to carry out a resolution passed
by the A.I.T.U C. at Delhi discouraging the formation of small

overlapping unious in the same Industry. The full text of the

resclution referred to may be found in .D 240 which isa circular
letter dated 15th May 1927 addhessed by Mr. N.M. Joshi to the
members of the Executive Council, the Secretaries of the -affiliated
unions and the Secretaries of the Provincial Committees as well as
Provincial organisors and this circular dealt with the very resolution
referred to in the editorial note. After regretting that the Congress
while passing the resolution omitted to name the Committee or
to lay down the method by which the committee should be
appointed to formulate detailed plans whereby the existing local and
sectional unions shoald be amalgamated into National Industrial
organisations, the circular concludes thus:— ““It may be suggested
that asa beginning effort should be.made to unite or at least to
federate rival unions existing in one industry or undertaking ‘in
the same town or city, and it may also be suggested that the

Provincial Committees are specially fitted to undertake this work."”

In about the middle of 1927 — this circular was dated 15th
May 19271 tried my best to put an end to the rivalry of the
Kankinara Labour Union and Bengal Jute Workers’ Association.
1f ever there was over=lapping it was here — the. offices of the
two Unions were within about .three "miles of each other - they
used to operate practically in the same area. I persmaded the
Kankinara Labour Union to submit to arbitration by threatening
it that I-should resign from the Vice Presidentship.” I suggested
the name of an impartial ‘gentleman named Srigut -Upendra Nath
Banerji, who commands universal esteem in Bengal,

The Kankinarah Labour Union agreed to be bound by his
decision whatever that decision :might be, but Mr. Kalidas
Bhattacharji, though he did not point blank refuse to accept
arbitration, managed to avoid -it or evade it till I gave up the
attempt in despair. The position was therefore that while the:
Jute Industry employed about 3,60,000 workers there were two
Umons claiming between them not'more than three thousand

members, as could be ]udaed from the affiliation fee each paid to
the AL T.U.C.

The Bengal Jute Workers’ . Association was four or five

%ears old. Itsecured financial help from Dundee Jute Workers’
Union and &lso secured a grant from the A,LT.U.C. in 1926 at a
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tneeting of its Executive in Bombay in April, when 1 supported

most strongly Mr. Bhattacharji’s application for help in spite of

his tacit support to the other Party in the Federation dispate. I
supported Mr. Bhattacharji’s ‘application to his own surprise,
because I have always held and consistently acted on the principle

that the leaders’ quarrels or differences of opinions should mever

be allowed to interfere with mutual cooperation in the broader

interests of the working class, whether in the matter of orgaunisation

or in the matter of brining a strike to a successful issue. But when

I found that in"spite of the help he received the organisation work

was not proceeding satisfactorily, that the vast bulk of the workers

remained un-organised, that Mr, Bhattacharji affiliated the Union

to the Workers' and Peasants® Party, while keeping the Union as

much aloof from the Provincial Committee of the A.LT.U.C. as

was possible for a Union affiliated to the Congress, I considered it

absurd for the Provincial Committee to wait for the pleasure of
this Jute Union to organise the workers in that particular'i}idustry.

I submiited a report to the Executive Council of the A.L.T.U.C

which held ils meeting at Delhi in February 1528 drawing- pointed

attention to the possibilities in the Jute area. D 2181is a part of:
the draft copy of a report I submiited to Mr. N. M. Joshi, the
General Secretary on the eve of the meeting of the Executive

Council. (A look at the report would make it clear that certain

pages were missing from it.). ]

The Champdany Labour Leagde referred to in. this report
was a union, which lat first thought of re-organising but
subsequently had to give up the idea for the time being, firstly,
because it was not far away enough from the two existing Unions
to avoid friction which I wanted to avoid at all costs and secondly
because chance gave me an opening at Chengail which, - besides
being far away from the two rival Unions, offered opportunities
for organising alarge number of workers within a comparatively
compact area covered by Chengail, Chakkasia and Bauria, with the
further prospect of enabling the Federation to operate on certain
other mills close by on the opposite side of the Ganges. These.
considerations diverted my attention and subsequently ‘engrossed
my time and eanergy to such an extent as to make it impossible -
for me to take up the re-organisation of Chémpdhny Labour
Leagne. My idea was to buildip a big and strong Union with
membership of at least 30 to 40 thousand. Such a Unibn, when
the question of fusion or Federation with the existing Unions in the
Industry should come, would naturally have a large voice in the:
matter of that re-constitution and would be able to bring effective-
pressure on smaller Uanions in the same’ industry frittering away
their energy in petty squabbles, and put an end to their ‘rivalry.
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The B.T.U.F would also be considerably strengthened and so
consequently would be the AL T.U.C because the Central body
or the Federaled body draws its nourishment from fts
constituents or component parts. My end was to make the Bengal
Trade Union Federation and consequently -the ALT.U.C a
powerful body, and to do this X had to set abuut organjsing strong
Unionis — the best and most effective way to strengthen the
Trade Union Movement. The Jute Industry for 2 first peginning
offered, according to me the best field and I commenced operations
there to be extended gradually as I said ju my repart; that is
D 218 to other mdustnes as well,

~ But the attitude of the Bengal Tute vyfwrkexs A,ssociation
was distinetly hostile. The associatiop in its own time and at 1ts
own pleasure wanted to take up the oraamsahon work No one
else, .not even the Federatlou under the dmect authonty from the
T. U. C. should undsrtake thjs work. The ]Jute workers should
wait till the Association chooses to exﬁend its sphere oi o,pgratwns
to cover the entire area. Jt reminds one, ¢ I may be pardoned in
saying so, of the White @gstrahan Pohcy whxch would leave the
vast stretches of land in Australia unpeqp]ed and undeYeloped for
centuries rather than allow the yellow skumed peopl¢ frem pvet-
crowded Japan and China to settle there. It may be, butI am not
sure, that Mr. ,Kalldgs Bhattacharji and his Comrades thought J.t
better for the workerto wait indefinitely than be orgapised gr_xg_e”‘r
yellow leadership. At aay rate, this is an impression one gets from
an article in the Inprecofr of 3rd Januaty 1929 which the Prose-
cution failed to put in before the Inquiry Magistrate, perhaps in 3
fit of absent-mindedness. The article is entitled “The Bauria Jute
Mill Lock-out in India' by M. Alj. lf what the prosecution has
said or suggested about Mohammad Ali alias Sepassi is true, it
would not be far fetched if | spbmit that this M. Ali is Mohammad
Ali alias S¢passi. But it matters.very little for my purpose whether
the writer is Mohammad Alior the man in the moop, because
what [ am coacerned to show is that the feelings of hoshhty mani-
fested by the leaders of the B. J. W. A, with the official support of
the Workers’ & Peasants’ Party, were reflected in the Inpecorr,
which the Prosecation contends is the official organ of the Commus
nist International. . The writer referred to the Reformist lpad,ers,
M. K. Bose and my humble self, and took care to give my full
designation, namely Searetary of Bengal Trade Union Federatiop
and President of Baaria Jute Workers! Union. Then the writer
quditesan articlewhich is evidently a report in a Calcutta newspaper:
and he refers to a visit of mine to Chengzil and Bauria “ to see how
order and former peace eould be re-established and whether a

hcalth,"yfxtmospher_e of confidence is passible betweenthe employera
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and workers.” This and other facts, as the writer finds stated in
the newspaper from which he quotes,- give him.an occasion for the
usual fulmination against ' thé treacherous role played by Refor-
mist Trade Union Leaders” which role the ‘writer sums up as
folows: “ toMiscourage and sabotage strikes in the beginning in
case the workers. refu;e\g listen to their advice and go on sltrike
and show a fighting spirit, te try to take the leaders.hxp in their
hands in order finally to betray the strikes by making an * Hon’ble
settlement’.” . Then the writer goes on to say * ‘The Bauria Union
which wgrks urder the instractions of the re-actionary Federatipn
led by Gosh is playing the same role from the beginning. The Bengal
jute Workers’ Associationgmew an old organisation now under .the
leadership of the W.P.P, (Workers' & Peasants® Party) is at war
with the Federation and so far has not had the Qpportunity of
coming openly out inthe struggle at Bauria beyopd the fact
that certain spea«kers Arom the W. P. P. and the Asso.cxatxon hayge
spoken at the meetings of the strikers.

Then the writer, just to prove how damnable the Reformists
are, resorts to half-truths and misrepresentations. Instead of giving
all the facts in regard to a ‘meeting held at Bauria which was
attended by one Mr, Cameron with an offer for settlement, the
writer quotes one or two short extracts from a newspaper which 1
shall presently showis The * Forward” of Calcutta, and then
glves"an extremely garbled account of what took place in the
meeting. Fortunately I found amongst the articles recovered
from niy search a cutting from the ‘Forward’ canfaining 2 xeport
of the identical meeting which I have putinas D 179 (35 3ud .3
look both at D 179 (2) and the article in the Inprecors woyld enable
Your Honour to see that some of the extracts in #the letter arg
verbatim quotations from the former.

In this connection I must saya word or twa in regard to
the ﬁndmg of the learned Magistrate on page 272 where he observes
_that ‘the Bauria-Union was affiliated to' B. T.U. F. in opposition
to the wishes of W.P.P. (R 2419). Now, sir, P 2419
happens to be a photo of a letter dated 22. 10. 28 purporting to he
from Spratt to * Dear Robln. I haye very caréfully gone through
this exhibit which gives an account of the activities of the Workers’
& Peasants’ Party in conlngcl;lon_ w;u; gtn,ke_s, I saw there nolhmg
which supports the finding of the Magistrate.. ’Ihere was never
any question of:considering the wishes of the W. P. P. in regaré
1o the affiliation of Bauria Jute. Workers® Union—noy at, the time
there could be any question of its affiliation at all to thp’ Federa-
tion because the Fnion -itself was.formed under the. zuspices of the
‘Federation whxch was condugtiog thg strike that, qngm.‘}ed in ahe
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lock-out. The Union, according to Congress constitution could
not be affiliated to the A.I. T.U. C. unless.it had completed one
year of its existence and the affiliation would have to be through the
Federation, that is, the Provincial Committee. As soon as it would
be affiliated it would be accorded full autfiomomyy in accordance
with the constitution of both the A. I.T. U, C. and its Provincial
Committee. :

But while P, 2419P does not support the finding of the
learned Magistrate, it supports me in the account it gives of the
relation between the Bengal Trade Union Federation *and the
Workers' & Peasants’ Party and .thq attitude of the Bengal
Jute Workers Association and the Workers’ and Peasants’
Party towards the Bauria Jute Workers® Union. I quote
the relevant extractt “ in connection with the Bauria
Jute Mill strike which is still going onm, I believe we have
pursued a thoroughly wrong policy. The situation is that the
oldest Jute Union, the Jute Workers’ Association, is led by us, but
there recently have been established at Chengail and Bauria
separate Unions under the rather reactionary leadership of the
Bengal Trade Union Federation. When the lock-out took place
at Bauria the Association instead, of helping and getting support
simply stood aloof and did nothing. 1 have been to Bauria a
numbér of times and have tried, since I realised what was happen-
ing, to persuade the Association to alter its policy .but without
success. The Federation is naturally making much capital out of
it. The feud has as usual assumed an intensely personal form and
to act correctly in such circumstances is very difficult. ”

In view of what I said yesterday about the difficulty of
condemning-measures and at the same time sparing those who are
responsible for those measures and are parties to disputes arising
out of differences of views and outlook developing into an attack
on persons differing from each other and also in view of the
explanation given by Spratt in this Court of the quarrel between
me and those of * his political views ” being due to Trade Union
rivalry, it is not difficult to see that the learned Magistrate erred
in holding that my enmity with Muzaffar Ahmad was personal in
the sense that'we had private grudge against each other.

There is another point in this connection which should be
noted. "~ The writer in the Inprecorr suggests that the members of
the Workers’ and Peasants’ Party so far had not had the opportunity
of coming openly eut in the struggle because of the * cussedness *
of the Bauria Union which under. the reactionary Federation was"
playing the treacherous role of the reformists, so kindly assigned
by the Commuaists to the reformists all over the world. But P 2419
Pseems to be more concerned with truth than with provirg the
wicked charactér of the reformists and writes that the B. J. W. A.
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instead of helping and getting support simply stood aloof, and
thereby gave the rather reactionary leadership of the B. T.U. F.
a handle for criticism or to quote the exact words ‘ making much
capital out of jit."” It should be noted here that I, far from refusing
the help from any member” of the Workers’ and Peasants' Party
because of my difference of political views with them, invited such
help, but the help was not coming, instead of it opposition and
criticism were my lot, and when I wrote P24 to Mr. Joshi I
was referring to this aspect of the conduct of certain members of
- the Workers’ and Peasants’ Party whom I considered to be Com-
munists in their beliefs and sympathies. Here and there, there
are certain other exhibits put in by the Prosecution or defence
which caun be cited in support of my explanation tlgat there are
political differences which are responsible for the clash between
mwe and Mr. Muzaffar Ahmad and his comrades and that there was
nothing personal in it. I have also, while disputing the finding of
the learned Magistrate, shown the character of the relations
between the Bengal Trade Union Federation as represented by me
and the Workers’ and Peasants’ Party and the B.]J. W. A. as
represented respectively by Mr. Muzaffar Ahmad and Mr. Kali
Das Bhattacharji. ’

But I consider that my explanation would not be complete
unlesg in this connection I dispose of certain matters referred to
by the learned Magistrate who, like the Prosecution, seem to
have a very confused notion as to my exact relations with the
Workers' and Peasants’ Party. To a certain extent the Prosecu-
tion is responsible, as I have pointed out on several occasions in
the course of my statemeant, for misleading the learned Magistrate
by the suppression of material evidence which might have helped
him to come to a correct finding. To a certain extent, if I may
say so, the learned Magistrate himself is responsible because, as
I find the reference that he himself gives as the basis of his
finding does not sometimes bear him out. I have already given
one instance by a reference to P 2419, I intend to give here
another. On page 279 the learned Magistrate, while admitting
that my * relations with Bengal Party (W. P. P.) were poor” (in
flat contradiction to what he said on page 276 where he has no
doubt at all that I was “on very intimate terms with most of the
Bengal accused ”, continues * Muzaffar Ahmad had attacked him
in the Ganavani for creating separate Uniogs at Bauria and
Chengail (P 593) (page 279 last para) and it was looked on as a
retrograde step that they should be affiliated to the B. T. U. F.
a “rather reactionary” body. (P. 2419). Inspite of this Spratt
and other members of the Party helped him to conduct the Strikes
and even accepted office in the Uniong (P, W. 69).° I have already
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pointed out how in view of the relations between Chengail and
Bauria Unions with the Federations there can be no questjon of
affiliation and that there was no mention about it in (P 2419 P).
As regards his reference to P, W, 69 I may say that there is
nothing in his statement to support the view ‘fhat any of the
members of the Workers’ and Pessants’ Party took office at
Chengail Jute Workers’ Union or even at Bauria.

Dated 18, 6. 31,

I have given a somewhat detailed account of my relations
with the Bengal accused, the circumstances in which I came to be
aoquainted with those whom I knew and the character of our
relations. I have also given an account of the character of my
connection-with the Bengal Jute Workers’ Association and with
the Bengal Peasants’ and Workers' Party with particular reference
to Bauria Dead-lock. In connection with Ryan I have also
explained that the presence of Messrs, Dharni Goswami and
Muzaffar Ahmad at a Federation meeting was due to the fact that
they were office-bearers of a Union, namely the Scavengers,
which was not yet affiliated to the A. 1. T. U. C.or B. T. U. F
because it did not as yet, as required by the Congress constitution,
complete one year’s existence.

There -were certain other occasions on which either Dharni
Goswami or Mr. Muzaffar Ahmad or both figure in connection
with Federation meetings, for example both of them were elected
oa a Committee formed by the Federation to take aH measures for
the success of the May Day celebration which all affillated Unions
and Provincial Committees were asked to organise by circular
letter issued by Mr. N. M., Joshi, General Secretary to the
A.I. T.U.C. 1 do not think it is necessary to reply to the
suggestion made by the Prosecution that whatever might have
been the origin of May Day it is now essentially an occasion for
Communist Demonstration. D. 254 will show that the Inter-
national Federation of Trade Unions at Amsterdam has not yet
accepted the Prosecution view about May Day. In this connec-
tion I noticed that P, W. 53 who deposed to this celebration of
May Day did not give even the gist of what I said‘at the meeting
held on that occasion. D. 162 will show, as page 37 of P 26
shows, that the whole thing was duly organised by the Federation,
I notice in this connection that this particalar exhibit has been
so printed as to give the idea that only six .persons, namely
"Muzaffar Ahmad, Aftab Ali, Dharni Goswami, Radha Raman
Mittra, Bankim Mukherjee and myself were the members of the
Committee. As a matter of fact there were several others who
represented Unions affilidted or not yet affiliated :including
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Mr. Mrina] Kauti Bose, the President of the Federation.

Tkere was, as far as ] remember, only one occasion when
the Bengal Tra j?lnlon F deratron invited the representatwes
of the worker 28 as in connectroa with a meetmg
it held to devrse ways and means for an organrsed campaign
against the Trade Drsputes Bill and the Pubhc Safety ‘Bill.
Do§ wasa letter dated 15. 8, 28 addressed by me tQ the Geneta_l
Secretary and to the Labour Secretary of the Workers and
Peasants’ Party of Bengal who were, if I remember anght res-
pectrvely Mr. Muzaffar Ahmad and Mr. Dharm Goswamx. Thxs
letter was in reply toa letter over their Jomt srgnaturea addressed
to me suggesting that the ] Federatron should take steps and that
the Workers and Peasants Party was prepared to Fooperate wrth
it in the steps that it mrght talre for an organrsed campargn agamst
these Bills.

A meetxng of the Federation was held on the 21st August
snd dealt with this letter as would appear from lts proceedmgs
‘P 26 I, page 4I. A resolutlon Vas moved by Mr. K C. Roy
Choudhry and seconded by Mr. Daud in regard to this letter and
steps that the Federatron should take in the matter. This resolu-
tion also decrded to convene a conference of the representatives of
Unrons.aﬂilratedand non-aﬂilrated as also of the workers te be held
on the.'znrl of September 1928 The Conference was duly held on
that date upder the auspices ot the F ederatron at Albert Hall to
whlch besrdes the Union representatrves were also ‘invited the
representau.ves of the Bengal provmcxal Congress Committee and
of the Workers and Peasants' Party In P. 544 (2) which was
dropped by the prosecutron in this Court but retained by me as a
Defence Exhibit, a rough idea of what took place in the Conference
may be obtained.’ As rough notes for a report to be drawn up
later on, this document, which was perhaps prepared by Sprath
may be relied upon as substantrall? accurate barring one or two
mistakes due to the fact that the proceedings were mostly
conducted in vernacular whrch Spratt could -not plck up as yet;
for example in the concludmg portions of the note under the
head Discussion we find * Godbole (Illegrble) ......... self, Kishori,
Mahbub, Daud and many others attacked .Congress and
cooperation of B.P.C.C.” and then we find “Kishori repudiates

Mahbub,” What happened was that a resolution drafted by me
w_as moyed by Mr. Radha Raman  Mittra and seconded
by Mr. Abdul Hagq, . General Secretary of the <+ndiaa
Bengal Maripers’ Union to the cffect thata series of meetmgs
should be qrgamsed under the ]omt ausprces of the Bengal Trade
Union  Federation and tbe Bengal Provmcral Committee of
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the Indian National Congress, with a view to explain to the public
in general and the workers in ‘particular the pernicious and
reactionary character of the two Bills, that is the Trade Dispute
Bill and the Pubiic Safety Bill, .and SALEG, UpOD. ,the members
of the legislative Assembly to throw them outi There were
certain other clauses in the resolution, but I am referring only to
the relevant portion — the points in the resolution may be found
in the concluding portion of P. 544 (2). Now the representatives of
the Workers’ and Peasants’ Party including Spratt opposed
Congress cooperation, and in this they were supported by some
of the leading Trade Unionists like Messrs. Mahbubul Huq (whose
name has come into the records as President of the Chengail Jute
Workers’ Union) and Daud who presided over the Jheria
session of the A, I.T.U.C, It was through mistake that Spratt mast
bave included me in the list of those who, as he describes, attacked
Congress and opposed inviting the cooperation of B.P.C.C. The
mistake may be due to the fact that my first speech was in Bengali.
As a matter of fact, when I found that the resolution was about
to be defeated because most of the Union representatives were
likely to be influenced by Messrs. Mahbubul Haq and Daud 1
took permission of the chair to remove certain mis-conceptions
which might arise in consequence of the speeches made against
Congress cooperation particularly by Mr. Mahbubul Haq, who
seemed to think that by acting in cooperation with the Congress
we ran the risk of lesing our Independence and of being realgated,
to the position of a subordinate body. The second speech I
delivered in English because ‘1 had also to meet some of the
objections to the cooperation as urged by Spratt. However, I
persuaded the Conference by a large majority to pass the resolution,
of which I have already given the substance as far as it is relevant
to the present case, '

The representatives of the Worker's & Peasants’ Party
naturally did not like the resolution, far less did they like the
idea of cooperation with the Provincial Committee of the National
Congress. In * Ganavani” dated the 6th September 1928 which
has been marked P 593 there is on page 3 an extract marked
with blue pencil as D 188, a translation of which would be
found on page 21 of the printed deposition of 'P. W. 92. 1 am not
so much concerned wilh the criticism itself, which can be easily
met, as to show the sort of views entertained by the Party on
the_.Conference as expressed through its organ, There is another
attack on me in the same issue in connection with another matter,
namely the Simon Commission. I am not concerned with showing
that this criticism was unjust, that as Secretary of the
Federation I took stepsin the matter but in a way which and
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at 2 time when the Federation considered suitable, What I am
concerned with showing here was how the Workers’ & Peasants’
Party missed no opportunity in criticising the Federation and
its unfortunate Secretary. In accordance with the resolution of
the” Conference a number of public meetings was “held, the first
of which was held at Albert Hall under the Presidency of, if
I remember aright, Mr. J. M. Sen Gupta. But it was hard
to please.the Workers’ and Peasants’ Party and its organ, the
Ganavani, which in its issue of 13-9-28 came out with some left-
handed compliments in an editorial note marked D 189, a translation
of which is to be found on page 23 of the deposition of P. W. 92.
As a programme of a series of meetings with date and place was
published in most of the papers, to be held under the joint auspices
of the B, P. C, C. and B. T, U. F, in pursuance of the resolution
passed at the Conference, the members of the Party had to admit
that something was done. But it was not clear to the **Ganavani”
as to how far our activities would extend, It then goes into
psychological problems: “considering the mentality with which this
party has begun work it does not at all seem likely that they will
at all go farther than makipg speeches in a number of protest
meetings. If the Congress and the Federation hope by this sort
of speech-making to frighten the Government of India and achieve
their purpose we are bound to acclaim their self-confidence.”

I need not meet this criticism also because, easy though it is
to meet, ‘this is not a place for doing it. Put while not claiming to
know the “ mentality ” of the Workers’ and Peasants’ Party I find
that their activities did not extend beyond a leaflet or two in English,
which is of course the language with which to approach the Indian

. workers, and a few articles in *Ganavani” the style of which,
however it might do credit to the literary attainments of its
conductors, was certainly’ beyond the comprehemsion of the
workers.

Now I come to deal with P. W. 90 and P. W. 254 who deposed
respectively that I took parb in a demonstration organised by the
All India Workers’ and Peasants’ Party on the 23rd December and
that I attended the Conference of-the All India Conference of the
party held at Albert Hall on the 21st, 2nd and ¥3rd December

1948, ‘
~

** As reg§ds his attendance at the All India Workers’ and
Peasanta’ Party Conference ", observes the learned Magistrate, **and
his participation in the procession I cannot regard it as entirely
unnatural for one who had an official pesition in the Trade
Union Movement and had personal friends among the leaders of
the Party. I do not {hink that these things taken by themselves
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show:such a close ‘connection - with the W, P, P. that he must
necessarily 'be assamed to have accepted their aims,” and then he
goes on to give his views as to when strikes and Labour meetings
are legitimate and when illegimate. Itwall depends on the purposes
“in view, ' With regard to his views on strikes and Labour meetings
Ishall -have an occasion to deal with them later on. Here I am
concerned wilh his finding regarding my alleged attendance in the
. Conference and. participation in the demonstration organised by it.
But here-also I need not discuss how far-a person officially connect:
ed with a public body can take partin the meetings and demons-
trations of another hody with which he-does not see eye to eye, as
a matter of fact with which -he was fighting in his official capacity.
Thie question does "not arise because I did not participate in the
demonstrations at all~1 was not everi aware that such a demounstra-
tion was organised. !

As regards my attending the Conference if going thére for a
few minutes once.in the course of three days and that at’its fag-"
and for some other purpose which had nothmg to do with the Con--
ference was attendance, I must admit that I did attend the Counfer-
ence. The facts briefly stated. are these. On''the last day of the’
Executive Council meeting of the A. I. T. U. C.at Jharia T appeal-’
ed to the representanves of the Trade Unions for heip'to 'the Bairia
workers with “the resalt that a few “hundred rupeés were promised’
onrthe'spot by the represeatatives of the Unions like the Jamshed-
put Labour . Uniod, Jharia Colliery Employees Umon. G. LP. Ry.
Union, Bombay Textile: Union of which R. R., Bakhle was the
General :Secretary, - B. N. R. Indian Labour ‘Union etc. Diwan
Chaman Lal promised on behalf of the Puajab Workers a handsome
donation: and B. F. Bradley promised on behalf of Girni Kamgar
Union (not yet affiliated to the. Congress)a sum of Rs. 100/- as
hesaid “on his own  responsibility” which he hoped would be
increased. Shortly after when I met Bradley and some other Bombay
Trade Unionists in Calcutta at European Asylum Lane where
I went to see them as soon as 1 learnt :of their arrival in Calcutta,
I told him that I wanted to take them for a visit to Bauria. I wanted
to let them see for' themselves the condition of things prevailing at
Baitria' so that ‘they might secure'some help fram the Bombay
workers. Bradley made an appointment for himself and his friends,
for the 23rd December and asked me to pnck them up from Albert
Hall in the afternoon as they would be there at the time in connection
with the Conference, I went there and met Abdul Halim at the door,
who took me into the Hall where the Conference "was to be held-
and shoved into my hand a number of leaflets and pamphlets and
relating to the Conference and regretted he could not give a me copy!
of the Presidential Address as the printed copies were either exhaust-
ed ar it was oot yet printed—I do not remember what. However’
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I'had no time to do anything more than exchange a few words with
some whom I knew. B. F. Bradley who came to me from the dais
or platform and expressed his inability to come in view of the state
of things which I found very - much disturbed. As a matter of fact
I found the Conference rather uproarious and Sardar Sahib was
frantically trying to restore order. It was I was told because of
some highly controversial point. However Bradley took me out of
the Hall with- two or three gentlemen including Mr. Kulkarni of
the G. L. P. Railway Union with- whom I was introduced at Jharia, ,
The other gentlemen were also .the office-bearers of the same,
Union, who I understood would accompany me. A s T had very,
little time to spare I hurried them , on to a taxi which was unfortu-
nately held up near the Howrah Bridge, which as, those who have
gone to Calcutta know very well is very much congested with
traffic. . At Howrah Station .two or. three othqr,qud’e,‘Umpmsts,,
including Mr. Kalappa of the B.N.R, who in 1929 attended Geneva
as advisor and at the British. Trade Union Congress as the fra-
ternal delegate from A L. T. U. C., were, to wait for me by appoint- ‘
ment as they -too were invited _by me to go to Bauria. However I
found Mr. Kalappa alone, but we missed the train and as there was
no convenient down train 'available to take us back:to Hopwrah the
same night if we had started by the next train, Sp we had to come
back dxsappomted I took them in a taxi and left them at the jung-
tion of Harrison Road and College Square vyery close to Albert
Hall ffom where I took them. I do not remember whe:e Kalappa
got down, I then went away home very much disappointed as the
gentlemen - whom I had taken with me on.a fruitless errand were
going away the same night or the pext day and so could not go to
Bauria. This is the story of my attendance at the Conference,

In connection with the deposition of P. W. 254 Rai Bahadur
M.V. Trivedi Superintendent of. Police, I begto point .out that
P.W. 36 8.I. G.B.Roy of the Caleutta Special Branch C.ID, who
alsodeposed to this Conference did not mention my name at all. If
remgmber aright the R. B. also could not identify me in_the Inquiry
Court though he read out from a list certain names which included
my name. -Now Sub Inspestor G. B. Roy who. certainly had seen,
me on many ocoasions and in many meetings in the course of hijs
official duties including the meeting of the 8th. May 1928 to which
he deposed in this Court, must have mentioned my name if be had
happened to see.me, This officer did not mention my name amongst
those present. 1t is extremely unhkaly that he ehould have omitited
to mention me if I were there as one, *‘ who ™ { to quote the' junior
Publio Prosecutor )“took an mbetest in the proceedmgs P.W. 254
states, * the whole of my evidence has been given from memory ‘
apart from the list of persons present at the All India Workers' ani
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Peasants’ Conference given by me, The typed list from which 1
refresh my memory was prepared by me soon after the meeting was
over from memory and also from notes taken by me. After prepar-
ing my report I destroyed my notes. Those rough notes contained
other facts relating to the proceedings of the Conference, that is
connected with the Conference. The list was submitted along with
my report. I do not know what has become of my report. Presu-
mably it is in the office........ there were also members of the Bengal
police present whose names I do not know. - I think there were
also reporters present....... I have not seen any of the personsin
this list since I left Calcutta after that Conference......... T had full
opportunity to see the accused when I was giving evidence in the
lower Court in order to identify them. IXnthe Lower Court I iden-
tified Gauri Shankar, Ghosh and Shamsul Huda, I heard my
evidence read out there and signed it, finding it to be correct.........
Ino doubt in the Lower Court in giving the names of persons
present in the Jharia Congress gave one name as Bose or Ghoss, I
was referring to acoused Kishori Lal Ghosh.” I have quoted rather
at length from the deposition of this witness to show how much
_reliance is to be placed on him. He did not indentify me at all in
-thé Lower Cour$, when the time that had elapsed between his seeing
me last and when he came to depose in the Lower Court was shorter
than when he came last before this court, and yet his memory seems
to have improved with the lapse of time ! Moreover he was not at all
sure a8 0 whether a Bose or a Ghose was present at Jharia, Buf in
this Court he bad no doubt that by Bose or Ghose he referred to me.
Further though he admits that he did not see any of the persons in
the list since he left Calcutta after the Conference yet his memory
was 80 sharp that he could identify 2 man after seeing him once or
twice ! Then with’ regard to that report of his, nobody knows,
least of all he, as to what became of it, though the list which he
stated he had submitted along with his report was available to him
for refreshing his memory. 1t is also & well-known fact that while
Kasle had never gone to Calcutta he was made to attend the
Conference in Calcutta by this witness. Bimilar was the case with
Muzaffar Ahmad who was made to attend Jharia Session of the
A. I. T, U. C. though as far as we know he did not attend it. This
witness farther is so resourceful that he could get an entrance
into the Executive Council meeting of A. I T. U. C. which is not
open to any one other than members. If the report with which the
list was annexed was as he presumes in the office, then it seems to be
rather upusual that instead of relying on the report for refreshing
his memory he would give evidence without its aid while being
furnished only | wibh the list of the names of those who
attended the Conference. -
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As regards P. W.-90 A. B. I. Abdul Rashid Khan all that I
can say that it is not difficult for people of his position to know me
because it was their job to do so and to put, or to mention iy name
in any connection that he wants was not a difficult job particularly
as he also was speaking from memory and had not even a list as the
R. B. Trivedi had. The learned junior Public Prosecutor wanted to
make a point against me because I did not give any explanation
about this in the Lower Court. *If he was not interested in the
movement,” he contended, “why did he go there ?” As a matter
of fact I confined myself in the Lower Cour only to answering the
question put by the Magistrate and volunteered only a few
observations regarding the character of my Trade Union activities
which I eonsidered to be necessary in view of the suggestion of the
Prosecution that the conspiracy was furthered or advanced by
participation in the Trade Union Movement. Moreover the nature
of the evidence tenderedin the Lower Court in this matter was such
as to throw considerable doubt as to its reliability. At any rate
that is what I thought and did not gonsider that it was important
enough to call for any voluntary statement on my part. Mr. Khairat
Nabi while your Honour was giving me & list of the exhibits to be
explained drew your attention that there were two copies of P. 51
and P 56 each, which happened respectively to be the]“Political”and
* Trade Union Resolutions of the Conference. All that I can say
with regard to these is that Mr. Abdul Halim was responsible for
this lavish distribution and I did not notice at the time at all what
those leaflets were and how many of them were given to me.

I may here say that I do nob consider that there is anything
criminal in attending a meeting or a Conference even though
forganised by a party with which one is not in agreement nor do I
think that attendance at such a meeting .necessarily implies
approval or acceptance of the views of the organisers or of what
transpires in the meeting because if this were so attendance in
most political meetings would be extremely thin. I also do mnotb
think that any apology or explanation is needed if amyone attends
such a meeting. As a matter of fact though I did not attend the
Bhatpara BSession of the Bengal Peasants’ and Workers’ Party
Conference in 1927, Mr. Mrinal Kanti Bose and myself as President
and Secretary respectively of the B. T, U. F. sent in a telegram
wishing success to the Conference, which no more implies approval
of its views than the message of good-will sent by Messrs Harry
Pollitt and William Paul to the All India Press Employees’
Conference implied that they approved of its views. I say this
also to bring out that in 1927 the Peasants’ and Workers’ Party
had very little activity to its credit which could bring about a
clash with the Federation; whereas in 1928 particularly towards

(1073}



the end the relations between the party and the Federation in
connection with Bauria and other 1natters, as I have already shown
by extracts from “Ganavani', were extremely strained. = It is
rather unusual for the Secretary of a public body to attend meetings
and Conference of another body in these circumstances.

-P 544 (3) is a list of Trade Unions in Bengal. There are' I
find the names of forty-four Unions. As the Secretary of the
Bengal Trade Union Federation it was of course one of my duties
to keep in touch with the Unions affiliated or even those which are
not yet affilisted. Bub I am sorry to say that except about 25 or
26 Unions I never heard the names of others nor knew that even
an attempt to organise the workers in these industries was going
to be made by anyone! Amongst the Unions which have been
alleged here to be affiliated with W, P.P. I know only three,
namely Bengal Scavengers’ Union, Bengal Textile Workers’ Union,
Bengal Paper Mill Workers’ Union aud heard about one more
namely the Bengal Transport Workers’ Uuion mcxdenta.lly in the
conrse of a conversation with ‘Mr., Shamsal Huda, who told me
that he was organising the Transport Workers’ Union. P 2510
ig in my hand-writing and it is a translation of a Bengali printed
Jeaflet or manuscript handed over to me by Mr. Muzaffar Ahmad
with a request to me to render it into English, it may be some time
in the middle of 1927, though I am not positive. It was, I under-
stood from him, the programme of the Peasants' and Workers’
Party of Bengal and ‘an Enghsh translation of it was urgently
required for circulation. It~ is a translation of P 1414 B. With
regard to the programme I shall have to say something later on.

Q. The following evidencs relates to the part taken by you
in- Trade Unions .and Strikes; P.W.’s 47, 94 and 36, P 1893 (1);
1893 ¢ 3), 2179, 2264, 2365, P. Ws 98, 27, 37, P 2222, 2223, 2224,
2044, 526 ( 15 ), 130, 696, 25, 83, 526 ( 7)), 694, 593 Ga.navani “of
96. 7. 28, 24, 116, 528 (9), 27, 526 (13), 107, 86, 70, 41, 43, 45, 119,
121,416 (8) and 955. Have you anything to say about this
ovidence 2 ® '

A. “The Secretary of the Bengal Trade Union Federation”,
observes the learned Magistrate, “might find nothing strange in
-attending such strikes and meetings (that is Chengail, Baunria and
Lillooah strikes) and of course it is not suggested that the accused
wers the only speakers or persons present. In particulsr he might
Yegitimately go to the meetings in conneetion with the Chengail.
and the Bauria strikes, because in both cases he was an office-
bearer of the Unions concerned and the Unions were founded under
@ direct mandate from the Congress (P 24) and the Bauria Union
-was affiliated to the B, T, U, F. in opposition to the wishes of the
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W. P. P. {P. 2419). It must, however, be brought out that he did
‘not attend any of the strike meetings at Lillocah: until.the W. B¢ B.
"had taken up the sirike more than three months afr.ar ite: dnception
-(P. W. 230)". -

I have already stated jn full my relations with the other
scoused particularly. in zelation to Bauria strike. In Chengail
strike I was associated with only two amongst gcgused,. namely

. Messrg Radha Baman Mitfra and Spratt. On one occasiod only
Messrs Gopendra Chskravarty and Shamsul Huda went with me
to Chengail from Bauris in company ‘with Mr. Johnstone. Except-

.ing that occasion which ig referred to in exhibits P. 24 and P 526(9)
I da not remember to have maet-Mr. Chakravarty anywhere elther

-ab Chengail or Bauris, 'With regard {o Mr. Radha Raman Mittra
I have alrgady stated the gircumstances under which I came to be
aoquainted with him and how hp was eleced to ba sn. ‘oﬁice-bearer
of the Chengail Jute Workery’ Union, Sprath went tg Chengail
at' my request on the first accagipn that qt.uke broke out there,
_ehortly after the formation of the Unjon.. It was from -Mr, Radha

Raman Mittra -that I firsf came ta kppw that the workers were
very excited and their rpsentmeu; at the cgnduct of the Ma.na.gel‘
-of the Ludlow Jnte Mill was sp deep thab they might gny moment
go on strike. He farther tpld me that the dismissal pf Mahadev,
# very active worker of the pewly formed Un;pn,‘ had made the
situation go serious that perhaps $he strike had. slready been

. declared ip his shsencq thongh thy workers. had. sgny him to e

_with the request that | should go there, I could not g9 because pi

eertain very important and upavoidshle engagements,

r

- But I wa.uted, to send gomeone with Mr. Radha Raman
Mittra who would be of real help to him and Mr. Bankin Mukem
the Secretary of the Umon, as both pf them were q,bsolutely new in
the Trade Umon field and la.cked experience. As time at my
dlsposa.l was very short because Mr. Mittra pointed out that delay
in going might ocause a very ugly situatipn, I thought

" of reqqesmaé Spratt to go with Mr, Mittra. In doing so I thought
that as Spratt’ had come to Calcutta deputed by Trade Union
Congress I could request him to help the Provincial Commxﬁtee in
case of urgent need, though the matter might not be very striotly

* within the scope of the task he was entrasted with. But subsequen-
Iy Spratt himself ‘took a great deal of interest in the strike and-for

"about’ ten days that the strike continued he remained most of the
‘time there with the Secretary, till a satisfactory settlement was
arrived at in' which also he was present with me and the  Secretary
Mr. Bankim Mukerji. Later in the evening Mr. Mittra came back

' from Chavgail and informed e that the men had come- out - before
ha weut back gnd 80 nothma could be done. Iy musﬁ be meuﬁmned

: . s
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here that while sending a letter requesting Spratt to accompany
Mr. Mittra I also sent a short note addressed to the workers express-
ing to them my inability to go and exhorting $hem to realise, fully
before they took the step that they intended taking,the consequences
of the same. In this connection a word is necessary to explain the
position in which a newly formed Union finds itself in a similar sitn-
ation,viz when the workers go on Strike without reference to the
union that is without previous deocision being taken by the union for
that step. In countries, particularly Great Britain, where Trade Union
Movment had a long history behind it and the working class in the
course of a prolonged struggle with the employers has gained expe-
rience and discipline it has dome to be recognised that the workers
should not go on strike unless it be declared through their respec-
tive unions. The decision is to be first arrived at in the union
meeting. If now the workers or a section of workers in any particu-
lar industry go on strike without the knowledge or authority of the
‘union the union may refuse to recognise the strike altogether. Not
only that, but the union before taking up negotiations or giving its
support to the strikers may insist on an unconditional resumption.
But in spite of these rigid rules even British Trade Unions, except
in cases where discipline demands the enforcement of these rules in
the interests of the organisation, have recognised cases in which
workers came out without the unions formally declaring the strike.
In India the position is quite different, HeIndian Trade
Union Movement is the youngest in the world, being about
ten or eleven years old. Large industries remain as yet unorganised.
The workers find conditions intolerable, more 8o when the employers
in their arrogant stupidity oharacterised by a lack of ixﬁhgination
behave in a way which wounds their susceptibilities or sentidents.
They come out in a body and remain out as long as they can and
then go back when driven to do so by sheer necessity. The employ-
ers also take <k advantage of this depressed mood of the workers
when they have absolutely no fight Jleft in them and take to the
process knownx ‘“‘combing out,” that is they refusg to take back
those, who being a little more spirited than the rest, taken the
initiative on the last occasion.

So in this condifion of things when a union is first formed,
the workers take to it enthusiastically as a sort of magic weapon
with which to fight the employers. Even those who do not join the
union are sure that the union would help them if they are in a diffi-
culty. But that the strength of the union depends on their own
support and the way in which the union is to be properly conducted,
is not realised by them. In the first stage they do not realise that
the strength of the union is dependent on their organised and discip-
lined support, and that if they have a right to be helped by the
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unien in all their difficulties thoy have a eorresponding duty to the
union, namely to do nothing which would weaken the union and to
take no step without its being thoroughly discussed in the uaion
executive consisting of their own representatives. This condition
of things is not peouliar to India. As a matter of fact in the early
stages of the British Trade Union Movement the pioneers of the
British Trade Union had to face this problem, and even now,
though instances are few and far between, strikes have been declared
first, leaving the union no option but either to ratify or repudiate it.
To repudiate a strike and leave the workers in the larch, even
though they have committed a blander, is a serious thing to do and
&5 union executive would venture to do it wnless thers is an
unanswerable case warranting the decision.

This was the position at Chengail. I at once realised the
sitution, because I had enongh experience of Trade Unions by that.
time to become familiar with the tactios often resorted to by the
employers, namely to measure their strength with & union newly
formed rather than to wait till it has time to get organised. So, as.
I propose to show in connection both with Changail and Bauria,
while the organisers of the union did their level best to avoid a
strike and all sorts of friction because this would hamper the task of
organisation, the employers did their best to goad the meu to a strike
go that they might prove the worthlessness of the union, which, in most.
cases not having the time to organise itself properly, collapses and
the employers generally succeed in these tactics as they succeeded
at Bauoria. They did so after a long and stiff fight yet they could
not break the Trade Union spirit which was developed in the
workers, ##At Chengail of course a settlement was arrived at because,
as I‘ird‘posed to show later on, whatever might have been the atti-
tude of the Manager at the beginning when he found that Trade
Union had come. to stdy at Chengail he wanted to be a3 much
friendly with the union, particularly in small matters, as his position
as the Mavager would allow him in the present stage of the organisa~
tion cf industries. Because of the horrible conditéon of things pre-
vailing in the industrial areas, which has been deseribed very graphi-
cally by Messrs.” Purcell and Halsworth and by Messrs. Johnston
and Sime—the latter in particular refers to the Jute area and is
corroborated by Mr. Brailsford in his deposition in this Court =
because of this condition, as I have said, no gennine Trade Uuvioniss
in India, however much he might be averse to the strike except as
the very last resort, can afford to sermonize the workers on their
hasty action, far less to repudiate it. Right or wrong he has got to
stand by the. workers-—see them through the fight as best as he can and
whett a settlement has been arrived at he might sermonize them ‘ta
his hearts content. At any rate that is how I understood my duty,
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and as I shall show by 8 refereuce to my la.ter speeches at Chengail

that I did spare ™ no’ ‘effort subsequently fo explmn
to' them what a Trade Union ' really 'is and that before a-

strike can be decided upon the manégement must be given an
opportunity to redress the grievances. There is anothet thing in
this connection which requires: some explanatiod in ¥iew of what'
has been‘deposed by P W. 27 and- stated by 'Mr. Radh& Raman
Mibtra—1 refer to-the question of §. D: 0.'s suggestion.” “The facts
arestated in the report of the Fiee- Press publishied i the news-
papers Fintend to tender which would throw:'some more light on
the matter. It givesthe gist ‘of the conversation’ I bad in' the
meeting with the 8. Di 0.  In order to prove’ to" the' 8. D. 'O, that
the workers had themselves placed the grievances before the”
management, before the Union had begun fto “press them on their
behalf, I addressed the workers and told them in thejr presence of the
8. D. O. what' he has just told me. I’ placed before them as
impartially as'I could the implications of the proposa.l made by the
8.D.0. WhileI emphagised that i woufd mean tha.ﬁ the m&nage-
ment would gaih its fpoint as’ far as'its refusal fo recogmse the
Udion was concerned at‘léast for the present Ialso pomted out tha.t
‘the Union 'was bound to be fecognised sooner or lafer if the workers ’
thémselves continued to' rernain loya.l to* the “Union and reahsed
thdt this w1llmgness to receive thelr aepuba,luon for' the first
time in their experience was due to the ‘fact of their havmg forme&

s Union. “With regard to the likeélihood of their grievances bemg
redressed 1 told them frankly that I could not assure them on thxs
point'as the 8. D. O. himself said to me that he had no a,ut;horlt;y to
commit the management, ' but "that it wa.s for them to decide
whother to accept the' offer of the 8.D .0. and send & aepuﬂa.m);:\?
with him. Aiter me Mr Mittra addressed the meetmg.

-3

In this connection a word or two 4se necessary on the
question of the recognition of Union. Iu the hlsbory of Trade ) '
Union Movement of every country it has been seen that two of the
most important probléms that the poineers of the Movement had to
face were the recognition by the Government of the Trade Umdns
as Gorporate bodies having the rights and liabilities of other corpo-
rate bodies. ~ For this recogmtxon the British Trade Umons _had to
fight for over half a century against the apathy of the Govetument
based on the prmclple of ‘laissez fair' ( which' was interpreted by
Charles Diclens as “ every one for himself and devil take the hind-
most ") and subsequently wheén the Leulsla.tlon took the ma.ttet up
and passed the Trade Union Actsin 187178, the ‘Acts were inter-
preted in such & way by the Judiciary as to render ‘thepn wbolly
useless for the purpose Ior whwh they were pa.ssed. The ﬁght ,

e
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continued $ill 1913 when the Trade Disputes Act.of 1906 was
followed by the Trade Union Act of 1913 which gave the Trade
Unions certain clear statutory rights which could not be demolished
by e judicial ingenuity. Certain of these rights have been
curtailed again by the Trade Disputes Act. of 1927. passed by the
Conservative Government, after the General Strike. But the second
problem:  which involved.” the fight for recognition by
employers was no less keen than. that which involved:
the fight for statutory recognition. The employers saw -
to it in PEngland, as they did ' in India during ‘the
passage of the Trade Unions Act of 1926, that statutory recognition -
in no way involves the obligation by the employers to recognise a
union registered under the Act. In England as in India recognition
had to be forced out of the employers. What actually happens -
therefore is that while employers do not accord formal recognition

in most cases they have to accord actual recognition. under the -
stress of circumstances, Befose . however the actual recognition -
takes place there is generally’ a very. bitter. and prolonged fight
daring which all possible efforts are made to break the union. . One -
of the most familiar methods of breaking the uaion. was to employ -
agents who would go out among the strikers and ‘say that the
management was quite willing fo redress their grievances but that
their leaders were standing in the way of their going back to work -
forypersonal prestige, particularly as they and their famwilies have
not to suffer the acute pangs of hunger as the workers. on strike

and their families do. Im a country. where the Trade Union

Movement is new and the workers. not_accustomed to fight for

their rights in_a disciplinéd manner, thete lying propagandists have -
a effect on at least a part of .the.. workers, pazbiculnrly .
when they have to stay out long.. To ‘me. personally this last,

namely, that I could nok sha.re the sufferings of the strikers, -had

almost the sting of a reproa.ch even though I might not have any

responsibilisy in theé decision for s sbrike. . Whenever therefore: any

offer of compromise or seftlement came in fhe course ‘of any strike-
Jn which T had any yoice, instead.of deciding.for the. workers: as to -
whether they should accept. or reject it, I would explain to them; gs

fully and as impartially as I was capable of doing, the implications of -
the 6_ffer—;wha.r. they might . accept :and what: they might.not- and: :
leavé‘t,he decision. to the gwquens.shems&lvasl.f .

D)-19. 6. 31-

It was not- shirking my- responsibilify because whatever the
decision would be I would assume full re9pou51blhty for it, but it was to
make the ‘workers realise that in the fight in ‘which they would have to
shoulder-the brunt of misery and suffering, 8o it was ultimately for
them to decide whento vommenoce the fight; iow long to fight” and

“{ 1099 )=



when to stop fighting. Decisions made for them—if not imposed
on themwwould continue to make them leave matters in the
hands of those whom the workers call leaders, leaving the wqukers

- free to repudiate or support them at will : that {is why I did ot
make a fetish of the recogpition of the Union being made a condition.
precedent to a negotiation or a settlement. I could well see through
the tactics of the employers seeking to drive a wedge between Union
officers and those who elected them. But I also realised that workers
were no foolsand I certainly had this much faith in them that they
would loyally stand by those whom they themselves elected to lead
them. If the workers themselves after hearing the pros and cons
decided that they would stand by those they had elected and would
have’no negotiations or settlement waless it ba through their elected
representatives, it would at once be a warning to the employers
that their trick would not work and at the same time strengthen
the Union by the reiteration of that confidence indicated by their
election as office-bearers.  But the dedision must be made by the
workers themselves and not by the leaders on behalf of them.
It was to me not merely a very fine constitutional point, but was
the guiding principle in my Union activities, namely, that if the
workers are to be educated as to the advantages of Trade Unions .
they themselves must be made to feel that the Union is not.
something which is outside themselves but that it is théy
who when organised are the Union, and that it is for them to make
or mar it. The effectiveness and unsefulness of the Union would
depend on the loyal support they render to it. I emphasised this
point in many speeches that I delivered at Chengail and Bauria,
of which only one and that also is "unfortunately a “gist’™ speech,
has been deposed to by P. W. 37 who [athered it jointly on me
and three others: “they all four said that everyone should register
himself as a member etc: etc:........".

However, on the 10th day the strike was settled. I was at
Chengail that afternoon anrd was talking with Spratt and the
Secretary as also. some members of the Executive Committee at
the Union office before going to a meeting fixed to be held in an
open field adjoining when the S. D. O. came and called me aside.
He asked me to use my influence for the settlement and said that
the Manager would like to talk to me but that he would not see the
others. I replied that I was always ready to do all that I could for
a reasonable settlement but I could not see the Manager without
the Secretary and Spratt who. was deputed by me on behalf of the
Federation. The S. D: O. went away and about half an hour
after ha. cama bick and invited us to follow him. Woe asked the
workers to. wait till our return fromn & visit to the Manager. After
three hours’ djscussion betweea the Manager and myself in the

€ 1c80 ) '



presenoe of the S. D. O., with the Secretary and Spratt helping me
on questiongof fact arising out of. disoussion, the terms were agreed
to and we parted with the promise thatthe Manager would be
informed early next morning of the dicision of the meeting to ba
held that very night as it was already very late. The meeting
agreed to the terms after a great deal of disoussion and resumption
took place next morning after some slight hitches had been adjusted
by the Secretary. I left Chengail for Calcutta by the first train
available in the morning.. The terms of settlement are to be found
in D 174 (3) and D.174 (1).

In this connection I owe it to truth and Eairness to say that
I found Mr. F. W. Washington, the Manager of the Ludlow Mill—
- whatever might have been the conduct of the management at the
initial stages of the formationof Union—=different from most of the
employers’ agents in this that, within the limitations imposed on
him by his position as a Manager, he was more tact;.fnl_ and reason-
able than others of his kind with whom I had ocoasion to come into
touch. Many little pin- prick which when acoumulated aggravate
the discontent due to the permanently unsa,msfaobory condition of
the workers and drives them to declare strike was avoided. There
were two more strikes there —of which one was declared by the
women workers, who complained that the Head-clerk bad promised
them some increment which was not fulfilled, and because of the
nature of the work they performed they held up the working of the
entire Mill by this declaration of the strike. The other was due to
dismissal of about 50 workers. But the last was very short-lived
a8 I told the workers that it was no use having a- Union , if they
went on declaring a strike without first of all having the matter
discussed‘a.b Union mestings and without giving the Union Execu=
tive an opportunity to see what could be done in the matter of
pegotiation. I had told them- repeatedly after the ssttlement of the
first strike (after the organisation of the Union) which showed them
- the contrast between strike condueted in an organised way and the
previous strike (in March 1928 with which we had nothing to do)
which ended in a debacle—I told them that the strike is & weapon
the succesgful use of which depended as much on the solidarity
and organisation of the workers as on the rarity of its use. The fear
of a strike conducted by powerful Union is more productive of
results than the strike itself. In spite of this when the second .
strike broke out I had o condone that, firstly because those respon-
sible for it were women not many of whom had as yet joined the
Union, -secondly because the Secrotary of the Union was absent for
some days when the strike was declared. But the reason which
most weighed with me in giving my support as the Secretary of the
B. T. U. F. to the strike was the terrorism practised by the Police,
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It was of such & scandalous nature as to bring the Districh
Magistrate himself on the spot for an inquiry. We were requested
by the District Magistrate, Mr. Gura Saday Dut$, to be present
at the inquiry conducted by the 8. D. O.in his presence. The
District Magistrate also requested me to try for a settlement and
the Manager who was there said that he was ready to talk over
matters. But the difficulty in that case arose because the Manager
was not prepared to admit that any promise was made to the
women, on the ground that hé did not anthorise the Head-clerk
or any other man to make such a promise. I had no reason to
disbelieve the Manager but I had also every reason to believe the
women, and it was quite probable that the Head-clerk might
have ‘exceeded his suthority in appeasing the women for the time
being who had threatened to join the Union in a body if their wages
were not increased. I asked the Manager in the presence of the
District Magistrate whether he was prepared to vouch for
his Head-clerk that he @did mnot say such a thing,
and of course the Manager said he could not. I suggested
an inquiry to be wundertaken by the Manager himself
in the presence of a Union officer to ascertain the truth
of the matter. The Manager could not agree to this at the time
and the negotiations broke down. In the meantime a number of
cases as is usual in all strikes was instituted by the Police on the
complaint of the Manager charging a number of the women with
rioting, ‘Z%a¢’ looting etc: and some of the men also were lumped
together in a separate case, including the Secretary himself whose
fault was that in taking some of the Dur}ans to task for assaulting
the men indiscriminately near the market he got hurt himself.
Subsequently the Manager agreed to hold an inquiry in the presence
of Mr. Latafat Husain, the Vice-President of the Union, but the
matter did not proceed further because the women get some
concessiong, But the cases were not withdrawn through both the
District Magistrate and the Manager were willing because, as
often happens in this country, the Police stood on their prestige,
more particularly because some of their little doings were exposed
in contection with this strike. However, though the cases ended
in conviction of most of the accused as strike cases generally do,
some of them including the Secretary were acquitted on appeal
and in the case of the others the sentences were reduced. The
case of the women workers was sent back for retrial because they
being all Telegu speaking did not understand the proceedings at
all and no step was taken'to explain the same to them. As soon
as the decision of the Appellate Court was given I wrote to Mr,
Washington and subsequently saw him at Calcutta at the Head-
office of the compmy‘alnq"pressed him for withdrawal of the case,
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otherwise, I pointed out it would smack of vindictiveness. After
some diseussion he agreed and promised to send me a draft, which
after I had seen, he wotild send to the District Magistrate with
any alternation that I might suggest. I was indisposed at the
time when it was sent and could not attend to it and so he sent
it as it was, as would appear from D 255 dated 2-11-28.

In this connection I should also mention that since July
1928 a sardar called Halim was proving himself a nuisence fo the
workers. He wused to extort heavy bribes on threat of dismissal,
he would blackmail the men because they had joined the Union,
and his abuse and rudeness had gone to such a length that when-
ever I would go to Chengail many members of the Union would
complain against him. I promised to take the matter up with
the Manager and D 257 dated 18-8-28 was the reply of the Manager
to my letter. The Sardar was, subsequently dismissed to the
relief of the workers. I was referring to this incident in D 179 (3)
in the course of a speech I delivered at the meeting which
was held to consider the steps to be taken to put an end to the
tyrannies of another Sardar. 1 pointed out to the workers that
these were comparatively minor details and did not call for such
a drastic measure as a strike undoubtedly is. I exhorted them not
to go on ’ strike till the Manager had 4n opportunity to look into
the matter and I reminded them of a previous occasion when he
did take action with regard to another Sardar at my instance
after I had given him duly authenticated facts regarding that
Sardar’s mis-deeds. On this occasion also I succeeded in having
the Sardar removed.

There was 2 third strike as I have already said. I do not
exactly réemember when the Strike began and ended. But I am
prepared to accept the statement of P, W. 37 that there was a
Strike from 19th November to 4th December. This tinle -also the
Secretary was absent because of illness. The M’anager' posted a
notice announcing that the services of fifty men from different
departmens had been dispensed with. The workers went on strike.
I was informed about it two or three days later by some of the
workers who tame to me on behalf of the strikers. When I learnt
from them that no Union meeting was called and no decision taken
after due discussion and that no representations were made through
the Union as regards the dismissals belore the strike was declared,
I was very angry. Let it be understood that I was angry not
because the strike was declared, because %itrary dismissals have
got to be resisted even if the resistance took the form of strike.
But I was angry because on the two former occasions when a
strike was declared without the previoys ;sanction of the Union
1 had repeatedly told them that on £Zuher occasions if this
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happened it would not be possible for me to lend my support to
"them as the Secretary of the Federation. It should be noted in
this connection that the Unions at Chengail -and Bauria being
organised directly by the Federation under a mandate from the
A.LT.U.C. it was up to me to see that until these were
affiliated to the A.L T.U.C. after due compliance with the one
year rule, that these Unions were following the well-established
principles and-trdditions of the Trade Union Movement recognised
in every-country.” But as I have already pointed out that before
the Trade Union spirit is developed in the workers -through
propaganda and experience it- would not be proper: or- expedient
to refuse to help the workers out of their difficulties. I .went to
Chengail the same day or the day after and after addressing a meet-
ing in which I said again what I had said so many times about
the impropriety of the procedurg adopted by them, I promised
to see the Manager and let them know the result of the interview,
I made an appointment with him at his Calcutta Office but that
interview unfortunately was productive of no result, The Manager
had information that the strike was declared without the sanction
of the Union and that was naturally used by him as a trump card.
But I told him frankly that th/ough this was so yet I had no option
but to stand by them, particularly because from the enquiry I made
1 agreed with the] men) that the dismissals were' arbitrary and at
least one half of the men in the list were active workers of the
Union. Shortly after it may be that very day or day after I wrote
to the Secretary a letter which is P 117. I may add here that Mr,
Carter referred to by the Manager in D 257 was also present
throughout the interview but he did not take a very active part in
the discussions. However after the deadlock which continued
for some time T saw the Manager again by an appointment at the
Head Office and this time he promised to take a few of the workers
stortly, stter thbugh he did not specify dates, while with regard
to the others he gz{ve me his word that he would take them but
could not say when. He said he was prepared to tell me in
confidence the plan he would adopt provided I did not disclose
it to the workers. I declined his kindly meant confidence with
this condition because it was rather awkward for me as a’ Trade
Unionist to be told things like this which I would be bound by
promxse not to disclose to the workers, This was the utmost
concession I could secure from him and’ whlilcould hold out to.
him no promise of a settlement I promised him to do my best for the -
‘calling off of the'strike. I called a meeting the day after and explain=
ed to the’men the position. Iemphasised on the difficalties of a
Trade Union representative negotiating with th2 employers on behalf
¢fi a Union which had not declared the strike. I explained to them,

(184 )



that without loyalty to the Union and disciplined obedience to the
Union which is nothing but the workers acting i an organised way,
the Union is nothing but.a make-believe and it only tempts the
employers to flout it and break it altogether. I then gave them a
summary of what took place in the interview and the final terms
offered by the Manager. Itold them that this was the utmost that
could be secured at present but I told them that personally I
believed that though the promise was vague yet it would be carried
out as far as the Manager was concerned. I placed before them the
alternative of indefinite suffering. At the same time I considered
it my duty to praise them for the proof of the solidarity they had
given, though I pointed out they had done the right thing in a
wrong way. The workers decided by very large majority wupon
"resumption. The strike was -called off at the begimming of
December. In the tourse of a fortnight'about 20 men were takea
in batches., Some more werd takem in January and some in
Febraary. After myarrest I was told that many more were taken.
On the resumption after the General Strike in June 1929 all
victimised workers were taken backand the terms “offered by, the
Manager of this Mill were better than those offered by the Jute -
Mills Association. I gave a somewhat lengthy account of my
Chengail activities to prove that the management of a mill which
has tact and seeks to fulfil its pledges honourably can even in the
present rotten system which governs production do something to
create better relations between Capital and Labour. I have
another object in view which would furnish a contrast with what
happened at Bauria. I may also mention here that though at first
1 intended to re-organise the Champdani Labour League with the
help of the grant made by the A.LT.U.C. I began organisation.
work at Chengail because Mr. Latafat Hussain the General
Secretary of the Kankinara Labour Union came to me with a
deputation of the Chengail workers who wereon strike with a
request that the Federation shoald help them. Bat (he first day
that I paid a visit to Chengail with Mr. Latafat Husain and Inda
Bhushan Sircar, the organising Secretary of the Press Employees
Association, we found that the strike wason the point of collapse
and niothing could be done. So-we decided to form a Union at
Chergail where previously there was no attempt to organise the
workers. P 696 which purports to be a letter from Spratt to me
without date seems to, haye been recovered from the Chengail
Union Office. is letter was not sent to me for some
reason or other ancl did rot leave the Union’s office till it was
removed by the search officer. But from the contents it seems that
the letter was written during the first strike within two or three days
of the meeting held on the 24th April. P 118 which seems to be
a diary recovered from the search of Mr. Radha Raman Mittra’s
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"house refers to the June Stnke at Chengaxl a8 thd third' sfrike while
in my statement I have described it all throu«rh' as the setond strike,
The reason is that I was referrmg to stnkes in which 1 was
concerned whereas Mr. Mittra mcludes the striké' 6f° March with
which, as I have already said, we }lad nothmg to dd'and- which
ended in unconditional resumptlon on the' 9th or'1oth' 'of ‘March.
As that strike broke oyt and, ended before thé Féderation had
undertaken organisation work at Chengaxl i did’ ot ‘consider it
necessary to refer to it.

" Now I come to. Bapna., In regard '‘to” Bauria"I mubt first
refer to the report I submitted tp Mr. N N. M. ’Joshl namely D 285
(2) with a’covering letter D-285 (1), drafts of whlch ‘weré ‘found in
my searchi - These. two documents speak for the'ﬁi's"elvee *'1 must
point out that tHe report was written gbout’ fivé” montks " before my
arrest ‘at’ the.request of, the General Secretary who' before he
complied with m'y request to him to appeal fo Brihsh ‘Trade’ Union
Congress,, Dundee Jute, Workers’ Union and {hé Tnternational
Federatxon of Trade Umons at Amsterdam, called [or a repo:t from
the dxrect mandate .of thg Executlve Council of the 4.LT.U.C.

" That the report was approved of af the Head Quarters has been
" fully borne out by the fact that Mr. Josh1 sent out ‘ai “appeal as a
result of which:. help. was sent out by the Brltxsh Trade Union
"Congress of which I was mfoxmed by Mr, N M Joshx ina letter
‘dated 7th March 1929 marked D 208 (n). The ‘relief “came a
little late.: But'the point is that it came and came in" persuance of
an appeal by the Genéral Secretary based on my report ‘which I
trust the Court would read carefully, I _may also claim that the
appeal dated 26th January 1929 issued by R. R.’ Bakhle at the
instance of the General Secretary, who was then ill, to the Trade
Unions of India and the one dated 24th ]anuary 1929 issued by
Pandit Jawahar Lal Nehry, D 208 (6),, were both “bastd on my
report and indicate that the T.U.C. Head Quarters fully supported
me in the policy I was pursuing in the carrying out of the Congress
mandate. 1 claim the full responsibility for the conduct of the
strike- which developed from lockout and further claim that it was
a strike conducted on the most approved principles -of Trade
Unionism. It has been suggested by the Prosecution and the
suggestion has been. acceped with" a?-oval' by the learned’ Inquiry
Magistrate thab it was the Workers’ ‘and Peasants® Party“of Bengal
which primarily eonducted the strikes and that T helped them.
T have noticed throughout in this case that it has suited the Pro-
secution. always to give credit where it is riot due. In other words
sod I say this with full responmbxhby of what I am saying, the
whole case is based on a theory and; facts, have beem manipulated,
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.. to suit that theory and the facts which do not support that theory
have ‘either’ been withheld of igndred. : It -was in. .pursuance of
“that theory that the credit for organising the Congress' demonstras
"tions was shifted t6 the Workers' and Peagants’ Party instead
‘of to Mr. K. C. Mittra. ' It was in pursuance of . that theory that
_ the “credit of organising 'the Jute Workers af Chengail and Bauria
was sought to be glven to the Workers’ and -Peasants’ Pa.rty and
u;!wss tor this’ rea.son ‘that the  'Workers' and Peasants’ Party was
_Bgiventhe oredib of bringing me to. Lillooak,And all, this ‘wag_done,
a8, 1 have shown and propose to show in theface of exhxbrts which
) the Prosecution themselves have placed . before the Courtj The
learned Magistraté found it more conveniept and less tiresome to
accept the Prosecution ‘theory than sift the facty ior himself and
, _in domg #0 na.l;urally 'he found: that iy cage presented “ gome
. dlﬂicultles * and in attemptig tofget .outof fhe drﬂ‘icultres he
. lnvolved hlmseli in contradiction. . That contradiction. was ng where
80 conspwuous 48 when he deals-with.my activities. in Chengarl and
Ba.una. fn ‘page 271 the leanred 'Magistrate observes “Trade
Umon a.etmnty spa,rt “Trom that carried -on in conjunction wrhh the
W. P. P, ﬂoes not concern ‘this ¢ase.’ Tt is proved, and he. (szhon
La.T) @oes not deny it tha.t he'took patt with the other. accused, or
rather some of tfrose ‘from - Bengal, :in- the: Lillooah ,  Strike, -
" the Chenga.ll Strlkes and Bauria Strike, ™ and then further he has
f)een pleased to remark, “the Secretary of the B, T, U. F might
ﬁnd nothmg stra,nge fn attending. such strikes and meetmgs and
) of course rt id ot sucgested that the acoused were. the only speakers
X or persons present. 'In particular he might Iegrtlmately go.to the
f_ meetmgs in conneetron “with “the- Chedgail and Bauria strikes,
because ity 'both cases -he was an office bearer of the Umons con-
cerned and the “Unions were fourded under & ‘direct umndate from
the Congressz the Bauria Union was affiliated to, B. T U F. in
oppoertlon t0 the wishes of the W. P. P.” I need not Eomt oub
the contra.drctory character of the observations in the two paragraphs
that.I have quoted successively. While expla.nmg ‘the character
of my connection  with the Workers’ and Pessants' Party I have
alresdy shown that P 2419 referred to by the leerned Magistrate
' supporbs my" contention and does not at all support the inference
he seems to have drawn from it.  -As I have a.lready in thu.t con-
nection dea.lb exhaustively with the part played by the Benga.l Jute
Workers " Association supported : by the, Workers and Pessants’
Psrhy I need not say anything here except: to summarise, the whole
posrhron with reference ﬁo the t.wo observationa quoted a.bove

The Bauria Umon was formally formed on the 15th of July
1928 and the Chetgail Union on 18th Marcfr (D 84 (7) & (8)) of
: the same year being dxrectly orgamsed bx the Provmclal ‘Committee:

, P M.,i.
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under the mandate of A. I. T. U, C, Its position was differentfrom
other Unions not yet affiliated to the Congress or its Provincial
Committee. The learned Magistrate’s qualified permission that I
might legitimately goto meetings at Chengail and Bauria because
in. both cases I was an officer-bearer, indicates that he had rather
vague and confused notions of my connection with these two Unions
and the duties and obligations which that connection involved. As
a matter of fact s\ dthe Secretary of Bengal Trade Union Federas
tion my responsibilities and obligations with regard to these two
Unions were far greater than would have been the case if I werea
mere office-bearer, like others, and if, as the Prosecution suggests,
the W. P. P, were ruaning the Union or conducting the strike.
The ‘Legal Adviser’ to a Union seldom does the things I did in
regard to the Chengail Jute Workers’ Union, and the workers in a
Union never run up to their Legal Adviser for help and advice on
any other matter than those which are strictly within the scope of a
lawyer. The notices of most of the meetings both at Chengail and
Bauria even after the Unions were formed were generally issued by
me'as the Secrctary of the Bengal Trade Union Federation. If I
were a mere puppet President of the Bauria Jute Workers’ Union
dancing to the tune of W.P.P, or B.].W.A., I certainly would not
have been flayed alive as I was-in ““Ganavani’ and the “Inprecorr”
nor would the Federation of which I was Secretary have come in
for.so many uncomplimentary adjectives as it did at the hands of
the Party and its organ, The policy that I pursued was that while
agreeing to differ with the party and B. J. W, A. on their principles
and views I asked for their cooperation for the success of the strike,
and inorder to putan end to Trade Union rivalry was prepared to
- undertake that after the strike was settled and the Union placed on a
firm fqoting the question of the amalgamation and re-organisation of
these differeat Jute Unions should be taken up ( P 24 )., They did
not accept my offer and went on in their own way whlch led to
friction which was more and more accentuated. Let me reiterate
that the Workers’ and Peasants’ Party as such had absolutely
nothing to do with these Unions or the strike, that
these unions conducted the strike under the lead of
the Federation. They might have addressed a few meetings over
which Tor Mr. Mrinal Kanti Bose, the President oi the Fede-
ration, presided, but some of their members onmost occasions used
to visit Bruria when I was not there and on comparatively very few
occasions did any of them take part in meetings at which I was
present. The Federation did not recognise the right of any other
body to interfere with matters which the Federation considered its
own concern in the ordinary course of its duties. By taking up
that attitude the Federation was not doing anything unusaal nor in
asking for the help of some members of the Workers’ and Peasants’
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“Party which did not come was the Secretary acting in a-way incon:
sistent with the policy of the Federation. It was pursuing a course
of policy and action well recognised by all public organisations.
Each organisation is formed with ideals and principles Joyalty to
which is expected from its members or constituents as long as they
continue to be so. It sets before itself certain duties and obliga-
tions which give the tone and colour to its activities in the pursuit
of those aims, ideals and principles. Often it so happens that certain
organisations with different aims and objects find themselves acting
in cooperation in certain matiers on which there is agreement upto
a certain point. That is why the Bengal Provincial Congress
Committee sought co-operation from the Bengal Trade Union
Federation in the matter of organising a Campaign against the
Simon Commission—both the Indian National Congress and the
All India Trade Union Congress being pledged to the boycott of
the Commission. That is why the Bengal -Trade Union Federation
could not ignore the letter formally addressed to its Secretary by
the Workers’ & Peasants’ Party on the need of organising opposi-
tion to the Trade Disputes Bill and the Public Safety Bill, though
in this matter, which from the nature of the Bill it appears, being
its primary concern it could not abdicate its leadership, any more
than the B. P. C. C. could abdicate its leadership in the campaign
against the Simon Commission. I have to give these rather obvi-
ous facts and conventions familiar even to a tyro in public life to
clear thednis-conception that has arisen in connection with my case.
I have always maintained and still do maintain that during strike
it is possible for—-nay it is the bounden duty oﬁll schools of thought
within the working-class movement to combine for the limited
objective of making the strike a success, The man who or the party
which fails to do it forfeits the right to claim as a friend of Labour,
however ;nuch he or it might indulge in high sounding platitudes
to cover?«_;r justify the failure tohelp. I myself acted on this
principle throughout as the Secretary of the Federation as
would be evidenced by the efforts made by Mr. Mrinal Kanti Bose
and myself respectively as the President and Secretary of the
Federation for bringing about a settlement between the
Scavengers’ Union and the Calcutta Corporation as soon as the
Union asked for ouF Help in the matter. I expected others also to
do the same, however much they might otherwise differ from me or
the Body of which I was the Secretary, in views I hold or repre-
sent and .he policy I carry out. There was no, nor there could
be any from the nature of things, ulterior motive or object behind
all this except to make the strike a success by a settlement under
which some of the most outstanding grievances of the workers
might be redressed. This would be clear from U 210, the letter
that I addressed to Messrs, Kettlewell and Bullen, the managing
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agents of the Fort Gloucester Mill, and a Press cutting D. 179 (2)
which contains a report of a meeting attended. by one- Mr,
Cameron with an offer for settlement. My position in regard to
the Bauria strike as officially recognised by the A.LT.U.C, was
different from what the Prosecution seek to assign. to. me. - This
weuld be evident from D 296 which contains messages from Pt
Jawahar Lal Nehru, President of the A.I.T.U.C. during the year
1929, to the Bauria workers enclosed with a covering .letter to the
Secretary B.T.U.F., 34 'Bow: Bazar Street Calcutta. - This was
ftifher recognised by Mr. 'Daud, the Chairman of . the, Jheria
Session of the A.LT.U.C. who in a letter to me.dated 91! 28
(D 244) assures me that he would deal with -the. activities of the
‘Federation in his speech and what he was kind enough .to..call my
““untiring energy in organising- the Jute. Workers in- Bauria.and
otherplaces,”” Thisis - what he said in..the . course . of his
"Presidential address at Jheria while dealing with Provincial Labour
Federalion:— “the Jute Workers of -Bauria have been organised
* under the auspices of the' Bengal Trade Union. Federation.
Immediately after its inception the new born organisation had to
face immeasurable difficulties at the hands: of . the. employers., In
connection with the recent strike the officers and the workers _were
subjected to humiliation and put to. great.troubles for their
supporting the cause of the workers. I congratulate the workers
on their signal success in rallying round their. Trade Union in
spite of great opposition from the employers. . The strilg. is still
_continuing and the_ workers -are forming their demands.. The
President Mr, Mrinal Kanti Bose and the- Secretary. Mr..  Kjshori
Lal Ghosh of the Federation deserve our congratultions for the
way how they are steering through the:difficuliies.”

. There is also a number of letters and telegrams to me from
Messrs N.M. Joshi and Bakhle indicating that the T.U.C. head-
quarters also_had recognised that the Bauria Jute Worker s Union
occupied a different position from other un-affiliated Unions and
being organised by the Provincial Committee acting through its
Secretary under the mandate of the Congress was entitled to as much
_help as the Congress could reasonably give (see Exhs D 208 (1),
(2), (3);(4)5 (6)3. (7): (9)» (II), (18), aang an\d ('9) amongst
others ),But a contrast with the way in which Unions affiliated to the
Congress or the Congress itself was helping the workers through
. the Secretary of the Federation is furnished by the manner in which
the G.K.U. money was disposed of. 1 have already referred that
it was Mr. Bradley who promised at the Execative *Council
meeting at Jheria a donation of rupees one handred “on hns own
responsibility’ on behalf of this Union, 1 reminded Mr Bradley
when he came down to Calcutta.after the ]hena Congress of "his

pomise of help, He asked me to write to Mr. Dange who, I was
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informed, was the General Secretary of the Union, 1 wrote to
Dange P. 86 which'also, as I proposé to show, 'has been mis
interpreted by the Prosecution. There i$a photographic. copy-of
the same letter put in‘'by the Prosecdtion'as ‘Exhibit P 1628 P.
This photographic 'copy 'is of “interest” only withl. regard to - its
envelope which would show that ‘I directed - the: letter c/o the
Trade Union Congress bffice, As a matter of fact all the.letters,
mostly ciréulaf letteys, that I ‘had ‘occasion o -address <to !the
‘Bombay Ttade ‘Uhionists in ‘connection with the:Bauria- strike
were dxrecked tb the Cong\'ess oﬁic‘e. S N

Mr. Dange continued .to maintain silence and. did not
think it it to'réply to'my letter. It was through :Mr.. Bakhle who
‘'seit me & wiré that I' came: to ‘know' {D..208 (8) )ithat a sum., of
"Rs‘500/-was'sent to Mt Muzaffar Ahmad by.the . :Girni. Kamgar
Union. -~ I sént'a'note at once to' Mr. -Muzaffari \Ahmad asking for
'thé ‘money becausé of the immediate-needs: in connection with. the
‘conduct of the'cases. He wrote back (P. yo) saying that.hei had
“wirtd for'further instructions. - ‘I went o’ Européan ‘Asylam . Lane
next thorning and told him' that whatever might be the: instructions
“gent in Féply o his wire he had no-right ‘to withhold at least ithe
"specific suta of Rs 100/~ which was promised. by Mr. :Bradley at
‘Jhieria on Behalf of the Union. :After consultation with. Spratt Mr.
Muzaffar Ahimad- handed over to me the sum (P. 416:(8)). I need
‘not go intd details .over the~unhappy controversy that grew out
“of this nor neéd I 'add - hnythmg to "what ‘has transpired in: the
'reords: I 565 was the Letéer whxch 1 wrote to --Datge: and .which
* was recovered fromr hiy possession‘and this letter conveys my views
“on the sabject, But tH¥ Prdsecittion ds usualyand unfortunately the
lea.rned Magistrate Hlso, have-failed to draw the only legitimate
conclusion " which is logically deducible’ from -this episode..«Mr.

“ Dange who was the Asstt: Secrétary of the A.LT.U.C. as well as
" the General Secretary of the Girni Kamgar Union, in his loyaliy- to
" his'party, hamely the Workers’ and* Peasants’ Party, did- not send
_ ‘the mongy to the Secrétary of thé Provincial Committee -of the
" A.LT.U.C. or through the'treasurer of the A. L.T.U.C, as many
" othet Unions ' like the Jamshedpur Union (D 208 (9)) and the
G.I.P. Raxlway Union did, but to Mr. Muzaffar Ahmad. Mr.
' ‘Muzaffar Ahmad ‘straightway ignored the Provincial Committee
of the A.IT.U.C. of which he was recenily at ‘Jharia elected a
Vice-President, and began'to act on his own ‘responsibility. This
Mr Muzaffar Aamad would never have done*had the relations
" between the Workers” and Peasants’ Party and the Bengal Trade
" Union Federatlon beén othetivise, thah what they were. But the
leamed Magistrate’ 6f ‘coarse could ‘find 'no other inference to
‘draw from it thah that Mr, Muzaffat Ahmad and myself ‘were
having some personal quarrel over this.
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There was some correspondence over another matter which *
gave rise to & lot of misunderstanding and that was a telegram over
joint names of Messrs. Spratt and Radha Raman Mittra to Mr.
Saklatwala of the Workers’ Welfare League. When I came to knpw
of this telegram being sent I disapproved of it because as the
Secretary of the Provincial Committee I must ocbey the Resolutions
that are passed by the Congress from time to time. At its Cawnpore
Bession the Executive Council of the Congress passed a resolution
to the effect that no individual union or person should approach any
foreign body for help unless it be through the National Organisation,
that is the A.I.T.U.C.Q) {274,page 6). This brings me to the attitude
I'maintained throughout in regard to the financial help to Union con-
ducting a strike--whether the said help comes from abroad or from
another union at home, I have always found thaf it obviates much
misunderstanding and avoids disputes if all remittances are made
through the central or as it is called in Trade Union language the
National Organisation which in India till the date of my arrest was
the A I.T.U.C. If a Union expected help from the A.I.T.U. C. it
is but fair that the Congress should know how matters stood with
regard to the union and the response ifi was getting to its appeal. It
is also fair to the A. L T TU. C. that it should know which of the
foreign organisations were helping and to what extent. It would
also ensure proper -discipline and coordination in the Movement
which are so necessary for strengthening the organisstions as well
as for the success of the strikes. That I was right was proved by
aany incidents which should not have happened if all the unions or
the responsible office-bearers had been loyal to the Congress.
I might refer to one incident: in P. 698 which is a letter from
Muzaffar Ahmad to Dange, after justifying his withholding the Girni
Kamgar Union money from me Muzaffar Ahmad refers to Rs. 150/-
from Dundee Jute Workers’ Union which was alleged to have been
received by me, Now I had never directly approached any foreign
body for help in pursuance of the Congress Resolution nor did I
receive any money from any foreign organisation. In P. 24 (page 9)
I'asked Mr. Joshi to inquire from the Dundee Jute Workers’ Union
as to whether they received any appeal for help from the Bengal
Jute Workers' Union for ‘the help of the Bauria strikers, because
I understood from a conversation with Mr. Gopendra Chakravarty,
to whom I also referred in an exhibit, that the Dundee Jute Workers’
Union had sent soms help to the Bauria workers through Mr. Kali
Das Bhattacharji, Now Mr. Muzaffar Abmad,at the period when he
was writing this letter, and most of his party were not on good terms
with the Bengal Jute Workers’ Association. Of course how the
money for which he in another lester demanded an account from
Mr. Kali Das Bhattacharji oould be referred in connection with me
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Icannot say. ‘Bat all these misunderstandings would certainly be
avoided if thers is one eentral organisation through which an appeal
ie sent and help received. In the records here.I found several other
appeals for help $o have been sent by Mr. Radha Raman Mittra of
which I new nothing.

[Note—(1) As 830 P. M. accused said he - was sorry -he was
not ready to go on as his notes were not fully prepared. The court
therefore adjourned sarly.)

(Sd.) _R. L. Yorke.

Note—{2) ,Accused_’; statement was brok'-en off at this_ point
owing-to his falling ill with influenza after recovery from which he
asked for an extended rest on ground of feeble health. ¢

(8d.) R.L: Yorke.
D/- -3-881.

In this connection I.should like:to say; something about my
attitude towards help from outside organisation. As would appesr
from.the summary-of a speech.reported in the * Englishman ’-of 26th
April 1928 delivered by ma. at. a meeting -in *Wellington. Square,
presided.-over by Mr. C. F.: Andrews,: the then. Presjdent.of
A. L T..U. C. (P. W. 5%), I considered it ,rather .humiliating , that
outside Labour organisations should be approached for help.unless
and until it was found; that the>response; from-the country itself was
very poor and inadeguate for the oocasion-and the ocoasion itself was
so'important that. itrcarried swith it its awn, justification for,such an
appeal for help..: But even when circumstances.do jugtify. the appeal
to be addressed ta.outside organisations for help, in the ingerests of
discipline and: solidarisy no.such appeal. should,be addressed, by any
Uaion:directly but through :the ,All.Indja :Trade Wnion 'Cppg:ess
which, -as .it was then, I considered ta.be the central body and the
national organisation of $he, Indian.Trade Union Movement. Asa
matter of fact I.-was one of those who strongly supported the resolu-
tion passed by the Executive Conncil of A, I. T. U. C. at Cawnpore
(D: 274, page 6) namely *that. no Trade Unjon -affiliated to, the
A. L. T..U.C.-shall.appeal ,for fannds $o the Internatignal Labour
Movetnent or carry on official communications with that movement
except by way of exchanging documents and information unless
such :appealy and eommunciatious are ;seut officially,throngh the
Geaeral Secretary .of she A, I. T. U. C. This rule shall .uot, apply
to the .Unioas which fre affiliated to.the International Federation
in which case such waions have, freed-om to make appeals  for .funds’
to such Federation independently.’ ' )
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Now it should be noted that though onm a liberal inter-
pretation of the resolution the Bauria Jute workers’ Union which
was not- affiliated to the A. I. T. U. C was not bound by it, yet,
as I pointed out more than once, the position of the Chengail and
Bauria Jute-workers’ Uvions was different from other non-
affiliated unions in the sense that they were organised directly
by the Provincial Committes of the A, I. T. U. C in pursuance of
the demand of the Central Executive. There was another

“oceasion in which I protested against the procedure adopted in an
appeal for help which also was sent without my knowledge. I
refer to the appeal that was addressed to R. I. L. U by Messrs.
K. C. Mittra, Spratt and Mugzaffar Ahmad. But here my dis-
approval did not and could not take any other form than a mere
remonstrange because the E. I. Railway Union was affiliated to the
Congress but not to the Federation, the reason being tbat Railway
unions from the nature of things bave their branches in more than
one province and the A.I.T.TU.C. had not yet defined the
relationship between a Railway union and the Provincial Committee
of the A. I. T. U. C. of the province in which a branch on the head
quarters of the union might happen to be.

P. 43 is a diary book for 1999 and certain entries on certain
dates have been put in by the Prosecution, The telegram’
from Bakbale referred to here is D 208 (8). It did not strike the
learned Magistrate, I cannot help remarkindincidentally, that the
information about the Girni Kamgar Union money being sent to
Muzaffar Ahmad was given to me not by Bradley or Dange but by
Mr, Bakhale. I doubt whether I should have heard of the money
at all till perhaps considerably later, and that too perhaps in the
course of some casual conversation as I came to learn about the
money sent by the Dundee Jute Workers’ Union or of the wire sent
to Mr. Saklatwala, if Mr. Bakhale who possibly had his own views
on the procedure adopted in the name of the Girni Kamgar Union,
had not sent me the information. That Bakhale had some mis-
givings which prompted him to wire to me at once the information
is confirmed by the comment in a letter .dated 9. 2. %9 addressed to
me by Mr. N. M. Joshi (D. 208 (4)) wherein bhe states “of course
the Communist Union in Bombay does not; want to hand over the
money to you, perhaps Bakhale has_already informed you about
it

In this connection I must say that if Mr. N. M. Joshi had

seen the proceedings of the G. K. Union (P. 958) regarding this
_maiter he would certainly have substituted the words “Communists’
for “Communist Union”.” The resolution itself though very
loosely worded does not indicate anything which in the least
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suggests that the money should be sent'to Mr, Muzaffar Ahmad.
It would be quite legitimate to conclude that Mr. A. A. Alve, the
President of the Union, being a worker himself and knowing from
his own experience the sufferings of workers on strike, and most
of the members of the committee, being workers like himself, felt
very keenly for the troubles of the Bauria workers and wanted
sincerely to help them, and mere party considerations which, as
it has been my experience, weigh with Communists so much, had
very little weight with them li. e. Mr. Alve and his fellow-workers)
I doubt whether Mr. Alye acknowledged at all the right of the
Workers' and Peasants’ Party to impose its decisions on the
Union of which he was the President. I-doubt very'much whether
Mr. Bradley stated before the Managing Committee “his views as
to how the money should be sent or to whom and why. He says
that Mr. S. A. Dange sent the money to Mr, Muzaffaj Ahmad on
his advice. But the question is whether the advice was available
to the Managing Committee. The two letters which Mr. S. A.
Dange addressed to Mr. Muzaffar Ahmad, (P. 395 (1) (2)), contain-
ing instructions as to the disposal of money, contain no reference
to the Managing Committee, and we may take these instructions
to be the result of Mr. Bradley’s advice to Mr. Dange. P. 335 (2)
informs Mr. Muzaffar Ahmad that the Managing Committee of the
G Kr U, sanctioned Rs 1000/- and authorised Mr. S. A. Dange,
the General Secretary to send this first instalment of Rs 500/~
There is no mention as to whom the money is to be sent according
to the directions of the Managing Committee or whether the
Managing Committee had authorised the General Secretary to
send the money to Mr. Muzaffar Ahmad. While Mr..Dange
takes particular care to describe himself as the General Secretary,
he does not give any description of Mr. Muzaffar Ahmad in either
of the two letters. In P 395 (1) which bears the same date thers
are certain instructions as to the ‘channel’ through which “this
assistance should be utilised.” I do not know to whom “you” in
this passage refers. Does it mean Mr, Muzaffar Ahmad alone or
Mr. Muzaffar Ahmad in consultation with the W. P. P. Executive
in Calcutta? Mr. Muzaffar Ahmad's view as expressed in P 73
that “I am personally responsible, not the Workers® and Peasants’
Party” might or might not be correcl, though I d> not know how
he could have concluded that I “must have known it.” Howeéver
the following instructions, very carefully worded, contained in
P 395 (1), regarding “the channel through whieh this assistance
should be utilised” throw considerable light on the transaction.

“If there is & union leading the strike and commsnding

allegiance, 80 much the better. If there is none such, the Party
that is leading the strike correctly should see that the assistance
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is rendered in right direction”. Mr. Dange dotted his I's and
crossed his T’s carefully to avoid misunderstanding, and he did not
forget .to refer to the Party with a big P. When Mr. Dange writies
to Mr.Muzaffar Ahmad and talks of a “Party” and of “correct lead”,
it is pot very difficult to understand which party he had in mind.
In this connection I may refer to one other exhibit indicating how
Mr. Muzaffsr Ahmad regarded the conduct of the Bauria Strike.
In a letter to Mr. P. C. Joshi dated 9th March 1929 Mr. Muzaffar
Ahmad observes ** Bauris Strike was over long ago. The people

~ who were in charge of i bave scanda.lously failed in thexr duties,

.

otherwise a sbroag union would have coie into existence even after
the collapse of'(éifixke.

f les . g
Now Mr. ;Bra.dley asserts—I do not know hig source of _infor-
mation, because he could not be talking from a ﬁrsh hand knowledge
of .facts necessary to arrive at & correct ‘conclusion—that the
members of the Workers’ and Peasants’ Party and the Bengal Jute-
Workers’ Association were, the, people who, were condueting the
Strike. If thxs were 8o, I donbt whether Mr Muzaffar Abmad
wonld have passed such a,”h.ar.sh verdict on.the “people who were in
charge of the strike”. I wonder if Mr. Spratt, who was in a far
better position certainly ,than either Mr. Bradley or Mr, Muzaffar
Ahmad to ascertain the truth, would have written what he is alleged., «
$0.have written in P 2419 to which I have already invited the’
attention of the Court, .As a matter of fact the whole controversy
is as unpleasant to m¢ as harmful to the Movement, with which I
am connected. I would not have gone into details, as I did not do
at first, if there were no attempts to interpret facts to suit Party
purpose. 1 ocen well understand the motive which might have
prompted the Prosecution in doing so and I consider it may duty to
challenge the perversion of facts on which the Prosecution case is
built up, not. by dogmatic assertions but by facts supplied by the
Prosecution themselves and also by documentary evidenee tendered
for the defence, the documents being recovered from search. But
whether from the Prosecution or from any other quarter if there is
any attempt to give more than is legitimately due to any Party a$
the. expense of the Bengal Trade Union Federation, whlch.\ by its
activities at Chengail and Ba.urw, guve such a strong impétus to
the Trade Union Movement in the jute area, I eerfainly eonsider
it my duty to point out fo all whom it may concern that facts
properly substantiated speak. more loudly and convincingly than"
mere assertions. There is another little mistake which I take this
oceasion to correct before 1 pass on from this unhappy controversy
to which Mr. Bradley brought me back after I had dealt with it as
lightly as possible . This little mistake is to be found in a letter
dated 1st March 1929 which Mr, Muzaffar Ahmad is alleged to

T
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have sddréssed to' Dange {( P 955 ( 1)) where he icriticises the
“Officers of the so-called wnion,” mentions £40 from Dundee Jute
- Workers” Union, out of which amount probably Mr. Kalidas
Bhattacharji paid Rs 250/-'to Mr. R..R. Mittra, and then mentions
me as failing to announce the receipt of Rs 600/- from the
A. L. T. U. C. to the workers. [ am-again not aware as ‘to the
source of Mr. Muzaffar Ahmad’s information, -but if Mr. Muzaffar
Ahmad had attended the Bauria Workers’ meetings. on several
occasions I fvited him he certainly would have heard:me,announc-
ing the ~contributions not .only from :the A.L T.U..C.but also
from other soutces. : It is rather strange that for a regular newspaper
feader like him the acknowledgment of the contributions. as
published in the press should have - escaped him . altogether. Iam
surprised that with Mr. Muzaffar Ahmad’s . political experience . he
would retail -this. s‘ort‘of"?an?nation to . Dapge—knowing .as he does
fully well how necessary it-was for:the wozkers :to.know in their
distress as to who were helping them, It.is absurd that I should
fefrain from. telling the workers. of 2 -union formed by the .Provingial
Committee under.a mandate of the . A. I T..U..C,, thatthe All
India Uniou~-bigger than the hig- union ( as the workers called the
Federation) stood by them and was helping them. Particularly as it
was known' that - some ‘members. from .another ,union .who .owed

¥ loyalty to their partythan the!A.LT.U.C. .were. attempting
to -undermine the influence and prestige-%this ‘bady (.i.e. the
A. L T.U.C). I believe that:the reference to the money received
by the B: Ji'W. A 'in this letter- would.not have been made,if there
wére no split since the All India Party Conference.

- P43:  Referring presumably to entries on-the 28th February
avd 26th March in the Diary for 1929 (P. 43), the learned Magistrate
finds it “obvious that Spratt .came in. and ‘talked over. important
events in. the life of the.:W. P. P.. and that he (myself) had, no
hesitation in deputing Spratt to make some inquiries for:him (P24)".
Now as it appears from the records the split in the Workers’ and
Peasants’ Party:took place towards .the end.of, December 1928 and
the little talk I'had with; Spratt was just two months after the. split,
that is Jong after it bécame known.through the newépapers.as would ~
appéar from P 5(1.7'(1). :

 And: even'-then -as,my 'note in the Diary shows Spratt was
rot very willing to 8ay .much.. .He simply, “gave me hints that there
is no love lost between the’ Phrty.and 97 Cornwallis Street”. This
must- have baen in reply: to some direct questions put.by me to
Spratt because of the' information I had received about the re-orgas
nisation of the B, J.. Wi A. with its . Head Office at 97 Cornwallis
Street. And in view of what I had gathered from the press I wanted
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to ascertani the exact relations between the W. P. P, and B.].W.A.
The information which Spratt had supplied to me as noted on the
28th February and 6th March was not wholly new to me, but it
gave the authoritative confirmation of what I gathered from the
press. Of course the details about Kalidas Bhattacharji or about
Mr. Bankim Mukerji and R. R. Mitra were not known to me.
Spratt’s reluctance would appear from the fact that he told me this
in two days with an interval of about & week between them and
that too casually in course of conversations on various subjects, as
is shown by the entry ‘‘had a talk about the inquiry he conducted,
a8 also the position of things regarding the split”. This shows how
he drifted to the subjeet of the split. Spratt had already conducted
the investigation into the affairs of several unions in pursuance of
the Resolution of the Executive Committes of the A. I. T. U. C. at
Delhi in February 1928, the arrangement with him being that as I
was busy he should do it alone for a time. Subsequently if I consi-
dered that in regard to any particular union some more facts were
neoessary I would pay a visit fo it or correspond with it and then
after all the necessary information was collected, we would settle
down to write the report after coming to an agreement amongst
ourselves as to the different heads under which the report should be
divided. Now with regard to some unions including the B. J W A,
I framed a questionnaire which Spratt had lost and so in the i mqulry
that he made the mfoiiha.lnon that I wanted was not available but. -
before I knew that Spratt had lost the guestionnaire I had consider-
able doubt whether he would be able to press them sufficiently for
answers. In the concluding part of P 24 that is in my letter tp Mr.
Joshi I had given expression to these misgivings in the para con=
taining the words 1 deputed Spratt to undertake the inquiry of the
unions.......I am writing to him today for coming to me with the
materials collected”. The learned Magistrate refers to this in sug-
gesting that I had greater intimacy with Spratt than he or the Prose-
cution would like to allow. So the learned Magistrate ignores all the
references to the Inquiry Committee of the Executive Committee of
the A. I. T. U. C. at Delhi, which is to be found in many of the
Prosecation exhibits as also in the statement I made before him, and
writes that T “had no hesitation ‘in deputing Spratt to make some
inquries for him (me).” I am certaioly not going .to deny in what-
ever light the Prosecution may chose to take it that I had very close
personal relations with Spratt, and this intimacy was possible be-
ocause each of us exactly knew the outlook of the otherand we agreed
to differ on political matters. We had in our long conversations
very little to talk and discuss either about the inner working of the
Federation or of the Workers' and Peasants’ Party but we used to
have frequent talks and disoussions on the Labour Movement and

on other subjects.
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D/- &. 8. 31.

I have already stated in reply to a previous question the
character of my relations with those of the acoused who are from
Bengal, but I did not in that connection mention Spratt. It is
necessary that I should briefly state in this connection what my
relations with Spratt were. I must preface my remarks with this
that perhaps with no one in India outside his Party members Spratt
had such intimate personal relations as he had with me and that I
reciprocated this feeling and .considered it a privilege, as I do
consider it now, is a fact of which I am proud. I had graduated
from the Scotish Churches’ College and I studied there during the
whole undergraduate period of four years and came in close touch
with a few eminent professors, ihe products of Scotish Universities,
whose scholarship, independence and many other qualities of head
and heart have still kept their memory green in my mind. During’
my post graduate studies in the University College at Caloutta
I also came in direct toush with some European professors of whom
was Mr. R. N. Gilohrist professor of Sociology who was subsae-
quently translated into the Bengal Seoretariat as the Registrar of
Trade Unions, and one or two of whose letters have been putin by
me as Defence exhibits. In our College days we were very oritical
of our professors and it was oaly a few of them who could command
the homage of our young hearts by sterling qualities. We used to
read in the Indian Press from time to time of European Professors
with third rate Uaniversity qualifications getting better salaries
than their Indian colleagues with Oxzford and Cambridge qualifica-
tions. In our student days we had great respect for these two seats
of learning and that respect sbill lingers in my mind, in spite of the
fact that I have seen nothing very impressive in some of the Indian
products of these two historic Universities who appear to me to be-
dispicable snobs. When I came to learn about Spratt through the
press and the leaflet issued by Messrs. Joshi, Ginwala and others
in connection with the sedition case the first thought that struck-
me was ‘* here is an Englishman with University qualifications who
might have with 'some judicious efforts comae out to India as a
member of I. B. S. with far better prospects than many Indians-
who may have superior qualifications and better experience. If he
had cowe here as a journalist and written day after day most viru-
lent articles of an anti-Indian character in any of the British-owned
papers in India no Englishman in India would have ever dreamt -of
having him hauled up under section 153 A. If he had written
veromous articles against the Government of India for what he
might choose to - consider its pro-Indian policy Englishman in
India would have considered any suggestion to prosecute him uader
section 124 A as absurd. But as he chosas to cast in his lot, that
is-how I took it at the time, with the Indians and his innate sense
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of fairness { which has been claimed as a special (tait of British
character) revolts against the sta.te of things he finds in India, he is
bemg prosecuhed for opmlons When I meb him for the first time
af Oawnpore I was greatly a.btta.cted by h1m and subsequenbly in the
many opporfunities I, had of cukt;xva.bmg his a.cquamhnnce I found it
a, pleasure, to disouss wthh hlm various aub]ects, namely htera.ture,
h}st;ory, Labour Movemenb ete. Hls deep scholarehlp, his 8ympa-
thetic understanding and his gentleness of manners drewv me more
and more towards him. I found a,nother tra.lb in his character
whwh not only raiged him stlll hlgher, if posmble, in my estxmatlon,
but ma.de hjm extremely pogular amongst the workers ab Chengaxl
It was hxs complete identification w1th the workers and the cheerful
readiness with whmh he would go. hhrouUh all the ha,rdshxps to
whlc‘n the workeps are. sub]ecte& pa.rbwula,rly dunng a strike, If 1
were 15 years younger then that I was or if I had not developed
from a comparatively early age ( bha.nks to the tra.lnlng I received
- from, my, revered father) an a.nalymca,l bernt oi mind I mlght ha,ve
become a, Commumst. naot. beca,use of any convmtmn or mtellectual
grasp. of the dochrmes, but, because of the fa.ct that & man hke Spra.l;b
was a Communist. A deep scholar but never, pedanhlc, courageous
but never a.ctua,ted by a gpirit of bravado, steadfast in his loya,lby to
the principles he. holds . dear to his hea,rl; but never bxgotf,ed, indas-
trious and hard- work;ng but never makmg a para.de of h1s acblvmes—
Sprats is g type of man of . whom any nahon may be proud who
would prove an, sequisition. to any movemenﬁ whose ldea.ls have
attracted his loyalty.  As a matter of fa.ch I never knew unml the
Prosecution had, uufolded its case, granting that wha,b was 8aid is
true, Spratt’s real place in the Workers’ and Pea.sants Party. Tlm.b
it was_he and, be aloge who wag its mtellecbual lea,der, to whom the
Party owed all its hb¢ra.tute——much ‘of ;whlch 1 was ‘noli pnvxleced to
see till I shared the prison with him a.nd thus had occasion to hsten
to the late Mr. Langford, James reluctant homa,ge in hlS Openmg
Address—would be denied by none who goes | l:htouoh the Ptosecuhon
exhibits. But such was his questy thab whenevet I a.sked hlm
meeting him. after a long mbetva.l a8 to wha.b he was domg WIth
himself he would say that he was very busy a.boub nothmg in parh-
cular. Spratt from what I saw hxm eutgide aud in pl‘lSOD is just the
sort of man who, had he lived in the Middle Ages, would not abjure
his faith even if stretched on the rack and sub]ecbed to all those
tortures of the Inquisition mvented by human Eigenulty to compel
a man to go to Paradige in spite of himself. has also ia a full
measure the essential quaility which ma.rks out a true soldier. ~ His
loyalty to his Party made bim impose upon hlmself an iron dis-
cipline. My criticism of him in P 24 was, as I have come to realise
since, based rather on the defects of his qualltles than on any
essential $raits in his character: Hls keen intellect unbiassed by
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Party prejudice or bigobry led him to see the gorrest. polioy to ba
pursued by his Party uonder given circumstances. But he had nof
the vigour of the fanatic unhampered by the gift of a larger and
broader vision, nor the persistence of an egoist who wants to carry
through what 4e considers’ to be the correct policy, and so, as I
saw it, he had to submit to policy and tactics decided upon by his
Party to which he did not perbaps wholly subsoribe. Spratt ig
indeed & unique personality who impresses everyone who comes in
touch with him, and it is certainly a sad’ commentary on the
Criminal Code of a country which is capable of being 80 construed
as to bring within its mischief not only & person of his intellectual
ahd moral ealibre, put also & person Whg is proud of associating with
hirm closely while agreeing to differ from" him in his political views.
That such a man as Spratt could glve away vnﬂ,ua.b]e‘Pa.rty secrets tg
one who ta.r from being one of thé Party was fighting it and belonged
to an orgamsa.hon which, according to Spratt, was rather reaction-
ary was absured on the face of it, besides being unsupported by . the
Prosecution exhibits themselves, whichygp ‘& fair construction prove.
the reverse, As a matter of fact if I were beétter informed as to
the actual relations subsxsl;ng between the B J W. A, assisted
by some members of the Workers’ and Peasants’ Party (since _the,
All-India Workers’ and Peasants’ Party Conference) and the
W. P, P.itself, if I were informed earlier about the exact position.
of Messrs. R. R. Mittra and Backim Mukherjee with regard to
the Workers' and Peasants’ Party some of my letters produced
as prosecution exhibits would certainly have been different from
what they are. It was when the split in the W.P. P, had de-
veloped so foras to bring it within the columas of newspapers—
(P 527 (1) in which Phlhp writes to' ‘ Dear Dutt’, giving an’
account of the split: “we did" not even. reply to the statements
which you must have noticed in the * Forward ’) ¥—~that I came to
know of it, and Spratt in answer to straight questions gave me some
facts in a rather grudging way., He did not even give.me those
facts which have come to'my knowledge in the course of this case
through P. 527 (9,~-I do not know whether it was meant to be a
manifesto for public circulation or a'report for the Farty members:=
“The dispute was settled within a few days by the return of the
two members' to the national Executive Committee, but it soon’
became apparent that the division which had been created had not’
been repairedi The dissident gtoup established new headquarters.
They caused to be held without the knowledge of the Party an
annual meeting of the affiliated Jute Workers™ Associaiion and'
appoiuted as three of the officials Congressmen of whom the Party
could not approve. After'a few- minor brushes- in connection
with payment of subscription etcs the bulk of the  dissident group
resigned and annouaced the formation of a new People’s Party,””
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The first interesting information gathered from the above
is that the B. J. W. A. did not inform the Workers’ and Peasants’
Party about its annual meeting. Of course the “Reactionary
Federation with which it was affiliated ( though it never con-
descended to pay the affiliation fee} could not expect to be favoured
with a notice of the meeting though all affiliated unions to- it as a
matter of courtesy and form, invite the Presidentand the Secretary.
However I wanl to draw the contrast between the above account
which explains fully the extent of the breach between the B.J.W.A.
and the W. P. P. after the All-India Workers’ and Peasants’ Party
Conference and the very cautious and watered-down statement
made by Spratt to me that there was no love lost between g7,
Cornawallis St. and the 21/1‘Epropean Asylum Lane. The three
Congressmen referred to here are of course Mr. Hemanta Kumar
Bose, Secretary of North Calcutta Congress Committee, Mr,
Bankim Chandra-Mukerjee, and Mr. R. R. Mittra. The last
named was, it seems, up to the very time of his arrest, regarded
by the W. P, P., as he was by me up to the very time of making
his statement in this Courtg Congressman. '

To summarise my relation with Spratt, each knew exactly
where he stood with regard to the other. None had the ambition
of converting the other to his views. Both were alive to the personal
ties which bound each to the other-each was glad to work with the
other as far as he might, This is not a unique phenomenon in
public life. But while it may be too much to expect that the Pro-
secution or the Committing Magistrate in a conspiracy case should
be familiar with the amenities and convestions of public life or
political parties, it was certainly not too much to expect that they
should carefully go through the records of the case sd easily
available to them instead of ignoring the facts and perversely inter-
preting documents to suit their theories and notions.

P 8[: is a letter dated 3rd January—the year has been
wrongly written—it must have been 1929 instead of 13928. This
letter has already been referred to in connection with the Girni
Kamgar Union contributions and by a reference to its photographic ¥
copy which is,P-1628P. It bas been further pointed out that the
letter was directed to the care of A, I. T. U, C. like other letters
which I had occasion to address to Bombay Trade Unionists in
connection with Bauria. I would have had no occasion to deal with
it separately but for the fact that the learned Magistrate has drawn
some unwarranted inferences from it. The learned Magistrate,
thyough' what prccess of ratiocination is known only to himself, finds
in this letter a confirmation ¢f his view that I am an accomplice of
Dutt ** This view (that is by addressing me as ‘ Dear Comrade, °
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signing himself with the usual squiggle, and as “Yours fraternally”
Dutt knew that he was writing to an accomplice) is confirmed by
the way in which Kishori Lal voted with the Party Block in the
T.U.C. especially in connection with Dange s election as Assistant
Secretary.” Well Sir, it is indeed an irony of fate that while a
Labour Government is in office at Whitehall a Magistrate at Meerat
would be solemnly laying down the law that the fact that a man
addresses another as ‘Dear Comrade’or subscribes himself as*Yours
fraternally’ is evidence of their conspiratorial connection, But that
is by the way. The learned Magistrate refers to the way in which
1 voted with the Party Biock though there is absolutely nothing in
the records not even in the deposition of that very resourceful
witness P.W.254 who was present at the Executive Council Meeting
at Jharia where none but members were allowed—to indicate the
“way" in which I voted. Perhaps after writing this he had some
misgivings that this discovery of his might not be supported by
anything in the records, so he seeks to cover it up by adding
“especially in connection with Dangg's election as Assistant
Secretary” and cites P 86 in support of his finding, thereby con-
veying the impressidn that the evidence of the way in which I voted
in the Party Bloc is also to be found in this exhibit. This is not
the first or the only instance~—as I have pointed out more than once
particulary in connection with P 2008P and P 2419 - of the learned
-Magistrzte citing 2 document in support of a finding which either
does not support him at all or leads one to an inferencg,_the very
reverse what he drew. As in others, the facts of the case are found
in the very document itself. Let me quote a relevant extract from it:=
““We missed you very much, believe me, and were surprised to find
the party for whlch we all know you did so much giving preference
to Joglekar over you in the selection of the Assistant Secretary of
the Congress, At Cawnpore I found you to be the hot favourite and
Joglekar not very seriously taken. What can have happened in the
meantime excepting the fact that Joglekar is hand in glove with
Bradley that he would become the hot favourite at Jharia? However
it is not our look-ont. As soon as m found out from the statement
made by Bakhale that you did not expressly express any disinclina-
tion to stacd as a candidate for the Assistant Secretaryship, as we
were led at first to believe from what Joglekar said, WNB.. all voted

solidly for you.”

I believe Sir, that English language has not so radically
changed since my arrest or that it as used and understood in
Calcutta is not so very different from what is current at Meerut as
to justify the conclusion the learned Magxstrate drew from this that
I voted for the Workers’ and Peasants * Party Bloc especially in
regard to Dan:ge s election. When I referred to ¥ your party » in

( 1103 )



addressing Darige, as the very next sentence following the extract
quoted shows, and when I referred to *‘ our supporters ”” in a letter
addressed to Mr ]oshr P 24 which has also suffered from mise
mterpretatron, is there any doubt left as to whom I referred shen I
said that ‘e solrdly voted for Dange’s election’ as an Assistant
Secretary ? But there is another significant fact which’ seems - to
have escaped the learned Magrstrate [ refer here to two contradic:
tory statements one made by Mr K.N, joglekar and another made
by Mr. R.R. Bakhale. Mr Joglekar deﬁmtely said at the meeting of
the Executive Councrl that Mt. Dange told him that he would not
lrke to be ré-elécted or would not be" able to work' as  Assistant
Secretary while Mr. Bakhale challenged Mr. Joglekar's' statement
and with equal emphasis said that he had' quite a different im-
pressron from his talk with Mr. Dange beforé he (that is Bakhale)
left for Jharia, from what was sought to be cahveyed by Mr.
Joglekar. Not only this, I began the letter with the following’
“Bakhale must have by thrs timé given you an account of what took:
place at the P.C. meeting 3 at Jharra Now I'submit that even a
cursory readmg of the lettér would lead a man to arrive at a finding:
quxte different from that ‘of the learned Magistrate:

There rs another matter comparatrvely not very’' important’
which requirés mention in connection with this letter namely the
reierence in'the second paragraph to the 25 letters about the Bauria-
Stnke P83 dropped out by the Prosecution but restored by me’
is the letter referred to, which I sent to all- prominent Trade’
Umomsts such as Mr, Shlva Rao, Diwan Chaman Lal, Rai Sahab
Chandnka Prasad ete. Dange, Bradley- and  Jhabwala were also
amongst them, The letters addressed to them were directed to the’
care of Mr. N M. Joshi because 1 did not know of, other addréss.
to whrch letters to Bombay Trade Umomsts might be- sent, Thisg’
is another instance 'which shows that I'did not regard the Trade
Union Movement as the patnmony of any particular individual or
party belonging to a partlcular sphool of thought. Everybody who
is so inclined may come and help. I wasno more averse to ask
help from Bradley as of nght than from Rai Sahib Chandika Prasad
as long as the have laken active part in the Trade* Union - Move-
ment. To abuse every other party than one's own as traitors to the
working class mevement and to advertise one’s own ‘party aa the
oaly saviour of the working class and as such entitled tots leadershrp
might be gdod tactics, which may work well for some time and
delude 2 number of hard-working and long suffering workers. But
as my expenence durmg the last three years beforec my arrest has
shown and also as what I have learnt since my arrest’ about the
position of the Trade Union Movement in Bombay and Bengal has’
shown, to quote 'Abrabam’ meolne famous saymg “You can
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deceive some of the'men &l 'the tiine or all the men for some: time
But not all the men all the time.” It does rot'take long té find' outi
that there is as much difference between high-sounding words and’
quiet action as between shadow and sibstance:

P 25 I do not think this requires much explanation except
what is called for.from the fact that the address on the back of the
card was in my handwriting, The fact is that workers used to come
to.my place sometimes for things which t6 me appeared’to be not
so serious or urgent as would justify the trouble, expense or waste’
of.time that a journey.from Chengail or Bauria to' Calcutta entail,
and which sometimes proved fruitless if I 'was not at home: So I
kept always with me at home or when 1 would visit Bauria® or
Chengail 2 number of cards with my address written which I'would
give to those from whom I'wantéd some information ot who'wanted
to tell me something but could not'lest I should’ miss' the- tratay
asking them either to comniunicate to me in writing’ ot fix' up an
appointment first if the mattér ' was sach’ as could ‘not be pit within
the space of the gard.

D/ 6.8 31.:

I maist have- given- one such card to Mt. Huda for my
adderss - though. I do not remember whether I gave: it to him at
Bauria or at- my place. Mr. Huda must have written this in his
own brief style in acceptance of my note inviting him to address
some meetings at Bauria which I used to send, as I' have alreddy
. said, {o'the: Trade ‘Uanionists ov those - who fook' an‘interest in
Labour; In this connection: I cannot help remarking. that- even on
ashort acquaintance I. was: very: much struck- with: Mr. Huda’s
straightforward' conduct. As: I bave= already mentioned sthat. it
was at a. Worker's meeting at Bauria that he: was- first - introduced
to.me and I introduced ‘him: to the meeting: exactly. in terms in
which he was introduced tome: He attended oné or two meetings
after that and also saw me once or twice at home, 1 did not know
that he had any connection with the W.P.P. and I thought that
the services of a young and energetic ‘man like him, if available- for
Bauria, would 'be greatly helpful<particularly at'that junclure,
that is in November. I asked him - whether he "would - be able to
devote himself to Bauria Jite Worker's  Union. It'was then that
he said that he différed fiom me in his" political 'views ‘and’ that
his ideas regarding a union were not on all' fouts. with" mine ‘and
in the circamstances he did not think it would beé possible tdf him
to work regularly in‘ and 'for the union in any" defihitd official
capacity, though during the strike he would try to‘attend ' as - many
meetings as possible and help, as” much’ as he' could, the Uion
for the success of the strike. As 'far as he ~was ‘concerned he
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scrupulously kept his word- attended some meetings when he could
in response to my invitation, and kept clear, as far as I could see,
from all underhand tricks or propaganda against the Bauria Jute
Worker's Union, though I was informed he was engaged in the
organisation of the Transport—W orkers under the auspices of the
Beungal Workers’ and Peasants’ Party.

P. 27— I have already explained that P. 27 is a reply
both to P. 526 (9) and P. 526 (%). The second paragraph relates
to that unhappy misunderstanding between- Mr. R.R. Mittra and
myself over the sending of that cable to Mr. Saklatwala over the
joint names of himself and Spratt. When I learnt about this for
the first time from a casual mention of it by Spratt I pointed out to
him that this was in violation of the resolution passed at
Cawnpore. From Spratt’s conversation I gathered that he was
under the impression that the telegram was-being sent with my
‘knowledge I do not exactly remember the details but the
version which Mr. Bankim Mukerjee gave seemed to differ on
certain points from what Spratt told me and so I wrote to Spratt.
I do not exactly remember as to how “the matter was settled after
a prolonged discussion” or whether I was told about it all.
Those were very busy times for me and somehow or other though
I had tried I could never see Spratt and Mr. Mittra in any place
where I could havea talk over it, I seldom if ever during the pcriod
between November and March 20th met Mr. Mittra alone or had
any opportunity of having any talk with him on this matter.

P. 83 is also in connection with what I may call the
Saklatwala cable and was written by Mr. R.R. Mittra in reply to
a note by Spratt making an appintment at my place where we
three would discuss the whole matter. As I have said, that
meeting never took place, this reply was shown by Spratt to me
and must have been left at my place and preserved by the typist
who used to work for me and arrange my papers.

P. 41 is a Diary containing certain ectries on cerfain
dates of 1928. I do not kzow what is there to explain except that
certain small payments made to or expenses inucrred on behalf of
Messrs. Mittra, Spratt and Huda in connection with journey to
Bauria were noted there. The letter dates 6.4.28 written to Dr.
Bishwanath Mukerjee which was recovered from his search, was put
in as an exbibit P, 1428 by the Prosecution at the Inquiry Court,
was dropped in this court and restored by me. That letter
explains itself as regards the character of my relations with Dr.
Bishwanath- Mukerjee. I may say that this was the second
]euerIaddressed to him, and,as I apprehended, met with (he
same fate as its predecessor, that is it was not replied to. That
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did not encourade me to inflict on him a third letter and I had
never any occasion to meet himsince I first came in touch with
him at Cawnpore till the 23rd of March 1929 when I found him
safely lodged in a cell veryclose to- the one selected for me im
Meerut Jail,

The *Vidyarthi’ mentioned on the same daté to whom I
also addressed a letter was that gentleman--the editor of the ‘Partap’,
acclaimed today by both the Hindus and Muslims as a martyr to
the cause of Hindu-Muslim Unity—who offered 'himself as a
victim to the communal fury of some Muslim fanatics in the very
attempt to save some of their ' own co-religionists from the attacks
of some Hindu fanatics during the recent disgraceful communal
riot at Cawnpore. He was the Chairman of the Reception
Comnmittee of the AL T.U.C. at Cawnpore, 1927 and the little
contact that I was privileged to have with him for the few days I
stayed at Cawnpore in connection with the Congress attracted ‘me
towards him for the unostentatious efficiency and charming courtsey
.and consideration with which he discharged his onerous duty.
Now, this hospitable gentleman invited the Trade Unionist
F'Delegates to tea at the ‘Paftap’ office wheré the thinness of the
attendance was due to the fact that many of the "delegates - had
either left or were leaving that very day and had his guests grouped
together ,fo'r a photograph. A copy of this, I find, has been
recovered from Mr, Dharni Goswami’s search and “has been put
inas P.1o. I tried subsequently o secure a copy ‘ahd ‘wrote to
Mr. Vidayartha\' flgr the same. I wrote o him twice and I believe
that the latteryI wrote to him was the one mentioned here. I did
not get the copy, of the photograph nor any rgglv
'P. 694 is a hand bill prml.ed for distribution amongst the Bauria
workers issued by the Secretary of the B.-T. U.F. cgntaining the
notice of a meeting to be held at Bauria on 8.7.28. “The name -of
Mr, Kalidas Bhattacharji amongst the speakers indicates that far
from ignoriog Mr. Bhatacharji’s position as one connected with
the oldest union in the Jate indusiry affiliated to the Trade Union
Congress, efforts were made by me to enlist his support. Asa
matter of fact evea at a later stage, when his attitude was
unmistakably hostile, invitation létters requesting himto address
the meetings continued to be sent to him and his namé sometimes
was given as one of the speakers, though he seldom cared to attend:

the meetings.

P, 696 is a letter which, as T have already pointed’ out in
connection with Chengail, did not reach me. I have nothing to add
to what I have already said in that connection.

P, 526 (7):—I do not find this requires any. further expla;xa-
tion than what I have already stated with regard to the *word”: now.
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Mr. Johnstone did never:pu} up with,me, though he called on.me a
number. of times during his.stay in Calcutta, The witness. from
Continental Hotel has deposed- that Mr. Johnstone was. staying
there. I have already referred to P. 526 (9) in conneation with
P, 27 which I pointed out was a reply both to P. 3526 {¥) and
P.525.(9). Regarding the appeal sent to Mt. Saklatwala by Messrs.
R. R. Mittra and,Spra:t_enmigh‘has_ been said and nothing relevant
remaing to.be said.. Just a few words about the- reference to- Mr,
Gopendra Chakravarty.. By my subsequent experience gathered
in the forced intimacy of the life in prison, I had absolutely no
occasion to revise my opinion about him formed on 2 very limited
acquaintance, But the passages preceding my opinion in this
letter about him describe the modus operandi of the B. J: W, A,,
they—I am not referring to personalities, for less to Mr. Chakravarty
whose good opinion I have learnt to value, but generally speaking
they, that is the leaders of the B, J.. W. A. “loved’ to do good by
stealth” but I cannot say whether they **blushed: to find it fame.”
When jinvited to attend,meetings even atmost critical times they
would hardly,come; in reply to.letters asking for their assistance-as
I did, they. would reply in the most approved bureaucratic style
that “the, matter was under consideration,”” but they would just
qujetly. go, put. up with some of the workers, who
would naturally, welcome  them, and would collect a
dozen. or so of the workers_ and talk to them. I believe this is
what, is. known as creating "‘fractions”. Perhaps they were loyally
following the tactics of their Party and it is not; for* me: from this
place to Ycriticise these tactics. ButI have learat, as I have
alﬁady pointed: out, from my experience at Bauria that these
tactics, led nowhere but to disruption and during a strike to the
defeat of the workers,.

P. 526.(15) has already been. dealt with in connectidn with
Chengail strike.,

"P-5 26(13):—1I have already explained this letter excepton
one point, namely reference to Chengail, “how could you appear
as a meteor on-the Chengail ‘scene when the situation was such
as to require your presence” ? This must haye reference to the
second strike, that is, women's strike at Chengail ( according to
Mr. R. R. Mittra in P. 119 the third strike which as I have
explained before includes the Margh,: strike with. which.the Federa-
tion had nothing to.da ) and;must have been. written a few. days
Jater than the letter . which was sent to the: ‘Statesman’ for pablica-
tion, because in P 118 I find that the strike broke out on the 4th
- Jung ( though I myself do not remember the date), @nd 1 must
have written the letter after I came to know of the Chengail strike.
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I was indeed glad, in view of the nature of the assistance kindly
referred by Spratt during the first strike (unlike the others who
belong to his Party), to learn that he had come back—from Asansol,
if 1 remember aright. But Spratt could not render much assistance
during this second strike because, I suppose, of his pre-occupation
with Lillooah and other matters.

I want to add another instance of C. I. D. curiosity and
perverseness to what I said before in connection with the latter
part of the letter. This instance I also came across in the late Mr.
Montague’s Diary. Mr. Montague refers to a cenversation he had
with Mr. C. F. Aadrews ( afterwards twice the President of the
A. 1. T. U. C. ) who was very angry with Mr. Cleveland—the then
Director of Criminal Intelligence Bureau-for interfering with his
mail. :

-P. 593 dated 26. 7. 28 is an issue 'of Ganavani where I am
attacked for creating what Mr. Muzaffar Ahmad, the editor, consi-
dered to be a number of small and overlapping unious, in spite of
the Congress resolution, as he interpreted it, to the contrary. Ido
not consider this requires any further explanation than what I. have
already given in discussing my relations with the W. P. P.

"P.g 55:—1 have already referred toit in connection with the
controversy aboyt Girni Kamgar contribution and I do not think
any further observation is called for than this that I had nothing to
do with the help that might have been given by the Dundee Jute
Workers’ Union with which Mr. Kalidas Bhattacharji wds in
direct communication. It may be noted that on one occasion that
is;in P 24 I was writing to Mr. Joshi that “‘your wire to Dundee
Jute Workers’Union might elicit some facts which might throw
some light on the mystery (i. e. of the source from which Mr.
Kalidas Bhattacharji received money out of which he paid Rsz250/-
to the Secretary Bauria Jute Workers’ Union, which fact came
accidentally to my notice through Mr. Gopendra Chakravarty}’

P. 24 is the letter addressed by me to Mr. N. M. Joshi
dated 7th December 1928. It has already been referred to by me
several times and has been mentioned rather prominently’ by the
learned Magistrate who quotes an extract from it only to misinter-
pret it, without the least reference to the context. I refer to the
third paragraph of the letter in which I am telling Mr. Joshi about
the principles of the Bengal Workers' and Peasants’ Party. The -
date of the letter, as I have said is 7th December 1928 that is at
a time when the Bauria jute workers were passing through a crisis
and when the disruptive activities of the Workers’ and Peasants'
Party carried on through the Bengal Jute Workers” Association
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were being felt most. Of course the Prosecution and therefore

the learned Magistrate "conveniently lorgot that a man in his

public capacity writing about the principles of any party in these

terms could not possibly join\in any of their conferences or demon-

strations within a fortnightor so of the writing of that letter. The
Prosecution and the learned Magistrate also seemed to have conve-
niently ignored the fact that the letler was being addressed to Mr.
N. M. Joshi, the General Secretary, by the Secretary of a Provincial
Committee. The Prosecution and the learned Magistrate also chose

to ignore the little passage in Page gof this exhibit viz *“I trust in

the Congress ( that is at the Jharia Congress ) our supporters would
muster sffong.” The Prosecution and the learned Magistrate
again did not consider it worth while to take into account the
passages which throw considerable light on the attitude of the

Bengal Jute Workers’ Association towards the Federation.
Conveniently ignoring all these materials the learned Magistrate
followed the Prosecution in coming to the conclusion that my ¢riticism
of the members of the Party is merely of character and efficiency

and not of policy. Perhaps the ledrned Magistrate expected the
Provincial Secretary to writé not a letter but a thesis on Communis¢
principles and tactics with a footnote' in' bold characters signifying:
for the bejiefit of the Police, Prosecution and the learned Magistrate

that the writer did not approve of these principles and tactics.

Perhaps it did not strike the learned Magistrate that Mr. N. M.

Joshi did not require my views on Communists oN.Communism or
what they stand for but rather on the activities that a particular
party was pursuing as far as those activities affected the Federation

or the union affiliated to or being organised by the Federation that

is the Provincial Committee of A, I. T. U. C. The learned Junior
Public Prosecutor laid great stress on my use of the words “so

called” in connection with certain criticisms of the Workers' and
Peasants’ Party, thereby very ingeniously suggesting that I was cons-
piring against his Majesty with the genuine brand. Of course

the ittle requirements of the Kvidence Act are beside the

point far less the requiremeats for the fair construction of a docu-

ment. Thé suggestion is there and in weighing the balance of

probability it seems to be safe in a political case to proceed on the

assumption that an accused pérson is guilty.

I have salready made it clear that far from baving any
objection to working with the Communists, up to the point where
both Trade Unionists and the Communists can bave a common
platform while agreeing to differ on other matters, I invited their
help in making the Bauria Strike a success, in the same way as
Mr. K. C. Mitra invited them in connection with the Lillooah Strike,
and I may also say in the same way as they who were conducting
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the Scavengers' Strike invited the Bengal Trade Union Federation
to help them to come to an honourable settlement with the Corpora-
tion. I did not write to the Workers’ and Peasants’ Party as such
any formal letter of invitation becaumse I .considered it to be
essentially a political party just ag I did not address any formal
letter of invitation to the Bengal Provincial Congress Committee.
But I did write to the Secretary of the Bengal Jute Workers'
Association a formal Jetter requesting it to help the workers
of Bauria. The General Secretary of the Association
wrote to me 4 three-line letter informing me curtly that
my request was under consideration. But the result of that
“ consideration ” was never communicated to me. I had invited
several times Mr. Muzaffar Ahmad by letter to address meetings at
Bauria, ,particularly after Mr. Muzaffar Abhmad bad begun taking
active part in the organisation of the Scavengers’ Union. As I have
stated before my study and experience about the Labour Movement
in India convinced me that at the present stage of the Trade Union
Movement of our country the best: course to follow is to seek to find
the greatest common measure of agréement amongst the various
sohools of thought in the workmg class movement, and in a strike
particularly all the different parties and sections should unite in’
making the strike a success in the sense of getting for the workers
a8 many concessions as was possible and practicable under the
circumstances. I would no more breat those who in poligjcal parlance
are called loya.hsts as untoucha.bles than those who proclaim them-
gelves to be Communists. I woulds as Idid aod I had the
support of the Bengal Trade Union Federation in what
I did, condemn a Ioyalist not because he is a loyalist
but for being disloyal to the Trade Unien Movement to
which he professes his a.llegla,nce, either by dlsobeymg the resolation
of the Trade Union Congress or by taking part in activities which
- are nothing. short of strike-breaking activities so' universally
condemned by sincers Trade Umomsfs all over the world. Similarly
if T had attacked the Commaunists it is not because of their views
becauss each person is ‘entitled to his views and I had no concern
with those views unless and until those views are acted upon in &
way which would affect the movement with which I am associated
in an adverse way. T attacked the Communists because of their
failure to act up o theu' ptofessnons and pot only that but for acting
in & way which is inconsistent with their professions, and my attack
was based on facts within my persons.l knowledge. Their attitude
appeared to me Jike that of a political party which prooeeds on the
n.ssumphxon that if the counbry is to attain its salvation it must be
through that particular patty, otherwise let the country be damned.
Puat *“ working olass for. “‘country * and you have the tactics in a
nutshell as I saw thqm. ‘Whatever, may be their motives which

4
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prompted them to act in the way they did during the Bauria Strike
~—apnd I am ready to concede that they were guided by the highest
considerations from their standpoint—their activities took the shape
of intrigues for party purposes, and, I hope that they did not realise
it, tended to produce the same result as did the activities of some
loyalists mentioned before, namely the collapse of the Strike. Never
was the truth of the adage that extremes meet so vividly illustrated
as at Bauria.

‘While I repudiate the suggestion of the Prosecution that
I was coospiring with the genuine Communists while attacking their
imitations as absolutely false and absurd on the face of i, I have
never denied that I was ready to work in cooperation with Com-
munists up to the point of common contact whose sincgrity of
conviction was demonstrated by something more tangible than the
parrotlike repetition of big and high-sounding phrases ecined by the
makers of history, without reference to their application to the
realities of life. In doing this I was loyally carrying out the policy
of the All India Trade Union Congress which was neither a loyalist
organisation, though there were loyalistsin it, nor a Communist
organisation, though 'there were Communists in it—so called or
otherwise.

P 84:—1t is a document without signature or any covering
letter, purpsting = to be the typed copy of a report of the annual
Generzl Meeting of the Central Executive Council of the Bengal
Jute Workers Association alleged to be held at Bhatpara on the
3rd January r929. The cover in which the letter was addressed
bears the posting date of 23rd January 1929 so it took about three
weeks for those who sent the so-called report of the proceedings to
decide as to whether it should be sent at all to the Secretary of the
Bengal Trade Union Federation. The report was interesting for
more than one reason. Overnight it seemed that the Bengal Jute
Workers’ Association grew into a very strong  and very powerful
union with branches spreading over to practically all the important
Jute centres. Mr. Radha Raman Mitra was appointed the General
Secretary, while Mr. Bankim Mukerji was made the Branch Sec-
retary of Bauria: Mr. Hemanta Kumar Bose, a very able and hard-
working Secretary of the North Calcutta Congress Committee was
made an Assistant to Mr. Radha Raman Mitra, The Head Office
was transferred to 97, Cornwallis Street. Such trifling details as
that two unions were functioning at Chengail and Bauria of course
were not allowed to interfere with the annexation policy of the
Bengal Jute Workers® Association. I have already compared the
policy pursued by this pnion to the selfish White Australian Policy.
1 am extremely sorry but in going through this document I was
reminded of the practice of the Imperialist Powers in the 18th and
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19th centuries of claiming hundreds and thousands of square miles
of territory simply by virtue of the fact that one of their captains
and discoverers had planted a flag on the fringe of the coast line of
a country or continent inhabited by primitive tribes, Subsequently
the International jurists were driven to discover a principle or
formula to clothe these absurd claimg with the appearance of rations
ak’ty. I need notgointo the different suggestions made and dis-
ctssed only to be rejected, but if I remember aright ultimately a
theory of *‘effective control” was accepted as a way out of the
difficulty. It means in short that the area over which the claimant
power would be able to exercise effective control would be taken as
being covered by its flag. “Effective control” of Bengal Jute
Workers' Association over the unions at Chengail and Bauria was
nil. The fact that the Secretaries of both had sided with the Bengal
Jute Workers’ Association no more entitled the Bengal Jute Work-
ers' Association to annex these two unions so uncsremoniously,
than that the Afghan Government can be entitled to proclaim India
as a subordinate branch of the Afghan Administration because, to
take an absurd iilustration to explain the nature of an absurd claim,
one or two of the members of the Viceroy’s Executive Council had
secret dealings with the Afghan Government. Inquiries disclose
that there was oot even a meeting held either at Chengail or Bauria
to announce the glad tidings to the workers—of course I can not
expect that the Bengal Jute Workers’ Association should concede
to the existing unions their right of self determination,and insist on
the Federation convening a meeting of these unions and in the
presence of both the parties ascertain their desires.

I decided to ignore these communications and went on as I
was doing with the cases of the Bauria workers and trying to help
as much as [ could the families of those who had gone to prison.
As a matter of fact [ had suggested to Mr. Muzaffar Ahmad that
some out of the Girni Kamgar money shoald be " set apart for the
relief of the families of those who had gone to the prison. This
suggestion was ignored. However I was not very much perturbed
by this communication at all, that is P 34. What I was concerned
with at the time was to stem the tide of demoralisation that is bound
to set in amongst the workers after the collapse of a strike in the
same way that it does amongst a nation defeated in war. I was
sure that the Federationas well as the All India Trade Union Cong-
ress would never allow this highhandedness of the Bengal Jute
Workers’ Association to go unchallanged. 1 was besides collecting
muterials for the final report for the All India Trade Union Congress
in which I intended to expose the tactics pursued by some loylists
as well as by the Bengal Jate Workers’ Association backed up by
the Workers® and Peasants’ Party. It may be remembered that the
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preliminary report D 285 (2) was already submitted to Mr.
N. M. Joshi.

Lillooakh Strike.

In support of my assertio‘) that the Prosecation for their own
purpose, have given credit where none was due, and that they have
distorted facts to suit their theory instead of basing their conclusion\
on proved facts, I have already cited the instance of Lillooah
Strike which the Prosecution suggests was controlled by the
Workers’ and Peasants’ Party and that I helped the Party in what
to the Prosecution must appear as its nefarious designs. The
learned Magistrate, as usual, accepted the Prosecution theory in
its entirety notwithstanding certhin glaring facts which knocked the
bottom out of this theory. P. 2419 for example, which the learned
Magistrate wrongly cites more than once insupport of what is
imagined to be a question of Bauria Jute workers affiliation to the
Bengal Trade Union Federation against the wishes of the Workers’
and Peasants’ Party, could bave, if he were inclined to seek light,
thrown considerable light on the relations between the Workers®
and Peasants’ Party and the E. I. Ry. Union at Lillooah conducting
the strike under the l.adership of Mr, K, C, Mitra, P 2419: as I
have already pointed out, is a photographic copy of a letter dated
23rd October 1928 alleged to have been written by Spratt to qne
“Dear Robin” wherein the writer with admirable ¢éandour describes
the attitude of the Workers’ and Peasants’ Party of Bengal to the
various strikes .conducted under what he thinks to be “reactionary’”
leadership. ““I am afraid’’, says the writer, “we rather made fools
of ourselves over the Lillooah Strike. We merely gave some assis-
tance in agitation etc, but without making any serious difference to
the ill-judged and very reactionary policy of Mitra”. Then he in
fairness admits that Mitra was forced to call off the strike against
his will and concludes that “Mitra made clever use of the sitnation
and succeeded in fooling us pretty completely, while we have little
in the way ohpropaganda achieved to compensate for it”,

D/ 1.8. 31..

I may meption bere that Mr. K. C. Mittra before ealling off
the strike sought advice from Mr. Subbas Chandra Bose, the
President of the Bengal Provincial Congress Committee, Mr. Mrinal
Kanti Bose, the President of the Bengal Trade Union Federation
and my humble self as the Secretary of the B.T.U. F. and was .
guided by the advice given to him with due regard to the circums-

tances at the time.

But besides this letter there were other indications to prove
the relations subsisting between the Workers' and Peasants' Party
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and Mr. K. C. Mitéra, the leader of the Lillooah strike, These indi-
"cations were ag usual ignored by the Prosecution who have throughe
out the case displayed a wonderful capacity for brushing aside all
awkward facts which are likely to be detrimental to their pet theory
namely, that the strikes were being engineered or exploited by the
Workers® and Peasants’ Party in the furtherance of conspiracy and
that as far as Bengal was concerned I was helping this Party with
right good will. A number of issues of the * Ganavani ” published
towards the end of the strike or subsequent to its being called off
wonld show to every one having eyes o see how Mr.Mittra was being
to quote a favourite Cominunist phrase, ** ruthlessly exposed. **

Before I come to deal with my connection with this strike I
want to invite the attention of the Court to two very important
Iacts, namely, that Mr. Mittra from the beginning to end as the
General Secretary of the X [.R.Union-affiliated to the A.I. T.U.C.—
was leading the strike, forced on him by the unbending aftitude of
the agent who had declared a lock-ouf, and segondly that Mr,Mittra
did not allow himself to be dictated to by the Workers'and Peasants®
Party in the conduct of the strike though he might have sought
their help and, I am almost disposed to be envious, was more fortu-'
nate in receiving their help as well as abuse than my humble self
who received the abuse without the help in regard to Bauria. That
the leader of the strike throughout was Mr. K. C. Mittra has been
admitted by P. W. 94. That the strike was due to the refusal of the
agent to concede to cerbain legitimate demands of the workers has
not beer denied even by the Prosecution. I have already said enough
to show the attitude of the Workers’ and Peasants’ Party towards
Mr. K. C. Mittra and pointed out what their views were in regard
to the conduct of the strike.

Regarding my humble share in i, the learned Magistrate,
while disposed to find ‘“ nothing strange *’ for the Secretary of the
B. T. U. F. in attending “ such strikes and meetings’” oconsidered it
to be his duty to bring out that “he (myself) did not attend any of
the strike meetings at Lillooah until the W. P, P. had taken up the
strike more than three months after its inception, (P. W. 330 ).”

Now, Sir, when I read this I was somewhat curious to ascer-

‘tain the facts on which the learned Magistrate based his conclusion
that I did not attend any of the strike meetings at Lillooah until

* the W. P. P. had taken up the strike more than three months after
its inception. But I found that the learned Magistrate has com-
mitted the same mistake that he did in regard to P. 2419, that is,
he has given a reference which does not at all support his conclusion.
P. W.230 referred to by the learned Magistrabe is Inspector
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J. M. Chatterji, D. I. B., Howrah, whose number in this court is
P. W. 94, Now this witness stated before the Magistrate that the
Lillooah strike started on the 5th March 1928. He identified
8. N. Banerji, Spratt, Gopendra Chakravarty,” R. R. Mitra,

$ Muzaffar Ahmad and myself who, he said, were occasionally present
at the meetings of the Lillooah workers and somebimes spoke at
them. “The first meeting”, I am now quoting his very words,
“when any of them was noticed was March 16th, when Spratt was
present at a meeting on Howrah Maidan; he made a short speech”.
Then he goes on deposing to several meetings at none of which he
mentions me till he comes $o 28th May when he has stated that I
was present at Lillooah Maidan. This is substantially what the
witness repeated in this Court also, except on one point where he
improved on his statement in the Lower Court. In the Lower
Court he said that Spratt, S. N. Banerji and others already
mentioned “ were occasionally present at the meetings of
the Lillooah workers and sometimes spoke at them™.
In this court perhaps it being foudd that this sort of
statement would not do, he alters it and says, **I saw these men-
during that strike in March and later they spoke
in some of these meetings.” But neither in this Court nor in the
Lower Court does he specifically mention me till he comes to the
meeting of the 28th May. But, io whatever way one may take it,
one finds no support in this witness for the learned Magistrate’s
conclusion that I came into the Lillooah picture with the W. P. P.
who took up the strike three months latter than its inception,

But what are the facts about me ? The facts were before
the learned Magistrate, embodied in the proceedings of the B.T.U.F,
which is marked P. 26. On page 34 we find an emergent meeting
beld on the 2lst Aprill in which a letter from Mr. K. C. Mittra
addressed to the Secretary of the Federation inviting this boy’s
belp for the strike was read out and the following resolution was
passed:—

Resolution No. 3. Read a letter addressed to Mr. Kishori Lal
Ghosh, Secretary, Provincial Committee of the All-lndia Trade
Uniox; Congress by Mr. K. C. Mittra, Secretary of E. I. R. Indian
Labour Union and beit resolved that a Committee be formed, with
powers to co-oph, with the following gentlemen representing all
sections of public and members of the Federation to take charge of
propaganda, of raising fund and of administering relief to the needy
locked-out Railway workers and factory workers of Berne, Jessop
and Martin on strike:—

(1) Mr. Subhas Chandra Bose, M. L. C.—President.

(2 , Mrinal Kanti Bose, Vice-President.
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(8) Mr. M. Daud, Vice-President.
(4) Sjt. J. Chowdhury.

(5) ,, Prahbudayal Himmat Singh.
(6) Maulana Abul Kalam Azad-

(7) Mr. Wahid Hussain.
(8) 8jt. Satyananda Bose.
{9) Sjt. A. N. Bose.
(10) Mr. Muzaffar Ahmad.,
(11) Mr. Latafat Hussain.
(12) Mr. Kalidas Bhattacharji.
{18) Mr. Muzamil Ali.
(14) Mr. Ramanand Chatterji—Treasurer.
(15) Mr. Kishori Lal Ghosh, Sccretary.
(16) Sjt. J. Gangauli, Asstt: Secretary.
(17) Mr. Chandrama Phab Ghosh, Asstt: Secretary.
and (18) Mr. Abdul Hagq, the mover of the resolution.

The letter read in the meeting was copied by me and
incorporated in the proceedings. The original letter has also been
recovered from my search and has been put in by me as Defence
exhibit no: 207 (9). This letter clearly explains my presence in
the Lillooah meetings and the part—small as it was—I was
privileged to play in that strike. But it is rather curious to note
that in the printed exhibits this part of the proceedings is altogether
left out while a part of the proceedings of this same meeting is
printed—1I refer to the part relating to May Day—in a way which
is likely to mislead those who would not care to go through the
original, as I have already pointed out to your Henour while
dealing with May Day celebration. Now, Sir, this part of the
proceedings, if I may be permitted to state, is extremely relevant
as showing how I came to be in the Lillooah strike. The duty
ot the Prosecution, as I anderstand it with my not too extensive
knowledge of law, is to help the Court in arriving at the truth, I
certainly do not expect the Prosecution to supply materials for
defence, but I do expect, and as far as I know the law, the !aw
requires that all available materials helpful for ascartaining the
truth should be placed before the Court. In this instance, as in
many other instances, I have pointed out before, the Prosecution
have failed in their duty. They have left out-of the agenda, the
jtem regarding the Lillooah strike. They have left out that part
of the proceedings recording the resolation in which Mr, K. C,
Mittra’s letter is referred to and giving an account of the highly
representative committee which was formed and in pursuance of
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which I arranged the series of meetings which have been deposed
to against me. I do not know whether it is t>o much to expect
that the learned Magistrate should have looked through the
original exhibits in this case,

But, Sir, I confess that I was simple enough not orly to
expect this much but to expect more. In corcluding my statement
before the learned Magistrate I had the presumption of referring
him to my Trade Union files which were amongst the articles
recovered from my search but not exhibited by the Prosecution.
Not that the learned Magistrate did not refer to any unexhibiied
document, I must dohim the justice to say that he did refer to
some as would be evident from the case of Mr. M. G. Desai (see
page 268 of the Committal Order), but he did this to justify some
inference against him—perhaps his reading of the law prevented
him from drawing inferences in favour of the accused from evidence
before him or in his coatrol or cx&ody. At any rate 1 have
produced in this court some correspondence between myself hnda
Mr, N. M. Joshi and copies of certain letters which Mr. Joshi
addressed to Mr. K. C, Mittra and sent to me for information—all
out of my Trade Union files seized from my possession during
search. What do these letters indicate ? They indicate that
since the “inception” of the Lillooah strike I was in corres-
pondence with the General Secretary of the A. I. T. U. C., sending

- him official reports on the situation there and that he was giving
instructions and advice to me as the Provincial Secretary what to
do under given circumstances.

The General Secretary was also keeping me informed of
the substance of the correspondence that passed between him and
‘Mr. K. C. Mittra and in response to the latter’s appeal for help
directed him to approach Mr. C, F. Andrews, the President of the
A. I. T. U, C at the time in Calcutta, Mr. V.V, Giri, the President
of the B. N. R. Indian Labour Union and myself, the Secretary
of the Provincial Committee {D. 208 (16)). As regards my efforts
for an honourable settlement there is also before the Court D 207
(11) which is a letter addressed by me to the Agent, E. I. R.
informing him that a committee had beén appointed at a pablic
meeting presided over by Mr. Subhas Chandra Bose at Beadod
Square on the 26th April with Mr. C. F. Andrews at the head ‘to
discuss with him theterms proposed by Mr. C. F. Andrews at a
meeting held on the 25th April at Wellingtoa Square. D. 207 (4)
is the reply of the Agent turning down the propesal. All this
mass of evidence was lying-under the control and custody of the
learned Magistrate—at any rate he had the proceedings of the

B. T. U. F. betore him, which if he had cared to use, would have
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saved him from the confusion that led him to conclude that I did
not take part in the Lillooah strike until the W, P. P. had taken
it up, more than three months after its inception. The witness
relied upon, as I have shown, does not bear him out, whereas
there was sufficient explanation, as I just poiated out, of my parti-
.cipation in the Lillooah strike. In this connection I refer the
Court to D 208 (13), D. 208 (14), D. 208 (17), D 208 (16) amongst
others.

Briefly put it amounts to this that I helped the Lillooah
strike under the direction of the B. T. U. F. with the approval of
the Geueral Secretary, A. I. T. U. C., oa the invitation of Mr.K.C.
Mittra who was leading the strike. My activities were confined to
rousing public sympathy for the strikers and helping Mr. K. C.
Mittra in all possible wuys to arrive at an honourable settlement
with the Agent. In all this I was having the full support of the
President of the A.I.T.U.C. of the President of the Federation,
of the President of the Bengal Provincial Congress: Committee, of
Mr. J. M. Sen Gupta, then leader of the Congress Party in the
Bengal Council, of Dr, P. C. Roy, Mr. Ramanand Chatterji and
many other public men well-known ia Bengal. I do oot know
how or where the W. P, P. came in as far as my participation in
the Lillooah strike was concerned.

This brings me to the speeches I delivered at meetings
organised by me as the Secretary of the B. T. U. F. in connection
with the Lillooah strike. These are P, 1893 (1) (3), P. 2264 and
P 2265. These are the only speeches the so-called full texts of
wkich are before the Court. Since December, 1925 when I was
elected Secretary, Press Employees’ Association, and thus began
to take an active part in the Trade Unjon Movement, up to the
time of my arrest in March 1929 I had delivered something like
four hundred speeches at public meetin gs—mostly workers’
meetings, not a few political, and a few dealing with social
problems. In about 9o} of these meetings I found the C.I. D.
reporters occupying the best place=—better in many cases than
Press reporters could secure. About 807, of these speeches were
delivered in Bengali. The Prosecu tion have put in only four
speeches. Of these again it appears that the necessity for trans-
cribing P. 1893 (1) and P 2264 (1) did not occur to inyone earlier
than 2o0th May, 1929, and 19th May, 1929, that isabout two
wmonths after my arrest. . .

P. 2265 bears no date of transcription.

P.i893 (3) only was transcribed on 2nd May 1928, that is
within a week of its delivery.
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So excepting in the case of P. 1893 (3) I may take it that
the three other speeches put in were transcribed as an after-thought
after the cage was instituted and when the hunt for evidence was
going on in full swing.

In a political case like this in which the public utterances of
an accused, his published or unpublished writings, and even the
books and literature in his possession have been scanned and
scrutinised with a view to make out that his intention was such as
to have tended to bring his activities, though lawful in themselves,
within the mischief of section 121 A, itis rather surprising that the
efforts of the Police and Prosecution would be rewarded
with such poor results, Not only this. The learned Magistiate,
following the cue of the learned Junior Public Prosecutor whose
summing up at the Inquiry Court, as far'as my case was concerned,
might have entitled him to a prize in case for a competition for
abuse, has added insult to injury by the incorporation of some of
the suggestions made and of some of the very terms used by Mr.
J. P. Mitter of Cambridge holding the second brief on behalf of the
Crown in this case.

After summarising in essence my defence as far as he could
gather from the statement I made before him, the learned Magis-
trate observes that “the difficulty is that there is so little to throw
light on the real motives for his (my)actions and some of what
thereis is so contradictory.”” Then again the learned Migistrate
remarks;==*“Often ia this case the published views of an accused,
or his public speeches, have been used to show this connection.
In Kishori Lal’s case, several speeches are on the record but do
not elucidate the q{;estipn. He speaks throughout as a trade
unionist concerned only with the immediate issues. He specially
says so on one vccasion™ Jt is to remove these ordinary human
wants that we have to-day gone oa strike and if this humble
purpose is fulfilled, it will be enough for us, ( P. 1893 (3)). iAnd
he goes on say that it is evolution which is wanted, not revolution,
though he hiats that if demands are not granted, it might turn out
to be revolution. This is unlike the frank utterances of party
members. In some other speeches he defends the use of “Moscow
gold”, and praises the R.I. L. U. which sent money without asking,
as compared with the I. F, T. U. which sent grudgingly though
asked (P. 2264). But these are only hints of leanings towards

* Moscow.” »

To add to his difficulties he finds no wriling of mine
which might give him some idea about my views. “His only
literary efforts”, says thelearned Magistrate regretfully™; *was an

appeal to the workers of Jamshedpur™, He finds this circular to
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be of interest only for its language which cantains the well-known
slogan “ Workers of the world unite” and spezks of ‘‘solidarity and
so on’. The learned Magistrate found this as™* significant”.

I make no apology in quoting the’learned -Magistrate in
extenso because of the importance of speeches and writings in this
case as an indication of the views of the accused, which are perhaps
the only data on which a finding has to be come to as to agreement
and intention so essential to bring home to an accused the charge
of conspiracy. In thiscase there being no overt illegal act, each
and every act of the accused being legal and lawful, speeches and
writings have got to be looked into,—~if need be with the aid of a
magnifying glass or microscope—so that at least a colourable case
may be made out. I can well realise the difficulty of the Prosecu-
tion as reflected in the Committal Order which I have taken thro-
ughout as a convenient summary of the Prosecution case. I can
also understand how the difficulty has been sought to be got over
and the weakness of the Prosecution case covered by the use of
such un]udlcnal and not very elegant terms as ‘' flirt ” and the
suggestion, of absence of frankness., With regard to this charge of
absence of frankness there seems throughout to be a suggestion,
namely, that ““here was a man who eatered into the conspiracy, but
has taken care to throw dast into the eyes of the Police, Prosecu-
tion and Inquiry Magistrate. He has the impudence to say things
which are-apparently-innocent and write very little thus making it
difficult for the Prosecation to ascertain the motives of his activi=
ties. The other conspirators are good fellows, at any rate they are
frank, and so facilitate the Prosecution * tagk, but the Prosecution is
certainly not to be deceived by appearances but will teach the m an
a lessoun,"”

Last if should be thought that I am putting a fancifal in-
terpretation on the observation of the learned Magistrate, I should
like to quote another passage. On page 11 after allowing the Com-
munists and genuine Trade Unionists to work side by side in the form-

ation of unions and conduct of strikes the learned Magistrate observes
on page 12 :—“On the other hand if & man is proved to bave jvined
‘the cunspiracy his Trade Union activities may be taken as a corro-
boration of the other evidencdrgJating to the conspiracy, even though
he is careful enough in his published speeches and writings to avoid
making his real objects too obvious.”

The fallacy which is called “petitid principii” is apparent in
the application of this principle to my case, because as the learned
Magistrate himself states on page 11, “It is necessary to look to the
surrounding circummstances and to the views expressed by him.
Again, however, it must be said that the criterion must be whether
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there is definite proof of joining this particular conspiracy or not.”
In practice however theories, presumptions and unwarranted isferen-
ces from the evidence led by the Prosecution have been allowed to
supply the want of “definite proof”.

The speeches put in as evidence against me may be divided
into two classes: those claimed to be taken dowa verbatim by
Bengali shorthand reporters employed by the Government and those
which your Honour calls gist reports, that is speeches of which an
alleged summary was made by Police officers belonging to the
Intelligence Branch of the Bengal Police or Special Branch of the
Calcutta Police. I contend and I propose to show that nonme of
them is what it purports to be. The speeches ars mnot verbatim
reports of what I said whereas the gist reports are not what we
usually understand by them. They are isolated passages strung
together— and even then these passages verbatim reports of what I
said—instead of being an intelligent and connected summary of what
I said. Of course the witnesses who deposed to thews. could not be
expected, for it would be as much as their job is worth, t5 adudit that
this was the case. But I propose to make good my point from the
internal evidence, as well as from the depositions of Messrs. K. B.
Roy P.W.92 and Brailsford and from the admissions of-Sub Inspector
G. Roy P.W. 36.

The first point to be noted in regard to the so-called fully
reported speeches is that most of them, as I have pointed out at the
outset, were transcribed under orders after the case had begun—long
after they were delivered. The second point is that there are certain
asterisk marks denoting blanks in the transcription and in one or
two speeches at least a note to the effect that the reporter being
tired could not take down the full speech. The third point is the
statement of Mr. K. B. Roy, who said he would not expect certain
words in a prepared speech, by which he did not necessarily mean a
written speech but one that was not ‘extempore.’ The fourth point
is that the passage about Evolution and Revolution was pronounced
to be unintelligible by Mr. Brailsford though the learned Magistrate
did not evidently find any. difficulty in making sense in his own way.
It has been the misfortune of yublic men of this country to have
their speeches reported by the ageu‘hs‘of the Police in such a way as
to put them in the worst possible light. By this I do not mean
only that some touches here and there may be given to improve the
Prosecution case but I also mean that the speeches as reported by
these reporters are nothidy but a caricature of the original, and the
speaker himself seldom recognises his own speech. During the last
,Civil Disobedience Movement Pandit Jawahar Lal Nebru and if I
remember aright Mr. J. M. Sen Gupta complained agaiost the in-
efficieney of police reporters. During the cross-examination of sowe
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of these reporters in this Court I remember to have heard your
Houour saying that the witnesswy reported what he heard —the
saggestion being that the speakers in the excitement of the moment
said things in & way which now with the lapse of the time aund in
the calmer atmosphere of the Court seems to them of a quality which
leaves much to be desired. T am not'concerned with other accused
who, I am sure would make their owa position clear in this respect.
But as far as I am concerned this was not the case, The speeches
tendered against me were delivered by me, as I have already stated, in
connection with the Lillooah Strike as Secretary of the B.T.U.F. at
the series of meetings organised by me under the authority of the
Federation ab the request of Mr. K.C. Mitra for raising funds for the
rolief of the strikers and incidentally to give publicity to the
grievances of the workers and carry on a propaganda on behalf of the
Trade Union Movement. The programme of these meetings was
drawn up and given wide publicity through the press and leaflets.
I selegted the yhemo Ishould deal with at each meeting beforehand.
The é@‘s&lbjecb I wanted to-deal with was that the educated
lower middle classes should make common cause with the workers
in their uplift. There should be a combination of brain and muscles.
The point I wanted to make may be thus summarised:— The manual .
workerszer great stamina and energyyare impulsive, while the in-
tellectual workers have foresight, patience,prudence and perseverance.
As long as at least there is no system of compulsory primary educa-
tioX, intellectual workers are bound to lead their comrades who live
by their museles, till there is complete fusion betweea the two sets
of workers.

In view of the compaqsition of these meetings whizh were
attended mostly by the people of the lower middle class, I stressed
the necessity of cooperation between the brain workers and the
manual workers and urged on the former to come to the rescue of the °
latter when they have faken upon themselves the sufferings which
a strike or lockout entails on the workers, for the improvement
of their working: conditions. But while dealing with the. main
thing I had to meet the baseless charg®s and insinuations made
by the loyalists and Anglo Indian Press to damn the workers
in the eyes of the public. So the speeches I delivered in connec-
tion with the relief for Lillooah workers in the meetings organised
by the Federation were well thought out. I also sought to impress
on the meetings that the fight for political freedom ( which I
believe appeals to evéry decent Indian who is not ashamed: of
having been bornin this country) has no meaning unless it is
also a fight for economic freedom, namely freedom from want and
starvation. I told them that it is absurd to expect that the workers
should participate in the struggle for making a country politically
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free simply because in that struggle they have to fight only the
English, but should do nothingsto improve their own economic
«conditions, because in so doing they might have to fight the Indian
XCapitalists also who are their own countrymen. One passage convey-
ing the idea has been so carelessly rep orted as to make it meaningless
in reference to the context, f I refer to P 2265 —the last passage
but one before the asteriskse. Can you ever, about your struggle
now proceeding, say to.a coolie or a worker or to a2 man employed
in a mill, that he will only fight for economic justice to himself
and not fight for political justice ? If you once infuse into him
a sense of injustice, if you once rouse his manhood, he will never
make any discrimination as to whose interest may be affected,
be will find out the path of salvation.” Here amongst other things
the word * political 7 has been put in where I used the word

‘‘economic ™ and vice wersa.  To himself "’ is not correct. The
whole passage was sneant to convey the idea that it was absurd
to expect that the workers should be content with carrymg out
a political fight and do nothing in.secaring for thems®! e_§_e£9‘nom1c
justice which to them is far more vital and affects them more
closely and ‘immediately. If the passages preceding this are
taken into account it would be obvious that some sentences which
formed the ‘connecting kas are missing, becaus@the passage
just ‘now quoted by me was "intended asa reply to an argument
often advanced by Nationalists of a certain type namely that
Indian industries being in their infancy can not afford to imsure
decent ‘working conditions to the workers, however much the
employers might be willing to do so. They contend that the
Iadian ° Capitalists are under a great handicap because of the
political dependence-of the country and therefore all patriotic men
should combine first ‘of all to oust the foreigners from political
power, instead of ruining the infant Indian industries by setting up
workérs’ organisations with what they consider te be exorbitant
demands. These are the very men, [ mayadd, who would very
much like o have the workers tagged on 10 the political movement
on the assurance that every thing would come out alright when
Swaraj is established. ““They would scek to establish watertight
compartments labelled ** political freedom ** and * economic
freedom " and would like the workers to help them forced osen
the first door—as regards the second door, well, there is no huarry
in seeking to opeu it. In other words for a nebulous Swaraj
which on definition appears to be nothing more nor less than
“ Swaraj,” the workers are asked to stake their little all but have
to wait for their economic salvation indefinitely. They might
indulge in a strike or two in concerns run purely by Europeans
with Eurepean capital but they should think twice before
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fighting a concern which is exclusively run by Europeans, but
the capital is predominantly Indian as in the case of most of the
jute mills., They should think thrice before fighting a concern where
the capital is purely Tadian, but the management is predominantly
. European as Jamshedpur Tata [ron Works. But ‘mum’ is the
word where both the management and the capital are Indian.
It is unpatriotic to say anything which would disturb the
relations between the employers and the employed. The argument
may seem to be absurd and illogical on the very face of it, but
unfortunately this argument is often advanced and I have found
that many educated people accept the argument and believe in it.
In the case of the Lillooah workers, this argument was extended
even to the E. I. R. as well, by the loyalists’ press, because,
it was said that, the railway, having recently come under the
state management, is as such a national concern.

D/-8.8. 31.

High wages to workers would mean greater cost of pro-
duction and the Lillooah and other workshops would fail to compete
with imported articles because the Goyernment will have to buy in
the cheapest market and thus the industry would go to the wall. So to
meet their arguments I had to show whether these concerns are run
with due efficiency and consequent economy, besides among other
things showing thal human mind is incapable of beiﬂg devided into
water-tight compartments. If you fight for freedom, it must be
freedom all round and it should not be interpreted as merely a fight
for political power or loaves and fishes of office, In other words’
the struggle for freedom was not the replacing of an alien bureau-

.cracy by a pukka Swadeshi bureaucracy, In saying this I was not
saying anything new, but was simply repeating in my own way
what was being" said by the Trade Unionists all over India, and
what was so ably said by the late C.R Dass as the President of the
Lahore Session of the All-India Trade Union Congress. I wou‘ld’
bhave been false to the Trade Union Movement which claims my
allegiance if I had missed any opportunity ,of exposing the absur-
dity of this contention of a section of the Nationalists. We, the
Trade Unionists, claim to have brought the Indian National Cong=
ress over lo our views based on reason, equity and justice by means
of our reasoned ‘criticism of the weakness of the programme of the
National Cong"ess in as much as it failed to incorporate workers’
demands in their programme. The Karachi Session of Indian
National Congress with its economic programme bears witness to
the fact that the Congress is being slowly but steadily influenced
by the persistent efforts of the Trade Unionists and is favourabij
reacting to the needs of the growing Labour Movement in this
country.
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) There are various other instances which can be pointed out
in support of my contention that the so-called verbatim reports are
anything but verbatim. It isfor example absurd that the Secretary
of the Provincial Committee who was acting in close cooperation
with and I may say under iostructions from Mr. N. M. Joshi, the
General Secretary of the A. I, T.U. C. as D. 208 (13), D 208 (14),
D 208 ( 15 ), D 208 (16), and D 208 ( 17 ) show, should refer to
Mr.Joshi in terms which border on the contemptuous (P2264 (1) (2),
page 33). Apart from the fact that Mr. Joshi was one of the very
few nominated ‘members, if not the only one amongst them, who
bhad been ableto command the respect of the Indian public in
general and the working class public in particular, also apart from
the fact that Spratt during a very short acquaintance with me was
struck with what he saysas my being inclined to be # “statesman-
like like Joshi’’, I submit that it is rather unusual for one holding
the responsible position I did to refer to the General Secretary of
the Central bedy in this way.

Then again in P 2264, page 29, 2nd paragraph, when 1 was
pointing out the disproportionate remunerations paid by the Jute
companies to the higher staff of the management which run the man-
aging agencies and to the workers who had actually produced the
stuff, the following passage has been attributed to me:— “We have
calculated staligtics and found that after paying so many big Sahibs,
filling the stomachs of the Managers, the line Managers, Depart-
mental Heads and all the Jamadars and Headclerks besides, each
man gets Rs. 20/- per week—from this they get Rs.20/- per man.
Inclusive of all expenses—this ‘means serious exploitation.,”” The
passage particularly the last portion of it, as it stands, is meaning-
less or if there is any meaning to be gathered it contradicts what I .
intended to say. “Each man gets Rs. 20/- per week—from this they
get Rs. 20/~ per man’. But what I said was, what many Trade
Unionists engaged'in the organisation of Jute workers know and
would say, that the average productive capacity per worker, after
deducting the costs of management etc. etc., when put in terms of
money, comes up to Rs. 20/- per week whereas he gets at an
average Rs. 20/- per month, that is Rs. 5/- per week. (In this
connection it may noted that Messrs. Johnstone ard Sime in their
report called Exploitation in India (D 65), worked out the average
wages per head at about Rs. 15/- per month,) But the passage
immediately before the one now referred to may also be taken up
to show not only that the reporter ‘wanted to semmarise but that in
the process he madea mess of what I said. Now, as it would
appear, my whole point was to show how the owners were profiting
at the sole expense of the workers. I wanted to show that in spite
of in-efficiency of management leading to dishonesty and corruplion
it was possible to declare huge dividends. Here I narrated one
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incident within my personal knowledge to show that even when
specific cases of corruption and bribery were brought to the notice
of the managing Agents, they tried to hush up the whole thing
rather than avail themselves of the facts to institute an enquiry and
make the repetition of the same improbable by punishing those
found guilty. This attitude of beagvolence towards corruption they
could afford to maintain, so 1 agteéd, because notwithstanding all
this the profits continued to be very large and because in the last
resort it was the workers who were made to pay. The whole inci-
dent has been summarised and generalised as “‘besides these heavy
profits there are illegitimate gains. From the Jamadar.to the Bara
Sahib all steal and thereby ftill their stomachs.” Brevity may be the
soul of wit but reporters are expected to report and not summarise.
The context -moreover does not justify the lumping together of the
“heavy profits” of the owners with the “illegitimate gains” of their
employees.

'I;i}’l‘?assage in which the learned Magistrate has found some
hints of ledning towards Moscow have to be taken with due regard
-.to what I intend to call charitably, imperfect reporting. As a Imatter
of fact I was concerned to expose the “bluff” behind all this agi-
tation against the receipt of Moscow money. My peint was to show
that by closing ‘all the avenues through which the Indian might get
at the truth about Russia and by cobstant propaganda against
everything Russian a deep prejudice had been ‘created in the minds
of the people. And now to damn the workers on strike and alienate
public sympathy from them, the telegram to Moscow which was not
sent was bfeing exploited for what it was worth. That this was the
motive would furthemeappear from P 2265 T, in which I again
reverted to the subject at. Sardhanand Park, three days after the
speech (P 2263) delivered at Desh-Bandhn Park. On page 39 of
P 2265 T itisstated “but this telegram to Moscow— which was
not despatched, and yet about which for seven or eight days there
was serious discussion and the contents of which before anybody
else came to know, were published in the ‘Statesman’~~from this it
can be further inferred that there is a serious mischievous intent in
it. We know that some of our Nationalist leaders have been greatly
upset by this. Men from whom very large sums may be expected
for this relief work are, many of them, frightened by the name of
Moscow. There are many benevolent men in our country from
whom we can expect some money for Lillooah; on approaching
them, we were told that they were very nervous about this Moscow
telegram, no matter whether or not it was sent, about}tie mere men-
tion of it, It is quite clear that those who are in this strike include
some men who want to isolate the Lillooah workers. They want to
show that theyare in touch with Moscow, so that those here who
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possess wealth and property, and want to do business should not’
help these men any way with money.

I referred to the British Trade Union Congress and the
I. F. T, U. siply to show that they were approached by the Presi-
dent and the General Becretary of the A. 1. T. U.C. for help
through cable and it was only after it was found that help was not
forthcoming that Mr. K. C. Mitra as the leader of the strike being
pressed badly for money was compelled to send the cable to Moscow.
My point was to justify the sending of the cable and not to denounce
the British Trade Union Congress which was at the time officially
connected with the A.I.T. U.C. of which I wasa Provincial
Becretary nor the I. F. T. U. because there was no occasion for it.
I have already pointed out the circumstances which made it nece-
gsary for me that the speeches should be the result of some previous
preparation and consequently the theme of my speeeh used to be
previously selected by me.

T
In this connection I may point out that the learned Maglstrate

is incorrect when he said that “on one occasion,’’ that is in P1893(3),
I referred to the ‘‘humble purpose " that is the removal of the
ordinary human wants of the workers. I referred to this on several
occasions in the course of my speeches. Please see P 2263
(page 39) for the passage, “ The point is we must have a minimum
wage or something like it for which we struck work thus”, Asa

matter of fact the trend of the speeches was to defend the workers
and win public sympathy for them sought to be alienated by
unscrupulous propaganda to the effect that it was nota genuine

Trade dispute and that the whole lhingming engineered and
financed by Moscow to bring about revolutionary conditions in
India. On an occasion like this the denunciation of British Trade

Union Congress or the I. F. T. U., even supposing that I was not

very favourably disposed towards them, was not only irrelevant but
also was likely to weaken the force of my coatention.

But I must not be understood ;o mean, from what I have
said just now that I deny that I made any reference to the
R.I.L.U. or the British Trade Union Congress or the I F.T.U.
My point is that I’ did refer to them but not in the way I was
reported to have done. ISlmp]y stated the facts as they came
to my knowledée without any comment, I do not suggest that I-
would not have been justified in referring to the British Trade
Union Congress (I do not say anything about the I.F.T.U. because
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there was ne octasion to refer to it) even in stronger language than
I was reported to have done, cousidering the circumstances,
prevailing al the time, In view of .the terrible sufferings of the
locked out workers—the relentless attitude of the Agent whoas
D 207 (4)and D ‘207 (x1) will show—even declined to discuss
terms for an honourable settiement with such eminent man as
Mr.'C.F. Andrews, President of the A.L.T.U.C. and Mr. Subhas
Chandra Bose, President of the Bengal Provincial Congress
Committee—it was a shock to me to be informed by Mr. Joshi in
a letter 1o Mr. K.C.Mittra, a copy of which was sent to me for
information, that in reply to his cables for help Mr. Citrine,
General Secretary of the British Trade Union Congress had,
cabled to him that he would take up the matter with the India
Office. It is extremely unfortunate that the Court did not see
its way to summon the English witnesses cited by the Defence,
but if Mr. Purcell and Hallsworth were summoned to the box
they would have admitted that in their concluding farewell
Address to the Executive Council of the T.U. Congress which
held its sittings at Delhi in February 1928, they sought to impress
on us the necessity of giving particular attention to the organisa-
tions of railway workers, A strong railway worker’s Union with
its branches spread all over the line or a successful Railway strike
which from its very nature would cover a far greater area than
any strike by the workers of any other industry, has, as Mr. Purcell
pointed out, a great educative value to the workers in general
belonging to that wide area. This was the. essence of their
argument in favour of devoting greater attention to the railway
workers, It would of course be not in accordance with facts if I
were to say that the Lillooah deadlock was the direct outcome of
the parting advice of thesé fraternal delegates from the British
Trade Union Congress. But I argued to myself that, in view of
the fact that these fraternal delegates from the British Trade
Union Congress, though they came at a time when the British
Labour Party was in bad odour with the Indian public because of
their participation in the Simon Commission which was condemned
by all reputable sections of Indian opinion— were given the most A
cordial reception by the A.lL.T.U.C. inclading the B.T.U.F,
(D 270) and treated as close friends or relatives from whom we
had nothing to hide, they must have gained a true idea of the
Indian Trade Union Movement and as their Report shows they
discharged their dulie® conscientiously., But when closely
following in the sequence of time their visit and their farewell
advice there was this deadlock in one of the big workshops of a big
railway—one of the demands of the workers being the full
recognition of the Union, the British Trade Union Congress was
certainly expected to do something more substantial than a formal
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deputation to the India Offise presided over bya' diechard ' like the:
‘late Lord Birkenhead. But howéver legitimate 'might be the reasony
for’ which I might' have justifidbly felt' resentment’ against the
British Trade Uhion Congressat what I considered the‘apathetie:
attitude'of its Géneral Council I could néver' allow myself to-
forget what I owed 'to the respoasible position I occupied as- the
Seéretary of the Provincial Committes of the A.IT.U C. which
only a few months ago- had: appointed the' Britisk Trade Union
Cohgress a it3'represéntabive id gréat Britaid. And yet, to save the

- Lillooah’ workers' from the wnsordpuloud. propaganda - started” by

1he ‘enémies of tHé workers in'thé press, I ‘had’ to say' something
.bbut'the appeal that wés seht’ to -thé RIL:U. by Messrs. K.Ci
Mitbrd, Spratt add Muiafﬁé.r"Ah'ina.d——:a.n appeal about which 1
was not consulted' and” did' not know' till it' was' published id
thé pa,pers—ﬁha.h nbver réacHed’ its dedtiristion but’ was made the
pretext of & campaign of vilificatiod and - miisrepresentation. I
these circumstandes all that' I did was to narrate the' facts' as were
within my knowledge without! ally comment. My object was not to.
daind the British Trade Union Congress “far less the LF.T.U. or to:
extol the R.I.L.U. at the expense of these two bodies of which ag" k
have said one was officially conneoted with'the' A.IT.U.C: T simply
wanted to suggest that M. K.C. Mittra'wds driven by necessity to-
send an a.ppea.[ to Moscow for' help and "that* it is " not' at* all' a
heinous crime as it is represenbed to bs to accept help from the
Russian workers; parhlcula.rly durmg a éritical phasé of the deadlock
when thé workers were being presséd to the' wall ad wher' help
from otkier bodiés t.hey wers relying ot wag not forthcdmidg,

I osnnbt id this' connection resist the temptation of quoting
an' extraot from'thd observation of the learned Magistrate who was:
disgoséd to take rather'a lenient view abolt what. the - Prosecutions
would ¢all Moscow gold, with refdrence to Mr. S, H. Jhabwala.
Phis is' what' the learded Magistrate observes on page 232 of the:
Committal Order. “The significanée of these payments has been

‘misunderstood. I do not consider it an unpardonable offence to

accept the money under such conditions, {that is, during a strike)
whoever the donor may be. If a strike relief fund is legitimate at.
all, it would be asking a lot' of human nature to suggest that the
source from whioh much needed donations coms should be too.
strictly scrutiniséd. Acceptanée by itself, therefore, does not mean/

" much in my opinion.”

But I was not concerned with “acceptanes” at all beeanse I
had had nothing to do with any money other than what I received
from the Trade Union Congress, the Unions affiliated to it, and the
dbmations from workers and the members of the public. I was
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primarily-consernad in the sourse of. these  speeches. fo.defend the
principle: that. an appeal ‘even. to Moscow during a sbrikfﬁ%ha.lf of
the-workers is not reprshensible, and that those who pretended to see
in it the hand of Moscow guiding what . every. impartial  observer
would. admit to be a genuine trade dispute were carrying -on
unserapulous propaganda against the workers. I.must sayin this
connection that Mr. N. M. Joshi did not find anything wrong
in receiving help from Moscow duriog strike and’ justified it in a.
Pressinterview. Asa mitter of fact in the statement of accounts
submitted - to the- Cawapore Session of the. A I T. U. C. there is.
sam of Rs.13000 entered. as being received.from Moscow. As
Mk Joshi explained a.t.ti:e,(}ongtess that there wers_no. insiructiond
available asto how the-money. was.to be speat.though he cabled ‘o,
ascertain: the same;. that sum was. utilised subseguently. in. giving
relief to thet B. Ni R. Union, to Mr. Spratt:in conneetion with the,
cage -of! sedition- against him' at Bombay, and .the balance was seb
apart. for the purpsss of orgaaisation work: I have already said.
that I.did nokapprove. of the. procedarse Mn - K..C. Mittra adopted,
in sending.he appaal which was.in violation. of.a resolution passed
by: the .Exeoutiva Gonacil meeting at Cawnpora (D, 274, page 6), but,
I corbainly did:not.think of carrying my disapprowal to the point
of dissoeiation bsaause firstly. ag the Boscrptary ofr the. Provincial
Committee I could not.do se-onimy, own initiative. against.a Qnion
which was affiiiated to the Congress but not. to tha B.;T, U. F., and
secondly because, as I have tried to convey to your Honour, in
refarencesto-Chengail it would have been an,unpardgnable eonduct
in.a.Trade Gaionist to-do. 80.86 & tima whan there was a.strike on,
pacticularly in! view: of the fact that:it was, more or less an. offence
relating to procedara than against any, of the fundamental principles
which form the basis of the Trade Unjon. movement. ‘I have
consistently fallowsd  the. puinciple, which. 1 wish. were
followed with/ equal loyalty by thase who indulge in high-
sounding: phrases, namely to help. ima strike is thd sacred and
boundea duty of all who claim to be in the Trade Union Movement
irrespective of the political calour thati one may affect. The -strike
may be unconstitutional in the sense that it was declared without
reference to the Union-—if there happens to be one—the leaders of
the strike may be people with whom: one is nof in political agree-
ment or they might have mads soma tactical blunder. All these are
matters o be taken up after the strike buf on no account should
tbey be taken up during the strike—far less to be made the
pretext of venting spleen on those who were leading it, and making
a political capital out of it- In the present condition of the
Trade Union Movement in this country as I found it at the
time it must be au extremely seriousireasoz; touching the very
fundamental principles for which the Trade Uuioan Congress stands
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which could justify on the part of itself or anybody supf)orbing or
affiliated to it leaving the workers in the lurch because of blunders
or faults of their leaders. Though I have referred to this matter
in connection with the Chengail strike, yet I refer to this again
to leave no room for misunderstanding on this score. A strike to
me (D. 215, page 46) is the last weapon to be used, aud workers
should be discouraged to resort to it unless and until all possible
efforts to bring about an understanding have been exhaunsted. But
when there is an actual strike, ‘to play the superior man and to
adopt the attitude“I told you 80" or to seek to dictate your terms on
which you would condescend to cooperate is,to say the least of it,
$o betary the workers. The fact that the Communist charge all
others who do not accept their creed with treachery to or betrayal
of the workers does not absolve them from the same charge when
they or those of them who play the same game under the cover
of grandiloquent phraseology. It was bécause I rigorously followed
this principle with the full approval of the Federation in the course
of two years 1927 and 1928 that this body came to be regarded as
a power to reckon with and at one time there was serious talk of
extending its sphere to Behar and Qrissa which would have meaut
great accession of strength to it by the affiliation of such powerful
and established Unions- as Jamshedpur Labour Association, the
Colliery Employees’ Association at Jharia besides the affiliation
of the Central body of the B. N. R. Union.

To come back to the speeches, I did find it necessary to

refute the calumnies that were being spread against the E.I. R.
Union, to which Mr. Mittra by his unfortunate appeal to Moscow
lent some points. It was hinted that the workers at Lillooah were
happ y- that they had practically no grievances. In other words
pain was taken to impress on the public that no reasonable
grievances existed—that the strike was being financed from
" Moscow. The Agent himself justified his attitude of * no compro-
mise " as diclated by his knowledge, as he assured the public,
that thé whole show was Communist. It-was in reply to this that
1 pointed out that these allegations unconsciously credit the
Communists with power which no person or Party — whatever
might be the school of thought to which he or it might belong—
possesses. Not to speak of the ordinary Communists, not even the
ghost of Lenin can do anything where there is no grievance or
discontent. On the other hand, if there are long accumulated
grievarces and deep discontent it does not require a Communist to
bring about the state of things caused by a strike, It was in illus-
trating this point that T gave certain facts in regard to wages paid
at Lillooah in my speech marked P.2264, page 30, and contradicted
a Calcutta paper which said that the average wages amounted to
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Rs 55/2/- per head per moath.  ** If that were so, * I contended,

_ % not even Lerin’s spirit from Moscow could induce the men to go
on strike. ** "The idea underlying this argument against the theory
of the iaterested parties that Labour disputes were being engineered
by Mascow is also to be found reflected in my letter to the ‘States-
man’ on *“‘Moscow gold® (‘D.'174 (6) ) where I say that the workers
are no fools and that those who are treated by their employers with
the least consideration, not to say fairly, are not to be wheedled into
a strike even by the *“‘Moscow school " if it exists here., This idea
is concretely illustrated by what Mr. Joshi wwrote to me in
D. 208 (13 )>— “We have here in Bombay a difficult situdtion to
deal with. On account of the Millowners® reactionary sspirit the
extremists of the Workers’ and Peasants’ Party have ‘hold of the
situation. ”  There was speech delivered by Lord Irwin in
Calcutta in ‘the winter -of 1928 wherein, after condemning the
‘Communists’™activities, His Lordship hinted unmistakable that the
best way to meet the menace ‘was to -improve ‘the housing and
whrking conditions of the workers. The speech was delivered at.a
dinne? of the European Association and after promising the
President of the Association that the Home Member was fully alive
to the necessity of taking'measures to deal with the Communist
menace Lord Irwin went on to say:— ""Legislation however can .
treat only'the symptoms and will not of itself remove the root
cause of the disease. For Communism takes -its origin in social
conditions and will always ‘find out the weak spot'in which to
‘flourish, as noxious weeds will'readily find the soil best suited .to
their growth. And as it will generally find its attack -easiest on
crowded industrial populations it is here we have to make our first
stand against'it. - Communism will -not hesitate to manufacture
grievances where they do not exist, bust unless it can lay its finger
on real injustice it is not likely to succeed. And much can be done in
any country to counter such an attack by employers keeping in close
personal touch with those they employ and seeing that their wages
and conditions of life are reasonable, If we are to fight communism
successfully, it will be by the employers and Governments giving
cause to the masses to believe that they—and not the Communists
are the true friends of Labour. ”  Of course this part of the speech
of the Viceroy was to be treated as a counsel of perfection, while,
as the present case shows, the Hon’ble Home Member did not let
‘the grass grow under his feet in his attempts to treat only the*
symptoms. As D. 252, being my article in the * Forward’, will
show I was disposed to consider the appointment of the Whitley
Commission as some attempt to diagnose the disease though I
was not certain how far the treatment was to be effective,

About the gist .speeches mostly delivered at Bauria and

v
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Chengaxl, besides whal I have already said about them namely
that they are’ niot to be taken as an intelligent and connected
summary of the speeches but a disconnected sjringing together of
a few passages, there is one very important thing to be noticed
namely that out of the very large number of speeches delivered
by me both at Chengail and Bauria a full report of not a single
one has been produced but only the gist speech?about half a
dozen has been tendered in evidence. I have nothing to say in
regard to these so-called gist speeches except in reference to one
namely P 2222, Themeeting was called specifically to explain
the Trade Union Movement and the utility .of the Trade Unions
to workers. At the very outset I began with the term union and
explained that this contained the jdea of unity which forms
the essence of Labour Movement. I then briefly recounted the
evils of disunion. I explained that the reason for our political
subjection to another country is to be sought in our disunion.
I pointed out, as Colonel Seely pointed outin his “;Expansion of
England,” that England rules India not by any inherent supenoruy
over us but because England knows the value of unity. I gointed
out how this unity was demonstrated during the last war when
all Parties combined to stand by their country right or wrong,
while we are divided amongst ourselves by communal and religious
Jealous:es Then I pointed out that we ourselves, because of
our lack of unity, are respon51ble for our political condition. Then
1 turned to our economic condition and here also I pointed out how
lack of unity is responsible for the wretched condition of the
working class. Imentioned how the skilled worker looks down
upon the unskilled, how the Sardar instead of considering himself
one of the workers identifies himself with the employing class
and not only helps in the general exploitation but oppresses the
workers on his own account by the extortion of bribes etc.—how
the clerks though in no better position than the workers fyet consi-
der themselves as superior beings and with the help of the
Sardars extort bribes etc.  Then I pointed out how petty intrigues
and squabbles amongst the workers strengthened the employers
and explained what Trade Unions stand for, how Trade Unionism
refuses to admit difference of religion, community, racé or creed
but that it divides human beings into two categories--the employers,
and the workers, and stands for the unity of all the workers, so
that they all might combine to improve their Jot in life. For a
specific and concrete example I turned to the British Trade
Union Movement ahd traced its history. Towards theend of my
speech I compared the condition of the British workers in the
18th and 19th century with the condition of the Indian workers
in the 20th century and pointed out that however hard might be
the lot of the Indian workers, they were in one sense «lightly
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better off than their British comrades, wese namely that In the
early stages of the Ttade Union Movement the . Briush workers
had to conduct their Trade Union activities in secre; becquse of
the prohibition of law which _regarded combination-of workers ‘as
conspxracy in restraint of trade, whereas in India Trade Union
activities in their initial stages can at least be conducted in the
open and the Trade Union Registration Act in spite of its defective
character stamps Trade Union activities with legal approval
Then I pointed out that in spite of the serious handicaps the
British workers conducted.their movement with such undaunted
courage and selfless devotion that in 1924, though for a short time,
the representatives of the British working clas$ formed_a govern-
ment in England and in the near future they are expected to come
back again with greater support at their back. I also took care
to tell them that they need not be disheartened by the fact that it
took over a hundred years for the British workers to achieve all
this because the world has made great progress since then and
wader the influence of the ‘time forces’ the Indian Trade Union
Movément has grown much more in power and influence in eight
or nine years thac the British Movement did in the first fifty years.
This was in'essence the trend of the whole speech but the so
called “gist” gives quite a diferent impression because, as P, W,
36 S. L G. Roy of Special Branch of Calcutta C. I. D, in reference
to another such “gist” speech admitted.™”As a lopghand reporter
I reported only such portions as I considered important from my
point of view. I did not report the gist or substance of speech
but only the portion I considered important.” P.W.¢8 S, L
Harindra Vijai Basu of Howrah D, l. B, who tendered P 2222
admitted on cross examination by me that *The general object of
the meeting appeared to me to be to explajn the utility and object
of forming Labour unions. I only took notes of important
matters. I did not try to summarise the speech as a whole. I do
not remember when exactly I prepared that report. I usually
submitted my report by next day, I do not remember whether
Ghosh accused traced the history of, British Unionism in that
speech. I do not remember the context of the last sentence of his
speech as reported. T do not remember if it related to a particular
phase of that history. I 8o not recall if he said more after that
sentence or referred to the difficulties of Indian Trade Unions, or
to the Trade Union Act.” »

LEANING TOWARDS MOSCOW.
About my alleged “leaning towards Moscow,” which the
learned Magistrate discovers in some of my speeches, some further

observations are called for besides what I have already stated in
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explaining my reference to RvL.'L. U. These observations are

necessary because during a periodsf'about two-years just preceed-

ing our.arrests even some of the ¥ery highest officials aided by sa

section of the press would seek to make the flesh of the Indians

creep by dark hiots and insinuations that India “was ' fast heading

twards Bolshevism.  “The ‘late ‘Mr. ‘Langford James in the®
winter of 1928 delivered a speech at the European ‘Association

warning the Congress against coquetting with the Communist, while

a booklet was issued by Mr, Coatman—the then Director of the
Central Bureau of Information—-containing extracts from the edi-
torial notes and comments from the Indian Nationalist press

wherever any appreciative reference was made to Soviet Russia.
I particularly remember an editorial note from the Amrit Bazar
Patrika which found a place in this booklet, that being a comment

on the Soviet system of education. This booklet was mainly
intended for circulation amongst the members of "the Assembly in

connection with the Public Safety Bill. "The position during the
period preceding our -arrests was this that you could not make

any reference to Soviet Russia in any other language than that
of wholesale condemnation without being in the ‘official estimation

dubbed either as a Bolshevik or what is wrose, having a sneaking

admiration for Bolshevism. But this official disapproval has not

pmvented eminent scientist like Sir' C. 'V, Ramman or a poet like

Sir Rabindra Nath Tagore from paying a glowing tribute to Soviet

organisation for scientific research and their system of education,

after they had visited Russia and ‘seen 'things which they are

interested in with their own eyes. Pandit Jawahar Lal Nehru also

‘has written a book which is -an exhibit in this case and

which unfortunately I had not the previlege of reading

till' I was here. It -seeks to be a critical -estimate of

the achievements of the Sowiet. Buat there .is another
.aspect which has got to be borne fn mind in analysing the average

educated man’s attitude towards Soviet Russia. The average

.educated man_in India does not necessarily understand Socialism-—

far less the difference betwden Marxism of the Second International

and that of the Moscow school of thought. He has a vague

disapproval if not condemnation of Sgcialism whif:h Pecomes

particularly odious to him if it is of the Moscow variety in which

case he has learned this much, it ceases to be Socialism and becomes

Communism, invariably associated with Lenin an'd w.ith’.as a

certain type of newspapers has taught hinfl, Nationalisation of

women and slaughter of all the weak and infirm .people. But

with all his disapproval or I may say even condemnation of ‘Com-

munism he has been forced to recognise one thing and that is the

attitude of Soviet Russsia towards the countries which were so

long only independent in name but Being extremely backward and
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weak were being dominated by the Great Powers including pre- .
revolutiomiry Russia. He ¢annot shut his eyes to the «fact that
Persia, Which ws parlitioned between Great Britain and Russia
intd; two spheres of influence, the northern part being reserved
for unhampered exploitation by Russia and the southern by Great
u‘zritai‘ﬁ,became free because Soviet Russia unconditionally withdrew

also saw to it that Great Britain did the same. So was the case
in Turkey and Afghanistan which respectively under the lead
of Mustafa Kemal Pasha and King Amanulla Khan shook them-
selves free from all outside control with help from Soviet Russia.
In regard to China also it eowld not be denied that Soviet Russia
not only did forego all the concessions and privileges won from
her {(China) by Czarist Russia in collusion with other Powers before,
during and since the Boxer Rising, but also rendered great moral
and material help in enabling this unhappy couatry to shake off
the foreign control. Of course it could not be depied also that
the news about Chica as available in this country is so meagre
and often so conflicting that nobody knows what is actually
happening there—what is the present position and how far Soviet
Russia or Capitalist Powers are responsible for the civil war,
which we hear has been raging in that country. The fact is and
it would not do either for the Imperialist or the Communist to
shut his eyes to this fact that the average educated man particularly
in a dependent country stands for complete self-determination for
his country in all its logical implications. He wants no outside
interference in setfing, the government of his country and what is
even more important than the government namely the social
structure of his country—no matter whether interference is orga-
nised or financed by Moscow, London or. New York. If any country
helps him by moral support and if and when necessary by material
support in his endeavours to make his country free from outside
control he will certainly look npan that country with friendly eyes,
and will not, as far as it lies in his power, support any attempt to
injure that country. On the other hand he is preferred’to do bis
best to show his gratitude in all possible ways open to him.

-

The entire nationalist press in India whether representing
the Liberal standpoint or the Congress school of thought reflects
this view more or less. Whenever possible it gives publicity to
all news of Soviet Russia particularly to her hostility to Im-
perielism, to her efforts in the education of her people, the
erganisation of industries and the encouragement of scientific
research etce Those who are closely connected with the Indian
Labour Movement have to stﬁdy carefully the progress or other-
wise of one of the greatest experiments undertaken by Russia
~“with the help of the huge resoyrces of a mighty State. It is not
necessary for one to believe &y Communist theory, practice or
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tactics to admit that in Russia alone of all countries in ~t}?e world
a real attempt o bring about a socialist Sfate is'being rade, and
that the first requisite of Sooxa.hsm, namely, t.ha.b the meaps of
production, distribution ‘and exchange should” “be .owned by the
community ab la.rge and regulated through the State . has been
realised there to some extent. I say ‘ to some extent’® because the. .
‘State there as yet does not reflect the will of the community at
‘large but is in the absolute control of 4 Party—comparatively .small
in propertion to- the population but extremely efficient and well
organised and subjected to- the. striotodt military discipline. This
‘may, and I sincerely hope it will, lead gradnally to the broadening
.of the base of the popular will till at last it will correspond to the
will of the majority, if not-of the entire community. But it may,
'and though the experience of history supports this probability, I
bope it will not; lead to a gradua.l narrowing of the base of the
popular will and & party degenera.tmg into a mere ruling caste,
-professing lip-deep homage to Pro]eta.nan Revolution and Dicta-
‘torship of the Prolétariat as the only means for a classlesa socxety,
.but actually acting in such a mainer as to petpetuate its own
power.

D/ 10.8 3:

-t As a Trade Umomst I should be a trax}or to the working
~class if T did not feel a thrill of delight for a state which claims to
be the only:Socialist state in the world ~which claims to be a State
“where that class ktiown all over the world as the class of have-nots
and admitted to be in thesimmense majority hasits welfare, interests
and happiness at least professedly looked after as’in no other State.

:But as one who - believes in democracy as defined by Abraham
‘Lincoln, namely Government of the people by the people and for
the people, I cannot shut my eyes to the fact that a party which
claims to be the only fnend phiiosopher and guide of the workmg
class has put itself in a position greatly similar to what the British
ruling class takes up in India, namely that they are ma bap of the
masses and know what is for their’ good better “than they or thexr
educated coumry-men do. Ican well understand the stern measures
, that the Soviet Goverment had to take agamst those Russians who
were mvmng and helpma forewn armxes 10 overrun thelr countries,
No Government good, bad or mdlﬁerent democratic or ' autocratic,
- national or alxenX can help, that. But I confess I do not Junderstand,

and all the casulstry of the Commumst apologists ‘which 1 have
come across has failed to convmce me, that a party which is g0
intolerant of criticism and opposmon within itself as to _expel @&
men like Trotsky,Zmovxeﬁ and Bykharin (the latter two [ understand
. have been forgiven because they confessed to having seen the error
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of thel?waxs) ca'n very lonv rem’iin true to lts ideals + apd principles
and o demet‘erate Into a mere rdling caste. The expulsion of
T‘otsl(y was decreed nof 2t a tAe “Shen the emergency of Civil
War tight havd excused it—he was then indispensable as the man
who organised the Red Army—but when Soviet power was well
, established. The real character and implication of the fate of
Trotsky and the corollary to be deduced from it would be
understood by an abalogy ‘drawn from British politics. Supposmg
Mr MacDonald's Govérnment® expelled, imprisoned or interned
Mr Maxton who is said to' be a thornin their side of the Treasury
Benches, or Mr, Baldwin’s Government meted out similar ‘treatment
to Mt. Churchill becaunse of his opposition to the Indian policy .of
the Goveroment, (oot that Mr, Churchill does not deserve it, but 1
am now refernng to the intolerance of criticism) these political
parues in Great British'would have put ‘themselves ir the same
position as the Comtnunist Party ‘0f Russia by their treatment -of
l‘rotsky. The dnly éxtuse I hdve so ‘for ‘heard -of +this is that
Trotsky was guilty of a bredch of ‘Party 'discipline. But :that .is
exactly my point—breach ofsParty discipline ‘may ‘be .punished by
expulsion from the party. Admlttmg ‘thdt he ‘was /guilty, :in the
face of Trotsky's own denial, why should'the power and machinery
.of the State be set in motion to'maintain'the power and -prestige of
the Party—not against a’ counter revolutlonary or 'against one ‘who
was plotiing to overthrow the established regime—but against one
who till the other day was always associated with'Lenin-even.in the
famous Red Army march that uséd to be sung by Soviet -soldiers?
If a person or several persons within a poljtical party consider that
‘the majority are pursuing a pohcy and~ tactics .which, .they are
‘convinced, are harmful to the interests 6f and inconsistent with the
prinaiples of the Party'why should they not be allowed the liberty
to try to comvert the majority to-their views? To seek to get this
‘small bat persistent minority expelled is to confess that the leaders
‘having the support of the majoriiy are either not very sinrq of their
-ground and apprehend that there policy and tactics woqu not bear
the scratiny of reasoned criticism or that they have gota very poor
idea of the judgment of the Proletariat which in the abstract is
‘déiRed and sworn'by bat in practice is to be treated like a ‘flock of
‘sheep or'a herd of cattle, who know not what is_good for them, and
to be'led to lhelr salvation by the ¢ elect.

1t thxs is the attitude of the  Communist~ Party of Russi
‘which is looked up to for inspiration and guidance by all the-other
Communist Parties of the world, towards their own Party members
‘with whom they worked and suffered for the cominon cause, it is no
"-wonder that the meémbers of other. parties’ in the “working class
movement should be subjected to persecution for their opinions,
- ) .
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It is indeed the irony of fate that the Communists have been charg-
ed with emp]oymg the same tgctics fot the suppressionsof gpala-
table opinions as thé: Cagxtalnst .Goveraments resort 'to all over
the world to maintajn their hqld'ahd’ Jpower. }shgll quote a few
extracts from the official pub]xcatxons of the Labour and Socialist
International to show how the Socialists are treated by the Soviet
Socialist’ Republic, that is by the Communist Party of Russia
“swhich is in power. First I intend to quote a message sentto
Kalinin, President of the Central, Executive Committee of the
Soviet Union, in 1624 by the two Presidents of the Commission of
Enquiry into the conditions of political prisoners appointed by the
Labour and Socialist International to ascertain the treatment
accorded to Socialists in the different countries under Soviet or
Fascist regime;—‘ On the occasion of the anniversary ( that
is the 7th November 1927, the roth anniversary of the existence of
the Soviet Union ) you have issued an amnesty the provisions of
which as to political prisoners are so elastically framed that it
remains altogether obscure whether the amnesty applies to the
numerous Socialists who are pining in the prisons and places of
banishment of the Soviet Union. Your polmcal police which procee-
des by secret ways withdrawn from public control has the power
to present every Socialist Party in the light of one that is aiming
at the overthrow of the Soviet Government, irrespective of whether
the party is really doing soor not, and likewise the power to
consider every individual Socialist as an active member of the
party without troubling whether he really is so'or not.”

“ B -

“In thls situation we view it as our duty to demand with

the utmost emphasis en behalf of millions of workers in ‘Europe
that our Comrades in faith and party be no longer detained in the
prisons and places of banishment of the Soviet Union, into which
almost always they have been thrown without any procedure by a
court, without legal guarantees, indeed without having incurred
any real guilt. You have fixed a delay of a month for the prepar-
ation of direction respecting the application of the amnesty. There
is yet time to remove the disgrace that thousands of workers,
peasants and .intellectuals must languish in Jail or banishment
merely for thinking as we dop for rejecting the principle of the
Communist Party monopoly, and Jor claiming. on behalf of the
ussian working class the most elementary right, namely that of
being able to speak and to elect in freedom. The same abomina-
tion is committed in the Hungary of Horthy. We are striving
against this infamy, we are fighting to secure full legality to the
Communist parties inall countries; but we demand ‘the same lega-
lity also for the Socialist Partxes in the Sovxet Union. In this

A | ..
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fight you attack us frombehind throug)r dhe example af Stppres:
sion which yop give. Therg is yet‘ time,,,yau cap yét b;mg it about
that a fu_ll amne;ty should bg e:tendéd to 'include ‘all .Sociaiists
without exgeption whether @cnve pp;pnsswe, who'have been convict-
ed by your courts or, by .admmlsj:fatlye 'ghannels on account of
. their'Socialist political activity. . Tﬂeee is 'yet time to abandon:the
course of poisoning the workmg class and 1o ‘clear away one of

.the worst obstacles to its- unity.” w

This communication, the report continues, 'wa¥ left un<
answered but the facts gave the answersthat the Soviet Government
was not prepared to amnesty its working' class political prisonersy
Indeeda new wave of persecution began which ‘was. -directed
agaiost the leaders of the opposttlon within the Russian Commaunist
Party. Then the report gives an account -of the persecution to
which Trotsky, Rakowsky, Radek and others were subjected as qu
illastration of the system which brooks.no freedom of opinion but
subordinates everything to the dictates of an absolutist regime,

“In the English edition of the Bulletin of the Ladbour and
Bocialist International of June 1930 ‘is ;published an appeal
issued by its Executive to the workers -of the Soviet Union inviling
their attention to the dangers to the stability of the Soviet Union,
in consequence of the persecution to which the peasants are
subjected. It runs as follows:—

“To the workers of the Soviet Union 1 we make our appeal
to you at a serious moment. Weare well aware that attempts
have been made to persuade you-that the Socialist parties of the
world™ are “Social Fascists”, “lackeys of gapitalism”, and “*trai-
tors to the working class ” but millions of workers
who have been welded together in the hard school of the
political and Trade Union struggle have overcome the greatest
difficulties and created powerful Trade Union economic .and
political class organisation in order to fight with their help for the
ideals of socialism. Could you really believe that these” millions
or fightingw.orkers do not understand their own interests and
“betray” themselves ? On behalf of these miillions of organised
workers we make our appeal to you™

* "D'eep concern for the iate of the Russ:an Revolunon weighs
upon the socialist workers of all countrie§, il‘hey hear of hunger
in your townsy They know that your conditiops of Labour

]

are often more u'ufavourable than those of the workers in the

capitalist countries. They know of the failure of the forcible
methods adopted for the collectivisation of the peasantry, They
hear with fhe hotror of the continuation, mdeed of the mtensxﬁcatxon
of the bloody terrdt"\ 4 -
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% The L.8.1. fears that the continuation of this fatal policy
could open up a cleft between the two classes on which the Russian
Revolution is 'ba,sed—the workers and the peasants, If this should
happen, if the pea.sa,uts of the §oviet Unjon -were filled with hatred
against the workmg class and‘ the Revolution, then the danger
would arise = that the, embltterment. and’ desperation of the
peasantry would be misused by the White counter-revolutionaries for
their a.lms. The horrible  danger would arise of a new civil war in
the Sov1el; Umon.

v &R victory foe the White counter-revolution would be
an enormous, catastrophe,not only for the peoples of the Soviet
DUhnion, who would be robbed of the fruits of their great revolution,
fiot only for the working eclass of the Soviet Union, whose heroic
fight would be devoid of result, but also for the Labour Movement,
fqg democracy and for peace throughout the world.

¢ Supported by decades of experience gained in the political
struggles on the part of the working olass of Europe, the L.S.I.
declares to you, workers of the Soviet Union, that it rests with you
to save the Russian Revolution, that the means is in your hands to
avoid a catastrophe and bring about a peaceful solution of all the
great problems of the Revolution.

“ The Soviet Government pretends to govern in the name of
the working eclass. It lies in your power, workers of the Soviet
Union, to compel it to take the necessary steps. Whatever may be
your opinions, whether you are communists, whether you belong to
no political party, you must ally with the Socialists in order to save
the Revolution. 7’

“ Above all, the " alliance of the workers with the peasants
must be re-established. We too wish the peasantry to achieve the
development of their economic system on cooperative lines. But
this must be done in a voluntary manner. There must be an end to
foreible collectivisation, to any expropriation of the peasantry.
Economic freedom and the right to the free disposal of the produce of
bis labour must be restored and guaranteed to the peasant. Onlyin
this way can agriculfure bejuilt up again, food stuffs assured for
the towns and the peasant won over gs the friend and thq ally of

&
the worker., PO R . U

“ Freedom, w)nchus as indispensible to the workers'aud'
poasauts as air and  water, must be restored to ‘the peoples of the
Soviet Union. Freedom of speech | fresdon of assodiation ! frge and
secreb elections! leb thers be an end to tite death- penalty ! no more
mass executions!an amnesty for political pusonersl fet tkere be an

« end to the scandg}, tha.h men and womeu Who 1aq in the prigons of

-
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the Czar as fighters for the freedom of the working €lass, languish
today in the prisons of the OGPU,in the concentration camps and in
the places of banishment in Siberia‘l

* Through the realisation of these *demands, the. peoples
of the Soviet Union will go forward- Ja a peageful manner,
but conscious of their aim, towards demodré.cy.m ordex to rolease on
the basis of freedom the creative foxces of the - ma.sses fqr the
establishment of Socialism. Ty

. . .1 PR ..
“ The heats of the 'Socialish workers of the whold woﬂl
will be with the workers of the Soviet TUnion m‘ ‘
this fight for the salvation of the Russian Revolution. On theiy
behalf the L.S.I. isalways prepared to extend a helping hand tg"
the class comrades in the Soviet Union. We shall strike down the
hand of International Capitalist reaction with all our strength if it
attempts to take advantage of your difficulties in the interests of the
counter-revolution. .

“~Workers of the world, unite ! workers of the Soviet Union,
unite with us for the salvation of the Russian Revolublon and for
the fight for democracy aud Socialism, ”

( Executive of the L.S.I.)

I am not in the habit of making lengthy quotations as some
do to cover up their poverty of ideas and language. But I have
departed from my usual practice for two reasons, (1) to point out
to the Prosecution that certain phrases and ideas are not the
monopoly of the Communists as the learned Magistrate was pleased
to find, following the cue of the Prosecution particularly in regard
to the appeal [ issued to the Jamshedpur workers, and (2) to show
the untenable character of the claim put-in' by the Communist
Parties everywhere, in pursuance of instructions received from
their International, that they are the only true and sincere guides
of the working class. A party within the working class movement
which does not allow liberty of opinion to its own principles,
which dares not meet on the plane of argument, discussion and.
propaganda for parties withia the working class movement, which
dares not allow the workers themselves to come to a free decision
on vital guesthns of policy but takes advantage of political power
té stifle cri;xcxsm and punish the least opposmon wnth imprisonment.
and eklle does not diff@ very much ig 1t§ mctxcs from these"
pursized by the cap}fahst class which, to perpetuate its domination,
repeats the falséhood that the workers are unfit fof the responsible
task of. Government and then seeks to put them down on the plea
that they'would overthrow'the established Government and bring
chaos an&rvanfichy. Thesetactics as referred to in the publicat
tions: § quoted i(om befr (iiose resemblancd o thbse employed by
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ruling castes everywhere which.claim to be ‘the guardian of the
masses.

My third and last quotation is of interest in view of the
present case which though decided upon by the Conservative Party
when in power-is being carfied on by the British Labour Party now
in office—a case in which ‘Communists, Trade Urionists and
Nationalists are lumped together on a charge of conspiracy to ‘bring
about the Dictatorship of the Proletariat by the violent overthrow
of the present Government | What.I am going to quote is a letter
of prdtest fo the Councils of People’s Commissars (which may be
roughly taken for the Russian Cabinet) in Moscow. It was
addressed by Vandervalde, the President of the Exscutivs of the
L.S.L, in accordance with its unanimous decision and is published
in its Bulletin of February 1931,

“The “Vorwarts” (‘Forward’—the -premier organ of the ‘
German Socialist Party as the ‘Daily Herald’ is of the British
Labour Party) publishes a telegram from the Soviet Agency 40 the
effect that the enquiry on the subject of the counter-revolutionary
organisation of an alleged burean of the Central Committee of .the
Russian Social Democratic Party (the Mensheviks) discovered in
the Soviet Union hasbeen brought to an end, and that the affair
will be referred to the supreme Court of the Soviet Union in a
few days’ time.

“This news reached the Executive of the L.8.I. during its
meeting in Zurich and it calls for a protest on ifs part,-which must
be all the more energetic asiit has received very -grave information
with regard to the ill-treatment inflicted upon the accused persons
in the priscn where they are detained”.

*The Executive of the Li.8.1. is in constant relation with
the Russian Social Democratic Party ,whose activity it follows with-
vigilance. It knows that, in the struggle which it is carrying on
against the Bolshevik Dictatorship, the Russian Bocial Democratio
Party is resolutely hostile to any counter-revolutionary intervention
in the U.S.8.R., that it .is definitely opposed to any attempt at
organising revolts with a view to a violent overthrow of the Soviet
regime, and that there is no informed® person who coulgl i 800l
faith deny that it has always acted in thp most decided” fanger.
within the L. S. I. in the sense of this opinien., , .

“Under these conditions, the fact of bringing before the
revolutionary Judges men, whose whole previous conduct and
whose repeatedly affirmed opinions protest against the accusation
of which they axp¥the ebject, constxtutes 4 scandalous abuse of

+
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force. It forms part of the Terrorist systers and the campaign of
calumny carrled on against the Russian Social Democratic Party
and its representatives, with the sole purpose of discrediting them
in the eyes of the workers.

I am instructed by the Executive of the L. 8. L., to raise
the mest energetic protest against such an abuse and to declare
that by such actions Bolshevism is only widening the unfortunate
split in the Lnternational working class, when the vital interest of
the latter is to form a front in all countries against the forces of
reaction which threaten it.”

The Red Terror has been sought to be justified as a neceesity
forced-on the Soviet Government by the infigitely more hideous
‘White Terror. As I havesaid one can undersba.nd, if not excuss,
the employment during forelgn invagion or civil commotion
fomented by alien powers, of the very tactica the working class
movement has occasion to condemn daily when resorted to for the
perpetuation of the capitalist system, worn out and unfitted for the
requirements of the world at its present stage of progress. But i
is -beyond the comprehension of all Socialists why the same methods
-shounld.be continued after the conquest of power has been stabilised,
and employed—not against counter—revolutionaries-hut against the
Communists themselves, not to speak of .the ,other parties within
the working class—to.put down all the free expression of ,thoughts
and; opinions. I-have fried to find an expla.nablon and I have seen
altempts to ]usblfy if.on the, plea that. Severe measures are necessa.ry
-during & period of economic reconstructlon One¢ would think
that this is just the penod when . free expressions of opinion and
candid views should ba encouraged and welecomed—that the Russians

- as s nation may -feel . enthusiasm for ths measures calculated to
benefit the whole people and £orgmg so fast a.head a8 to leave all the
other countries behind—so that Socialists all over the world, what«
ever may be their difference of opinions with the Communists as to
the methods by which capitalist rule should bs replaced by a

_sooialist regime, might glory in the fact of there being socialism
in one country. Instead of that we find a Party governing an
‘entire nation and being in turn controlled by a clique which while
swearing by the Proletariat relentlessly removes those from its path
who because of their intelligence and independence—the very
-qualities which should have made their cooperation extromely
" valuable—prove a menace to, the perpetuation of cliquism.

JThe methods employed are well-known—they bear such a
close . familiar resemblance to those employed by the capitalist
Governments all over the world. The*only difference is the
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difference which it makes by the substitution of the word ‘counter-
revolution’ for the word ‘revolution’. N

On a close serutiny by dispassiondte observers with judicial
temperament free from political bias the charges in a political case
tried in Soviet or in capitalist countries may be found to be equally
baseless—a mere penalising of opinions and activities which are
unpalatable to the powers thatfe. In his “Sceptical Essays” while
discussing “free thought” Mr.Bert and Russell observes *...In Russia
one set of fanatics feels absolute certainty aboub one set of “proposi-
tions, while in the rest of the world another set of fanatics feels
equal certainty about a diametrically opposite set of equally doubtful
propositions. These fanatics being in power unfortunately, from
such a situation war, bitterness, and persecution will inevitably
result on both sides.”’ But it is only the Socialists alone who believe
in Socialism, that is in a state of things which would give equality
of opportunities to all for the development and full and free play of
all that is best in mankind-—it is the Socialists alone who are consis-
tent in their condemnation of these methods whether they are
employed by the Leninsts (shall I say Stalinists? ) or by the capita-
lists. It is they and they alone who can point out the inconsistency
of both when either of them condemns the other for wusing these
methods while it itself resorts to them without a scruple to stifle
opposition. “We repudiate the right’’ says Mr. J. R. MacDonald,
the present head of His Majesty’s Government, in his book “Parlia-
ment snd Revolution’’—"“We repudiate the right of the capitalist
critics of the Russian Revolution to condemn the Dictatorship of the
Proletariat in Russia, not only because their speeches show the most
idiotic ignorance of the subject, but because their own actions and
methods deprive them of the right of eriticism.”

This is a lesson to be drawn from Russia which should not be
lost sight of by any who is heart and soul in the working class
movement, As a matter of fact, while having the firmest faith in
and the strongest devotion to the cause of Socialism—the only
remedy and salvation for the countless millions of workers—manual
or intellectual—whose interests are identical all over the world—
*Socialists who guard against the danger of & slavish imitation of the
methods and tactics which brought about the establishment' of -the
Soviets (admitting for a moment that the Boviet System of govern-
ment is best calculated to bring about Sovialismn) that the methods
and tactics were evolved out of the historical conditions peculiar to
Russia and that the seizure of power by the Communists after the
overthrow of the Czar was pessible mainly, if not solely, owing to
the abnormal situation of Russia at the time and not because of the
intriosic merit of the doctrines they preached. The abnormal
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situation in Italy alter the war produced Fascism, while in Germany
i brought the Social Democrate into office. But in spite of
all these drawbacks, for which the present regime in Russia is being
subjected to criticisms by the Socialists all over the world, the
working class all over vhe world particularly the organised workers
have a soft corner in their hearts for Russia which has launched out
on the greatess social experiment of the world. The reports of the
delegations sent respectively by the organised workers of Great
Britain and America, the first hand experiences recorded by Socialists
like VAnderveld in his book “Three aspects of the Russian Revolu-
tion,” by mr. and Mrs. Snowden in their book *Through Soviet
Russia”, by Mr.Brailsford in “Sovists at Work” and Pandit Jawahar
Lal Nehru in ‘Soviet Russia’, “indicate that while they are nof
prepared to accept the Revolation of November 1917, as the triumph
of Communist ideology, methods and tactics, they are struck by the
change for the better’ in comparison with what the position was
under the Cgarist regime brought abous in a short space of time in
the condition of the Russian masses, and that in their eriticisms
they are always alive to the difficulties against which the Soviet
Government has to contend—not the least of which is the sustained
opposition of the capitalist Powers. 1 believe the attitude of -the
Socialists towards Soviet Russia has been briefly and correctly
defined by Mr. George Hieks in his Presidential Address before the
59th Session of the British Trades Union Congress in the. 1927 at
Edinburgh (D 219). Thisis what he says *In regard to our rela-
tions with the Russian workers, I desire to say this.I know that 2
great deal of resentment is felt amongst us at what might well be
termed the crude arrogance of the Russians in telling us how to
eonduct our own affairs ( ‘Hear' ‘Hear’ ). I think it should be re-
membered that the Russians have been reared in a hard and terrible
school. Exile, imprisonment,and death have been the rewards meted
out to those who actively engaged in the workers struggle against
the old Czardom. We ought not to forget that those responsible for
the leadership of a Soviet Russia see the world with that experience
as a background. The methods they pursued are not necessarily
those which-are best suited to the countries other than their own.
Our Russian comrades bave suffered much and have learnt much
and our sense of International solidarity and comradeship makerit

"% incumbent upon us to view this question in the b'iggest and the
mosh generous way we can (Hear, Hear).”

I have had to deal with this question of what
has been fermed by the learned Magistrate as “leaning
towardes Moscow” at some length because I have found
that the Prosecution has made much of the slightest appreciative
references to Soviet Russia by any of the accused in the present
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case. Between the two extreme views about . SBoviet Russia—the
one held by the diehard capitalists who could see nothing good in
it and would not rest in peace till the regime is altogether destroyed
and the other held by the Communists who are ready to worship
everything pertaining to Soviet Russia, there is in the world the
vast mass of the people whose views and opinions make themselves
felt in the long ran. All this vast mass of people amongst the
worlkers are more or less organised and I have given the attitude of
the working class organisations all over the world which do not owe
any allegiance tq Comintern, who do not believe in. the methods
‘advocated by it but who yet take s good desl of interest in Soviet
Russia and note carefully the extent of its success and failure. In
‘other words the specta.ole of a government professedly run in the
interest of the workmg class, in its name, and under its authority
has an a.ppea,l to the workmg class evérywhere which otherwise may
not have the slightest syifipathy for Communism or may ‘mof even
undetstand what it is and what its implications are. Those who
_are suﬂ'iclenﬁly ‘advanced and have taken an active parbin the
workers movement toay be disposed to be critical, and gometimes the
criticisms are very ‘trenchant in the light of their own convictions *
-which stood the test of long striuggle and are the result of long
expenence—yet when all is said and done the fact is always -present
in their mind that for the -first time in the history of the world a
State has been set iip which calls iiself the Workers’and Peasants’
Repubho—ﬁhe two gréat producing classes, pumerically in majority,
butz hitherto’ doomed to ‘the lowess rung of the'ladder in a society
‘based on'individusls.

It was necessary for ‘me ‘to explain the attitude of the very
‘large section of the working class which does not believe in the
Communist ideology and tactics and is even opposed to the
Communist International—because in this case the. Prosecution.has
followed a curious logic. It’has adduced evidence of the participa-
_tion of the accused in Sacco and Vanzetti demonstration meetings,
in demonstrations against Simon Commission, adverse criticisms of the
Labour Office at Geneva or appreciative references to Soviet Russia
to prove that the accused against whom this sort of evidence is
-adduced are either Communists or have so far accepted their view
péint as not to debar them from taking part in what the Prosecution
make oul as essentially a Communist conspiracy. The Prosecution
argue like this;s The Communists regard the I. L. O. with to quote
the learnéd Magistrate “peculiar disfavour’: this particular accused
did sot therefore this particular accused is a Communist. Or the
Communists made it a point to demonstrate about Sacco and
Vanzettis this particular adcused took part{in such demonstration’
therelore it follows that he is a Communist. But unfortunately the
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fallacy Hes in the fact that hot all those who took part in these
demonstrations or hold these views are Communists. ThlS is 1
believe what is called the fallacy of the undistributed major premise.
This sort of evidence either taken individually or in its cumulative
effect proves very little but the Prosecution have gone to such an
absurd length that we ‘find" even the learned Magistrate ' drawing
inference from the usé of words like * salidarity *, and - “‘workers of
the world unite”, “comrades”, and “youg fraternally” as an evidence
ot -participation in this cbnspxracy.

Revolution or Evolution.

This controvercy is perhaps as old as the human society as
it represents two tendencies born of the law of progress which
involves change. I can add very little if at all to the contributions—
theoretical and practical—made by the master minds of all the ages.
My scope, considering the place from where I am speaking is ex-
treme!y restricted and is limited only by the need for the occasion;
The occasion which calls for this exposition is 2 passage reported
nmperfectly from the speech 1 delivered at Hansh Park inone of
the meetings'I orgamsed under the auspices of the Bengal Trade
Union Federation in convection with the Lillooah ‘lockout. The
_passage as reported -staods thus: “ It is to remove these ordinary

_human wants (that is food, education, proper medical treatment etc)
that we have today gone on strike, and if "this humble purpose is
) fulfilled it will be enough for us. And this is also the demand of
the 'workers'i party. Whenever we make known these Idem:mds.
many peopl e forth-with say to us that this Evolution' of ours is'the
same as Revolution. In that case possibly the political reform which.
is taking pla.ce with us isalso revolufion, but they forget that a
revolution takes place su ddenly. whereas the process of Evolution is
‘very slow. And as soon a8 it is stopped it turns out to be
Revolution. “"What happens when the escape of steam is prevented?
It bursts thtough bus if it is peumbted slowly to escapes no ‘harm
ensues............”" I have already in dealing with the so-called fully
reported speeches ,from one of which the above i an extract, pointed
out their imperfect character. 1 leave it to your Honour to judge
in view of what I have said before how disjointed the whole speech.
seoms to be with terms such as “mdlstmct”, and........ .mterspersed
behween, and ‘asterisks in the 'end indicating & confessmn on the
pa.rt of the reporter that he could not follow the speech to the
extent whmh would make the ‘report an accurate ome. But the
' dxﬁiculty increases in view of the fact that the Court will have to-
arrive at a ﬁn&mg through the medium of translation and that too-
is not absolutely an invariably correct as would appear from the.
admissinn of the translator, amongst other things, in regard to the:
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extrsot quot‘e:d,"_thst “work ers’ party” is s#rougly translated and
shoulz}&:ead “workers”.
D/ 11. 8 3:.

Mr, Branlsford asl:ed about thrs passage said that he could not-
besure about it and no. wo nder. But he correctly gathered the
sense when he- said that ¢ “i ,the passage means that ‘evolution if
arrested inevitably leads to revolutron, that is a doctrine to which
the Second International subscrxbes.

I have already said that my speeches were the result of some
thought and preparation and that I used to select the theme before-
hand. Now I wanted to impress on the pubhc that it should not be
misled by propaganda carried on agamst ‘the worl{rers in general and
the Lillopah wotkers in partlcular srmply because they were
trymg to improve their working conditions and ‘their ot as human
beings, Their demands were moderate, legmmate and’ réasonable.
To say that their demands should not be conceded to ‘and ‘that they
should be put down, otherwise the country would be faced 'with
revolution, wag,to talk nonsense, because if ‘this contentron were
true-2and .1 suspected that those who were ‘$aying thrs themselves
did not believe what they werersaymg-then no .reform should” be
encouraged at all—not even the piecemeal polmcal ‘reforms” whrch
were being conceded to us. Then I pomted ‘out *that it is"the
people of this sort, who are responslble for brmgmg ‘about revolutron,
because they are always opposed to progress and reforms, and if
and whean they get their way they do their level best to suppress the
legltlmate demands and thus deepen dxscontent. When di scontent
is dgep and umversal when demonstratlons t6 gwe venf to tbe

rnstead of being allgwed an outlet accumulates in it Progress is
the law of the world and is mevxtale. But those ‘who have polmcal
power in their hands can retard or accelerate it, ' If timely
congessions to legltlmate demands are made ‘justead of suppressmg
them progress is peaceful and though slow yet* steady. Thls is
giving the law of evolution free play. Otherwrse revolutlon
breaks out and the ferocity with whroh it does so is to’ be’ mes.sured

\

by the extent of the ferocity with which the ' legrtrma.te demahds of -

the people Were sought to be put down, Revolution may btea.k out
suddenly as the experience of hlstory shows but it is the result of
long sccumulating discontent and suffermg ‘and ' of ~ despair.
Revoldtion can never be’ engineered by a few people mor can it be
imported, as has been aptly said, in a ca.rpet bag.”” Then in this
connection I pointed out to the seversl strikes that were going on at
the time 4nd stressed on the demands of the workers with particular
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reference o Lilloosh. My intention wag %o drive home to the
public that timely concessions, even if small, are calculated to turn
discentent into the constitutional channel of agitation, but $hat, if.
an attitude of no concession is taken and legitimate agitation is
sought to be suppressed, those who are responsible for these policies
and measures are simply bringing about a condition of things which-
is sure and which ay culminate in a revolutionary outburst. Thia
is »a view to- which all Aational persons subscribe, and, as Mr.
Brailsford says, '*‘it is the point of view of..that seetion. (the more
moderate section of the Second International) that :if revolutionary
+«gr - constitutional - methdds’-fail, resors..to. xevolutionary. methods
becomes more or less inevitable.” I .shall quote an extract from a
sbook called *“ Must Britain travel :the:. Moscow. road 2. * written by
Mr. Norman Angell in reply to: Tmtskys “Whither. Britain is
going.” . This book, as.. was - stated by . Mr. . Brallsford in .his
evidence, represents the views.of the more mpderate. segtxon .of the
Second International. If your-Honour will turn to .the synopsis of {
Chapter Lof this book which. is entitled *.is there a. Red peril,
and  who are revolutionaries ? "’ you will. come actoss the

follewmg — . .

“The question of revolution will be determined not mamly
by labour leaders, still less by “paid agitators,” but by the policy of
those at present’ in . possession—=will. that policy show sufficieat
‘agaptability to changed conditions.? ~~if not, it might egsily render
‘evoldtion ; as “‘inevitable ' .as the Marxians declare. it. to he—
Jypuotised by the ruin labour might cause to property, we do. not
seenw to.havernoticed the guins-and revolutions which govemments
of kaw:and .order.have acmally,accomplxshed under oug eyes and
anay accomplish-again,”

- + . In this connection I may point out that the.: Socialists .differ
“from the Communists in their attitude towards: pvolution in this,
:that'the Communists: start on the assumption. wfniqh to them admits
80f no-doubt (if aaybody*.doubts it, he. becomes, a. traitor tp the

:working: class, a hireling and what not of. the capitalists) that the
:revolution is bound to come-and is. the sing qua-non of the change
wfrom 4Capltahsm to Socialism.. Though their, motto is: “ Reyolution
- for the masses and:not the masses for revolution” they would not
admit of the slightest poesibility of the massesdcoming to their own
“without a. bloody revolutions - The,. Socialists on the other hand
‘refuse to give this assumption the smctlty of ,pniversal] turth ‘and
-point-out to. various. changes . effected in .men’s . nutlook wlth _the
‘progress cf science and many measures of .a soqxahst_xc tharacter
and based: on Socialist principles. taken  even by capitalist
Governments, To them revolution iman evil and o be avgided
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unless the powers that be,through their absolute failure to move

with the times or to adapt themselves to the state of things brought .
about by the progress of science and the growing needs of society,

force the victims of status quo to choose the alternatives of eithet

meekly submitting to their lot indefinitely or putting an end to the

_system which is responsible for it. Socialists would welcome

genuine progressive reforms which would ultimggely lead them to

their goali They justify this attitude by jpointing out that revolutxon

even if successful does not always lead to the state of things desired

or at any rate the revolutionary regime may have under the stress

of necessary to adopt a number of the very megsures which they had,
hitherto condemned and wanted to put an end to by’ revolution,

These measures therefore to the extent of their reintréduction,
retard the realisation of revolunonary aims. In thesé circumstances

it is not proper"’ that revolutxon should be idealised, though

unfortumtely its poseipility cannot altogether be ruled out. That

in* Russia the’ reyolutionary government has been forced to,-adopt,

many measures which were hateful to a degree and to end it was,
the object of revolution cannot be denied. That is why hasty

generalisations based on Russian conditions and experience should

not be taken as the basls for a programme to be blmdly followed

everywhere,

It may be noted inthis connection that this revolutionary
fervour of the Russian - Communists to which the Communist
International owes its mceptlon has been actuated by the instinct
for self preservatlon. Just as whenq the industrialisation of "Greaj
Britain was going oo apace after the industrial revolution, finding
that their peculiar eeonomic conditions made if absolutely necessary
to have free and unrestricted trade with the yest of the world, to
enable her to get food for her sustenance and raw materials for her
‘factories in exchange for the finished products that they manufacture,.
just as British industrialists aided by patriotic economists were able
by sustained propaganda to raise for'a time at least the " policy of
free trade dictateq to her by her peculiar*economic needs to' thé
dignity of a pnncxple of universal application—so, the Russian
Communists and particularly the master minds ¢f the Bolshevik
Revolution headed by Lenin 'saw clearly that workers revolution in
more than one country would guarantee the security of the Soviet
State against whick the Capitalist Powers were up in arms. Great
hopes were entertained of the industrinlly ‘advanced countries like
England, France and Germany. But these hopes were frustrated
because the objective conditions for revolution and consequently the
despera‘tioix which drives people to despaig and to resort to
drastic-steps wére not there—the workers being better off than
wirh Test of Europe though there was discontent because of the

.
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dislocation of industry after the. war. = Their efforts - et with
Yelative success in Germany,—the Commaunis¢ Party there is perhaps
stronger than in any other capitalist tountty—=but that was because
G‘ermany was a defeated countty, But still the Communist Party
was not streng enough to’bring about revolution. In England tHe
Communist Party is the weakest in Europe because of ‘the long
and well-established traditions of Trade Unjonfism which have
.made the lot of the British workers *happier ‘than that of their
comradesin other countries of Europe and because of the demoaratic
eogstitution which holds out to the workers the hope of being
some daf by constitutiodd] means in ﬁossessmn of the government
machmery and political Ppower w:thp{.t having to wade through
'blood; . .

) L]

- Being baffled in their efforts to bring aboht the revolution
in these gountries they have concentratgd then' energy and atten-
fion ot the colonial countries. Here, as I have spointed . out ‘in
«connection with the League against Imperialism, they are at a
greater advantage than they are in the cofntries which are politi-
callyfree. The economic condition in the colonialt countries. is
also far worse than what it is in the European countries. In the
case of Ind'xa. itis partxcularly pointed out that Indian conditions
approximate to conditions in Russia and, it is argued, that India,
therefore, should travel the Moscow road. But fortunately or un-
fortunately the conditions are wot alike though on a superficial
“glancg thera may be sole similarities, namely the vast area of §
Iarge and backward popilation gost of which lives on agriculture
and a Government which is not responsible to the people. But on
a &loset view differences appear which properly analysed do. not
suppont the Moscow legic. 1In Russia the Czarist Government was
autocratic and, not onlso but Was absohatel corrupt add demora-
-lised* Under the stress of the World War whicK’ had not the back-
ing which the other Governments more or leSs democratic in
characte;were receiving ‘irom their respective peoples, the machinery
‘of she Government broke down. The Kerefsky Goverdment
which came®into power as 2 result of this almost bloodless revolu-
tion failed t@ gaute the popular will and.was crushedin its tard
because of its determination to-ca.rry on the Jvar with which the
people were completely fed up. Taking advantage of this chaotic
situation Lenin and his followers fame out with thée slogan of peace,
breag and fand and wére acclaimed everyWhere. So the revolution
may be called a Bolshevik revoldtion in the limited sense that the
leaders‘of this revolution were Bolshevxks and not in the sense that
the support given t8 tRem by the people’was due to the fact of their
being inspired with Bolshevik 1dea1s. . 'l"here is another aspect also.
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‘The conditions necessary for the success of a socialist revolutiom
eyen as laid down by Ma,rx were not present in Russia, though
Lenin gave his own interpretation of Marxism and fashiored it ¢o
duit the requirements of Russia. But, even when the revolution *
established the Communists i power, they headed by "Lenin had -
to retrace their steps and introduce the New Economic Polxcy.
while Lenin’s successor Stalin had also to step backward to reahse
the five years’ plan and borrpw seme of the capltahst methods in™
production. .As-Kautsky observes in hlS book «* Terrorism auq
Communism ** :— it fs snot* so easy to organise as it ls to ex-
propriate., A capxtahst conckrn is a complex- orgamﬂatxon which
finds its intelligence in "the capitalist himself or in his represe,ntatwe.
Ifit is desired to abolish capitalism some form of orfanisation T myst’
be preated, which- should bevposm'ble of funotxonmg as well if not.
better, without the ea.pita,hsﬁ b#ad, .. ... It dehands a certain set
of conditions of a material as well as of ‘o psychma.l order,m hlgh .
development of capitalistic orgamisation, not only of produdtion, buk
also-of the import and export of the raw materials. Moreover, it
also'demards a proletariat which is conscious of its daties, not «only
towards its own neighbours and eomrades but’ also towards society
a8.8 whol_e—,ja proletariat, moreover; which has beconie 3ccustomed
to; voluntary diseipline:and: self-administration through long years
of gmass organmﬁlon, and which finally -is intelligent enough fo-
disfinguish the possible. from the: impossible and: -they scibntifically
‘edpcated! leader: with ,character from ar! igporant.. demg,gogl.‘lo

without & conscience.”” ' Y
L}

In. comparison. with the ‘workers am.d the advanced m&usmal
countries of Europe Russian workers were ‘baekward and less arganis-
ed. Russian industry was. less advadced; Byt in eqmparison with
India Russiar industry in 1905.. was much more developed * than
Indian industry i in 1931 and Russian workers far more organised
and trained for orga.msed actions than Indian' workers gf today..
These are.some of the facts amongst othefs which ‘should not, bé
lost sight of by those who talke part ip the working-alass movement
and have some responsibilify for deciding its ypolicy. Bub the
difficulty of the Communists is that as a pary they have to.obey
implgitly the instructions of, the centre which is situated thousands
of miles away from their sphere of aetivities. If i6 is the "polity of
the Comintern to lay down that it ié revolution alone that will
bring salvation to the masses and mothing “else they will have to
repeat if"parrot-like without the least referemce. to the local
conditions of the country to* which they belomg and where they
work. But other parties within the working class movement .who'
neither accept the limitations :«sought to be imposed on them, as
has been said, by the capitalists, nor the cut-and-dried formulae the
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mechamcal adhetence to’ whrch rs insisted upon by Moscow.
-formulate thexr own pohcrea with due rega.rd to "the’ qxrcumstan ces
of the particula;g counstry they are working jd. T hey refer to revelu-
tion not as a means through whnch the workmg class must,go upder
all cxrcumst_ances but as an evxl :whrch may e forced on he working
class b'y an umntel'hgent capltahst class ‘mwrllmg to make timely
concessnons and cariy out much needed refprms for the betterment
of ifs conditions, )

Q... T};e follow-mg evxdence relates to the Part taken by you
in the AI I'UC add theBTUF %= P, 544(3),P W’s 111

" and 119, Pxo, 1383 37,20, 479, ¢8: 545 1 to -5), 26, 34, 36, and

P, W .$ 123 and 254. Have you adything‘to say ‘about fhis -evidence?
‘4ll—Iml1,a: Trade' Unwn‘Congréss and its Provincial Committee.
v i A Smce th’eywmter of 1925 when I first began, .to take an
active part in the Trade Umori Movoment { h?.ve been st’udymg
ihe,‘ condmbns of Labour m put, country, as, “well, asq the
hrsto:y oi LabounMovement in othqr cdqntnes. i Obvlously 1 had
easier acgess [0.a detarled'lustory of the WOrkmg class movement
m England than of. sxmilar movements, .in_ other cpu.it’ues. some
smattermw know]edgg of whrch 1. could mcxdenta‘lly ~gain_ in .the
" courde of my studies. The reason why in my speeches at Trade
Uaion reetings I used to cite the exainple .of.-the British Trade
Usllot -Movement, was shat I knew, about it much more :¢han I koew
of the,movements. in other countries. ;. The”. steady,. gromth .of .the
British Trade 'Umou.Movement in.the face of . .strepuous; €apitalist
» oppasition appesled te me very[mu,ch' and [ .wag. glso struck by the .
intelligen® policy that the British Capitalist class began to. pursue

" wsinge.after the Chartist Movement—a. policy.1which .weaned the

British workers from-the. :evolutwnary ipath. and. . diverted, theig
energies mto constitutional thanpels. There wene of course many
factors at_ work whrcb enabled. or..contpelled .the capitalists. to
follow a policy more liberal and enlightened. than .what was,_has
$een or could be followed in other countries. ¢ But the fact.remains
#hat the basic principles of the British. Trade Union Movement:
influenced. my outlook taa Jarge extent,

. ‘There &#vas. another factor whith.drew " me .to hhe 5uudy off
the. British Labour Movement.even before I took part in the Lodian
Trade Union Movement. As a . journalist . connected . with . the
premiersNatiogalist Dailies in Qalcutta 1 knew shat sinde after. the
war the Indian Nationalists were beginning to find an.ally in. the
growing British Labour Patty whish they gonsidered would go
furthér than evef the British Liberals did in helping the .cause of
nationalism and it was belioved. that. the British Labour party
pledged-to oppose Imperialism, should at least never betray Indian
Nationalists as Lord Morley (.Mr. John Morley was at one time
regarded a8 a Radical ) when he became the Secreta.ry of State for
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India. In 1924 Indians had the shpck of their lives whed they
found that amongst, other things the British Labour Party in
office headed by Mr, J. Ramssy MacDonald, the author-of “The
Awnkemng of India’*~—s widely read book in India—-gave its seal of
approval’amongst other things to the policy of detainivg hundreds of
our young men in. prison ,without “trial. The next yehr, after the
Labour Government was thrown out of office, Messrs. * J honstode
and Sime visited India ‘on behalf of the Dundee Jute ‘Workers”
Union, and they tried, though not . very convmcmgly, to explain
away the pelicy of British La.bour a8 being dictated by the facf of
its being in office and not'in pdwer. But In the couwrse of the
several speeches which I carefully followed, and I was personally
present at one of the meetings; he, that is Mr. Jhon8tone, gave a
reasoned exposition why the British organiged Labour™ wanted to
stand by India, particularly by the working class of India. - It was*
not sentimengal love for a* people deprived of* the blessings
of freedom but hard material considerations, he said, which
weighed with organised Labour in Pritain in coming 'to the
help of the Indian workerss Then he explained the
economié basis of the slogan “Workers of the world unite’ (D. 176
and page 43 of D 544 wund also Mr. Brailsford’s evidence ).»
s .
So when I Bega.n to fake an active part in the Trade Union
Movement my studies of the history of the British Ttade Union !
Movement had particulaf reference to the extent that it wpuld be
possible for the Indian Trade Union Movementrto have the British
Movement as at ally and the extent that the British Movement®
should be taken as an example to follow. Unfortunately the gttitude -
of the British Labour Party towards the Simon Commissiony
deriounced by all reputable sections of Indial’x'opinion—-an' attitude
for which the British Trade Union Movement could not escape its-
due share of responsibility*=was not such as to encourage much faith
in the usefulness of the alliance, though at the same time I must$ay
that the arrival of Messrs. Purcell and Hallsworth as fraternsl
delegates of the British Trade Union Congress considerably allayed
feeling against the British Trade Union Congress. I was greatly,
influnenced by the attitude of neutra.hty which these ¢wo fraternal”
-delngabes observed in regard to the question of the Simon Commission
(D 270) which the All India Trade Union Congress’decided to
boycots, and it influenced me in supporting the appointment of the
British Trade Union Congress as the representative of the Indian
Movement abroad in preferencedo the Workers' Welfare Leagne. ot
course it was obvious that the former was much mote powerful and
influential than the latter and Wad far greater resources and was ex-
pscted to be more* useful ag the fraternal delegates promised if

would. .
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. HoWaever it was .this consxderatxon, mmely, thaa no outside
party will be of very much’ help.to the Indian Movement unless it b
for gome lumbed purpose, thah led; me to fop;clude thaf the Indian
ovement musb proceed on lmes of tis own—ta.kmg help whete
available buh expecbmg noneé and co&nmzf.tmg “itaelf t0 none of the
different parhes' in the workmg cless 'lllns wag & policy which I
iol!owed thronghout and I would summa.nse ag “detachiment but not
isolat,lon abros.d—orgamsa.tldn and exposltlon (of thé Trade’ Umon
principles and propaganda) at bome”, Eev;ng studied deeply and
cnmcally the hxsbory of the Ls.bour Movemenb the prmolples wlnoh
Iormed xts basls and the polmy it iollowed at different hmes, a8 ‘also
the dlﬁerenﬁ schools of thoughb ur the worlnng-cla.ss ; movement a8
they developed, pa,rhlcula.rly since a.ftse!‘ the Russian Revolution and
Wa.r, I compared he kquledge I had recelved to my experience in
they Indian Trade Union Movement and this study and experience
made me 1deologma.lly a socialist who believes in a den;ocmcy based
an adult suﬁra.ge controlling the means of production,: distribution
and exchange. But I also  regard society as an organism and a8
such. no radical chs,nge can be forced mpon it nnless itds duly
prepered fox; it, that is no ra.dlca,l cha.nge can be imposed by a- Yesolnbe
mmonty Jupon an unwxllmg though fmorga.msed majority without
causing serious back slides. But as I have already eeid I did not
think it would be proper for the Indmn Trade Union Movement ab
'lts pre’sent sta,ge of development to be afhhated to any of the world
orga.msa.hons and thus Jrestriot ite scope for growbh. There were
persons. mcludmg even such an eminent man as Mr. . F. Andrews
swho. opposed tlxe a,ﬁr.ha.tlon "of ‘the dee 'Umon Mdvement to thd
,LI T, U., hlle there was a sma.ll but orgemsed group which wanted
iq to be afflha,ted to the Red Internatlona.l. I stood out; aga,msb both
undwas nol; for aﬂllia.tmg our movement to s,ny one of them
'(P 2008), because in, the present poslblon of the Indmu Trade Union
Movemenl; tlxe wotkers themselves count v’ery little in any 'decision
of blns sort one way or hhe other. The reel opinion of the workers
coqld npﬁ be ascerta.med' unless and until they have learnt -to act
and spe%lr‘t};ldugh their own Trade Um'ons to which ab least: an
gppreolebly large number.of workers in & ‘particular industry must
long as; rcgular members. The workprs movement in.a.country
should teke%he colour and character which the workers themselves
seek to giveto it zmd not, any particular set of people dra.wn towards
‘the movement by their own jdeals and seeking -to impose on them
their views accordmo' as f.hey beloag to one or the other school of
ﬁ‘mught wlnch the movemeni has deteloped. - That is why I devoted
my attentxon almost exclusnvely to the organisation of strong unions
whleh woqld develop experience of their own in the course of . their
,quea,vogrs to: improve their .wcu'kmg conditions,*and wauld be in =
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better position to Judge which way is better calculated 'to lead to
their goal. This ishow I concludedan article on the All India
Trade Union Congress at Jharia contributed to the Amrit Bazar
Patrika of 30th December 1928, “Organisation is the immediate
task, let me repeat, before the Congress. For gaining the objeotive it
(A. I T. U. C.) would work together with and receive-the assistance
from any party, group'or organisation which offers it. Lt our Work-
ers be organised and stfong and they would themselves decide the
courss they should adopt and the Congress is bound to take the com-=
plexion and character they choose to give it. Itis useless at this
stage to pass high-sounding resolutions framed in thd language of
Leninism while at the same time in olir hea.rt of hedrts that
very few of the resolutions have a chance of being acted upon, while
most of them would add to the difficulties which are already

numerous enough to satisfy the most militant amongst us.”

D/- 14-881. )

The Indian Trade Union Movement is perbaps the youngest
Trade Union Movement in the world, It wasin 1920 that the All-
India Trade Union Congress was founded at Bombay., At that time
there were hardly half a dozen unions in India and all of them taken
together could not perhaps boast of a membership gxceeding ten
thousand. In the older Trade Union Movement we find the develop-
ment; was from below upward, that is the National or Central organi-
gotion was formed after the unions in the goveral industries had
grown strong and had felt the necessity of & powerful Central orga.m-
sation which would be able to formulate general policies and
demands common to all sections of the workers, and coordinate the
activities of the different unions towards realisation of common saims,
and objects. Butin India such was not the case. The Central
Organisation came into being before the workers in most of the
industries were organised or even before the few Unions that were
newly formed could be well organised and numerieally strong. One
of the chief reasons for forming this Central Organisation, was the
provision in the treaty of Versailles which created the lnternatmna}.
Labour Office at Geneva and laid down that an annual Conferende
should be held there for the discussion of International Labour:
problems with a view fo recommend improvements in the conditions.
of Labour by Lagiclation. The recommendations of the' Geneva
Conference are binding on the Governments represented at it subjegh
to their ratification by the legislators® of those countries. Certain
provisions have been made by which Governments, employers and
workers‘are represented at the Conference. The representative
dharacter of a delega.he may be questioned and, if questioned, the.
master is. referred to a Credentials Commibtee.
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It was found that in the absence of a Central’ Organisation
which can speak with some amount of authority on behalf of the
workers the Goveroment would be left with unfettered disoretion to
make their ‘minees as Labour delegates and advisers while the
employers, on the other hand, have their well-established organi-
sation. Whatever might have been the circumstances to which' the
A.L T.T. C. owed its origin, that it removed a growingly-felt
demand was proved by the enthusiasm which characterised the
proceedings of the first Session at Bombay, though most of those
who took part in it wers trades people, merchants and intellectuals
with huma.nltanan sympathies. The sacond Session which was held
at Jharia the next year—one of the great centres of the Coal Mine
Industry—was attended by, amongst others, about 20,000 miners.
In short, when ¥ joined the movement in 1925 I found the A. I. T.
U. C. a well-established organisation with growing prestige amongst
the workers. But unfortunately I found that all sorts of ‘climbers’
and adventurers were also seeking & foothold in the organisatieon by
means of ‘paper’ unions. The idea of these persons was to get elected
either as delegates or advisers to Gensva or, if possible, to get nomi-
nated by the Governmenf to a seat on the Lagislature as a Labour
representative. The Central Organisation was not yet strong enough,
as Mr. N. M. Joshi, the Ceneral Secretary, who visited Caloutta
early in 1926, confessed to me, to keep a strict watch over or
properly oheck the returns and reporfs submitted by the Unions,
though, as I could perceive, he was doing his best under the circum-
stances. From the very fitst Mr. N. M. Joshi impressed me, as he
impressed others who came in touch with him, as one‘m%;oughly
understood the character of the movement, was very well posted in
regard to its various developments in other countries and had great.
experience of the workers with whom he had to come in very close
touch in connection with his social service activities carried on
under the direction of the Servants™of India Bociety founded by
Gokhale. Since our first meeting up-to the time of my arrest I had
never abt any occasion o differ from him in regard to questions of
policy except once, and that was in regard to the affiliation of the.
A I.T.U.C. to the I. F. T. U. I was, like many others including
Mr. C. F. Andrews, opposed to affiliating the A. I. T. U. C. with
‘either the Amsterdam or the Moscow body. Ass matter of fact
there was very little room for difference of opinion ab that stage
amongst those who were sincerely trying to build up a powerful
Central Organisation with strong and. well-organised unions as its
constituents.

Early in 1926 a dispute arose in the Bengal Trade Unioa.
Federation which threatened to develop into a split. The dispute
continued for some months and was settled by thg arbitration of
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Dr. S. K. Dutt, at the time the General Secretary of the Y.M.C.A.,

nominated by jhe Executive Council of the A, I. T. U. C. at its,
meeting at Bombay in April 1926, But after some time the dispute

broke out again and. ended after the Executive Council® meeting in

Calcutta in December 1926,and the Bengal Trade Union Federation,
of which I was the. Secretary as a resylt of the dispute, was recog-

nised by the Central Organisation. It was about this time that

Donald Campbel) made on his own initiative some efforts for settle-

mient of this dispute and saw me on the eve of the Executlve Ceuncil

meeting at my home and subsequently wrote to me (P 77) just an

hour .or two before the meeting took plp.ce He attended the

Executive -Council meeting as a representative of the £. B. R.

Indian Employees’ Union.

¥

_During ﬁwo full yea.rs, na.mely 1923 and 1928, all  my energy
wad: devoted to the task of orga,msa,tlon a.nd provmg as much useful
ta the affiliated unions as posmble for the Federatxon wﬂ;h its
extremely limited resources 1 neea not ('hla,te on the’ orgamsa.tlon
work because 1 have dealﬁ Wlth it a.ltea.dy in' connectlon “with
Chenga.ll and Ba,una., except to state that fhere were' two other
_unions organxsed by the Federa.hon, of which one "was the
Howrah, Workers Meta.l ‘Umon and bhe other'the Dock Workers'
Union—the latter subsequenbl hbrough the efforts of the Federa-
tion, was a,malge,ms,ted with the Port Trust Mariners’ ‘and Dock
"Workers' Union, a leaflet of one of which, tecoveted from my" gearoh,
was put in as a Prosecuhon exhibit but, subsequenhly dropped and
restored: by me. As regards the assmta.nce rendered to thé a,iﬁlm.ted
Uniongcertain Iel;ters from the B.N.R. Indxan ‘Labour Union have
been filed as D 207 (6) and 207 (10) There are also in the records
documents showmg the eﬁorts made through the Federation for the
settlement of Lillooah, Bauna an& Scavengers stnke Besides this,
the Jamshedpur Labour Umon requeshed e to’ mtervene in the
dispute between Homi and itself and subsequeut]y T was nominated
by the General Seoretary of the’ A LT.U. C with the approval of the
Enquiry Commlttee they formed in putsuance of the resolution of the
Jharia Beseion of the Congress to enquirs into the dlsputes with a
view to bring about a set.t.lemenﬁ( 1t is in connechon with this that

an appeal to the J amshedpur workers was drafted.

But while I was engaged in these activities I was also alive
to the necessity of purging the Trade Union Congress and its
Provincial Committee of ‘paper’ Unians. 1 was supplied with a
list by Mr. Joshi of the unions which failed to pay their affiliation
dues to the Congress and at his request undertook an enquiry
into their conditions. The result was such as to convince me that
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drastio steps were necessary against a "number of these unions,
which did not exist exdept on paper and some of which were in the
babit of sabmitting false and exaggerated returns sbeut membership
to gain increased representation at the' Executive Council of the
ALT.U.C. and consequently in the Provincial Committes. Bo
when Mr. Joshi raised at -the Executive Council at Delbi in
February 1928 the question of the position of the wunions whose
affiliation fee was in arrears, I gave a brief acconnt of the state of
things as disclosed by my enquiry and suggested that the Congrass
should undertake the enquiry through an impartial man gf its own
choice. Mr. Chaman Lalssupported my suggestion and named
Spratt for the task. Mr. Joshi suggested that the enquiry shpuld
be conducted by a Committee of two of which I as the Provincial
Secretary should be one. 8o the Cotuncil formed & Committee with
Spratt and myself as members to enquire into the oconditions of
Unions in Bengal (D. 274, pages 9 and 10). I have already stated
the procedure adopted in this enquiry, that is that in view of my
preoccupation with other matters Spratt should conducs the enquiry
into the affairs of as many unions as he could for the time being and
subsequently if I found that more information dn‘certain points.
was wainted or that further enquiries were necessary I gvould supple-
ment Spratt’s investigations as well as take np the enquiry abou$.
the Unions left over by Spratt before we settled down to write ' the
reporb. Qur first step in the matteris embodied in D 209 (4) over
our joint signatures.
1Y

In this connection I may refor to P 479 a lebter purporting
to be from Spratt to Muzaffar Ahmad: *I have every hope of heing
able to leave Bombay for Caleutta this week in consequence of a
resolution of the E. C. of the T. U. C. whereby Kishori Lzl and
myself are to inquire into Bengal Trade Unions and report on
their existence or otherwise. My travelling expenses will be
paid..c.innes " As would appear from the above Bpratt’s trawelling
expenses were paid by the A. I. T. U, C. and as I have alread
said more than onee I regarded Spratt as the representative of
the A. I. T. U. C. becauss, besides being deputed by the A.I.T.U.C.
Execative in Febroary 1928 at Delhi he was also slected to b a
convener of the Labour Constitution Sub-Committes formed by the
Congress at its Cawnpore Session in 19%7.

In this connection I would invite the Court’s attension to,
twp lotters I addressed to the Btatosman’ namely D 174 (6) and
D 174 (2) the first in reply to an editorial charging what the editor
onlled “The Moscow School™ with being “actively at work in indus-
trial India”’,and the other in reply to an a.uouymotfs “Indian Trade.
Unionist”, questioning the representative character of Mr.Chaman Lal,
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who withdiew f40m thHe Binpire Commonwealth Lisbour-Conference
in London in‘protest'dgsirst the ruling of thé President proliibiting
hirh from ‘tablibg any 'résbhition -abodt the Simon Commission.
Tife iflea uhderlying both Mttoks i is,"28 1 understéod it, -the-same.
Th thie ‘ore'it Was: sought o be'made otzt that the ‘Indian 'Trade
Unioh Woverent was beibg *démindted by 7the * Moscow. !School
of thouglit, ” while in ths ovther'it'was insinuated-that the -Indiati
Trade Uudlon ‘Congress was -being dominated by ‘‘-a- elique -of
politicia’ns” ‘like "‘Dewan . Ohamnan-Lial, who was & Barrister-at-Law
and =’ Swa.ra]lst ‘member -of the -Legislative -Assembly. -As K
Provincial ‘Secretary: of the T; U. C. I, considered ‘it my duty to
feply to-both, which -I -considered to :be 1libellous,  and ;remove
the inisleading -idéa sought‘to- be conveyed about the dee Unijén
Movement -in-Indis. -In ‘D 174 (6) I stated the clrcumsta.nces
‘which ‘btought: Spratt : to 'Caleutta and -pointed out, that. “The
Indian -Trade Union Cengress “is-open to. sdl. who agree to be
-bound by:its rules.’ -In ‘this-the Trade Union Congress. was but
“following ‘the-éstablished: practice-of all political- bodies. including
‘the British Trade Union -Congress and the Indian National Congress.
“In D 174 (2) 4 dointed -out-that*in the-T. U. C.rthere are, 28/in
-ofhrer- organigitions, -certain: persons.-who -are »better ‘known for
$heir political than - for-their -Labour saetivities ( that-may be due
+60. the fact-that . politics -afford..greater - opportunities + of bringing
people. into *the - limelight than - Liabour activities -at this stage - of
the Movement ) but that certainly does not justify any one'to
characterise the Congress as “a clique of politicians.” “As 4 matter
“of fact 'T'wantdd rather to felidve Eny mlslea.amg idéa that may
'%e ornied 4botit “thie Trade Union ‘Moverisht thari to!‘adferid bithér
C‘hamé.n Lal or Spratt fetsonally, bbth “of whom I bélisved Svete
well “able “fo. Vake “Gare of themselves. My ‘speéches’ ds will “Aa
“D 114 (8) would'alkio indichte that'my visw abbut the Mo#ébw: Sehaol
“was a.Twa.ys “detided ‘Bid “pronouncéd. ““Wheéte Mosedw s, it-is
:not m Ca.loutta. Whethar' it'would be i in Ca.lcuﬂsa. or in'any part
of Industrml Indm or when it~ “would - be' depends on’ hidw the State
‘and the pma.te employers handle ‘tke broblem of dohceding' to the
“legitimate deman&s ‘of the hard-WOrked a.nd 111 -paid- ‘produders  of
) mdustrml ‘wealth.” ’
It was this idea which ‘governed all my spsecheés and"writings
fo counteract the mlschxevous propaganda. against the Trade
“Union” Movemens lt ,was this xdea which prompted mé to contribute
fthe artlcle to, “the.** “Forward * entitled’ “Whltley Commission- -
R is Tta blow to* Tride Umon Movement ?"(the drift Copy of whi¢h
is D 252) pubhshed in'its"issue of Tth March 19:9 ‘in réply to
an ‘article named “Whitley Commxsswn = a blow’ to Tra de Union
Movement “which appeared In’ that' paper over the pseudory.

(' r162')



“A Labour Leader” {whé as I learnt altetwards from the Forward
Office and said so to ‘Mr. N. M. Joshi in a ‘letier D ‘2§r was
Mr. B F. Bradley ). I hadnot much fuith in what the Cotmission
would recommend’ or in the possibility’ of the’ recorrmendauons,
wbatever they mrght ‘be, being carried "ot -But “as -I" pointed
out; “A real” enqurry into ‘the “conditions of Laboar is bound to
give the lie direct to those who -are ‘spreading the mrischievous
theory that frequent strikes "in lndla for the: last—two-yearslha.ve
been engmeered by gold and agents from"Moscow and -prove.that
they are due to odly one' reason, ‘namely ‘what Libéur 'Leader
really’ ca.lls mtolerable c0ndmons of employment..:..';.‘.A teal
enguiry is"bound to clear- the Tradé ~Union ‘Moveméat' -of; the
suspicion that has gathered roudd ~'if” thanks to -thé * éombined
propaganda of caprtahsts,‘loyallsts and 7 Jsome agents provocatehrs
masquerading as Communrsts, ‘that ‘it“is’ a’ movement ‘based ‘on
the ambition of some’ sélf-seeftmg persons, mamtamed elther'by
forexgn capltalrsts bent upon , rummg Indian ‘iudnstnes or- by
.Moscow hent ppen brmgmg about'’ a bloody revolations.” - My
concludmg observauons uere, et us ‘therefore rther - for the
time bemg watch over thé deve]opments “ard be ’busy collecting
facts in regard to the condmons of- empioymept in - thé: varidus
Andustries, so. that if the Commrssxon really approxlmates in
: personnel, ob]ect and, procedure to what ‘we consider it ‘should be
.we may.be ready to help it to the bestcf our’ ab‘rlity o ’I‘he report
of - the Commxssron now’ pubhshed’ ]ustiﬁes what 1’ lsaid. "thén.
-that_js in’ ‘March 1929 It is, admrtted on all* hands to bea” ver‘y
xvaluahl.e document contamrng a, lot, of useful mformztron about
.the _ lndmn,Labour Movement. The condition of Indlan ‘workers,
»which .it ,dxsrloses, far from contradlctmg. confirms” -the'" €arlier
.xeports pf Messts, Johnstone and Sime and oF Messrs. Parcéll
-and: Hallsworth_. and does " it miore authontatwely Because ~all
~the. -three pames, _namely Govzrnment employers and *workers
~WEre: repzesented. inthe Commrsslon

There is another pomt 'in_this eonnectlon which" r,;'qri'rres"t'o

- be-mentioned, namely my, attitude as a Trade, Umomst towards the
+ Indian National Congress., Just after. my arrest when T was wholfy
vin the'dark as to- which of my actxvmes could possibly b'rmcr me so
+ far within: the. mischief of Section 121 A of LP.C, as {6 inducé a
1 Magrstrate'at Meerut,, which I had never vnsued, to ;ssue a wax*ranl:
L aga,mst me;. I was approached by. some repottetrs for what' 1s 'usually
t known as a_‘message’. I tald them that I knew nothmg as 10 what
»-all this was. .about.and | askeimy fellow workegs tq contmue the
-same policy-as . we. had . been pursumg namely ° ‘that thé’ dndian
Natmnal Congress and the Al India “Trade Union- Congress— the
two great sister orframsatrons, should march hand' in h;md towards

(1163 )



our common goal, i. e, the political and gconomic emancipation of
mother-land. These may not be the exact words, which would be
available to the Court, if possible, in due course but that was the
substance. This defines my attitude towards the National Congress.
The Bengal Trade Union Federation presented an address to
Mr.]. M. Sen Gupta on his being re-elected for the third time as the
Mayor of Calcutta and took that occasion to “define its attitude
towards the Indian National Congress, and to state what organised
Labour exPegts from the Municipal Corporation under the regime
of the Congress. D 235 will indicate my acceptance of member- °
ship of the Labour Inquiry Sub Committee appointed by the
Bengal Provincial Congress Committee. I have also referred on a
previous occasion to the cooperation that I pleaded as necessary
between the B, P. C. C, and the B. T. U.F. in the Conference of
Labour representatives on the 2nd September 1928 in connection
with the Trade Disputes Bill. The proceedings of the Federation
(P 26) would show that the B, T. U. F, ‘accepted the invitation of
the Bengal Provincial Congress Committeeto cooperate with it in
the matter of the boycott of the Simon Commission decided upon
by the A. I, T. U, C. at the Cawnpore Session. D 250 is an appeal
to the delegates of the Indian National Congress at its Calcuita
‘Session in 1928 as drafted by me id connection with the relief to
the Bauria workers and subscribed to by Messrs. Mrinal Kanti
.Basu, M. Daud, Mr. Radha Raman Mittra and myself. There are
some in the Labour Movement who are never so happy as when
they could find an opportunity to condemn the Congress asa
_bourgeois body, as if when that is said nothing that need "be said
‘remains unsaid. While recognising that the policy of the Indian
National Congress, by reason of the historical circumstances of
which it is the product, is largely influenced by the needs and out-
.look of the middle class, yet from the very nature of things it can
not be purely a capitalist body like the Federation of Chambers
of Commerce or Mills-Qwners Association on the one hand ora
‘purely Labour body like the All India Trade Union Congress on
.the other, Moreover there is nothing in its constitution to prevent
the representatives of either class’ to get into it and influence its
policy. Further, between the capitalists and the workers there is a
large section of the people who are not identifed with either, and
it is this class which, though unorganised, in the long run influences
what is called public opinon, and it is to this section of people that
both the classes address. A very large section of this class ofy
people forms the permaneat strength of the Indian National
Congress. ‘The teason why the capitalists or the employing class
hitherto influenced Congress policy was because they were better
organised and had greater resources, Now when Labour is being
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Steadily organised lt‘ld;i( isina position to voice its needs, the
Indian National Gongress also is developing a changed outlook.
Pandit Moti Lal Nehra was quite right when ‘in the report
associated with his name he observed that in the not very distaat
fature parties would be ‘forméd not on political or communal
platforms but on the basis of ¢canomic needs and interests. [ find
in the Indian National Congréss an organisation which steadily
developing into a2 meetingg ground ‘of the employers and the
workers, of the landlords and the tenants, where adjpstment from
time to time may be effected as far as possible ot the conflicting
interests of both—each such advance leading our people a step
further towards the ultimate goal of socialism. The “i)ﬁndamen-
tal rights” to which the Indian National Congress stands pledged
is a great step forward i in this du-ectlon. » L

The question ‘of the fundamental rights in relation to the
Indian National Congress and my attitude towards it brings me to
a consideration of some evidence put in against me by’ the Prosecu-
tion, with exactly what purpose I have not been able to'see clearly.

. One isa manuscnpt in my handwriting P 25!0, recovered in the
course of eearch of the office of the Workers’ and 'Peasants’ Party
in Calcutta 3nd the other i§ my membership of the Sub-Committee
appointed at Cawnpore by the A. L. T. U. C. to draft a Labour
constitution, as well as the evideace of P. W. 123 ‘that I seconded
the resolution moved by Dewan Chaman Lalat Jharia Session of
.the Congress for a Socialist Repubhc of India.

I have already said something in regard to P 2510, narnely
that it was a translation undertaken at the request of Mr. Muzaffar
Abmad of P. 1414 (B). According to the learned Magistrate the
programme as contained in P 1414 (B) and P1414 {A), which waa
a manifesto of the Workers' and Peasants’ Party to the Madras
'Session of the National Congress, was something agreemeut to
which meant entering the conspiracy. - At least that was his finding
while dealing with Drs Vishwa Nath Mukhanx 8 oase. I believe it
is this finding of the lesrned Magistrate in regard to the terrible
character of P.1414 (B) which. has made the Prosecation put in
P 2510 at & very late stage of the case in this Coust. ' I must say
that the immediate demands, the economic demands and the social
demands in P 1414 (B) are demands to whioch no Trade Unionist
and Socialist can take exception, that most of these have bsen
incorporated in the form of resolutions as demands of the All-India
Trade Union Congress between the Sessions held.in Madras 1926
and st Jharia in 1928, ( I have mot the reports of Sessions keld
earlier) and many of them have now been ircorporated into the
National Congress programme in the Karachi Session in 1931. Ifa
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Labour or Socialist Party were formed in Indig to-day jt is béund,t.o
incorporate practically all these demands ipto the programme it
would have to issue. This programme is certainly not one of the
reagons which kept me apart from the Workers' and Peasants’
Party, The reasons I have already stated while explaining the
oharacter of my association with some of the accused who were
members of the Party as well as my general relations with the
Party, and I need not repeat them here. But when I translated
this document I did so at the personal request of Mr. Muzaffar
Ahmad with’ whom I had at the time no occasion to come into
conflict in regard to Trade Union activities.

Now I come to deal with the Labour Constitution Sub-
Committee and with the resolution for the boycott of the Simon
Commission to which this is a rider. If your Honour turn to D 232
which is & draft of a letter addressed by me to Mr. Hari Har
Shastri, the Secretary Reception Committge, All-India Trade Union
Congress, Cawnpore, you will find that therein I gave notice Fiwo
resolutions (sent with the letter) I intended to move at the 8th
Session of the Congress. The second resolution, it may be noticed,
dealing with the persons detained witheut trial, was carried withou
any hitch and will be found incogporated in the “treport of the
Congress containing  resolations as ?inally passed at Cawnpore.
But the first resolution gave rise to a considerable controversy,
particularly' as Mr. 8. ‘A., Dange brought in another resolution on
the subject. Mr. Chaman Lal who was in the chair said that from
what he could gather from the debates neither of the resolutions
had the chance of being carried with an overwhelming majority as
a resolution of this type ought to be, so he should like to suggest as
-a ‘via media’ a resolution which should have the support of practically
the entire Executive Council. He asked me whether I would :
acoept his draft and if T did whether I would have any objection to
move it. I did consider this draff as an improyément on mine
because of the reference in it to the principle of self-determination
to which the British Labour Party stood pledged by virtue of its
own resolutions passed and reaffirmed atits Annual Conferences.
The rider to it was also a decided improvemdns because it indicated
that the A. I. T. U. C. was not content with taking up & negative
attitude towards the Simon Commisson but considered that the
time had come when organised labour should definitely have. its
goal defined in the form of a constitution. The names were put in
by Mr. Chaman Lal in. consultation with Mr. N. M. Joshi, the
General Secretary, with a view to make it wholly representative,
P. W. 119 who deposed to the proceedings of the A. I. T. U. C. at
Cawnpé:e, was not wholly accurale when he said that resolution
not 2 { that is the Simon Boycott Resolution ) was seconded by
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Mr. Dange. It was not seconded by him but by Mr. M. Daud. Mr.
Dange spoke irl support of the resolution atd gave his views as to
how the boycott can be made a success—if the Congress earnestly
sets about it—but he also opposed in the same speech the amend-
ment brought in by Mr. Sethi asking the British Labour Party to
withdraw their two representativs from the Statutory Commission «
an amendment I accepted and the resolution with the amendment
was carried. Mr. Dange, if he had seconded the resolution, could
ot have objected to am amendment which could not be brought
unless a resolution duly moved and seconded was before the
House. But while this witness said in cross-examination that Mr.
Daud did not second the Simon Commission resolution, he did not
consider it fit to put in the speechgthat myself and Dange delivered
in this connection, though he admits that both of us spoke in
English on the resolation. Mr. Dange s speech, if available, might
have from the internal-evidence given some indications whether it
was in supporting or ,in scconding the resolution that he was
makmg the speech. S1mxlar]y, my speech, if avaifible would have
also given some indication of my views in connection with the .
Simon Commission. This witness said in cross-examination that
the shorthand notes were destroyed after six months by the office,
that is the Criminal Intelligence Department office to which he
submitted them. AIl witnesses except this one when asked about
‘the reports said they were ignorant what became of them after they
had been submitted to the proper authorities. One witness, if I
remember aright, deposed to a practice that the notes are destroyed
“after three years. In examination-in-chief he had explained that he
was refreshing his memory from reports written by another reporter
to his dictation, sometimes the same day and sometimes the next
morning. These reports, he said, were correct and were based on
shorthand notes taken by him and that the shorthand notes were
destroyed in the ‘ordinary course’. Not that the witness did not
give any account of any speeches—-alleged or otherwise. He quoted
some remarks which he alleged were made by Mr. Jhabwala in
connection with a resolution he moved. He also gave what purport-
ed to be a gist on what Dange was alleged to have said in connec-
tion with a resolution celebrating the 1oth Anniversary of .the
United Socialist Soviet Republic. It was this reporter who made
Dr. Vishwa Nath Mukherji say that the present Government
“warted to suck the Indians.” But why should he omit to givea
sample of what I said or what he thought I said or should have
said in connection with.the resolution is more than I cansay, I
emphasise on this omission as the learned Magistrate while dealing
with my case has made a curious obseryation on page 278 in
connection with Spratt’s theses as convener of the Labour Consti-
tution Sub ~ Committee :=—‘“It must also be noted in connection
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with the T. U. C. that he ( t ) was on sub-committee of nine,
s consisting of Spratt, Dange, Kishori Lal, Thengdi, Jhabwala and
four others, to draft a consitution for Iadia, ( P. 545 (1) ). Spratt
drafted a pamphlet entitled “Labour and Swaraj” with a subsequent
appendix on the Nehru constitution (P 78), which was circulated to
all the members. There is nothing 1o show that the sub-committee
accepted it; there is equally nothing to show that anyone criticised
it—the reverse is implied. No one who regds this lucid pamphlet
can fail to recognise its open communism 1 it is indeed one of the
best and clearest expositions of the principles on which the cons-
piracy was working which is on the record. Kishori Lal's copy
was found with him.,” .

Apart from the logie that in the absence of adverse criticism
on record acceptance by the sub-committes ﬁmplied of a scheme
drafted by the convener, I may point out that the learned Magistrate
a8 usual did no§ carefully go through the Exhibit P. 78 which he
himself cites. Yf"he had done so he would have found the convener
stating in pare 2 of page 77 that he received only one or two com-
ments on this suggestion and one of them was to'the effect that the
_proposed statement was entirely one-sided, that is to say, it gave
the view of only one party in the Trade Union Congress, Now, the
learned Magistrate did not fail to recognise in what he calls ‘this
lucid pamphlet’ jts open Communism, and found that it was one of
the best and clearest expositions of the principles on which the
conspiracy was working. If this be so, how could the learned
Magistrate take it that a sub-committee consisting of Messrs. N.M.
Joshi, Chaman Lal, Daud, Sethi and R.B. Chandrika Parshad ( the
‘last was elected at the Executive meeting at Delhi as referred to in
P. 78, page 78) would accept its open Communism simply because
the learned Magistrate found no criticisms of the ssme? Then he
states Kishori Lal’s copy was found with him. I do pot know
what he wants to convey by it. I should think that as a member
of the sub-committee it was quite natural for me to have a copy.

In this connection I may refor to P 2096P—put to me by
your Honour—dated 16.1.28, purporting to have been written by
Spratt to Muzaffar Ahmad in which it is stated: “ A further
eircumstanee adds to my embarragsment at the moment and that is
that I am the convener of the sub-committee charged with formulat-
ing a constitution for India on bebalf of the T.U.C. The National _
Congress, W.C. has now invited the T.U.C. to meet it in connection
with this, and Mr. Joshi proposes that this Bub-committee should
be the T.U.C. representative. I am in agreement but it means that
I kave to take a hand iu_:fo;mulating our suggestion. Kishori Lal,
Daud and Sethi are on the Committee and I shall have to write to
them in detail akout it.”
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I did not receive the communicatiun that was to be sent to
me as referred to in the last three lines. As a matter of [act when
in February 1928 Spratt told me at Delhi on the eve of the meeting
of the Executive Council that he wanted to convene a meeting of
the Constitution Sub-Committee as many of its members were
present in connection with the E. C meeting, I asked him whether
he did any thing in regard ta the draftmg of it so that it might form
the basis of discussion, He said that when he started for Delhi be
had sent to the members per post a copy of the draft he made. As
1 did not get it he gave me a copy. But upfortunately the meeting
of the Sub-Committee did not take place as the members could
not go through the draft on so short a notice and the meeting of the
Executive Committee Council kept us extremely busy. As a matter
of factit was perceived that unless there was 2 meeting and dis-
tussion amongst' the.members nothing could be done in regard to
it. Unless some sort of agreement was arrived at on basic princi-
ples it was no use each drafting his own proposals. It was at Jharia
when it was perceived that the A. I. T. U, C. mustdefine its attitude
inthe All Parties Convention that was to shortly meet in Calcutta—
it was then that Dewan Chaman Lal drafted a resolution after a

+ hurried consultation with those amongst the members (of the consti-
tution Sub-Committee) present there including myself, Spratt and
Mr. Daud (who was presiding over the Session) and requested me
to second it. The resolution as it emerged out of the consultation
was as follows: (a) “This Congress formulates the following basis
Jfor the future constitution of India to be placed before the All
Parties’ Convention, to be held at Calcutta on the 22n0d December
1928 and the subsequent days, as our demands; (1) Socialistic Re-
publican Government of the working classes, (2) abolition of Indian
States and Socialistic Government in those places, (3) Nationalisa«
tion of industries and land, (4) Universal adult franchise, (5) Free
compulsory pl’imary education, (6) Freedom of spaech, (7) Right to
work, maintenance and ‘provision for social and unemployment
insurance including malernity benefits, (8) non-enactment of repres-
sive and reactionary labour legislation should be guaranteed, (9}
Protection of Labour general interests,

(b) This Congress elects members of its Constitution Commit-
tee, one member from each affiliated union and Mr. R. R.Bakhale—
the total not exceeding 50—as its delegate to the All Parties Con-
vention to be held at Calcutta and instructs him to present the
above programme to the Convention and take no further part in its
proceedings if that programme is not accepted.

P. W. 123 was correct when he said in his exawination-in-
chief that a resolution about Secialistic Republic was seconded by
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me, having bsen moved by Dewaa Chaman Lal, but it seems that
he got somewhat confused in his report, as he admitted on cross-
examination that his report did not tally in certain respects with the
official report D 305. He omitted certain items in his report of the
resolution while he showed the last part of the resolution marked B.
as a part of Mr. Chaman Lal’s speech. It must be a very imperfect,
sort of report if any part of the resolution is taken as a part of the
mover's speech—particularly as the last part of the resolutlon, taking
it for granted that the resolutxon as sometlmes it is done was put
before the House hrst "'from its very nature can not be in any way
the mtroductory observa'ﬁons of the speech. This witness was also
not correct when he sald that in secondmg the resolutlon I did not
make any speech. [ d1d make a speech, and a very bnef speech it
was because throuorhout the proceedmgs 1 was suffermg from what:
is called a clergyman’s throat, which made me extremely hoarse
and made speaking a consxderable strain, I seconded the reso-.
lution because 1 con51dered time had come when the Trade Umon,
Congress as the mouthplece of orgamsed labour should place.
before the nation its demands as well as its goal. 'I‘he Indlan
-National Congress at Madras ‘had set th= natlonal goal the previcus
year as Independence, but that was a negative goal as it had said |
nothing as to what form of ‘Government it wanted for the nation,
supposing it attains its goal. The Trade Umon Congress considers
that goal to be Socialism.” As under the ausp!ces of the Congress.
the All Parties Convention would meet in Calcutta and different
parties would place their vxewpomt it was quite in the fitness of
things that a genuinely’ Soc'allstlc programme should be also
before the nation. It was this consideration also which
made me support so strongly the election of Pandit Jawahar Lal
Nehru as President ‘of the A, I. T, U. C. though I knew that his
primary allegiance and duty were towards the Indian National
Congress and that in case of conflict he would support the Indian
National Congress rather than the Indian Trade Union Congress.
But in the field of politics it was Pandit Ja%a‘l:lai' Lal Nehru alone
amongst our prominent public men who wasyfirst to proclaim while
founding the Independence League that the goal of India was a
Sacialistic Republic. The Trade Union Congress must necessanly
have a programme to which the Indian National Congress as it is
constituted cannot wholly subscribe. But at a time when the
greatest common measure of unity was being sought for, the fit
president for the A. L. T. U. C. was one holding a leading positien
in the National Congress and yet subscribing to a Socialist goal
and programme. It was this idea which made me write in connec-
tion - with the article on the Jharia Congress contribtted to the
Amrit Bazar Patrika in its issue of 3oth December 1928: **If the
Trade Union Congress opposes the Simon Commission or supports
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the ideal of Independence it is because of its conviction that the
former i. e. the Simon Commission can not do any substantial good
to the Indian working class and - that Independence is necessary for
India because, even if India were given a Dominion Status which
is pot likely, India cannot have a Socialistic' State as long as it
remains' within an Empire or Commonwealth of nations based on
the individualistic State conception of Society.” In other words if
Parliameatarianism ' in- England ‘and" the: Dominions - leads  to
Socialism India need ot declare her Indepgndence - formally, shie
may be a part of the Federated Socialist oCooperative Common-
- wealth,

The International Labour Office at Geneva.

There is another matter on which a'word or two is-necessary,
that is my attitude - towards the International: Labour Office at
Geneva. There are many interpellations’ whick' are from: tiime to
time put in the Assembly and the Council of State which prove that
a very large section of the public dnes not think that India gets any
benefit commensurate with the very large contribution Indians are
called upon to make towards the upkeep of the League Office and of
the I.L.O. But most of the Trade Unionists, and I am one of those
who, while they -do not have very great faith in the capacity of the
I. L. O. from its .very nature and constitution—of being of effective
service to Ihdian Labour in the improvement of its working con-
ditions, yet see in it an organisation through whieh publicity can be
obtained amongst the workers of other parts of the world asregards
the conditions of their comrades in this country. They also see in it
an: organisation which furnishes a meeting—ground of the Trade
Union representatives of the various other countries, particularly of
those where Labour has made great advance in the organisation of
Trade Unions, as such of great educational value to those engaged
in actual Trade Union activities in this country. Far from subs-
cribing to those who arg for damning the I. L. O. I was, because
of these considerations, of opinion that the full quota of delegates
and advisers permissible under the Treaty of Versailles should be
sent by the Government. I moved an amendment to this effect at
Jharia and recommended that if this was not given effect to, the
A. L T. U. C. should remain unrepresented, thatis its delegates
and advisers were directed not to attend the Conference, The
Chairman throughan unaccountable reason ruled it out of order.
I myself.was not atall eage; to attend the Geneva Conference and
had dissuaded Mr. Joshi at Cawnpore, who insisted.on putting my
name forward, from doing so, while at Jharia whén my name was
proposed at the Executive Council I induced the mover with the
peimission of the meetiag and the Chairman to withdraw my name.
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D/-15.8. 3t

P.'28 is a letter from Mr, Dharni Kanti Goswami, the
Secretary Scavengers’ Uniou to me as the Secretary of the Feder-
ation dated 7th March 1928—forwarding to me a copy of the
resolution passed in a mass meeting of the scavengers on the
5th March “and requesting me to take up the cause and bring out
an honourable settlement” Through the efforts of Mr. Mrinal
Kanti Bose the President of the Federation and myself an honour-
able settlement was brofight abo ut.

D. 264 is the copy of the statement that Mr. J. M. Sen
Gupta, the ther Mayor, made at the meeting of the Corporation
on the gth March and sets out the terms of the settlement. The
Mayor was also kind enough to thank the President and the
Secretary of the Federation in the course of his statement for
helping him in the calling off of the strike.

P 29 is the copy of a letter addressed to the Secretary
Council of Action by Mr. Dharni Kanta Goswami, the Secretary
of the Scavengers” Union of Bengal dated the 12th February 1928
and sent to me for information as I was also a member of this
Council. The resolution forming the Council of Action was
moved by Mr. Chaman Lal from the chair and carried unani-
mously at the Cawnpore Session of the A. I. T.U. C.;and I was
elected one of the members from Bengal.

P. 37 is aleaflet which was distributed to the members of
the Executive Council at its meeting at Delhi in February 19a8.
As regards the question of affiliation to International bodies I
have already made my position clear.

P. 34 bas already been dealt with at some length in
connection with strikes. It is the report ofa meeting of the
Central Executive Council of the Bengal Jute Workers’ Associa-
tion held on 3rd January 1929.

P36 is anappeal I addressed to the Jamshedpur workers as the
Secretary to the Inquiry Committee appoiated by Mr. N.M. Joshi,
the General Secretary with the approval of Pandit Jawaharlal
Nehru, the President, in pursuance of the resolution passed at the
Jbaria Session of the A.LT.U.C. It was this “literary .effort” of
mine which was of interest to the leamed Magistrate because of
such words and phrases as ‘Solidarity'and *Workers of the world
unite.” At the very outset of the statement I pointed out that the
learned Magistrate was wrong in holding thatin my statement
before him I admitted that I was inspired by the ‘Inprecorr’ in
making use of these expressions. Mr. Brailsford, examined by me,
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admitted that the passage shown to him on page 43 of D 544 is
the economic basis of the slogan “Workers of the world unite.”
He further said that the unions composing the Second International
subscribed to those principles unanimously. *“The same pripciples™
he continued, *“‘were preached by K.L. Ghosh in the first eleven
lines of his speech as reported in D 176.™ I have very little to
add to what I stated at the Inquiry Court in regard to P.36.
D 208 (4), D 208 (5), D 209 (1), D 209 (2) and D 209 (3) will
confirm my statement in the Lower Court and in this Court and
“explain the circumstances in which the appeal was issued.

P 544 (3):— I have already dealt with this document on a
previous occasion and have nothing to add to what I have stated.

v P 26:— Proceedings of the Bengal Trade Union Feder-
ation. I have had to refer to it on many occasions in the course
of my statement and have shown how some very material and
relevant facts which could be ascertained by reference to-it have
not been placed before the Court. :

P 545 (5):— These seem to have been taken out of a
file which Spratt must have kept as the convener of the Labour
Constitution Sub-Committee, I have nothing to add to whatI
have already said in connection with this Sub-Committee. Many of
the documen‘ts in this series seem to be duplicates or drafts of P.48,

In concluding my explanations about my activities as the Secre-
tary of the Bengal Provincial Committee it ia in the fiiness of things
that I should make & few observations as to what I understand by
Trade Unionism and what is the goal of a Trade Unionist. In my
statement before the Inquiry Magistrate I claimed that all my
activities in the organisation of Labour were those of a genuine
Trade Unionist. Since that time we have heard much about
genuine Trade Unionism. The Prosecution in their summing up

. in the Liower Court with a great show of fairness stated, as tha
learned Magistrate puts it, that {any of the accused who may Le
found to be a genuine Trade. Unipnist and not & Communist

" conspirator should be discharged.” But from the summing up itself
a8 well as the way in which evidence was led if appears that the
Prosecution have not cared to acquaint thémselves with the actual
copnotation of the term and the history of the movement called
by this name. At any rate, as the Prosecution did not anywhere
attempt any definition of the term or anything like an exposition
of the ideas which one has come to associate with Trade Unionism,
we are positively left in the dark as to what they meant by that
statement which the learned Magistrate considered very ‘fair.” But
what the Prosecution lefthndone the learned Magistrate attempted to
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do. He did so with a view to refute “theallegation” and remove “the
misconception’ that the case is an attack upon Trade Unionism.
This is what he says: “A definition of the term ‘genunine Trade
Unionish; is perhaps difficult, In my opinion a ‘gennine Trade
Unionist is one who is primarily concerned with the improvement
of the existing conditions of the workers with which his Union is
concerned; he is connected with politics only in 8o far as he aims
at getling legislation for such improvement; he creates strikes for
the same object.” Then he gives the motives with which secording
to him a Communist takes part in the Trade Union Movements.
This definition of the learaed Magistrate, I submit, is not a correct
ome. It has unduly restricted the scope of activities of the Trade
Unionists and has given only the activities required at the very
preliminary stage of the movement as his only and sole concern.
If, according to the leagned Magistrate, this was the first and last
word on Trade Unionism, I submit that the efforts of the Magistrate
have resulted in a caricature and not in a true picture of a Trade
Unionisb[a much maligned being. I wonder how the veteran Trade
Union leaders like Henderson, Thomas, Tom Shaw and Clynes
(I drop their prefixes of ‘Rt. Honourable’ not in disrespect or for
want of courtesy to the members of His Majesty’s Governmient,
bat for the moment I am emphasising their prominent association
with the great movement which raised them to their presens
exalted rank)—I wonder how these Trade Unionists, if they happen-
ed to have a look at the Committal Order, would regard this
attempt at a definition of a genuine Trade Unionist. Historical
conditions have made Great Britain theoriginal home of genuine
Trade Unionism, with long and well-established traditions. I shall
therefore quote, as some before me have done, from the History of
Trade Unionism by Sydney and Beatrice Webb— the former now
raised to the peerage and known as Lord Passfield-#to see what a
Trade Union is. A Trade Union............ is & continuous association
of wage-earners for the purpose of maintaining or improving the
conditions of their working life.”” Now in view of the
ginister meaning sought to be abtachgl by the Prosecution to any
reference to class or class-congciougness I must say that this
definition indicates that Trade Unions are primarily class organisa-
tions which owe their origin and development to the class-conscious:
ness of the workers, that is when workers become alive to the
necessity of protecting or safe-guarding their interests as a clas:s‘
As their organisations grow and as they gain experience, th.eu
outlooks are broadened and they begin to have a clearer conception
of the structure of society and the need for altering iF wil?n a view
to pit an end to this existence of classes with opposing .mterests.
A Trade Unionist, therefore, cannot but be a Socialist whose
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ultimate aim is to bring about a system which by the control of the
means of production, distribution and exchange would do away
with inequalities and give everyone'the same facilities for bringing
out the best that is in him. I have said enough in the course of
my statement intended to convey the idea of what genuine Trade
Unionism is. I shall quote only two passages in order to show
that even the British Trade Union Congress has a wider outlook of
the duties and ideals ofa Trade Unionist than what the Magis-
trate lays down for them. In 1924 atthe 56th Annual Session of
the British Trade Union Congress Mr. A. Purcell said in the course
of his Presidential Address:—OQur aim is not merely to build up big
unions but to create an instrament of solidarity capable of changing
the existing structure of capitalist society and bringing into being
a Workers’ State which will guarantee to all who are ready and
willing to render service, a place and opportunity and alife free
from the horrors of poverty ignerance, insecurity ang disease.
Mr. Arthur Pugh in the course of his Presidential address.at the,
58th Session of the British Trade Union Congress in 1926 asks:—
‘¢ Is it anti-social to seek to inspire the workers with a true sense
of their value in the economic life of the country, to develop their
capacity to exercise functions in the control of industry, even if it
means the supersession of a system based upon the principle of
“everyunan for himself and devil takes the hindmost”, by one of
organised national control and cooperative efforts ”* So a genuine
Trade Unionism on the one hand does not accept the very restricted
scope allowed to it by the learned Magistrate nor on the other hand
it accepts the limitation sought to be imposed on it by the Commu-
nists, to whom a Trade Union to fulfil its true function must be
a revolutionary organisation pledged to help the revolution
if not to bring it about. A genuine Trade Unionist isfully
alive to the realitties of the situation, knows the surroundings in
which he is to work. To him even a strike is a painful necessity
involving starvation and distress, and so he explores all possible
means for a settlement before he advocates or endorses this action.
He takes part in politics so that he may bring in legislation for the
betterment of the working clas .T)ut-,-he knows that unless and until
the means of production, distribution and exchange are sacialised
and absolute equality of opportunity is provided for all, all the
avoidable miseries of the hard-working and ill-paid producers of
industrial wealth will not be at an end. So he attempts through the
proccess of collective bargaining, with strike as an ultimate sanction,
to effect as much improvement as possible in the present wretched
conditions of the workers. He knows that each time some improve-
ment is effected either through bargaining with the employers or
through Legislation as a result of the awakening of social conscience
or public opinion by means of publicity or propaganda, it means a

( 1175.)



step furiher to the desired goal. But as success in bringing
about even these small initial improvements depends on the extent of
organised support that he can secure his whole attention is devoted
to the task of organisation.

Q. The following are documents etc. which were recovered
in your search and which may be regarded as evidence of Connec-
tion: P. 81, 22, 31, 32, 33, 39, 48, 49 54, 55, 57 to 67, and 87 to g1.
Have you anything to say about these ?

A. The literature recovered by P. W. tog during 2 search
of my house may be classified under three headings—books,
periodicals and political pamphlets or leaflets. I have already
stated what I had got to state in regard to ithose from the last
category which were put in as evidence against me. The books
were o’x}zzgrious subjects, as will be found by a reference to the
search7-which includes such well-known books as Shakespeare’s

*Midsummer’s Night's Dream’’ or some of Scott’s works and even a
Bengali book entitled Savitri Charitr,’ which in verse narrates the
story of Savitri—the symbo! of chastity as told in the Mahabharat.
I am referring to this to show the thorough character of the search
by the Police aided by C. I. D. officers of the Special Branch, who,
as the learned Magistrate compliments the prosecution, left nothing
to chance and took no risks. Out of about thirty books—big and
small—~the Prosecution have put in only nine, with a view to show,
I presume, that I took some interest in Communism.  Apparently
the learned Magistrate thought so, in spite of my explanation that
I had to read such books as a journalist and that if the quarters of
the editors of the Statesman were searched, many such books
would be found. Perhaps what is allowable in the case of those
who are intellectual directors of the * Statesman * gtherwise known
as ‘the friend of India > may become sinister and suspicious in the
case of the Assistant Editor of Amrit Bazar Patrika ;who also
happens to be a Trade Unionist engaged in.the task of organising
Labour. Referring to Stalin’s “ Leainism, »’ *‘ Ruassia’s Path to
Communism,” by Zinovief, *“ Teg da¥3s that shook the World by
Raid, ” :'Lenih as Marxist,” by Bukharin, and ““ The Revolution=
ary Movement in the Colonies ’—the learned Magistrate seems to
have been struck with the ‘* selection ** and remarked that this is
a selection which required more explanation than what I had given.
The explanation about ‘* The Revolutionary Movement in the
Colonies ” was attached to the book itself which unfortunately
escaped the Magistrate as it did those who were responsible for
printing the exhibits, I refer the Court to the evidence of P.W.109
who identified P 90 (E) and admitted on cross-examination by me
that this envelope addressed to.the Secretary Press Employees’
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Association I, Kantapukar Lane, Calcutta, was found inside the
book, and you put in a note to the effect that P.go (E) was brought
on the record to save prmtmg #s it was omitted in the Lower
Court.

With regard to the ““seifetion " which appeared so striking,
to the learned Magistrate I beg to state that in order to have a
correct idea as o what Leninism is I certainly prefer to invest my
money in books written either by Lenin himself or by those who
were the best known lieutenants of this much hated and much
revered historic figure and are now carrying on what they consider
to be the good work begun by their beloved master. Now the best
known-practical exponent in the world today of Leninism is certain-
ly Stalin who has not only been successful in ousting Trotsky from
Russian political life but is claimed by the Stalinists to be one of
the fathers—if not the father of the famous Five Years’ Plan, said
to be the logical corollary of Lenin’s New Economic Policy. A
journalist worth his salt—not to speak of a Trade Unionist—who to
take note of the Internationalycurrents of thoughts and ideas in the
Labour Movement of the world, I submit, can not [ail to be interest-
ed in the authoritative exposition of an ideology which now influ-
ences the practical policy of one of the greatest States in the world.

These books were all available in the reputable book-selling
firms, were advertised in newspapers and as D 28t shows, openly
sold. “Ten days that shook the world” was similarly purchased
only a week before my arrest as the dafe on the inside cover would
show. “Soviet Year Book” was an earlier purchase, and to me
the name of R. Palme Dutt, the compiler, counted less than the
fact that at the time it was purchased it was, as far as I knew, the
only authoritative book of reference on Soviet Russia. I believe
that the character of the book did not escape the attention of the
leafned Magistrate us he did not include it in the list of the books,
the selection of which-to his mind required explanation. The
learned Magistrate also did not include in the selection the
Communist Manifesto (P21) and a booklet on Imperla.llsm by
Emile Burns—the last along with two others, namely“Study of
Marxism’ and “Trade Unionism”, recovered in my search was not
put in as an exhibit—was alse purchased from the same bookshop
from which “Ten days that shook the wozld” was purchased.

In dealing with my individual case the learned Magistrate
was rather perturbed ,at the selection of halfa dozeu or so of
Communist books recovered from my possession. But he might
have applied to my case the general principle he himself laid
down on page 282: **The fact that a certain accused had a large
amount of Communist literature in his possession is a significant
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facts but its exact evldentlary value depends on other consider-
atxons ..what roportlon this bears to the other literature whxch
he had, what legmmate reasons there may be for their presence.”
Amongst legitimate reasons he mentions two, namely, that “A
journalist might be sent books on Communism for review, or a
student of economlcs might” have some books on Commumsm
among other books on political science or political economy.” I
hope for the sake of commonsense that the learned Magxstrate
intended to make the l;st of legmmate reasons a- mdxcatwe rather
than exhaustlve, otherwxse the posmon ‘would be’ 1ntolerable
if apy pyr mtellectual persults were to be gulded by the tastes,
proclivities and prejudlce; of the Magxstrate I do submit that 2
journalist, as also a Trade. Umomst, and I may go further and say
that eyery educated citizen who concerns himself in publlc aﬁalrs
has a right to study Commumsm or any other ¢ lsp wtth Wthh
the world is blessed or cursed from txme to time—if on]y tq see
what is there in it, which challenves the estabhshed notions and
ideals of the world. " I may refer i in this connectxon to the evndence
of P. W. 109 who said in cress-exam&natlon that I had approxl-
mately five hundred books in my_house up and down stalrs on
differenf subjects. Jf Lhe learned Mag:strate was struck thh tbe
selection of ,Commumst books I may s'ny here that Mz, ,Gordon,
the Deputy Commissioner of Police was rather surpnsed at thé
collection because of the vanety of subjects it comprised. I also
refer in this connecnon to P. W. 104 Mr. Suresh Chandra
Majumdar, the Managmg ‘Director of one of the most influential
papers qf Calcutta called ghe ‘Anand Bazar Patrika,

Now Sir, I come to the second class namely the periodicals
like Labour. Monthly, .Inprecorr, Masses of Indid and Vanguard
1 stated in the Lower Court that some copies of the Inprecorr ete.
managed to get through to the office of the Amrit Bazar Patrika
and I took some home with me and sometimes returned them and
sometimes kept them. The learned Magistrate found that the

_issues possessed by me are very old and probably my explanation
in respect of them is correct. But he adds:

“Though even he fails to account for the interest which
induced him take them” when he matp this remark he had ot in
mind tha fact which he himself notes on page 282 when he says:
*“And of course the police were concerned with pnly one type of
literaturet the search lists say only what was seized and not what
was left behind.”” If the search lists stated what was left bebind
the learned Magistrat's suspicion would bave been set abt rest
because quite a number of the isswes of the “Daily Herald,”
“Lansbury’s Weekly”” (now defunct ), “London Daily Mail,”
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¥ Daily Telograph’ eto. weve lying scattered about. The fact is

“ that journalists who have to work at home are generally sent by
the office these papers or'they bring themselves, and barring those
pipers of which files are kept at the gffic —nobody cares what
becomes of them. Most of them arq sentyto tao office but still quite’
a number of them ate often laft forgotten. Sometimas an interesting
cutting is kept or a particular issue is preserved if it contains any-
thing that may be neeessary for fubure reference. It is not possible for
mé'at this distance of time to'say whith ™ of thése periodioals were
preserved and which of them were simply suffered to Ternain. Bat
by going through the contents of some I' can say why I preserved:
them. "'P 31 for example is'an’ issue of the Masses of India of
Sepbember—Ochober 1927 eontaining an attack on Mr. Joshi, that is
Mr N. M Joshi, and also an’ attack 'on Mr. Bipin Chandra Pal who
was the Chaifman of ‘the Racbption” Committee’ of the all India
Press Endployees Conference 6f which T was’ the Secretary. P 33
is the Vanguard of September 1, 1922 ‘whiok™ under’ the heading
“Missed ‘the point” critidises an ‘editorial note ‘written by me in' the
Amnb Ba.za,r Patrika. P '54 International Préss Cotrespondence .
dated 12th April 1923 contains an articld’ oh' “the - Stra.tegy and
Tactics of the Russian Coimunist Party’ by Stalin, who was just
being referred to by the British papers as one of the most active
Lieatenants of Lenin. This issue also contains another artiole which
interested me very much. This article "is headed ‘‘Amierican
Democracy on Trial” and gives an account of the Trial of some
Amerjcan Communists. I may mention here that by a curious
coincidence on the day previous to my arrest I had just finished the
reading of a bobk called “Boston”, by Upton Slnola.lr, which' gives
a detailed adoout of the Trial of Sacco and Vanzem which has
come _in+ for ‘prominent mention at the hands of the la.te
"Mr. Langford J ames in his Opening Address.

P 60 Joprecorr dated Bth August 1922 contains the views
of Romain B,olls,ud on the Communist Pa.rhy The eminent French
idealist says “I never des1red to belong to thls Party nor to any
party. There is no pla.ce in it for & free man” It also contains an
‘article on the Revision of German Indemnity and International
Indebtedness, a subject of great interest to journalists at the time
when the question of Indemnity was being freely discussed in the

Indian press. It also contained an article on ‘May Day as viewed
by the Communists} and on page 284 an artlcle on ‘Political Priso=
pers in India’ by Evelyn Roy.

P 63 “The Labour Monthly” August 1927 containing an
article ertitled “1solatien of India’ by Bernard Houghten, a retired
member ‘of the . C. S., 'a regular contributer to the Indian
Natlonlxst press. '
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P 64 Vanguard of ]ung/x)gzz, several interesting notés and
articles including one on Bengal Trade Union Congress—others
on New Economic Policy in Russia which was very much discassed
in the British press at the time, and on Indian National Congress
by Mr. M. N. Roy who is now alleged to beat Cawnpore awaiting
his trial, : :

I have tried to project my mind in the past and give an idea
as to why these issues were kept. There were various other periodi-
cals including some old issues of Socialist Weekly, sometime
edited by Mr, MacDonald, which were as I have said kept because
of the contents of some articles which I found interesting and at the
time considered might be useful for reference. By interest ina
subject a journalist means the desire to study it in all its aspects,
to master the arguments for and against it. I am forced to go into
this maiter, though obvious on the face of it, because it was left
for the learned Junior Public Prosecutor, a Cambridge Graduate,
to enunciate the novel theory that interest in subjects other than

“what the police considerd safe is by itself suspicious and my
explanation he was pleased to call “fantastic.”

I shall now refer to certain entries in the diary found in
my search and put in by the Prosecution aganist me and mentioned
by the Magistrate while dealing with my individual case. He
" ~finds the addresses in my notebook of Kedar Nath Sahgal and
M. A. Majid, the lndian Seamen’s Union and Someyndra Nath
Tagore as significant, in fact more significant than my association
with Johnstone and Ryan. I have already stated the character
of my association with Mr. Tagore. With regard to Messrs,
Sahgal and Majid I may say that I met them at Cawnpore in con-
nection with the Trade Union Congress, and they were introduced
to me by Mr, Chaman Lal the President of the Cawnpore Session
of the Congress. Mr. Sahgal was kind enough to hand overa
card, to me which I putin my diary and it stayed there. I noted
down Mr. Majid’s address because he was introduced to me as
the Secretary of the Punjab Press Workers’ Association and being
myself connected with a Press Union I wanted to keep myself
in touch with the Press Unions in other provinces. I do not
remember how I got the address of the Indian Seamen’s Union.
It ‘may have been copied out of the bound set of Langal presented
to me by Mr. Muzaffar Ahmad or it might have been supplied
to me by Mr, Daud who as the President and at first as the
- General Secretary of the Indian Seamen’s Union in Calcutta
must have had some connection with this Union in London. 1
personally had no correspondence with this Bod¥ b.u't.l must
have kept the address with a view to correspond with 'u if 1 ever,

as the Secretary of the B. T. U. Fy, wanted some information
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about the Indian Laskars in- London. There is also mention
by the learned Magistrate of some enfries in my diary of Communist
and marxxst books. 1 have a habit of putting down the names
of books which I want to read or buy, and if the learned Magistrate
had turned over the pages of the diary he would have found
also a complete list of the books of Mr. H. G. Wells and Upton
Sinclair. Then there is mention of P 47. Only one entry, in one
of fhe pages meant for memo, has been given and only one item
namely “to see Jhabwala has been printed in the exhibit.
Now what is actually on the dlary is like this: The date 5-4-26
is given, then is written *‘ to see Rai Sahab. Chandrika Parshad,
. to inquire about the Agent of G. I P , to see S. A. Brelvi
Meadows Streef, to see Ginwalla, to'see Jhabwala” and finally
“to see Joshi,”® This is clearly a list of engagements of which that
with Mr, Jhabwala wasone. On the 6th January 1926 the name
of Mr. Muzaffar Ahmad as detor Ganavani has been enlered
This should not be taken to be as an indication that I was
_ acquainted with him at the time. ’As a matter of fact it was not
till affer Campbell was bailed out that I came to know -him and
that was considerably later than 6th January 1926 This address
as also the address of another gentleman just above him were
entered here ata considerably later period than the date actually
indicates, It may be that this diary was lying at hand or by
mistake I entered here what I should have done in another, The
difference of ink and pen between the several entries on the same
date mlght lend some confirmation to what I say.

P 82 (T) is a letter dated 25th May 1928 addressed to me by
Mr. Muzaffar Ahmad. This exhibit was not put to me but I
came across it while going through my notes about.some of the
exhibits that [ made. In this letter I am requested to publish in
the Amrit Bazar Patrika the notice of a meeting of the Scavengers’
Union and also to attend a meeting with Mr. Mrinal Kanti Bose,
“when you come to the meeting I shall hand over the money to you
there ' refers to a private loan I advanced to Mr. Muzaffar Ahmad.

I should like to have on record my readiness to answer any
question that may be put by your Honour -or by the Prosecutlon
through the Court and as none has been put I shall conclude with
a few remarks about the case.

I have not much to say about the case and perhaps thls is
not the time to say it. T have tried to analyse at least the chax.acter
of tke evidence ds against me as occasion demanded in the course of*
the statement I made. I shall here only point out some of the
striking features which would make ita landmark in the history of
Trade Unionism in our country. The British workers had to
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fight the law which for many years penalised the Trade Union
activities as conspiracy in restraint of trade. British workers .had
for a long time to fight what Mr, Sydney Webb would call the class
prejudice of the courts in the interpretation of the legislation
removing some of the disabilities on the Trade Unions as corporate
bodies: The American workers have been now fighting what is
known as the Law of Injunction, which is so all embracing that
during a strike, on the motion of the employers, the workers can be
prohibited from doing anything, as one writer observed, except ' to
eat air and walk on their head.” But it was left for the resourceful
Government of India to indite Trade Union activities as being a
conspiracy to deprive the king of his sovereigaty. Such words as
‘ solidarity,” ¢class-consciousness, * * fraternally’ and *‘comrade’
have been given a sinister meaning; association in perfectly lawful
activities in due discharge of duties pertaining to the offices,.
attached to public organisations—activities which the Prosecution
protests are not being sought to be penalised-—has been taken as
evidence of agreement, Accused making long statements’ to make
their position clear have been criticised as making unnecessary long
statements with a view to prolong the duration of the'‘case. But
nothing is said about the very large number of " unnecessary
documents produced by the Prosecution at the Inquiry Court only
ta be dropped at the Trial Court.

In no case, as far as I know, in this country was so much
attention given by the Government to secaring the widest publicity
for the Opening Address of the Prosecution. The Director of
Information himself came to Meerut when the enquiry had just
begun to see that proper arrangements were made for the widest
publicity for the Opening Address of the late Mr. Langford James.
Nowhere in the Criminal Proceedure Code is there any provision
for an Opening Address by the public prosecutor at the Inquiry
Court, but still the Opening Address was delivered from beginning
to end it was a sustained propaganda. That famous Forensic treat
‘summarised in the description of all the accused as ‘anti-God and
anti-family and anti-everything’ would not be very easily forgotten
by those who are actively connected with the Trade Union Move-
ment in this country. But propaganda is not stopped here. Leaf-
lets are issued from Whitehall itself shifting the responsibility of
the present Labour Government in connection with this case. It is
said that the policy which was responsible for the case being insti-
tuted was not the policy of the present incumbants of office but
their predecessors. The present Government, it is said, had no
option butto allow the law to take its course. We have not been
allowed a Jury Trial, we have been told, becaunse these are matters
of procedure or govenied by the Criminal Procedure Code and
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the Criminal Procedyreé Code does not allow a Jury: But discreet
silence is maintained over the fact that section 527 of the same
Criminal Procedure .Code does give the Governor-General in
Council power to transfer acase from one province to another
“whenever it appearsto him that such transfers will promote the
ends of justice or tend to the general convenience - of Parties or
witness.’” Discreet silence is maintained over the fact that the Gover
nor-General in Council was applied to at a very earlystage of the
proceedings but could not see his way'to grant the application, -If
ever there was a case which justified transfer from one province to
another for the ends of 4ke justice or for the convenience of parties
or witnesses it was this case. "Most of the accused in this case were
arrested either from Calcutta or Bombay which two cities were the
scene of most of their activities and from which two cities the
largest number of witnesses were brought to Meerut which is at-
least a thousand miles away from either of them, .

But thg greatest tragedy of all is this that all this should
happen under a Labour Government and that a case of this-magni-
tude should havé a life as long ®perhaps as this Government will
liveﬁ case in wv.%h the bulk of the evidenge relates to Trade Union
activities while the present Government is composed ‘ of a number
of leading Trade Unionists. It remains to be seen whether Trade
Unionism is on Trial or the Trade Unionist members of the British
Cabinet areon Trials

Q. ‘What about your Defence witnesses ?
A. I will let the Court have the revised list later,
\ Sd. R.L. Yorke:

Q. You have now. read over your statement several times
and it has been corrected and amended as and where _requested by
you. Are you now satisfied that the above record is correct ?

A, Yes.’
Sd. Kishori Lal Ghosh " Sd. R.L. Yorke.
1-'10-31. I-10-31..
Certified that theabove is a full and true account of accused’s
statement taken down by steno-graphers in my presence and hearing
-and subsequently transcribed by them and corrected and amended

as and where requested by the accused and admitted by him to be
correct,

Sd. R. L. Yorke.
1-16-3I,

Baraswati Machine Printing Press, Meerut, U. P, (India).
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the Court of R. L. Yorke. I C. S. Addl Qesuens Judga

"

) .
-Ia the case of King—Emperor versus P. Spratt and.-other
zamination of ‘Gangadhar Moreshwar_Adhikari accused under
seotion 812 of the Code of -Criminal Procedure,1898,made before me
. R. L Yorke, A. 8. J, at Meerut on the 19th day of September 1931.

My' name is .Gangadhar "Moreshwar Adhikari; | mf
father's pame is Moreshwar Adhikari; "I am by caste Nl]
81 years of age; ‘by ocoupation physico-chemist; my home.is at '
Bombay, Police-station unknows;, district Bombay, I reside at
Bombay. . N )

Q Isyour statement P 2611 of the Lower Court whwh was
read over to you on 16th March 1931 correct?

» A. Yes.

Q. Tl_ie following is the evidence which has been fendered
‘against you arranged as far as possible in chronological order:
P 1357, 1484, 1169, 1485, 1479, 1811, 1657, 870, 1477, 1478, 1488
1683C, 1295, 1373 (1), 1353, 1343, 1825,1512,1690,1261,1196,1674P,
1344, 1170, 1345, 949, 1676, 1174, 1297, 1171, 1172, 1173, 1163,
1164, 1165, 311, 1168, 1194, 1195 and statements of a number of
witpesses moludmg P. W. 274 with P, 2529. Havé you anyhhmg
to gay in explanahxon of the facts in evidence against you ? ‘

A, Before 1 proceed to explanatlons of the exhxbllss
and the evidence filed against me I "should hke -t0 make &
fow obsena.mons by way of introduction, I have said that
I am by' professxon a physico- -chemist. - Now, we have
‘found by experience in this case that every word which “is
uncommon and beyond the comprehension of the Prosecutlon and
the Court is generally iisunderstoed and -construed a8 o

ystical code. \I may therefore as well assure the Court. a,nd ‘the
Plosecution that such a species of chemist as physico-chemist does
exist, In the firm in ‘which T was employed up to the time of my
leaving Germany I was working as a physico-chemist and I am
-described a8 such in the comtract that I had with that firm. I do
pot deem it worth while to produse that document before ‘bhis.
Court although I have it in my possession. I am hera oefore ‘the
Contt not as a physmo-chemlsb but as & Commuaist. . I am charged"
of baving conspxred to deprive the King BEmperor of, his sovereignty
over British India. I am supposed to have done- this couspiring”
during the hundred days of freedom which T enjoyed in this country
on my return to it after more than 6 years of absence. How did I
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conspire? © The entire evidence filed against me boils dcﬁm’ to the
- following ‘overt acts’. They are:—

(1) 1 arrived in India with Marxist and Lemmsh books in
Iy possession. . .

.(2) "1 joined the ‘Workers’ and Péaséjuts’ Party in Bombay.
(3) " I beeame s member of the Communist Pa,rt,y of India.

41 was present and spoke at the Lenin Da,y meetmg in
1929 c

5) I_qute three articlé’s,‘ which are not at all seditious even
ipr the eyes of the Indian Penal Code which appear
“ “under my name in a Weekly called the ‘Spark”.

For these so-called "overt acts’ I am tharged under section
J2L°A. T. P..C. and threatened with transportation for life. I admit
having committed these acts, but what do they all amount to?
Holding of Communist opiniogs, being a member of & political party
which had % Communist programme nandely the C. P. I., participate
-ing in a meetmg in honour of Lenin, the founder of the Communist
N International, possessing a collection of books on Communism,
Marxism and Leninism: that is all. Is that ‘high treason?’ Is that
co_nspiracy? Yes,in India it is 0. The section 121 A seems to
provide for it.. In his opening speech, the late Mr. Langford James
told the Court that it was nob nécessary for him to prove aty single
‘overlact.” Under the section 121 A, the mere agreement consequent
on being members of a Communist Party wg.si quite enough. If the
interpretation of Mr. Langford Jamss were correct, ‘then there
would be no defence for those who admit being members ‘of the
Communist Pa.rty However this is not the sﬁaoe to discuss 'the
legal aspect of the question.

What 1 want to stress is this, that the'overt acts’ committed
by me amount to nothing more than the holding of political opinions,
expressing them in public on one occasion, and finally being'a
member of a political party which stands committed to aprogramme |
of the overthrow of Imperialism and Capitalism in India. Still for
these acts which are not illegal in themselves even under the ordi-
pary law ag it exists today in India I am charged with high treason,
deprived of my liberty for nea.r]y three years, and threatened with
transportation for life. ’ e -

This is therefore clearly a'case of prosecution, nay persecu-
tion, for holding and dimeminating political. opinions. Our crime
even according to a learned Judge of the Allahabad High' Court is,
“t0 hold meetin gs, to study principbes of Communism and probably
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also to make 8d attempt to disseminate these teachings, which are
said 6o be dangerous to society sbd dangerous to the sovereignty
of His Majesty,’ I know that your Honour in the very learned
order on our bail applications has disagreed with this view but 1
shall come to that later. Now granting thab the principles we hold
are dangerous to society {which as I shall show is an_absurd posi-
tion) I contend that the prosecution "of persons for dxssemma.tmg
-such principlgs is a plain denial of the freedom of opinion. Professor
H. J. La.skx,%;ourgeoxs thinker, holds the following view abou# the
dissemina.f.ion of “dangerous ideas”and the attitudeof law towards

- In his book “Liberty in the Modern State’’, he says, “If an
Enghsh Communist leader writes a bodk or a pamphlet, whatever
be its substance and to whomsoever it is addressed, I "do. .pot think
the law ought to be used” against him. For it is the: higtory of
these matters that if Government once begin to prohibit men from
-seeking to prove in writing that violent revolution is desirable,
_they will, sooner or later, prohibit them from saying that the socxar
order they represenb is not dlvme

Bourgeois liberalism therefoge.ma'mtains that the prohibitions

of .the dissemination of ideas dangerous to the sovereignty of
-His Majesty would mean a lapse’into feudal absolutism.

India is under the absolutist rule of the' feudal——Imperialist
State. In Indiathe question of the right of- disseminating ideas
"dangerous to the sovereignty does ‘not_arise. Even for the twehe
learned Judges of the High Court, who spread panic in the Simla*
circles by taking a milder view of the present conspiracy, the
.question of this right did not arise: It was quite self-evidént to
, them that if the accused have attempted to - disseminate such
dangerous ideas they ought to be sentenced, if not for transportas
tion for life then for something less. Thus I have the aathority of
~the Hon’ble Judges of the Allahabad High Court to back me,
when I say #hat we are being prosecated and will be ultimately
sentenced for holding and disseminating political opinions.

Now, your Honour in'your weighty order has disagreed with
their Liordships in the view they have taken of the conspiracy, You
thivk that * disseminating of opinions'® and “ promulgating of'
opinions” are inadequate descriptions of the acts we have committed,
namely the formation of the Conymunist Party. Further according

.bo your Honour the alleged connection of the C. P. I with the
Communist.International is also a serious master. Thus according
to your Honour, the present gase is a prosecution of persons f¢r
organising a political party which openly and avowedly stands for
the revolutionary overthrow of the present order in India. Now .in
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the advanced bourgeois countries, with what are known as ‘democra~
tic traditions’, the right of organising a political party which seeks
to win over the people to the view of the desirability of bringing
about by force a change in the existing social order is conceded, at
least in pormal times, and under ordinary law. The preliminary
work of such a Party would be in the mian, the propaganda and
agitation of the revolutionary principles among the masses, and the
organisation of persons who have come to accept these ideas in a
body- which is to be the instrument of carrying out these principles
into practice. The right to organise such a party reduces itselfin
the main therefore to the right to unfettered freedom of disseminat-
ing and promulgating revolutionary ideas. This unfettered freedom,
it would be argued, would bring disorder, hence it should not exist
in a modern state. It would therefore follow that the right to
organise a political party, with a programme which is dangerous to
sovereignty, and dangerous to _the present order, should not be
allowed. However, this is neither the theory nor the practice even
in bourgeois countries under normal times. We know that
Communist parties exist openly in many countries of Europe and
openly participate in normal political life and struggle there..
Professor H. J. Laski in the‘book quoted above writes in defence of
such unfettered freedom and disposes of the objection about disorder
in the following manner. He says, ' If views moreover which
imply disorder are able to disturb the foundations of the State, thera
3s some thing supremely wrong with the governance of that State.
. For disorder is not a babit of mankind. We cling so eagerly to our
*accustomed ways, that as even Burke insists, popular violence is
always an outcome of a deep popular wrong.”

This is a liberal bourgeois view. It amounts to this. The -
right ofrorganising a political party which aims and works for the
violent overthrow of the present order of society must be couﬁded.
This cannot lead to disorder and chaos, for the most simple reason
that if the Party succeeds.¥n getting popular adherendl in bringing
about a popular revolution, then it is evident that the present order
was rotten and deserved to be overthrown. If on the other hand
the Party fé,il§ to get popular adherence then it causes no disorder.
“The New Statesman and the Nation” which is undoubtedly &
Liberal bourgeoi§ paper expresses views on the present Case which I
am sure your Honour will not appreciate. It is nevertheless worth
while quoting a passage from an article on the *‘Meerut Conspiracy
Case” which appeared in the issue of 8th August 1931. The writer,
of the article “gathers from the Committal Drder that-the Govern-
meot of India exengised great forbearance is not adding most of the
present Cabinet, to the list of those who are supposed to have assis-
ted in the conspiracy ’» ‘“‘As for Mr. Lansbury”, he adds, “he seems
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to have been the President of the Lieague against Imperialism when
he was actually engsged in the conspiracy” . 'Ha concludes from
this that * an alien Government cannot afford to be strictly logioal.
About half India is engaged in a conspiracy to change the Govern-
ment. It would be possible, and & learned Judge has said that it
would be correct, to indict not only the whole Congress Party, bub
also both Hindu and Muslim Liberals for an offence under the same
section of the Penal Code under which the Meerut prisoners are
charged. A conspiracy to overtura the Government is about the
only activity open to Na.tnona.lxsh politicians in & country under
foreign control” .

The representatives of the bourgeoisie, who rule over India,
do not and will not recognise this logic advanced by a liberal spokes-
man of their own class. Even such liberties which obtain under
bourgeois rule in capitalist countries of Europe are not to be wasted
on a subject colonial people. The British bourgeois rule in India
is of a feudal-absolutist character which allows no freedom of
opinion and no freedom of organisation. This case is an attack on
the right of the working olass to_organise their political party,
which stands and works for the Ipdepeudenoe of India from British
Imperialism through revolubioﬁ,"a.ud for the establishment of an
Indian Federal Workers' and Peasants), Soviet Republic.

You will say that this is a most surprising ples. I Q’;&n :
quite understand. How can a God's own Englishman graant even; '
for a moment the right of existence to a political party which
openly snd avowedly siandsfor the forcible overthrow of British
rale and for the establishment of a Federation of Soviet Republica
on thé soil of his Majesty's own British India? Bub I may
rgmind your Honour that even the world of bourgeois ideas is
somewhat broader than the chambers of a Meerut Civilian Club
with its Whisky and Soda, Havana cigars and Race Course atmos-
phere. As I have said, the Communist Parties with similar pro-
grammes have the rights of existence in advanced bourgeois
countries like Bagland, France, America, Germany, etc. Nobody
would think of denying these Parties the right of existence
in principle ab lea,sh in normal times in those countries.
Not - that the bourgpxsle in those countfiss have developed
special love for the Communist Parties, but the right of organising a
political party, whatever its principles and programme, has become
onmof the accepted rights under bourgeois democracy. There
would be quite a popalar clamour in which liberal bourgeois circles
may join if the Government in Britain were to take steps which
would jeopardise the right to organise a political party on the
ground that it stood for a revolutionary change in the existing
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social order. The right to organisea political party, whatever its
aims and methods. may be, is inherent under bourgeois democracy.
In fact it is msed by the bourgeoisie themselves to cloud and confuse
" the class character of the political struggle by creating s veritable
maze of political parties, So there is nothing so preposterous in
the proposition that the act of organising a Communist Party with
the said aim is not a-crime but merely the exercise of a right.

~ You may search through the whole file of the evidence and
exhibits filed in this case and fail to lay your finger upona single
overt criminal act. Mr. Kemp himself was, I understand, in quite
an embarassing position when asked to point out to specific overt
critninal acts in this conspiracy by the Judges of the Allahabad
High Court. Mr. Kemp, 1 understand, was not able to lay his
finger upon any such act on the spur of the moment. The result
was that the Hon’ble Judges came to take a “milder view of the
conspiracy.”” Your Honour, in your interesting order, made the
attempt to rehabilitate the gravity of the conspiracy by pointing
out to the act of organising the Communist Party. of India. So
the conclusion is that this is a case not merely of prosecution for
holding and disseminating certain political- views but aiso for
" organising political parties which stand for independence through-
revolution,. -

¥ -

There is one more point which your honour has brought out
" in your order to emphasise the gravity of the conspiracy. You
point out tb the allegation that “the policies, of the parties in
question have been dictated by the Communist_ International.”
You remark that *it is from this outside connection that the
seriousness. of the case to a considerable extent arises,” Now it
has been stated in many previous statéments that our Party, the
.Communist Party of India, was not affiliated to the Communist
International. But we do not want to make it the basis of our
defence. We claim that a political 4'l”'a.rty has a right to bhave
connections and affiliations with the parties and organisations in
other countries having  similar aims, There is nothing serious
about having international connections and affiliations, It is quite
a common thing in moderntimes. Bourgeois bodies and organisations
have international cofingctions and affiliations, The Indian Chamber
of Commerce sends fepresentatives to the International Chamber of
Commerce, The 1.L.O. seeks connection with labour organisas
tions all over the world through official channels. What is wro

if the Communist Parties maintain relations with their internatio?a%
organisation, the Comintern? 1f the right of the Communist
Party to exist openly is conceded, then I claim that ts right to
have international connection can not be denied. By mak$g the
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Communist Internauonal the central figure in this case you are
attacking the right of polifical and trade union organisation in
India to have connections and afﬁllauons with the International
organisations. This right I contend is as fuhdamental as the
right to organise g political party inside the country.

To conclude the introductory. observations then I. maintain
that this prosecution amounts to nothing more than an attack on
fundamental rights which would not be disputed  in advanced
bourgeoxs countries at leAt in principle. I consider that this
case is not instituted for punishing us for committing any overt
criminal acts, bécause there are no such acts brought forward
in this case. All the so-called overt acts brought forward are
quite normal activities which would arise in the course of the
exercise of common rights, such as (1) the holdmg and dxssemmat-»
ing political views (2) organising of political parties whose
immediate objective wis the complete independence of India from
British Imperialism (3) connections witk international organisations
(4) organisation of Trade Unions and conduct of strikes. The
last point I have mentigned merely for the sake of completeness.
It has been stressed and well brought out by the comrades who
have dealt with the Trade Unjon agtivities. They have proved that
this trial is not only an- attack on the right to organise Trade
Unions but is at the same time a “strike breakmg prosecution,” It
is needless to say that I thoroughly agree with this view.

If mtellectual honesty were considered a necessary requlsu.e
i a judge in India then I think it'would have been" possible even
for your Honour to come to the same conclusion about the nature
of the case which I'have laid before you, in spite of the oppressive
climate of Meerut. Even such liberal bourgeois paper like the
‘Manchester: Guradian’ in its ‘leading article on the 1oth June
1931 condemned the present case Apundly as“a judicial scandal”
and asked a very pertinent question whether it was “necessary to
make a Btate trial for the activities of a few men who were avowed
Communists?”” I can quite understand that your Honour will
rule ot this question as irrelevant. Itis not for your Honour to
question, but to 1mphcxtly obey the bidding @f the Executive
which in this case is identical with the compl:zmgat‘,t < Intellegtual
honesty”is not what is required of a judge in India but a sense of
datyand asI understand your Honour’s senge of dutyis spécially
keen. Now'sense of duty”is not an abstract ethical qualitypinrelated
to the realities of life, but rather a direct product of a whole system
of thought based on class affiliations and strengthened by direct
as well as indjrect material gains. Your Honour's sense of duty is
a product of' 1deology of the ruling class, the British bourgeoise,
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which is interested in keeping intact the present brutal system
of exploitation and oppression ‘which obtain in India. The
“judicial” view which will be the .outcome of your Honour’s
“sense of duty” will naturally be nothing else bur aa
excellent specimen of class justice. It couldnot pe anything else.
We have no illusions, lengalist or - otherwise, whatever as to the
justice which awaits us at your hands or in fact at the hands of any
judge in India. We are going to be punished not for any criminal
act, but merely because we dared to hold and disseminate certain
opinions, dared toorganise political ~ parties ~which stood for
independence through revolution, dared to organise militant trade
unions and conduct strikes, Imperialism is out to crush the only
force which it considers as its deadliest opponent and which alone
has the potentialities of leading the revolutionary strgugle for
-independence to victory. ’

But we shall not offer ourselves as willing and easy victims
to the wrath of Imperialism. We shall defend these very rights
which Imperialism is attacking through such cases. We shall defend
and justify the right to hold and disseminate-be Communist opinions
and principles. 'We shall defend the right of the working class in
India fo crganise its class party, the Communist Party, defend the
right of this Party to assist and be assisted by the Communist
Parties in other countries and by the Communist International. We
shall defend the right of Indian workers to carry on Trade Union
struggle on-militant lines and so on. o

I TP 4

Such defence will necessarily involve tlig_";- eprsition of many
social,-economic and political questions involvéd in the working
class movement in India as well as in the rest of the world. If the
Defence statements have been long it is the fault of the Prosecution
alone. In their enthusiasm to make this present case into a mons-
trous demonstration against Comunism and the Communist Inter-
national they have filed an immense o mass xhibits and evidence,
involving the entire field of the Indian as well as the international
working class movemen$, including its social, economic, and Political
theories. The Prosecution in:their Opening Address. covered this
entire field and attempted to distort and discredit the principles
involved therein. ‘Tt is no wonder therefore that our Defence state-
ments, which seek to defend those principles, institutions and
parties which you &itack have to cover a considerable ground.’

As T have said the evidence of any activities on my part is
very slight indeed. There is nothing against me exceptix_lg the five
points which I enumerated at the outset, Even the Magistrate bas
observed that my conpection with the conspiracy was very short.
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The Prosecution in order to make much out of nothing have
deliberately misconstrued certain bits of evidence and- alleged that
I had some secret connections with some mysteripus groups abroads
1 shall have to point out certain discrepancies and- explode their
theory. Further right in the beginning even before the case started
in the Lower Court, Mr, Langford James while opposing a certain
bail application referred to me as a  notorious agent of the
Comintern.” I do not know on the basis of what evidence he made
that statement. There i# no evidence whatsoever to that effect.
Probably the learned Counsel found that epithet "as a particularly
happy synonym for the phrase“‘a blood-thirsty man ”. This is
quite in keeping with the idea that the Prosecution has given to this
Court about the Communist International. In connection with
the evidence regarding my membership of the Communist Party of
India I shall prominently deal with the communist Intérnational
refuting the misrepresentations of the Prosecution and justifying the
right of the C.P.I. to affiliate ifself to the Comimunist International.
‘Finally in connection with the various books etec found in my
possession as well as in conbection with the Lenin Day I shall have
to make some observations about Marxism and Leninism as the
-ideological basis of the Communist International.

* CUSTOMS OFFICE SEARCH.

* T arrived in India on the 10th of December 1928, as a deck
passenger on bosrd the S. 8. Pilsna. I ‘was accorded the same
reception whick almost every Indian student returning from aforeign
country gets at fhi-hands of the Customs officials and the C.ID. It
may be, that spéoikl attedtion was bestowed npon me because I arrived
as a deck passenger. The search and the circumstances connected
with it, even accepting the testimony of the Customs Official P W.
221, prove that the whole affair was a daylight robbery. No search
list was made in my presence (even the witness does not claim it).
None wag supplied to me in spite of the correspondence which I
bsubsequently carried on with the Customs authorities. ~On the day
of the search I was assured that the whole affair was & formality and
that the articles would be returned to me the next day. The
Customs officials detained my trunk, called in & C.I.D. officer and
selected the articles with his intelligent helg.:- The articles were
handed over to Mr. Chaudhri then and there (see P. W. 221). The
C.I.D. officer makes a list in his office, probably adds certain
material of his own and takes away certain other things according
to the dictation of his superiors. Now it was not necessary by rule
“for the Cnstoms officer to call in the C. T D. officer and hand over
- the material. He himeelf admits it (P, W. 221). There were the
orders under the Sea Customs Act (Act VIII of 1878) which would

Y
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have guided him in bis duties. But he calls in a C. 1. D..officer and
the result of their joint effortsas is shown by their search list is a
monument to their pig-headedness. According to the orders issued
under the Sea Customs Act regarding papers ete: prohibited from
entering India (P 2489) they were entitled to detain only the items
6 and 20 of the search list P 1477. These are “Inprecor:” and the
“Anti-Imperialist Review.” There is nothing else in the search list
whioh could come under any of the clauses of the order. Even
clause 10 of the order which refers to the publxca,blons of the
Communist International and which-is purposely so formulated as
to inolude a number of other radical organisations in foreign coun-
tries cannot be said to apply to any of the other items. About a
dozen olassical works of Marxism published by mdependenb publi-
shing houses bave been seized ( items 4,10,12,13,14, 15, 18 and 20 ).
-I maintain that even under the order guoted above the Customs
officer wag not entxtled f0 seize those books. Then there were such
books as a Russian G‘rrammar (xtem 17), Monographies on medieval
artists like Mlchael Angelo. an Albrecht Durer, & book of Folk-songs,
and lastly a eopy of the Code of Labour Legislation in Germany
( see evidence of P. W., 274). As regards the letters, manuseripts
and other papers, no list has ever been made, B0 paper bears apy
mark of having passed through the hands of the Customs officials
(see P, W, 221). The C. I D. office, it seems, has had ample time
to do whatever it pleased with it.

I claim that 1 have been robbed of classical works on Marxism
and Leninism and other books by the Customs officials who had no
right to touch them even under the, orders they are supposed to obey.
Some of these are exhlbxte& r.xf‘ this case. Some havé been returned to
me after a great deal of hagglmé with the Prosecution, whose narrow
Polioce vision sees a 1ed rag in every book where there is a mention of
Marz,Engels or Lenin. A few others of these books are still under the
intelligent care of Mr. Khairat Nabi. As for papers and manuscnpts’
nathing of an mcnmmatmg nature was found with me. Two
things are put as exhibits, namely some letters P 1479 to 1484 and
secondly a type-script P 1488 which according to the prosecutlon
purports to be ah extract from the Colonial Thesis of the Commumsﬁ
International. About the latter I have this to say. I cannot say
whether I possessed such an extract. I do not recognise P 1488 aa
my own. But I do wish to add that there is nothing wrong, nor is it
incriminating to posséss an extract about the views of the Communist
International on India,, In the same search there were a nuinber of
extracts about India from many Imperialist ]ournals such as
“The Round Table, The Emplre Review and 8o on.”  These have
not been exhibited.

-
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Regarding the Ietters P 1479°14843 -P.-W. 221 says,
“These letters contain no mark showing that they passed through
his hands.”  When the Court attempted to elicit further imforma=
tion from him the witness said that he identified the letters “because
he took down the list with ‘the Police Inspegtor”. Nowit is very
significant that there was no mention of the Police Inspector being
present-at the search in the Lower Court. Besides the letters do
not bear any signature or mark of A. K. Chaudhri either: Infact’
these letters were not in my possession at the time of the search,
I do not recognise them as my own. I do not know anything about
them. .

Finally I wish to state that the search was highly irregular
and illegal. The official did not respect the orders -under the Sea
Customs Act which were binding upon him, He seized books he
had no right to seize'and put in things which were not there. My
complaint is not -against’ these petty officials.> 1 attack the Sea
Customs Act itself, *T maintdin that such orders.8s P 2489, area
part of the policy of the British Imperialist Government to stifie all
free exchange of thought between India and the rest of the world,
to createan intellectual b&ckade, and to prevent every conl
between the Indian working class and the radical and revolutionary
organisations abroad. ' These orders and their stupid execution by
brainless officials are an instance of the reactionary and backward
character of the bureauCratlc rule of the British bourgeoisie in
India. -

Connection with “Go-aompt'rators" in Germany

It is the theory of the Prosecuﬁea., that I belonged to some
mysterious group in Berlin and that T'came here with récommendas
tions from the same. The Magistrate has dutifully upheld this allega—
tion. He says that I was * vouched for by the Berlin group”, {C.0O.,,
page, 118) and was * in close touch with the Con_tid.en't‘al gr‘ou'p”
(C.O., page 197). He has nowhere said what this Berlin or conti-
nental group was and what it did and what relations it bore to the
alleged conspiratorial organisations abroad. It appers- that the
ever-watchful agents of the Scotland Yard, who are always spying
on the Indian students abroad, have not been able to improvise any
reports whatsoever on this point. Probably the Magistrate relies
more on the Marxist- Commumst literature, which was found in my
possession when I landed, than on anything else. It is true that I
brought with me some M "’15t literature especially in German, But
more than that. I brought with me a Marxist-Leninist ouatlook on ljfe,
This not at all surprising. In Germany the proletarian movement
based on Marxism is stronger than in any other capitalist country
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in Europe. The biggest political parly in that country accepts
Marxism as its theoretical basis, at least in words. Marxist litera-
ture is freely available in the numerous working-class bookshops
everywhere, Marxist literature received an impetus on the
continent after the Russian and German Revolution. Many classi-
cal works of Marx and Engels which were out of print before were
reprioted and received wide circulation. Current Marxist literature
as well as reprints of classical works are reviewed in the ordinary
bourgeois dailies. Any Indian student who.has interest in widening
his outlook would be naturally attracted to Marxism and Commu-
nism, especially in view of the fact that the classes and sections of
people who accept this outlook are genuinely anti-Imperialist and
whole-heartedly support every revolutionary movement ia the
colonies. Every Indian student in a lforeign European country
sees the bondage and the slavery of his country in a clearer pers~
peciive. The humiliation of belonging to a subject nation is
powerfally brought home to his consciousness. It is natural there-
fore that he should be attracted by that outlook which has a genuine
sympathy for the national emancipatory movements of his country.
A closer study of Marxist litrature revealed to me another feature
of‘%(arxism, which readily appeals to those who have had jhe good
fortune of receiving some sort of scientific training. Marxism as a
social theory is distinguished by the rigour of jts logical construc-
tion and the universal and all embrassing character of its postulates.
Marxist theory is truly scientific inasmuch as itsatisfies the two
tests which are generally put on a scientific theory. Firstly it gives
an accurate analysis of the existing social order in its seconomic
social and political aspects, that is, il gives us a - composite picture
of the modern capitalist society, in which the various ecopomic and
social phenomena are shown in their correct causal relationships.
Secondly it lays down the laws of motion of this so’cial order, which
enable us to predict the future trend of development. A Marxian
analysis of the Indian problem enabled me to see the present plight
of India in a clearer light, revealed the conflictisg "currents in the
modern nationalist movment in their true roles -and indicated
the path of future development,a path which led through a
workers’ and peasants’ revolution, Thatis in brief why I became
a Marxist communist by conviction while in *Germany. I was
however not connected with any Commuaist group or body at that
time. As far as my knowledge goes no Communist group of Indians *
ever existed in Berlin, As regads my alleged contact with Mr.
A. C..N.-Nambiar I have to say that I have heard of Mr. Nambiar
as a journalist who wrote for various papers in Ind{’ia. I have ng
further knowledge of him.

.
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P.1683is a Polxcg typed copy of a letter al])gged to be wntten
by me. I never wrote such a letter. -

~ Credentials:—The Prosecution assume that I came to India
with some sort of credentials from some Communist group in Berlio.
This is not ture. The only credentials I had with me-—and [ could
produce them.if necessary for the. satisfaction of the Court—were
those from an industrial firm on whose research staff I was workiag
as a physico-chemist. I ‘hope the Prosecution does not regard:
such credentxals as conspiratorial.-

RegardmyM N. Roy.

I have no personal knowledge of Mr. M.N. Roy whatsoever.
I never carried on any correspondence thh “him, never recewed
any letter from him, uneither bad any occasion to wr)te hlm. ’

Alkgcd Secret Correspondence with Co-compzmlors

'The Prosecution allege that I was carrymg on correspondence
with that imaginary body called the Codfinental group. The
Magistrate states that I was “i in close touch with M.N. Roy and
with the Continental group.” He further staites. that I was *# well
aware of the conspxratonal methods  of corresponding through the
means of seamen.” This allegation is totally false.. It is-based not
onany conecrete evidence but rather on the lack of any evidence
whatsoever. . The Prosecution has not been.able to produce a single
intercepted letter emanating from me and_addressed to any of the
alleged co~conspirators. - The only pretefice of ‘an evidence they
have got is the.inference which they draw from P. 1674 -

P 1674 isa photograph of 3 postcard written to me by Mr.
S. V. Sovani,"a dealer in scnentlﬁg mstrqments. 'lhe letter is
dated from M’umch "On lhe s'rength of this great dlscovery the
Pro=ecut on prompt!y named Mr. 5. V. Sovani as a co-conspirator,
In this ¢ open postcard dated 3-2-29 Mr. S. V. Sovam wriles to me.
“I have posted the letter.”” Out of these Words the detective
talents of the Prosecution have constructed a very spicy story. for
the benefit of this court. Mr. S. V. Sovani is naturallyamystenous
person who is being sent by the * notorious Agent of the Comintern’
all the way to Munich to. post a secret communication meant either

for the imaginary group of the Continental caballers or for the
¢ MOScow clique.’ :

The actual facts in this~ma'tter are as follows :— -

) Mr. S. V. Sovani jis neither a consplrator’ nor even a
Communist. On the other hand ‘when he heard that he was named
as a Co-conspirator in this case he was so much astonished that he
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issued a short statement to the Press, Ihave not got the English
version of his statements which I think also appeared in the English
Press but I have here a copy of *“ Navakal ** dated 4th August, 1929
which I tender, D %23 and in which his statement appears. (D 724
is an advertisementof Mr, S. V. Sovani’'s shop in Bombay).
Herein he says that his views are opposed to Communism. I met
him for the first and the Jast time on the 14th of January 1929.
Before this day we were perfect strangers to each other. On that
day 1 happened to walk into his shop wbich is in Girgaon to make
_certain inquiries about glass-blown apparatus for scientific purposes
as I was interested in the use and the manufacture of the same.
I gathered from him that he was a mere dealer in those things and
had no plant in his shop for the repair or the manufacture of glass~
blown apparatus. In the course of the conversation it transpired
“that he was interested in this branch of the manufacture and was
actually leaving for Germany in & couple of days for the purchase of
the necessary plant. Heasked me whether I could recommend
him any firm in Germiny for the purpose of buying such a plaat.

I said, I could give him a personal letter of introduction to a
Firm of Glass-blowers in Berlin. Before I left him on that day I
asked him whether he would be kind enough to post a private letter
for me as soon as he reached Europe. This was a personal letter
to my friend and colleague, one Dr. N. Schoenfeldt, who is
working as a physico-chemist in the Research Laboratory of
Siemens and Halske a well-known Electrical Firm in  Germany.
This letter was to go by the ordinary mail on the foregoing
Saturday but I had missed the mail. In the ordinary course the
letter would have had to wait till the next Saturday. In the
meanwhile Imet Mr. Sovani on a Monday who happened to be
leaving by S. S. Cracovia on Wednesday the 16th January rgzq.
T decided to give him the letter, obviously with the intention of
getting it earlier across.' Now both these letters, that is the letter®
of introduction as well as the letter to Dr. N. Schoenfeldt, were not
handed over on Monday. Then I had a conversation with Mr.
Sovani, but on Tuesday morning they were handed over to someone
else who was in the shop, Mr. Sovani being not present at
the time, o )

Now Mr. Sovani is neither a co-conspirator ner even a
Communist. Further if I were sending a secret communication 1
would not entrust it td a perfect stranger like Mr, Sovani. Further
assuming I did entrust il to him, I would be careful enough to warn
him not to write to me an open postcard saying that he posted it.

t
So after all the great discovery of the Prosecution regarding
my alleged clandestine correspondence is a mare’s nest. We '
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however know full well that such ridiculously clumsy constructions
will be ultimately considered a sufficient cover to mask the class
character of the justice that will be meted out to us in this Court.,

p '1676: It is a letter alleged to be intercepted and withheld
by the Police. I know nothing about it. Perhaps the Police
. could throew some more light on it. . .

Membership of the O.P.L.

Before I proceed to deal with the exhibits cited I may state
at'the very outset that I was a member of the C.P.IL at the time of
my arrest. I joined the Party only a month or so before my arrest.
I have already stated that our Party was not affiliated to the
Comintern. This fact will -not prevént us from defending the
cause of the Communist Internatinal before this Court. Infact you
cannot be a Communist by merely accepting ‘Communist theories
and principles in the abstract. It is the duty of a Communist to'
attempt to put these principles into practice and to actively support
Communist organisations. The Communist Internaticnal is the
premier Communist organisation of the world==it is the world
Communist Party, the centralized leadership of the entire
Communist Movement of the -world. The Communist International
concentrates ia its ranks the revolationary experience of decades of
Prolelarian struggle,and is the truest inheritor of the best traditions
of the foregoing Interaationals.” It is our duty therefore as
Communists to proc'aim our adherence to the principles and the
programme of this supreme revolutionary organisation, to repulse’
the attacks and allegations that have been levelled against it in this
Court, and finally to assert the right of the Indian working class
and the right of the Communists in India to associate with
this body.

The conditions of modern world economy demand an
international organisation of the working class, It has been shown
in a previous statement concretely how a sectional struggle of the
working class in one country affects the working class in another,
Hence no national organisation of the working class in any couatry
- can truly defend the interest of that class without being international,

without maintaining international associations and affiliations. If.
-you deny the Indian working class organisation the right to
associate with the international organisations like the Comintern,
the RI.L.U.and so on, I maintain that you are denying them the
very right of organisation. ‘

The present prosecution is a direct attack on the Communijst
International, It is launched. with a purpose to obtain a legal
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finding which would 'make every contact with the C. 1. and with
the alleged subsidiary organisations named in the complaint and
ingthe supplementary list illégal and punishable under S. 121 A.
Apart from this the prosecution has not losta smgle opportunity
of vilifying-the Communist International azd giving a distorted
account ot the same to the Court and the Assessors. They were
specially interested in representing the Comintern in as sinister
colours as possible in the eyes of the general public in India. The
Communist International according to their version is a propaganda
department of the Russian Government. The aim of the
Comitern is to foment revolutions in various countries with the sole
object of “annexing these countries and subjecting them. to -the-
rule of the clique in Moscow”. That is I. think the view of the
Prosecution fairly put. The petition of complaint bears
me out in this respect. The aim of the Communist International as
stated here is “to replace the various forms of Government throughout
the world by Soviet Repubhcs subordinate to and controlled by the.
Central Soviet Administration in Moscow.” Now theaim of the
Comintern according to its Statutes ( P 2365) is no doubt the
establishment of 4 world union of Socialist Soviet Republics. But
acgording tgyhe C. L. such a union can only be formed when the
contracting parties stand on a free and equal footing. The Com mu-
nist International recognises ““the right of all nations irrespective of
race to complete self-determination, that is self-determination
inclusvie of the right to state separation”. { P 2339 page 29 ).
The C. L stands commmed to the principle of *‘complete equality
of all nations and races”. As soonas in any new country the
power of Capitalism is overth_rown and a new Soviet Republic is
established there, this country will paturally look to the U. S. S.
R. for guidance and help. The existing U. S. S. R. will be the
truest ally of every new Soviet Republic that may come into
existence, for the most simple reason that these republics shall have
to face a common foe namely the capitalist countries. In fact the
constitution of the U. S. S. R. provides for the entry of a new
Soviet Republic into the union. But' whether such a new republic
immediately enters the union or not will not be determined by
“Moscow™. - It will be determined by the exigencies of the struggle
of the Socialist Soviet Republics as a whole against the capitalist
world and by the stage that struggle might have reached at that
time. The programme of the C.I. makes the point quite clear when it
speak of “the voluntary unification and centralisation of the military
and economic forces of all nations liberated from capitalism for the
purpose of fighting against Imperialism and for setting up socialist
economy’’. ( P 2365 page 29). Thus the unification which the
C. I. aimsat is to be voluatary, and not under the dictation of any
imaginary “ Moscow cliqgue.” We_are however ‘not at all

( 1199 )



suprised at the deliberate distortion of facts and it is not the
only instance on the part of the Prosecution.

Imperialist States know full well that when Communist
Russia talks of self-determination and equality of nations she
means more than the hypocritical phrase-mongers «in the League
of Nations. The granting of cultural, political and economic
autonomy to the national minorities in Russia—the former Cuarist
colonies, her foreign relations with China, Persia, Afghanistan and
Turkey, are resented by Imperialist Powers. “These things mean
to them a loss of prestige and an encouragement to the national
emancipatory movement in the East. It is for this reason that
they raise the bogey .of the revolutionary propaganda of the
Commuuist International, launch prosecutions against its alleged
agents and attempt to give a distorted picture of the aims of the
C. L. and vilify it in the eyes of the peoples of the East.

. Theagents of Impétialism however think in terms of histo-
rical categories which are décades out of date. They are still
thinking of the Imperialist expansionist plans of @earist Russia
and they attribute similar plans to Soviet Russia. They raise
a hue and cry about the “‘Red Bogey” and warn the peoples of the
East against “Red Imperialism of Moscow”. The Prosecution in
this case is dutifully re-echoing the same cant when they falk of
the C, L. plotting to'establish a “Stalin Raj*’ in India,

But the peoples of the East have learnt to make their choice
between Soviet Russia’ and the Western Imperialist Powers
without the aid of these preachers. Louis Fischer, the brilliant
historian of the foreign relations of Soviet Russia, an author who
can not be accused of being a Communist, contrasts the attiiude
of the natioris of the East towards Soviet Russia with their
attitude towards other Imperialist powers in the following words :
“the Soviet Union’s relationships with the nations of the East
are altogether differnt in quality and intensity., In Turkey, Persia,
‘Afganistan, Mongolia and China strong political tendencies resent,
‘and, despite temporary partial lapses, must resist Western
Imperialism. The world war aroused and galvanised political
schools cf thought that bad ante-dated it, and the Bolshevik
Revolution provided them with a practical example of victory over
counter-revolutionary forces at home and abroad. The bond bet-
ween Soviet Union and the East is their common anti-Imperialism
and their common fear of aggression from Western Powers.”
( ‘The Soviet in world affairs’ by Louis Fischer pages 727-728.)

D/-21 9 3t
Nobody doubts the repercussions of Bolshevik Revolution
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on the national emancipatory movement in India. Nobody can
dgubt the growing sympathy among the Indian people for Soviet
Russia and for the ideals, for which she stands. It is to counters
‘wot this sympathy and the influence of the precept by example,
that the agents of Imperialism are always raising the bogey of the
" Russian.invasion into India. It is for this reason that they point
out to the propaganda of the Comintern in India as the spear-head
of this invesion, and: stage .a trial of its supposed *notorious
agents”, I'may otice again-quote the testimony of Louis Fischer
t6 show how utterly baseless is this fear of a Russian invasion
into India. -On ‘page 794 of the same book he says, **But with
the coming of the Bolshevik Revolutina, Russia ceased to
represent a- military threat. India is secure against attack because
the British defences are stronger, the Red Army weaker than the
Czar’s and Moscow opposed to territorial expansion.”

What British: Imperialism is really afraid of is not.a;military
‘invasion from-the Soviet Russia, but rather an invasion of revolu~
tionary ideas; into -India. The ideas- of new freedom, of the
emarcipation of workers and peasants from the yoke of .capitalism,
of the -rights -of women, of anti-Imperialism which .under the
Soviet’,_gun»are being germinated in -Uzbekistan and .Tu_rkistan. .in
the Tartar Republic-and in-the Crimea have already infected, to .a
more or Jess degree, China, Turkey, Persia and Afghanistan. The
onward march of these revolutionary ideas knows no_geographical
boundaries of map-makers, The :British Imperialists with- their

“highly developed trading instinct think-that revolution is-an article
of eéxport and impost. They are mistaken, The revolution in
India ¢annot be stopped by issuing orders under the Sea .Customs
Act-against the Comintern literature,; nor by iatercepting sealed
packets of ‘supposed revolutionary instructions from the E.C.C.I.
Revolutions are not sent in sealéd packets neither are they ‘manu-
factured nor fomented’.

This brings me to another patent fallacy of the Prosecutiom
The Prosecution seem to imagine that we are organising revolu-
tionary outbreaks independent of objective - conditions. We claim
that the C. I. cannot instigate or stage a revolution in India if the
political situation is not ripe for it, if the revolutionary .movement
has not alieady struck deep roots in the -national soil, The
pational revolution in India-will be due not to anything that the
C. 1. may do, but“to the- British Imperialist exploitation and
oppression, the poverty apd the misery of the masses of the people
of India. Those who care to reflect on the causes of this back-
wardness and poverty of India will not fail to see that it is British
Imperialist domination which has condemned India to rot in social,
ecoromic and political stagnation. We are convinced that no
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progress is possible inside the framework of Imperialism.
Imperialism must be overthrown. We maintain: that the Indian
national revolution is vot only inevitable but imminent. That is
why we are amused at the Prosecution’s picture of a placid and
contended India being disturbed by the efforts of the Communist
International to goad it into an unwilling revolution. -

This should not however be taken to mean that we believe
in the spontaneity of revolutions, or that we belittle the role of the
Communist International as the conscious leader and orga.mser of
revolutionary movements, We maintain with Lénin that the
greatest stress has to be laid on the organisation of a revolutionary
activity, although this is tobe donein the light of the ob]ectlve
condilions obtaining in different countries. Our posxtlon in this
matter has been succinctly put by R. P, Dutt in P r1go thus.
“It is .the conditions,of society that are producing. chaos and
revalutiop; it is the object of the;Communists ,to end those condi-
-tions” by .giving conscions direction to the instinctive forces:of
revolt instead of vainly seeking to stem them.” The Magistrate
-quotes -this . very .passage :in" the :(;ommxt*al()rder, Page 46, bdt
fails. to understand its implication: Speaking about the @I he
gays;, “In- order to direct these instinctive .forces it ﬁrst of all
.awakens them. Where there are no feelings of class-conscmsness
-it deliberately.sets itself to arouse them. It preaches revolution
in-.places where :the :idea of revolution- had never .previously
-penetrated.” Finally he. sums: up the position with his' character-
-istic sarcasm saying: “It is-best to tell .the masses what they
.want .and ‘if you.say :it often enough they will gradually begin to
-believe . it .and all . will be well, but don’t let them think for them-
.selves. ‘That might be disastrous for the Party;.for the -Party
-wants.revolution.”  (page 47). The Magistrate adopts a sceptical
attitude towards the thesis that “it is.thé conditions of society -
-that make revolutions.” He says, “Theoretically this may be so:"™
HenCe he sees no.other position, and:jumps to.the opposite
conclusxon, that revolutions are.‘fomented”. In reality however
there _exists an organic .bond between the o‘;ectlve and
subjective factors .which make revolutions possible.  The -
-objective factors are the conditions of the capitalist -
JTimperialist society :which .condembns millions of proletarians

.to .wage-slavery and hundreds of millions of the colonial
~people .o bondage and serfdom. It is these objective factors
which themselves engender the conscious revolutionary activity
and ideology which we call the subjective factor. The revolutionary
activity and ideclogy of the C. I.-~Marxim and Leninism—are not
inspired fiom Heaven nor mstlgaied by the powers of Hell. It is
" aproduct of the same capitalism which has brought into being
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mighty and highly centralised forces of production on the one hand

and the misery and starvation of millions of the toilers on the other.

The revolutionary activity and ideology of the C, I. is the conscious
expression of the proletarians-and the exploited masses to free them-

selves. It is not necessary for the C. L. to practise any mass hypno-

tism on the people “in order to make them blindly believe in the

revolution, On the other hand if the material conditions are not

favourable for the revolation, no ‘“mass hypnotism” would ever

belp to createit. The C.I. isa menacé to the entire bourgeois

class, not because it “foments” revolution wherit is not due, but
because it promotes it where it is overdue. The Magistrate” s, .soli-
citude to make the masses think for themselves is inspired soIeiy by
the desire to make them thiok as the Imperialists want them to
think and submit cheerfully to fhe yoke of slavery and serfdom,

The masses of exploited workers and peasants throughout
the world do not need the assistance of the Magistrate, Judges and
other agents of Imperialism to teach them the necessity or other-
wise of revolution. Every careful student of contemporary history
knows that exploited workers and peasants have from time to time
risen'in isolated places against the conditions and misery and
starvation which Imperialism imposes upon them. It is the task of
the C,I. to co-ordinate and coprelate these potential springs of revo-
lutionary energy of the masses under the leadership of the Pro-
letriat and to hurl it against the citadels of capitalism. The Commu-
nist International is pledged to conduct an unrelenting struggle
against Capitalism and Imperialism. We do not deny that the
activities of the C . often come in conflict with the interests of the
Imperialisit States. But this is not a conflict between an ‘aggressive’
Soviet Russia and the ‘peaceful’ Imperialist States, as the paid
agents of Imperialism will have us believe. In reality it is a class con-
flict between the organisation of the working class striving for Inter-
national socialist society, and the state barriers erected by capitalism
in the course of its development, and maintained and strengthened
by the present organisaticns of the Capitalist class. It is a conflict
between thy’ International Proletariat led by its vanguard and the
gang of Imperialist bandits. In this conflict my allegiance will
.surely not be to the British Imperialist -State which exploits the
workers and peasants of India and denies them the very right of
organisation. My allegiance will be most emphatically on the side
of the C. I. which stands for a revolutionary overthrow of capitalism
and Imperialism throughout the world.

Comintern and ¥ts relations with the First and the
Second Internationals.

I think former statements have effectively dealt with the
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contention of the Prosecution .that the Comintern is something
foreign to the ‘genuine’ and bonafide International Labour Movement,
that the Comintern is a Russian intrusion in the Labour Movement
which came as the result ofthe Bolshevik Revolution in Russia.
To every serious student of the International movement
of the working class, it will be quite clear that the
Comintern ‘grew organically out of this movement which
began in the middle of the last century with the dawn of capi-
talism and the rise of the modern Proletariat. In fact ithe Flrst,
jbe Second and the Third Internationals mark three successive
stages in the same “organic development. I do not propose to give
“a historical analysis of the previous Internationals in support of
this thesis. A brief historical account has already been given by
Comrade Bradley in his statement. I'shall only give the final
conelusion which puts the relations  of the three Internationals
clearly, in the poignant words of Lenin. In an article entitled ‘the
Third International and its place in history’ written in April 1919,
that is one month after the foundation of the C. I, Lenin wrote,
“The First International laid the basis of the International struggle
of the Proletariat for socialism”,

“The Second International marked the period of preparation
—a period in which the soil was tilled with a view to the, widest
propagation of the movement in many of the countries, The third
International has garnered. the fruits of the labours of the Second
International, casting off the refuse of its opportunist, social,
chauvinistic, bourgeois, and lower-middle class tendencies, and
has set out to achieve the Dictatorship of the Proletariat.”

Coming asit did at the close of the period of classical
bourgeois revolutions and at the beginning of the proletarian
revolutionary struggle, the First International during its brief
existence was not able to strike root among. the working masses
of the capitalist countries, was tinable to achieve any sigrificant
organisational success. But ideologically, the First International
was the first international standrad—bearer of revolutionary Commu-
. nism, Its leading spirif was Karl Marx who had already propounded
these ideas fifteen years prior to the foundation of the International
in his Communist Manifesto and in his Address to the Communist
League. The First International included inside the compass
of a single comprehensive body, both the political and industrial
organisations of the proletariat. It set itself the task of organising
the economic and political struggles of the working class on an
international basis for the overthrow of capitalism, for the capture
of political power by the working class and for the establishment
of Socialism, Apart from revolutionary Communism, the First

(1204 )



Iaternationgl reflected two other tendencxes, which were chara«
cteristics of the cantem orary international workmg class movement,
represented by the leaders of the Brmsh Trade Union Movement,
and the anarchism of the petty-bourgeoxs revolutlonanes belonging
to the less developed capitaligt countries of Europe ~In fact it
was the ptruggle against the last-named tendency inside the
rankg of the International which conmbuted to the break- -up of the
First International. The reyolutionary Commumsm of the
Continental Marxists apd the modeyate Socialism of the British
Trade Upionists logether epjoyed the overwhelming _suppolr,t of
the conscious working class ip that period. These two groups
were further separated from the anarchists by fundamerital
difference in principle and outlook These differences have been
. succinetly summan,sed by Stekloff, ,the historian of the First
International. “A refusal to take part in the political struggle,
the abandonment of consmut}qnal methods of agitatiopn, the
repudiation .of reforms, the rejectign of the struggle for the slow
and methodical sto:mg up of energy, the repudxatxon of the
dictatorship of the Proletariat®—all these he pointed out were
the main features of the anarchist pohcy which separated them
from the two other groups.

Nevertheless the ideology of the First International bore the
stamp .of xevpluthnm‘y ,Gommunigm right up to its last years.
“The greabesh and almost the last ideologjcal deed of the First
Ipternational was the publication of three manifestoes, in connection
with the Franco-Grerman War and the Paris Commune, which
are incorporated in “the Civil War in France.” {D 409 ). Because
of .jts political and organisational weakness the Interpational
‘was unable to matermlly aggist in .this first great uprising of the
proleta.nab although fthe mdlvxdual members of the French section
fought val‘}g‘uyly »ehoul}d}er to should_er with the Communards..
In these manijfestoes .the International expressedits glowing goli-
plarlty with the first great 1u1hmh1ve of the proletariat, which it
enbhusmsmca}ly descnbed as stormmg heavens” by the proletariat.
These mamfestoes helped to gounteract the calumnies hurled at
phe Commune by the contemporary bourgeoxs press and explained
to the workers in other countries she . historic significance of the
Pans Commune In these manifestogs the First International
;hailed the Pans Commune as fhe firgt great attempt on the part

of the proletana.t to .capture ‘power, to establish the first workers’
governmenb In these manifestogs phe First International recorded
.and gnalysed the firgt great revolutlonary experience of the
prolehanaﬁ and came fo the conclusion that “the working class
.cannob merely lay hold on the~ ready-made State ma.chmery and
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wield it for its own purpose”. Ideologically therefore the First
Internatwnal stood for the revolutionary overthrow of Capitalism,
ﬁhe smaphmg of the bourgeoxs State machinery, and the erection
of n Proletana.n State in its stead. Such was the ideological
foundation which the First International laid of the international
struggle of the proletariat for Sooialism. The First International
was the embodiment of the indomitable revolutionary will of
the proletariat, the payer of the path for revolutionary deed.

In this it does nob dlﬁer from the Thxrd the Communist Interna-
tional. Ounly the Third lntemabronal is the true and the rightfal
fuccessor of the First.

" The Second International which was founded in 1889, that
is about seventeen years after the collapse of the Paris Commune
and the First Internatlonal no doubt stepped into the shoes of the
latter It took upon jtself the task of continuing the traditions of
the First {nternational. It was like its predecessor formed asa
militant revolutionary organisation of the wo'rking class for the
overcoming of Capitalism; for the overthrow of the domination of
the bourgeoisie. '

The struggle within the First | Internatxonal was between the
revolutionary Communists and the moderate socialists on the one
hand and the @narc,hxsts on the other It was a struggle between
the pohc1es represented by the ‘working class and the policy of
those who hgd yery .lrttle to do with that class. The Second Inter-
nafional from the very outsét started with the exclusion of the anar-
¢hists. The stuggle ‘which developed within the ranks of the Second |
lnternauonal was between the "two tendencies representing the

. workmg class whrch were already presented in the First. With the

?

hlstonc and economxc developments ‘which took place during the

hfenme of the Second Internauonal (1889—1914), this® struggle

deepend and the two tendencre; grew farther aod farther apart

from each other, untxl thuse represent:ng ‘the “moderate socialist”

tendency proved untrue to the principlés” of the Enternational, bet.
ayed the cause of the workmg class, and went clelmxtely over to

the camp “of lmpe rialism' and counter- revolution, thus brmgmg
bout the .collapse of the Internatlonal

If the First International lived and died in the early period
of ,quern Capltallsm, the pre-war Second Iuternational did so in

‘the period of the matunty of Caprtallsm and of its growing over

into, Imperlalxsm D\jhng this penod the proletarrat grew both with
in pagnltude and (;onscrousness p.nd so did its ‘industrial and politi-

cal organisations. The hrstorlc achlevement of the pre-war Second
Internahonal consxsted in this, that it gathered and united millions
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of organised workers both politically and industrially into an inter-
national alliance against Capitalism. From this point of view the
epoch of the pre-war Second International certainly marks *a period
of preparation—a period in which the soil was tilled”, as Lenin has
put it in the quotation cited above.

On the strength of this organisation, it was possible for the
working class of the advanced capitalist countries of Europe, to
obtain labour protection, social legislation, amelioration of the
working conditions, political rights -and suffrage etc. In the
early years of the Second International, this was possible, because
Capitalism was thea in its rising phase, new markets were being
opened, Imperialist booty was pouring into the capitalist countries
of Europe, But these very successes, as well as the bribing of a
thin strata of “labour aristocracy” made possible by the Imperia-
list booty, soon spread illusions amongst the ranks of the leadership
of the Second International. The “moderate socialist” tendency
not only became absolutely dominant in the International, but had
further degenerated into class-collaboration, blind faith in bourgeois
parliamentary democracy, and in the belief of a peaceful transforma-
tion of Capitalism into Socialism. The national sections of the-
International became more and more divorced from the Interna-
tional struggle of the working class, got lost in national and
“ministerial”’ questions and thus got more bound up with the
bourgeoisie of their country than 'with the working class. The
May Day, for instance, which was inaugurated by the First Cong-
ress of the International in 1889 as the day of demonstration for
eight hour day, for labour protection and for the international
solidarity of the working class against Capitalism, was forgotten

-and degenerated in various countriesinto usual evening meetings

for social purposes. The ideological leaders of the Internakional
began to forsake the principles of Marxism and alter and revise
them so as to suit the convenience of their bourgecis masters.
Marzxian philosophy was revised so as to introduce God and religion
by the back door. Marxian economics was reinterpreted so as to
spread the illusion that Capitalism could be automatically transform-
ed into Soeialism. Marxian politics was rendered innocuous and
non-revolutionary by replacing '‘the Dictatorship of the Proletariat

and class struggle by the slogans of “ class collaboration " and

“Socialism through the ballot box.’”” (This distorted version of
Marzism knowm as “revisionism’’ became the ideological basis of the
pre-war Second International and later on_of the * Labour and
Socialist International ¥ in our own time ). High sounding resolu-

- tions on war were passed by the International bubt they remained

in the musty files of the International Secretariat.

Thus even before the great Wsa the Second. Intema.honal

S
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bad ceased = to be the leader of the International
proletariat in ifs struggle against Capitalism. At the outbreak of
the great war, the ignominious collapse of the Second International
was an accomplished fact. The Inherna.hona.l had simply disappear-
ed while its national sections,in the various countries vied with each
other in granting war credits to their respective bourgeomle The
leaders of the “lnternational ” called upon the workers to enhst in
the army in defence of their fatherlands—they called upon’ thq
workers to take part in the slanghter of their class brothers.

But, as I have already said, inside the ra;nks of the pre-war
Becond International there always.was a section which stood out
for the revolutionary traditions of the First International and who
bitterly fought against reforzm.sm, revisionism, and the corruption of
Marxism. Lenin, Karl Liebknecht, Rosa Luxemburg were among the
leaders of this revolutionary wing even before the outbreak of the
war. After the outbreak of the great war and after the ignominious
collapse of the International which followed it, the need of the foun-
-. dation of & new and a revolutionary International was already felt.
It was formulated by Lenin in so many words as early as November
1914. In a Manifesto of the Central. Committee. of the Russian
Bocial Democratic Party issued on November 1, 1914, Lenin wrote ;
“it is impossible o fulfil the task of Socialism at the present time, it is
impossible to achisve frue international conoentration of the workers
without a resolute break with opportunism an‘d an expla,p&biqn_ of
the inevitability of the collapse to the masses.. .+.The masses
will create a new International desplbe all obsta.cles After these
words were written, it needed five years of war and ravoluluor:us.~ *
suffering and struggle to convince the workers of the bankruptey
and the treachery of the leadership. of the Second Intem&hl.ona.l,
and rplly them round the banner of the Commumsh International.
Dlmng the four years of war after the leadership of the International
bad abdicated, the revolutionary remnants of the International
were consolidating themselves and organising an international
revolutionary action aguinst yva.r. The Conferences of Sooialists
at Zimmerwald i September 1915 and at Kienthal in Easterof 1916
are two important landmarks in its process. - .

The Zimmerwald Conference saw the formation of the
“Zimmerwald Left” which was the first organised’ nucleus of the
" future Communist International. The main questions which were
discussed at Kienthal were, firstly the question of-a -revolutionary .
‘opposition to War and secondly the formation .of a new .
International.

’Thus the need for the formationof the Third International
) was felt be[ore Jthe Russian Rgvofuuon. But the toxlmg masses of

.
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Europe had to go through a process of disillusionment and revolu-
tionisation before the remnants of the Second International
which remained true to socialism could actually launch upon the
tagk of forming the new Inlernational. The victory of the Russian
Revolution and the establishment of a workers’ State in Russia
certainly created the necessary pre-conditions for the formation
of the Third International. But it is absurd to say, as the prosecu~
tion in this case make out, that the Communist International was
purely a product of the Russian Revolution and had nothiug to do
with Second International which according to them holds “rational”
views on the Labour question. As I have already explained, the
Third International represents the revolutionary tendency which
was already present in the Second as well as in the First Interna-
tional. It.embodies all that was best In the former internationals.
It is the representative of the genuine International Labour Move-
ment, utilising the revolutionary experience of decades of proletarian
struggle in the interest of the working class for the overthrow of
capitalism and for th€ establishment and socialism, the . first
stage of the Communist classless society.

The rise of the Third International.

The Third Internationallripened in the period of storm and
stress of the Imperialist war and was born later on in Moscow,
after the Russian workers had won the first great victory against
the bourgeoisie. It was a period of acute political and economic
crises. The entire apparatus of production and distribution being
inebilised for the military exigencies of War, had lost its balance
and was in 2 state of dislocation. Thebourgeoisie of the various
countries of Europe was completely occupied with War problem.
Almost the entire proletariat was pressed into the service of the
military, atthe front or in the munition factories, The distress
and the misery of the working masses was daily increasing. The
whole structure of society was threatering to crumble. At such
a juncture the Proletariat needed an international leadership which
would show to the workers the way to take advantage of the
precarious position of the bourgeoisie, initiate an ioternational
revolutionary action against the War, convert the Imperialist war
into a civil waryand thus lead the Proletariat to the conquest of

power. &

In summing uip the activities of the first year of the Communist
International Lenin said, “If the International (meaning the Second
International) would ‘not have been in the hands of the traitors
who saved the bourgeoisie at the critical moment, most of the ..
chances in many belligerent countrieg at the clese of the war
including certain neutral countrics whe'ie people were armed would

.
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haye been in “favour of 2 switf revolution and then the issue would
have been different,”” - { March 6, 1926 ).

These traitors unashamed of their dirty work during the
war continaed their treacherous activities after the war. They met
in an International Conference at Berne which sat concurrently with
the Varsailles Peace Conference-and continued their work of
playing the good Samaritan in the interests of the bourgeoisie.
When the European Proletariat was in the throes of revolation,
these gentelmen set about the task of creating illusion among the
workers about the League of Nations and about fhe Peace Treaty
of Versailles, about bourgeois democracy, and began condemning
the Dictatorship of the workers. No wonder that Lenin called
these leaders of the Berne International “a thieves’ kitchen—a bunch
of low murderers”.

The pre-War Second International had done its. work of
building up mass Labour organisations, Trade Union and political,
the utilisation of bourgeois. Parliamentarianism ete. It was
according to Kautsky, “the instrument of peace time.” During
and after the War it converted itself into an dinstrument in the
hands of the bourgeoisie—a factor of international counter-revo-
lution.

. In the meanwhile the leaders of the Bolsheviki, who always
repesented the revolutionary socialist tendency inside the pre-War
Second International, had succeeded in translating their revolu:’
tionary theory into practice, They succeeded in bringing the
Imperialist War to an end on the Russian front and mobilising- the'
Proletariat for driving out the imbecile bourgeois Government of
Kerensky. They succeeded in smashing the bourgeois-feudal
State machine in Russia and in erecting in its place a proletarian
State of the type of the Paris Commune—the Soviet State. They
had succeeded in organising a Red Army with a well disciplined
proletarian Kernel and with its help in defeating thecounter-revolu-
tionary forces of Imperialist intervention.

A solid basis for the organisational consolidation of all the
revolutionary socialist elements of the pre-War International into
a new International was thus created. A number of social demeo-
cratic and Communist parties, gfoups etc: representing the
revolutionary socialist tendency in the various countries'in Europe
met in Moscow and issued a manifesto with reference to the
First Congress of the Communist International in the beginning
1919. This manifesto emphasised the necessity of founding a
new International which it was proposed to call the Communist
International. In justificalion of its name the manifesto said,
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“Theorebically already Marx and ¥ngels considered the name

“social democracy” not correct. The shameful collapse of the
social democratic ‘Internauonal’ necessitates, on this point too,
a definite separation from it. Finally the .fundamental Kernel of
the great movement embodies alreadya number of parties which
have adopted this .name,”

This manifesto laid down briefly the salient points of the
platform on which the new Inlernatxonal proposed to unify the
revolutlonary movement of the workmg \class. Firstly it pointed
out that the presgnt epoch was” the ‘‘epoch of disintegration and
collapse of the world _capitalist system which will also mean the
collapse of European culture unless capitalism with its insoluble
contradictions be destroyed ” Secondly it said that “at this juncture
the immediate task of the proletariat was the seizure of power.
The seizure of State power means the destruction of bourgeois
State apparatus.and the establishment of a new proletarian State
apparatus.” Thirdly the concrete form of such a State apparatus
was the Soviet form. Fourthly it called for a definite
break with the rlght-wmgers as well as I.he centrists of the Second
International and, consxderd it “essentxal to form a bloc with those
elements of orkers revolutlonary movement whxch (w1thout
baving been the members of the socialist partles) are now in
favour of proletarian dictatorship in the form of Soviet rale.”
Fifthly, it considered it essential to rally the support of all proleta«
rian organisations and groups which were. developing . a leftward
trend. Finally it called for the First Congress, which was “to
establish a common fighting organ—a centre of the Communist
International—for the systematic guidance and continuous coordinas
tion of the movement, which will subordinate the interests in the
separate countries to the. common interests of the lnternatxonal
revolution.,” ( “The Two Internationals,” P 314, page 64 ).

The First Constituent Congress * "'thé Communist
International which met in March 1919, was nothmg more than a
demonstratloncelebratmg the mauguratlon of the Tffird Interna-
tional. It did not draw up any precise conditions for admission to
the International, It merely issued a manifesto announcing the
formation of the Comintern,

The Second Congftess vi'hxch met one year afterwards, that
is in 1920 was attended . by delegates from all countries, The
statutes  were drawn up- which proclajmed that the Third
International had taken upon itself the task of contmumg and
completing the great cause beguu by the First International
Workmen's Assocnatlon. Besides tl'us, the Congress drew up the
famous 21 condmons of admission to the International, embody-
ing briefly its tactical, organisational and political line. These
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conditions were formulated with a view to bolting and barring
the door against all vacillating JCentrists as well as Right wing
elements.

‘Every Party or organisation seeking admission to the
C.I1.had to accept these conditions, ‘which were formulafed with
aview to secure a perfect ‘disciplive” within the ranks of the
International and to prevent any future growth of reformism and
opportunism. But politically these conditions did not contain
anything more than what had already been- accepted by ‘‘the
Zimmerwald Left” in 1916 and later on reiterated by the various
parties and groups which rallied round the man#esto issued by
the First Congress. I shall only mention a few points from these
21 conditions which sharply demarcate the Comintern from the
Second and Second and a Half Iaternational. Apart from once
again defining the attitude of the Comintern towards social
pacifism, towards reformism, and after having emphasised the need
for active propaganda for the Dictatorship of the Proletariat among
the rank-and-file workmen, and the necessity of combining legal
with illegal work, this historic' document lays down the attitude
which the Communist Parties in Capitalist countries must adopt
with reference to the movements of liberation in the Colonial
countries {ike India, China and so on. This is, from’ our point of
view, the most important condition which dlstmgulshes the Third
International of Lenin from the” Second International of Mac-
Donalds, Longuets and Kautskys which is today assisting the
International bourgeoisie in the dirty work of Colonial oppression.
It is clearly laid dowu in the 21 conditions that ‘‘every Party
desirous of belonging to the Third International shoyld b®bound
to denounce without reserve all the methods of “its own"”
Imperialists in the colonies, supporting, not only in words but
practically, all movements of liberation in the colories. It should
demand the expulsion -of *“its own™ Imperialists from such
colonies and cultivate among the workers of its own counfry a
truly fraternal attitude towards the workirg populatlon of the
colonies and the oppressed nationalities, and Carry Qn a systematic
agitation in its own army against every kind of oppression .of the
colonial population.” (P. 2395)

Further the Second Congress formulated the line of the
Communist International with refereffge to the pressing problems
of the day in the form of theses. The experiences of the Russian
workers in the first successful revolutions were formulated in the
thesis entitled “The Role of the C.P. in the Proletarian Revolution)”’
and in the important thesis laying down as to “when ‘and under
what conditions the Soviets "of workers’ deputies should be
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formed.” Itformulated the attitude of the Communist Parties
towards Parliameniarianism, the Trade Union movement, and
towards the peasantry and the agrarian question. Fiually it
brought out the historic thesis on “the national and colonial
questicn.”’

The Third International stands for International unity of the
working class.

The foundation of the Third International was considered
by many as a breach in the International wunity,of the working
class. The so-called * Left Socialists” whose Q&' it is to keep
the masses of workers under the influence of the corrupt Right
wing leadership by using empty radical phrases, considered ‘‘this
split” as a new obstacle in the way of the International workers’
movement. One “prominent socialist” expressed such a thought
immediately after the inauguration of the Comintern, that is in
April 1919, He said, “It should above all be kept in mind that
we are still in the period of the birth of the revolution. ..............
if it should prove that we substantially differ in principles, if we
fail to come to an agreement on the question of freedom and
democracy, if our views regarding the conditions wnder which the
Proletariat "'y possess itself of the power, should absolutely
disagree, and if finally it should prove that the war has intected
certain sections of the International with the venom of
Imperialism—then a split would be possible.”

The ¢ Prominent socialist who  uttered these
pious “platitudes - of unity and shed erocodile tears over the
Moscow manifesto was no other than Mr. Ramsay MacDonald who
is one of the leading figures of the Labour. and Socialist Interna-
tional, which today is seaked through and through with the “venom
of Imperialism.” It was the very same Mr. Ramsay
MacDonald who is today spitting out the “venom of Imperialism®
inthe shape of bullets, machine-gun fire, aeroplane. bombardments,
lathi charges, executions etc: at the workers. and peasants of
India who are fighting for “freedom and democracy.”

Mr. Ramsay MacDonald received a promt reply from Lenin,
who told him that, “we broke with the Second International
because we had convinced: .ourselves of its hopelessness, its
incorrigibility, its role as the - servant of Imperialism, as the
transmitter of bourgeois influence, bourgeois lies and bourgeois
‘corruption in the Labour Movement.”

~ The foundation of the Third International was not & break
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with the idea of the international unity of the working class move:
ment. It was on the other hand a break of the international work-
ing class movement with the opportunist and reformist leadership
which was acting as the agent of the bourgeoisie inside the Labour
Movement. The foundation of the Comintern was the first ach
towards the consolidation of an organised working class united fronf
against Capitalism. The history of the various attempts at achieving
unity between the Third and the Second Internationals has shown
that the Comintern does not stand for a false and showy unity bet-
ween the leaders, it sbands for the unity among the rank aund file
of workers on the platform of & militant fight against Imperiplism.
It is the leaders of the Second International who bave rejected such
& unity.

The attempts for unity began in February 1921 when the
Vienna International {(also known as the Second and Ha.l‘- Interna-~
tional) was formed, which proclaimed that its principles were no
longer those of the Second International but that they based them-
selves on a programme of International unity. Almost simultaneous-
ly with this movement the Communist Party of Germany propesed
& programme of united action with all other socialist and labour
sections. This was done in ““ An open Letter ® drawn up by .
the united German Communist Party and addressed"to the whole
Labour of Germany appealing for joiut action on the immediate
needs of the masses. This step was generally endorsed by the
Third Congress of the Comintern in July 1921, which at the same
time pointed out how “'the German Independents brusquely refused
$o respond to the appeal of the German C. P, for unity of action, in
spite of all differences, in the battle against the iwpoverishinent of
the working class.” The Third Congress pointed out that the
atiitude of the centrists in other European countries was similar,
showed how the reformists and the Trade Union bureaucrats of the

<Amsterdam Trade Union International were “responding to the
attempts at revolutionising the Trade Unions by expelling the
Communists”, and came to the conclusion that “the centrists, in
common with the social-democrats, are.jhe resolute opponents of the
proletarian struggle and the peacemakers of the counter-revolation,”
The Thlrd Congress laid down that “it is the task of the C. I, to~
wage & relentless war against the Second-and-Half International as
well as against the Second and the Amsterdam - Trade Union In-
tornational, Only by means of such am - unrelenting struggle, da.lly
proving to the masses that the social democrats and centrists are ndt
only unwilling to fight for the overthrow of Capibalism, but ‘are
afraid to struggle for the simplest and the most urgent needs of the
working olass, will it be possible for the C. I, to liberate the working
elass from the grip of these lackeys of the _boutgeome (Declsxons
of the Third Congress, P 2396, page 27).
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The question of international unity was considered in great
debail by the E,C.C.1. in Dacember 1921 and a Manifesto was issued
lnying down olearly and exhaustively the policy of the united fron
of the working -oclass. This Manifesto exposed the hypocritical
unity proposals of theleaders of the Becond- and the Second and
Half Internationals and ..called for the revolutionary unity among
the rank and file of the workers,

The Manifesto stated; *‘the leaders of the Second and the
Second and Half and Amsterdam Internationals have shown up to
now by their behaviour that, when if comes to the question of
practical application, they in fact rejeot their own watchword of
unity. In all such cases it is the duty of the Communist Interna-
tional as a whole and all its constituent sections in particuldr to
expose to the masses the hypocrisy of these reformist leaders who
prefer unity with the bourgeoisie to unity with the revolutionary
workers, and who remain, for instance, a part of the Internationsl
Labour Office, of the Lieague of Nations eto. instead of organising

the  struggle against Imperialism.” ( Labour Monthly,
Volume 1922). This Manifesto was followed by a Manifesto issued

wJanuary 1922 by the Vienna Internatiopal which called for a joint
conference of the representatives of the three Internationals. In
Febroary 1922 the enlarged Plenum of the E.C.C.I. confirmed
the December Manifesto and authorised the Presidium to take
practical steps for the realisation of the tactics of the united front,
which it was understood must be adapted to the conditiona in each
country. - The same Plenum declared itself in favour of the partici
pation in a conference with the other internationals, asking for as
complete & representation as possible of all the labour organisations,
Accordingly the representatives of the three internationals met in
Berlin on April 2-6, 1922. But they failed to bring about the joint
conference as desired. The Berlin Meeting appointed a Committes
of nine to cbnvene further conferences between the three Execubives. *
It also issued a joint resolution signed by the representatives of the
three internationals calling for joint demonstrations in all countries
on the following slogaas: (1) for eight hour day (2) against unemploy-
ment (3) against Reperations (4) for. the united action of the
proletariat against the capitalist offensive (5) for the support of the
‘Russian Revolution (6) for help to the victims of capitalist terror
(7) for the establishment of the united working-class front in every
oountry and in the Iaternational. -

The Socialists of the Second International did not respond to
this call. In principal countries the soocialists refased to . participate
in the joint demonstration under these slogans, No wonder that the
Comimittee of the nine failed to achieve the joint conferences as
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proposed. The hollowness of the unity proposals of the centrists
and of ghe Seqond—a.nd -Half Internationsl was .exposed. DBub.as. &
result of the resolute stand taken by the Comintern, 3s well as owing
to the fa.ob that the penod between 1919 and 1928 was . s period .of
: revoluhmnaq orisis all over nhe world, a subst,anb;al seotion of york:
ers ‘under the mﬂuence oi I'J,le Second ;md _Half , International and
certain ra.d,lca,l elemenl;s f:om the Second Intetna.l:xoqa.l pame.over. to
the Comlntem When howevet the revolutionary tide ralled .back
the temnanhs of the Seoond and Half Internatiopal fell back into. the
bosom of the Second Internatﬂonal leading to its reorganisation at
Hamburg in 1923:in its present form as the Labour and Soomhsg
International. -

Later on the Independent Labour Party attempted on one or
more occa.sxons to bring about a unity conference between - the C. 1.
and the L. 8. L. This proposal was unceremoniously rejected by-the
C. L The C. 1. did not want @ unity at the top——the unity among
the leaders only.. The C.:I, has always stood out for a unifed front
of the workers against Ca.plf.a.lmm which the leaders of the Becond
International have always re]ect.ed it practxce Th;s ha.d been -
sufficiently proved by the history of the former effotts a.t umty.
The. Second Ipternational too ptomptly threw out these proposals.
(Mr. Bra.llsiords deposxtlon) )
There is no basis whatsoever for a unity between the two'
internationals. " The gulf which separates them is uabridgeable. A
united front with the .Second ' International today would mea.n &
united front with the bourgeoisie. ‘The national sections of the
L. 8. L.in all cap‘ltahsb countries are openly and sha.melessly sup-
porting reactionary hourgeois governmenbs In Great Bma.m the
most imporant-section of the L. §. L. has pla,yed the pa,rh" of bhe
Impenahsb hangman, jailor and murderer‘ its capacity as His
Majesty’s Labour Government. The German Social Demgoracy
who played the role of the bloodhounds of "the bourgaom‘e against
the revolumonary stroggle of the Germa.n proleta.na.t . who assisted
the bourgeoxsxe in drowning the Germa.n Revolut.lon in blqod of the.
workers, are today keepmg up the sa.me bra.dmona by supporting or
- a4 they thernselves call it “tolera.tlng“ the a,lmost} Fascist Govern-.
ment of Herr Brunning. Mr. Brmlsiord hs.s told us in lns .deposi-
tion that “the L. 8.1, would refuse to contempla.t.e tq t.a.kg up-arma
_to win power for the workmg olass 80 long“a.s they. enjgyed . the,
benefits of a Democta.ho Const;tutlon The Germa.n workers sxe
indeed today en)oymg "Mthe beneﬁbs of % Democmtw Congitution,
a-ls.-Brunmng Herr Brunmng 1s rulmg Germany withqut & Parlia-
ment for so ms.ny months, He i m mStjmg dectees a.nd “ordlna.nues
whmh reptesenh 80 many a.tta.cks against the lxvmg -ponditions of

16’y



German workers. Herr Brunning has instituted a virtual Fascist
Dictatorship. Under these circumstances the Social Democratic
Party of Germany, $he second big section of the L. 8. 1., far from
taking up arms on behalf of the working class to capture political
power, has enunciated the policy of * tolerating ” the Brunping
-Government in its last Party Conference at Leipzig in June 1931.
This in practice means the support of the Brunning Dietatorship of
the heavy industrial bourgeoisie against the working class.

The deeds of the other sections of the L. S.'F. are similar. ’
The record of the L. 8. 1. as a whole throughout the world is black
with treason against the working class. The L. 8. 1. has broken
with all the traditions and the ideals of the workers’ International.
It has nothing in common with the C. I, which is the true npholder
of the cause of the international working class,

The Comintern as the Mass Party of the world Proletarial.

In the early days of ‘the Coinmunist International Social
Democrats and Second Internationalists said that the Communist
Movement was a temporary phase. It was a craze, they said, which
would not outlive the post-war erisis. They had misjudged in both
‘cases. Neither the post-war crisis of Capitalism nor the Communist
Movement were temporary phenomena. Both of them had come to
stay. Since the conclusion of the Great War world Capitalism has
been perpetually in a state of acute crisis. The state of crisis is
symptomatic of the fact that Capitalism is today in its Jast phase—
that is the phase of decline and disintegration. Of course the social
demooracies do not see this, neither will they admitthe Communist
International has come to stay and has become a powerful factor in
world politics.

Twelve years have elapsed since the representatives of the
various working-class groups and organisations and pattles met in
Moscow to form the new International. During these twelve years
the Communist Movement has grown in breadth and in intensity,
strong national sections have been formed in the various eapitalist
countries. The C. L. has grown up into a world Commuuist Party.
It has created a central organ unifying, centralising and coordinating
the activities of the various national sections. Its influence is being
folt far and wide in the for East and the near East, in the enlonial
as well as in the capitalist countries. The spectre of Commudism is
today haunting not merely Europe but the - entire globe. And the
spectre is growing in size .steadily year by year. The organised
membership of the Communist International at the fifth Congress
was about 1,400,000, According to the figures givenin the Tenth
Anniversary Number of the “Comrpunist International’”(April 1929),
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the total membership of the Communist Parties constituted 1,805,000:
From the latest figures available the membership of:(zConnnunist
Internationa] has gone up to 2,500,000, mitéend, This figure has
been given in the Raport submitted to the Eleventh Plenary Meeting
of the Commaunist International held on the 24th" of April 1931.
(Telegraphic Report in the **Vossische Zeitung” dated 25 April 1931).

D/-22. 9. 81.

) This undoubtedly a sign of vigorous development. On the
other hand the International social democracy, though it toda.y
wields influence on a numerically larger portlon of the Proletariaf, is
relatively on the decline. .

The mere fact of the numerical superiority of the secial
democratic and Labour parties fo-day cannot be considered as a proot
of the inability of the Communist movement to strike reot among
{he masses of workers, as the leaders of' the Second International
make out. Eirstly the structure and the organisation of the Commu-
nist Parties 4+ essenfially different from that of the parties of the
Second International. The ‘Communist Parties are revolutionary
parties, and as such mobilise only the ‘most conscious, courageous
and disciplined members of the working class in their ranks, Thus
uader capitalist repression and at & time when the situation is pot
directly revolutionary it is possible to organise only a courageous
and disoiplined minority in the ranks of the Party. But for this
reason the Party does not cease to be a mass party or cease to wield
influence among the broad masses of the workers. That such a
party is quickly able to rally the majority of the working class round
its banner and lead it to the capture of power immediately a revolu-
tionary situation arises, has been wonderfully proved by the his-
tory of the Russian Bolshevik Party., The Communist International
itself clearly realises this position. In the S8econd Congress, in the
resolutionr on “The role of the Party in the proleta.na.n revolution”
we read as follows;—

“So long as t.he State power remains unconquered by the
Proletariab............ it-will be the rule for the Communist Party to
have only a minority of workers in its organised ranks. ... only
after the final defeat of the bourgeois system becomes -obvious to all,
will all or almost all the workers enter the ranks of the Communist
Party.

Does this mean thatthe Commumsb Parties sit with folded
hands waiting for the final defeat of the bourgeois system, and allow
in the meanwhile the majority of the working class to remain
under the treacherous influence of the Sécond International ? The
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Communist International realises that the chief basis of capitelism
toda.y i the various capitalist countries is that very section of the
mprkmg clags which is to-day under the influance of the L. S 1. dnd
itd parties; - g it had no basis ¥, to quote Lenin a.ga.m, in this
“section of the workexs,-m—tlrese counter-revolutionary elements in the

" Mmerking class, the International bourgeoisie would be quite unable
o hold Out..........usinneens The mors brganised the proletariat in a hlghly
develaped country the more.findamantal is the work demanded of
us by history in'preparing for the revolution and the more fundamen=

tally have we got to win over the ?gxa]’ority of the working3 class,”
( Speqch at the Third Congress of/C. I.) 1

.. Consequently the Third Congress which for the first time
msued instructions about the organisation and the structur: ommunlsb
* Paxties, laid down that “‘the Communist Partiés already possessing
mtetga.l ﬁrm}ness. a tried corps of officials, and a oonsldera.ble number
of adfierents ¢ a,mong ‘the’ masses, must exert every eﬁort to  complete-
_overcome the influence of the treacherous socmhst lea.ders of the
workmg class” by means of éxtensive oampaigns, and to ra.lly thev
majority of the’ workmg masses to the Commumst ba.nner
(b 2396, page 44) _ .4
' ‘Thus a.lbhough the Communist Parties are able to organise
only a section of the Proletariat in their ranks and ma,rshal 1& for
ackive straggle, they nevertheless et ﬁhemselvee the’ ta.sk of wmmng
exclusive influence over the majority of the ' working ma.sses, tha.b is
the proletarian, the semi- ptoleba.na.n ag well ag/peasant ma.sses. even
before the capture of political power. "Thus the constltutlon and t.he
rules of the C. I. lay down that “ the Communist International
strives to win over the majorityfof the working class a,nd/ road'
strata of propertyless peasa.ut.ry. Thxs is to be understood in the
B4mMé sense.

This point needed elucidation especially in view of the idea
which the Prosecution seems to entertain, namely, that Communists
hope to carry out a revolution merely with the help of “a small
body of resolute men ™ who work for it in a conspiratorial manner,
*“The Russian Revolution,” said the late Counsel for the
‘Prosecution, “ was carried out by a small body of resolute men.”
Now it is true that the proletarian vanguard organised in the
Communist Parties will be a minority of the working class before :
the capture of power and even for some time to come after it, but to
quote Lenin once again? * with the vanguard alone, victory is
impossible. It would be not ogly foolish but criminal to throw the’
vanguard into the final struggle; so. long as the whole class, the
general mass, has not tiken up a position either of direct support of
the vanguard, or at least of benevolent neu[rahty towards. xt so Iong v
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as all probability of its supporting the enemy is not past.” (* beft
Wing ' Communism, P 975, page 72) Thus a'successful revo'}\mdrf
can only be'catried thfough by a resolute and a disciplined minority "
of the Proletariat only ‘if it is able to rally the support of the
majority of the toilers, The history of the October Revolution
brings out this point very clearly. The success of the October
Revolutign ‘was made possible by the fact that the Bolsheviks were
able to rally the support of the majority of the toilers on their side,
At the first all Russxan Soviet Co'lgress in Jnne 1917 the Bolsheviks
.bad only 13 per cent of the votes. At the Second Congress on
Wctober 25, 1917, that is on the eve of the revoluuon, they had
already s per cent of the votes on their s:de . g

In this connection I may cité” the position taken by the‘
Communist Party of Germany quite recently with reference to the
allegauons levelled against it by the Police and the bourgeois Préss

. that the C.P. of Germany was forming terrorist groups te brmg;,

-.about an insurrection in ‘Germany xmmedlately. With' r¢férence ta
this allegatlon Comrade Remmele recently declared on behalf of the
Party to the Press representauves that the Communist Party would
not launch an insurrection unless the Party was<backed by a wider
‘mass support that it had at the present time:. He drew an
interesting parallel with 1918. He said that in 1918 the Kaiser<
regime collapsed as soon as the mass-sentiment turned against it
Sxmdar]y the present system will be overthrown only when the
suuatxpn will alter in the same sense.

Tre Pf'ogra.mrrle of the Communist International.

The spegific revolutionary-tasks, on the basis of which the
various sections.of the C.L. strive to win over the majority of the
toilers Lo Communism, certainly differ in different countries. This
‘difference is naturally due to-the d:ﬁereﬁt condmons obl.ammg in-

" the various countries as a result of the unequal development of
capitalism as well as of the varying strength and character of the
-proletarian movement in those countries. ‘Bu¥nevertheless all these
revolutionary tasks form part of one unified struggle for “the
establishment of the world chtatorshlp of the Proletanat, for the
-establishment-of a wor]d union of socialist Soviet Republics, for the
complete abolition of classes and for the achievement of sccialism—
the first stage of the Communist society.” The doeument which
"lays down succinctly and cogently the main perspectives of the
'struggle for the world Dictatorship. of the Proletariat is the
. Programme of the Communist Inlematmnal which was adop:ed for
-the first time in the 6th World Congress in 1928. This is perhaps
sthe . most important document in the whole of the Comintern
htetalme, The other resolutions and decnslons of the C. I. in
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general restrict themselves to this or that specific task for the
. proletarian revolution, or sometimes to the general task for the

immediate future. The Programme of the C,I. on the other hand

determines our main perspectives for the entire epoch ‘of the
, International socialist revolution. In this sense it s historically
speaking the greatest document of the International workers'
movement since the Communist Manifesto of Marx and Engels.

Eighty years have elapsed after the Madifesto first - saw " the
light of the day. For decades past it served as the flaming torch
which showed to the International working class the broad and
bold outlines of the development of the socialist revolution, leadinf
to the overthrow of capitalism and the capture of power by the
Proletariat. During these 86, years the proletarian movemeant had
gained in breadth and mtensxty and experience, It had passed
thiough various phases, firstly the phase of the development of the

_scientific theories of socialism and Communism, the phase of the ~

First Intetnatlonal secondly the phase of the organisation of ti\é’
Proletariat on an international scale, that is the phase of the Second

International, and lastly the phase of active revolutionary struggle -

which has already ¢ ‘calminated in the victory of the Proletariat and
.__.the establishment of the workers’ rule i one sixth part of the globe.
*fhe phase of the Communist International.

Capltahsm too has developed. It has grown out of the phase
of free competition into the phase of the development of monopoly,
out of the phase of national development into that of International
expansion. Capitalism has developed into Imperialism. The
fundamental contradictions -of eapitalism, which have been pointed
out in the Manifesto as leading to the periodic crises, exist today
in a far more intensified form. The crises of modern times are far
more widespread, far deeper, involve a bitter struggle for ~ markets
and colonies and consequently give rise to insoluble international
rivalries and conflicts leading to world wars. Capitalism is today
in a moribund state when every succeeding crisis brings it nearer
to its final downfall, -The world has already lived through one
such severe crisis, which has shaken the entire capitalist structure
and effected a breach in it—the establishment of the union of
sorldilist and Soviet Republics of Russia. After the Great War, the
wofld has definitely entered into a new epoch, the epoch of the final
decline and disintegration of capitalism—the epoch of wars and revo-
Jlutions—the epoch of the realisation of socialism. If the First and
the Second Internationals ha,wp been the characteristic products of
the two bygone epochs of theInternational workers’ movement,
the Communist International alone is today the only representative
force characteristic of the present epoch. The Commuhist Inter-
national alone leads the. toiling millions of the world along-the path
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which leads to the realisation of the tasks set to hamanity by the
present epoch. The Programme of th¥ Communist International is
the clear and concise statement of the goals and tasks which human
society must realise in the present epoch in. order that it may over-
come the ever-growing conflicts inside the modern social structure
and do awaywlth the ever-increasing misery of the masses, and
thus clear the path of healthy progress and development. The
Prooramme of the C. L adopted by the 6th World Congress is the
banaerof the ’Struggle for the revolutionary overthrow of Imperial-
‘iem, for the abolition of classes, for the destruction of every form of
..exploitation of man by man. It incorporates decades of the Inter~
national experience of the proletarian struggle. It is the essence
of the most 1mportant achievements™ of the scientific theory of
Communism. The Programme of {4¢°C. I. forms the basis of the
world movement for Communismi’ for the entire epoch of the Intér-
national proletarian revolution. Comrade Molotoff in a speech at
_the 6th World Congress said that that Congress of the C. I. would
“go  down in the history of Communism as a Congress whlch for the

first time formylated the programme of action of Infernational
Communism, .

I shall have briefly to touch upon thé 'main outstanding
features of the programme of the C. L.—features which are character#
istic of the Comintern, and which we do not ﬂnd either in the
principles or practice of the L. 8. I It will be mcxdentally shown
that the fundamental formulations of the programme are the results

" of a consistent application of Marxism to the problems of the pre-
sent epoch, that i¢ is the Comintern alone which has remained true
to the struggle for socialism and not the L. S, I, And finally it is
the C.I. alone which is the true representative of the genuine
International Labour Movement and not the L. S. I. The Prose-
cution has shown their solicitude for a ‘genuine’ Labour Movement
conducted on ‘rational’ lines. Our contention is that “the only
genuine Labour Movement which bas grown organically out of a
century of experience of the proletarian struggle is the one headed
and led by the C.I. If you grant that' the capitalist order
of society is but a stage in the evolution of society and that
for a further development of humanity and .its civilisation,
capitalism must necessarily and inevitably give place to sociglism,
then we maintain that the path chalked out in the programme “f the

C. L. isthe only one which will logically and rationally lead hu-
manity in the direction of that development,

The present period is: Yie. epoch of the general
erisés of capitalism. :

The first point which forms the starting pomt of the pro-
gramme is the thests that after the Great War, we have entered into
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‘the epoch of the general CrlS(S of capxtallam, the fxrstphase of world
revolutxon . The Great: War was not a thunderbolt from the blue
sky. Tt was the logical consequence of the phase of development
whlch capltahsm had entered into at the begmn;ng of the present
cenh:ry, namely the phase of monopolxst capxtal§§m {jmpeﬂallsm)

“This phase of capxtallsm is characterised by an acceqtua'ted struggle
between “The Great Powers” of Fmance Capxtal fo: the monopo-
lxst ‘control of the colonial markets, of sources of raw matezials, of
the spheres of n‘westments, ‘with the subjectlon of the etire world
under the sway of capltahst exploxtatlon, with the steady decline
of the rate of profst in the capxtahst countries, this struggle
ior profxt-huntmg is transformed into a baster conflict between
the powers for the redlstnbunon of the world. ’I‘hxs eonlhct

because of the growmg Interna.honahsatlon of the economuzr life,
necessanly culminates in Imperialist wars whlch by the:area they
embrace and the destructiveness of the techmq-;e they mvolve' have
no parahel in thc world hxstory. :

Marx has shown that economic crises are mherent in the
capltallst system. Under capitalism the principal means of proe.;
duction being concentrated in the hands of capitalist the productionb
‘of commodities ‘is for the market and for profit and is unrelated to
%the “actual wants of socxefy. The actual producedr, the worker,
'bemg ‘completely dlspossessed has nothing to bring to the market
‘extept his Labour power, which he is forced to sell to theeapitalists
tor'a wage whxch on an average is nearly equal or more often less
than what i$'needed for the reproduction of his Labour power, that is
" “for his subsxstence. Free competition ‘exists between the capitalists

‘and the race ‘for higher profits 'results in a’race for lower cost of
px‘odlﬂ:tlon. T'he ‘wage reduction ‘after-all having a physncal limit,
“the capitalists seek 'to reduce ‘the ‘cost of production by i improving
“their _*machmery, that is by i increasing ‘the productivity ¢f thexr
‘means ‘of Production.

' Con_sequently ~the production ¢éf commodities increases, but
‘not so the ma.fket which after all consists of the millions of the
toxlers themselves which Ca.pltahsm has condemned to the lowest
wage possxble. ‘The result is'a cnsgs of over-production — the prices
fa,ll—iu'ms go ba.nkrupt.——factones close. down —unemploymeuf:
mcreases—-productxon falls. The crises of | over-produotmn

“are however penodlca.l The fall of production ‘leads to
‘the narrowing down ‘of supply which in its turn leads to the rise of
prices. Capitalist undertakings begin fo prosper again and the
whole circle starts from the begiccing over again. Inthe words of
Marx “Crises are always only momentary but violent solutions of

. the existing contradictions, violent eruptions which restore the
dlsturbed equilibrium only temporanly” (“Capxta.l" Volume 11X
Part I page 231}

Y
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Capitalism has lived through many .such" crises during
the last century and during the early years of the pre-
sent. Every fime the equilbrium of the Capitalist system
was aca.m resiored through the development of the market.
This was &osslhle for two- reasons; firstly the process. of the
destraziibn oT %ha' rura,I “industry was not complete, Thlslhsnd in
band with the growth of the pybtty farmer capitalist on'land, led to
the wxdemub g of the inner market. Secondly the peaceful as well as
violenf expansion of Capitalism in foreign couatries @oloma.l ex-
pansion) created the exteraal markes. Eich succeeding crisis shoolk
the entirs capitalist structure, the proletariat suffered untold
miseries bub the capitalist system as such was able to recovar tempo-
ta.rily‘ its equil‘ibrium.

*,« In -the present period of niouopohsh capitalism the possi-
bxht.les for- ‘the expansion of markets “are much narrower. Each

“¢risis, of over-productien leads to another much more intense than

the previons one. The misery, the paupsrisation 6f the proletariat
and unemployment goes on ceaselessly increasing. But, as I bave
said, inthe epoch of 'Imperialism a far more fundamental crisis
arises which supar-imposes itself on the erisis of over-production,
and thabt is the one due to Iaterpational rivalries, to the struggle
between Imperialist robbers for [ rédistribution of the colonies, for
the sources of raw- materials and for the spheres for investment of
capital.. . o

The world erisis, which came with the world war, was the
first crisis of this kind: It was' fundamentally differsrt from all the
former crisis, which though “they resalted in terrible convulsions of
the entire system, ultimately ended in the restoration of its equili-
brium, The crisis heralded by the world war was so violent that it
burst the system. itself, split the world economy into two funda-
mentally hostile camps, the icamp of Imperialist States and the
camp of the Dictatorship of the Proletariat in the U. 8 'S, R.

. The breakdown of capitalist system, the establishment of the
Dictatorship- of the- Proletariat - in one-sixth part of the world, the
chain ofs unsuccessful proletarian revolutions.on the Coatinent of
Burope, the intense wave 6f maiss revolts amdag the colonial -
peoples against Imperialism, these are the characteristics which

" marked the opening of the period of the decline of G&plba,hsm of the

tra,nsmon of Capitalism to Socislism,

It is, I think neither necessary mnor expedient to argue out
this thesis in detail. A cursory.review of the last thirteen years is
sufficient to prove thatb after the war Capitalism has eutered into a
state of permanent erisis, which is deepening every year. The theo-
reticians of social-democracy, of ‘“The Labour and the Socialist
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International” do not accept this thesis. They refuse to believe
that they are actually living in the period of the break-down of
Capitalism, a period of socialist revolution. They pin their faith on
the theory of the stabilisation of Capitalism. They - believe that
through the growth of monopolies, trusts, cartels ete. free competi-
tion is eliminated, Capitalism becomes more and more organised,
thus growing over automatically into the planned economy of
Socialism. Hilferding says for instance; *“organised Capitalism
signifies in principle the substitgtion of the capitalist prinei-
ple of free competition by. the socialist principle of
planned production.”” The ‘‘socialists” brushed aside the naked
facts pointing to the breakdown of Capitaliem in the present epoch,
in spite of attempts at stabilisation. They say that Capitalism is
going to live long and it should not overthrown. On the other hand
they actually attempt to help Capitalism to get over its crisis by
supporting rationalisation because they say, to quote Hilferding
again, “we want a strong and not a pauperised decadent capitalism,
for it is always pleasing to the heir that the heritage left to him is
as rich as possible”.

The realities of life give the direct lie to this opportunistic
theory of the automatic transformation of Capitalism into
Socialism. Now it is true that the period of acute revolutionary
crisis which immediately succeeded the close of the great war.
reached its climax in 1921 and subsided thereafter. (This p